The effects of feed additive, selenium source, polyphenol, lysine level, and sow lactation feeder type on pigs

by

Zhong-Xing Rao

B.S., National Chung Hsing University, Taiwan, 2017 M.S., Kansas State University, 2020

AN ABSTRACT OF A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Animal Sciences and Industry College of Agriculture

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

> > 2023

Abstract

Chapter 1 is a review paper that summarized the effects of 14 feed additive categories on growfinish pig growth performance and carcass characteristics. The summarized data suggests that most results were positive for each feed additive; however, the magnitude of improvement varied, and most were not statistically significant. For ADG, DFM, Cu, L-carnitine, and multi-enzymes showed relatively large positive effects (> 2.1% improvement) across a reasonable number of articles. Acidifiers, betaine, CLA, multi-enzymes, DFM, L-carnitine, and yeasts showed relatively large positive effects (> 2.5% improvement) on improving G:F. Moreover, except for betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine, most feed additives showed little and non-significant effects on BF thickness (< 1.7% improvement). Chapter 2 utilized a total of 3,888 nursery pigs to evaluate selenium source on nursery pig growth performance, serum and tissue selenium concentrations, and serum antioxidant status. The results suggested that, compared to sodium selenite and selenium yeast, hydroxy-selenomethionine (OH-SeMet) had greater bioavailability as indicated by increased serum and tissue selenium concentration; however, antioxidant status was similar between treatments and OH-SeMet tended to reduce growth performance compared with pigs fed sodium selenite. Chapter 3 utilized a total of 300 nursery pigs to evaluate the effects of using polyphenols as a partial replacement for vitamin E in nursery pig diets. Increasing vitamin E equivalence improved feed efficiency which may be related to the improved antioxidant status. Providing additional vitamin E equivalence above the basal vitamin E requirement through either vitamin E or polyphenol showed similar benefits. Thus, the polyphenol used in this study can be used as an effective replacement for vitamin E supplemented above the basal requirement. Chapter 4 utilized a total of 702 90-kg finishing pigs to evaluate nutritional strategies for slowing growth rate then inducing compensatory growth. We found feeding Lys-restricted diets reduced the ADG and G:F of finishing pigs. Moreover, compensatory growth can be induced in Lys-restricted finishing pigs, but the duration of restriction and recovery influences the magnitude of compensatory growth. Chapter 5 utilized a total of 600 sows to evaluate sow feeder type and drip cooling on sow bodyweight, litter performance, and feeder cleaning

criteria in a hot and humid environment. We determined that sows used SowMax feeders had reduced feed disappearance with no effects on sow and litter performance compared to a PVC tube feeder, and drip cooling improved sow and litter performance during summer in a hot and humid environment.

The effects of feed additive, selenium source, polyphenol, lysine level, and sow lactation feeder type on pigs

by

Zhong-Xing Rao

B.S., National Chung Hsing University, Taiwan, 2017 M.S., Kansas State University, 2020

A DISSERTATION

submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

Department of Animal Sciences and Industry College of Agriculture

> KANSAS STATE UNIVERSITY Manhattan, Kansas

> > 2023

Approved by:

Co-Major Professor Dr. Jordan Gebhardt Approved by:

Co-Major Professor Dr. Mike Tokach

Copyright

© Zhong-Xing Rao 2023.

Abstract

Chapter 1 is a review paper that summarized the effects of 14 feed additive categories on growfinish pig growth performance and carcass characteristics. The summarized data suggests that most results were positive for each feed additive; however, the magnitude of improvement varied, and most were not statistically significant. For ADG, DFM, Cu, L-carnitine, and multi-enzymes showed relatively large positive effects (> 2.1% improvement) across a reasonable number of articles. Acidifiers, betaine, CLA, multi-enzymes, DFM, L-carnitine, and yeasts showed relatively large positive effects (> 2.5% improvement) on improving G:F. Moreover, except for betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine, most feed additives showed little and non-significant effects on BF thickness (< 1.7% improvement). Chapter 2 utilized a total of 3,888 nursery pigs to evaluate selenium source on nursery pig growth performance, serum and tissue selenium concentrations, and serum antioxidant status. The results suggested that, compared to sodium selenite and selenium yeast, hydroxy-selenomethionine (OH-SeMet) had greater bioavailability as indicated by increased serum and tissue selenium concentration; however, antioxidant status was similar between treatments and OH-SeMet tended to reduce growth performance compared with pigs fed sodium selenite. Chapter 3 utilized a total of 300 nursery pigs to evaluate the effects of using polyphenols as a partial replacement for vitamin E in nursery pig diets. Increasing vitamin E equivalence improved feed efficiency which may be related to the improved antioxidant status. Providing additional vitamin E equivalence above the basal vitamin E requirement through either vitamin E or polyphenol showed similar benefits. Thus, the polyphenol used in this study can be used as an effective replacement for vitamin E supplemented above the basal requirement. Chapter 4 utilized a total of 702 90-kg finishing pigs to evaluate nutritional strategies for slowing growth rate then inducing compensatory growth. We found feeding Lys-restricted diets reduced the ADG and G:F of finishing pigs. Moreover, compensatory growth can be induced in Lys-restricted finishing pigs, but the duration of restriction and recovery influences the magnitude of compensatory growth. Chapter 5 utilized a total of 600 sows to evaluate sow feeder type and drip cooling on sow bodyweight, litter performance, and feeder cleaning

criteria in a hot and humid environment. We determined that sows used SowMax feeders had reduced feed disappearance with no effects on sow and litter performance compared to a PVC tube feeder, and drip cooling improved sow and litter performance during summer in a hot and humid environment.

Table of Contents

List of Figures	xi
List of Tables	xii
Acknowledgements	xiv
Chapter 1 - Effects of various feed additives on finishing pig growth perfo	rmance and carcass
characteristics: A review	1
Abstract	1
Introduction	2
Material and Methods	
Feed Additives—Health	
Acidifiers—Mechanism of Action	
Acidifiers—Results	
Essential Oils (EO)- Mechanism of Action	
Essential Oils—Results	
Direct-Fed Microbials (DFM) -Mechanism of Action	
DFM—Results	
Yeasts—Mechanism of Action	
Yeasts—Results	
Copper (Cu)—Mechanism of Action	
Copper—Results	
Zinc (Zn)—Mechanism of Action	
Zinc—Results	
Feed Additives—Energy and Lipid Metabolism	
Betaine—Mechanism of Action	
Betaine—Results	
Chromium (Cr)—Mechanism of Action	
Chromium—Results	
Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA)—Mechanism of Action	
CLA—Results	
L-carnitine—Mechanism of Action	

L-carnitine—Results	
Feed Additives—Enzymes	
Mechanism of Action—Enzymes	
Carbohydrases—Results	
Proteases—Results	30
Phytases—Results	
Multi-Enzymes—Results	
Discussion	
Conclusions	
References	
Chapter 2 - Evaluation of selenium source on nursery pig growth performance, serum	n and tissue
selenium concentrations, and serum antioxidant status	39
Abstract	39
Introduction	
Material and Methods	
Results	
Discussion	
References	53
Chapter 3 - Polyphenols as a partial replacement for vitamin E in nursery pig diets	
Abstract	62
Introduction	63
Material and Methods	65
Results	69
Discussion	71
References	77
Chapter 4 - Evaluation of nutritional strategies to slow growth rate then induce comp	ensatory
growth in 90-kg finishing pigs	
Abstract	
Introduction	
Materials and Methods	
Results	

Discussion	103
References	108
Chapter 5 - Effect of different sow lactation feeder types and drip cooling on sow bodywe	ight,
litter performance, and feeder cleaning criteria.	123
Abstract	123
Introduction	124
Material and Methods	125
Results	131
Discussion	132
References	136
Appendix A - Effects of various feed additives on finishing pig growth performance and c	carcass
characteristics: A review - Supplemental material	146
Feed Additives – Health	146
Feed Additives – Energy and Lipid Metabolism	196
Feed Additives – Enzymes	231
Conclusion	248
References	249

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. The distribution of results for various feed additives on ADG by significance level
and direction
Figure 1.2. The distribution of results for various feed additives on G:F by significance level and
direction
Figure 1.3. The distribution of results for various feed additives on BF by significance level and
direction
Figure 1.4. The distribution of results for various feed additives on percentage lean by
significance level and direction15
Figure 1.5. The distribution of results for various feed additives on longissimus muscle area/loin
depth by significance level and direction16
Figure 3.1. Serum TBARS concentration on d 10 and 42
Figure 3.2. Serum SOD activity on d 10 and 42
Figure 4.1. Experimental treatment design of Exp. 1
Figure 4.2. Experimental treatment design of Exp. 2
Figure 4.3. Exp. 1 body weight difference compared to control diet (horizontal axis at 0) 119
Figure 4.4. Exp. 2 body weight difference compared to control diet (horizontal axis at 0) 120
Figure 4.5. Exp. 2 weekly ADG of the 4 treatments
Figure 4.6. Exp. 2 weekly ADFI of the 4 treatments
Figure 5.1. Room temperature and outdoor relative humidity data
Figure 5.2. Sow lactation feeders, feeder trigger, and adjustment mechanisms
Figure 5.3. Example of lactation feeder type and drip cooling setup in a farrowing room 144
Figure 5.4. Feeder cleaning time per feeder by personnel

List of Tables

Table 1.1. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig ADG ^{1,3} 7
Table 1.2. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig G:F ^{1,3}
Table 1.3. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig BF ^{1,3} 9
Table 1.4. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig percentage lean ^{1,3} 10
Table 1.5. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow-finish pig longissimus muscle
area/loin depth ^{1,3} 11
Table 2.1. Diet composition, (as-fed basis) ¹
Table 2.2. Analyzed dietary Se and crude protein concentrations ¹ . 58
Table 2.3. Evaluation of Se source on nursery pig growth performance ^{1,2} . 59
Table 2.4. Evaluation of selenium source on nursery pig serum and tissue selenium
concentrations and serum antioxidant status ¹ 61
Table 3.1. Sources of treatment dietary vitamin E equivalence. 82
Table 3.2. Diet composition, (as-fed basis) ¹
Table 3.3. Evaluation of vitamin E levels and vitamin E replacement strategies on nursery pig
growth performance ^{1,2}
Table 3.4. Evaluation of vitamin E levels and vitamin E replacement strategies on nursery pig
complete blood count ¹
Table 3.5. Evaluation of vitamin E levels and vitamin E replacement strategies on nursery pig
cytokine profile (fluorescence intensity value) ¹
Table 4.1. Composition of experimental diets (as-fed basis)
Table 4.2. Effect of nutritional strategies to reduce growth rate of pigs beyond 90-kg body
weight, Exp. 1 ^{1,2}
Table 4.3. Effect of nutritional strategies to reduce growth rate of pigs beyond 90-kg body
weight, Exp. 1 ¹
Table 4.4. Evaluation of compensatory growth of 90-kg finishing pigs previously fed a reduced
Lys diet, Exp. 2 ^{1,2,3}
Table 4.5. Evaluation of compensatory growth of 90-kg finishing pigs previously fed a reduced
Lys diet, Exp. 2 ¹ 116
Table 5.1. The effect of sow lactation feeder type on sow and litter performance ¹

Table 5.2. The effect of drip	cooling on so	w and litter	performance	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	140
-------------------------------	---------------	--------------	-------------	-----------------------------------------	-----

Table A.1. Studies on the effects of dietary acidifiers on growth performance
Table A.2. Studies on the effects of dietary acidifiers on carcass characteristics
Table A.3. Studies on the effects of dietary essential oils (EO) with or without acids on growth
performance
Table A.4. Studies on the effects of dietary essential oils (EO) with or without acids on carcass
characteristics
Table A.5. Studies on the effects of DFM on growth performance
Table A.6. Studies on the effects of DFM on carcass characteristics
Table A.7. Studies on the effects of yeasts and yeast-derived ingredients on growth performance.
Table A.8. Studies on the effects of yeasts and yeast-derived ingredients on carcass
characteristics
Table A.9. Studies on the effects of Cu on growth performance
Table A.10. Studies on the effects of Cu on carcass characteristics
Table A.11. Studies on the effects of Zn on growth performance. 192
Table A.12. Studies on the effects of Zn on carcass characteristics
Table A.13. Studies on the effects of dietary betaine on growth performance
Table A.14. Studies on the effects of dietary betaine on carcass characteristics
Table A.15. Studies on the effects of dietary chromium on growth performance
Table A.16. Studies on the effects of dietary chromium on carcass characteristics
Table A.17. Studies on the effects of dietary CLA on growth performance
Table A.18. Studies on the effects of dietary CLA on carcass characteristics
Table A.19. Studies on the effects of dietary L-carnitine on growth performance
Table A.20. Studies on the effects of dietary L-carnitine on carcass characteristics
Table A.21. Studies on the effects of enzymes on growth performance. 233
Table A.22. Studies on the effects of enzymes on carcass characteristics

Acknowledgements

This dissertation was made possible with the invaluable help of the many people who have been a part of my life. Firstly, I would like to express my gratitude to the professors at National Chung-Hsing University and the team at Kanvergen animal nutrition for introducing me to the vast world of animal science. Without your guidance, I would not have been able to achieve this accomplishment. Additionally, I extend my sincere appreciation to my major professors, Dr. Mike Tokach and Dr. Jordan Gebhardt, whose unwavering mentorship has shaped me into the person I am today. I am also grateful to Dr. Jason Woodworth, Dr. Joel DeRouchey, and Dr. Bob Goodband for the knowledge and support they have provided throughout my graduate school journey. It has been an honor to work with all of you.

Furthermore, I would like to thank all of the graduate students and friends whom I have met during my academic journey and throughout my life. Your company and experiences have enriched my life in ways that no classroom ever could, and I am grateful for the lessons learned from each and every one of you. Your presence has made my time here invaluable, and I will always cherish it.

Lastly, I would like to express my heartfelt appreciation to my family and my girlfriend, Emma. Your unwavering support has been the backbone of my success through the challenges and hardships of pursuing a Ph.D. degree. Your encouragement and love have been the most important resources in my life, and I will never be able to repay you for everything you have done for me.

Chapter 1 - Effects of various feed additives on finishing pig growth performance and carcass characteristics: A review.

Abstract

Feed additives have shown benefits throughout the literature in improving grow–finish pigs' growth performance and carcass characteristics. However, the results have not been well summarized. Therefore, this review summarizes the available research (402 articles) on 14 feed additive categories fed to grow-finish pigs. The categories were acidifiers, betaine, Cr, conjugated linoleic acids, Cu, direct-fed microbials, carbohydrases, proteases, phytases, multienzymes, essential oils, L-carnitine, yeasts, and Zn. Qualified articles were collected and selected based on inclusion and exclusion criteria from online databases. The percentage difference for each response variable between the treatment and control group was calculated and summarized. Most results were positive for each feed additive; however, the magnitude of improvement varied, and most were not statistically significant. For ADG, DFM, Cu, L-carnitine, and multienzymes showed relatively large positive effects (>2.1% improvement) across a reasonable number of articles. Acidifiers, betaine, CLA, multi-enzymes, DFM, L-carnitine, and yeasts showed relatively large positive effects (>2.5% improvement) on improving G:F. Moreover, except for betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine, most feed additives showed little and nonsignificant effects on BF thickness (<1.7% improvement). This review provides a descriptive analysis for commonly used feed additives in the hope of better understanding feed additives' effects on grow-finish pigs.

Introduction

Growth performance, especially feed efficiency, becomes increasingly important for achieving sustainable and competitive pig production as feed prices and environmental concerns rise. A pig consumes most of the feed in its lifetime during the grow-finish phase. Moreover, feed efficiency decreases as the pig's weight increases because of the increasing maintenance requirement [1]. One of the potential methods to improve efficiency is including feed additives that have the potential to enhance energy utilization or reduce maintenance requirements. Several feed additives have been widely used in the swine feed industry. These feed additives provide different mechanisms of action that can potentially improve growth performance without negatively affecting the ADG. Feed additives (acidifiers, EO, DFM, yeasts, Cu, and Zn) that show antibacterial and immune-promoting properties have been added to diets to control pathogens and maintain a balanced microbiota in the gastrointestinal tract [2–7]. Betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine are added to diets for their beneficial effects on energy and lipid metabolism [8–11]. Moreover, exogenous enzymes, such as carbohydrases, proteases, and phytases, are added to improve nutrient digestibility coefficients and for the potential positive effects on gastrointestinal health and immune functions [12,13]. Even though the mechanisms of these feed additives seem promising, the effects on finishing pigs' growth performance are variable throughout the literature. This variability in response may be caused by the developmental status (weaned pigs vs. grow-finish pigs) of the pig, diet compositions [14,15], and environmental factors [16]. Moreover, because carcass characteristics are important economic criteria, this literature review also discusses the effects of these feed additives on backfat, percentage lean, and loin muscle criteria. Therefore, this literature review summarizes the available results of feed additive research to help determine which feed additives have the

greatest and most consistent potential to improve growth performance and carcass characteristics of finishing pigs.

Material and Methods

Data Source

The online article databases used for this literature review were the International System for Agricultural Science and Technology (AGRIS), Centre for Agriculture and Bioscience International (CABI; CAB Direct), Pork Checkoff research, PubMed, and Scopus. Articles were identified using the following terms: pig, swine, barrow, or gilt with the name of the feed additive of interest. The feed additives of interest were acidifiers, betaine, Cr, conjugated linoleic acid (CLA), Cu, direct-fed microbials (DFM), carbohydrases, proteases, phytases, multienzymes (combinations of carbohydrases, proteases, or phytases), essential oils (EO), Lcarnitine, yeasts, and Zn. This literature review did not include ractopamine (RAC) because of the global trend of removing RAC in grow–finish pig diets. The language of the articles was limited to English, and the article types were limited to research articles and university research reports. There is no restriction on the publication years for selecting articles and the years of the selected papers ranged from 1957 to 2022.

Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

Research articles were included if they met the following criteria: (1) the study was an original randomized controlled in vivo study; (2) the study had a control group fed a basal diet without the feed additive of interest and treatment groups with the feed additive added to the basal diet with other nutrient values similar to the control; (3) control and treatment pigs had to have a similar starting live body weight over 7 kg (post-weaning), and an end point above 80 kg live body weight with an identical (fix-time study) or similar (fix-weight study) experimental

3

period; (4) the study reported either the growth performance (BW, ADG, ADFI, G:F), carcass characteristics [e.g., carcass weight, percent carcass yield, backfat thickness (BF), loin muscle area (LMA), loin muscle depth (LD), percentage lean] or both criteria with statistical analysis. The exclusion criteria were (1) duplicate search results; (2) data duplication between different research articles; (3) the article did not provide numeric values of the results; or (4) the original full text of the article could not be found. With the inclusion and exclusion criteria, a total of 402 research articles were selected for the 14 different feed additives frequently used in grow–finish pig diets.

Data Extraction and Analysis

Article information, treatment design, response variables, and statistical results were extracted from the selected articles. Article information included authors, published journal, article type, title, published year, and the location of the study. Treatment design included the feed additive used, the form of the additive, feed additive inclusion level, duration of the study, the first 2 major ingredients in the diet (e.g., corn-soybean meal, barley-wheat), pig breed, sex, housing type (individual or group pen), and initial BW. Response variables included final BW, ADG, ADFI, G:F, carcass weight, BF, percentage lean, and LMA/LD. Statistical results included the standard error of the mean (SEM) of the response of interest and the p-value of the response of interest compared to the control. Because the reported values of BF vary on the sampling locations, if the location was reported, the priority sequence of extracted value was average BF, 10th rib BF, last rib BF, loin BF, and other locations. If the location was not reported, the value was extracted as listed in the article regardless of the location. Because of the similarity between LMA and LD, both values were extracted for the same category. If both values were reported, LMA was prioritized over LD. The extracted data of each treatment group was entered into the database as a row of data.

4

The relative difference in the response between the treatment group and the control was calculated as the percentage of difference and defined as a comparison in this literature review. The determination of significance, p-value, and response value were based on the study design and statistical analysis. The significance of each comparison was categorized as significant if the reported p-value was below or at 0.05 ($p \le 0.05$). The comparisons were categorized as tendency if the reported p-value was between 0.05 and 0.10 (0.05) and as non-significant if thereported p-value was above 0.10 (p > 0.10). For studies that only reported whether the p-value was below or above 0.05 and it cannot be determined whether there was a tendency (0.050.10), the comparisons were categorized as significant ($p \le 0.05$) or non-significant (p > 0.10). For studies that utilized polynomial contrasts, if the polynomial p-value was significant or indicated a tendency, the same p-value was assigned to all comparisons in the polynomial contrast despite the numeric difference in the response, to reflect the general effect of adding the additive on finding a significant difference. If the polynomial p-value was not significant, the determination of the p-value was based on the p-value of the pairwise comparison if available. If the pairwise comparison was unavailable, the non-significant polynomial p-value was used for all comparisons. For studies with factorial treatment structure, the combined means and main effect p-values were extracted if there was no significant interactive effect, regardless of the other factors. If there was a significant or a tendency of interactive effect of either variable, all possible comparisons were extracted separately for all variables of interest. However, if the other factor in the basal diets was the addition of ractopamine, the data was not extracted. For each response of the feed additive, the number of the extracted comparisons was counted, and the percentage difference was used to summarize the average positive, neutral, and negative effects of the feed additives at each significant level as a descriptive statistical analysis.

Responses to each feed additive are summarized for the different response criteria (growth performance and carcass characteristics) based on the number of comparisons, magnitude of improvement, and statistical significance levels in Tables 1.1–1.5. Moreover, the distribution of results for each feed additive was summarized by the significance level and direction of improvement in Figures 1.1–1.5. Because of the large number of studies included in the review, the detailed summaries of each additive category, the extracted results of every comparison, and citations were reported in Appendix A as a supplemental paper (Tables A.1–A.22).

		_		Positive				Negative	
Item	Comparisons, n	Difference, %	Sig.	Tendency	NS.	Neutral	NS.	Tendency	Sig.
Acidifiers	68	1.7	18 (5.8)	0	31 (3.4)	0	15 (-3.4)	0	4 (-10.8)
Essential oils	20	5.8	10 (9.9)	0	6 (3.8)	1	3 (-1.7)	0	0
DFM	71	3.3	25 (6.3)	2 (3.9)	30 (3.6)	0	13 (-2.3)	0	1 (-5.8)
Yeasts	36	1.6	9 (5.6)	0	16 (3.2)	0	11 (-4.1)	0	0
Copper	155	2.5	30 (6.2)	3 (4.1)	81 (3.8)	7	33 (-3.4)	0	1 (-0.1)
Zinc	30	0.6	1 (18.7)	1 (1.1)	12 (4.0)	4	11 (-3.2)	0	1 (-14.4)
Betaine	37	1.3	7 (10.6)	1 (4.3)	10 (2.4)	2	15 (-3.3)	0	2 (-2.8)
Chromium	139	1.1	14 (8.9)	4 (4.6)	51 (3.6)	10	48 (-2.2)	5 (-4.1)	7 (-7.2)
CLA	62	1.2	5 (7.2)	1 (3.6)	34 (3.7)	2	17 (-4.1)	0	3 (-7.8)
L-carnitine	24	2.1	2 (3.3)	4 (3.1)	13 (3.4)	1	3 (-2.6)	0	1 (-4.8)
Carbohydrases	87	1.3	15 (5.3)	5 (4.0)	35 (2.9)	4	24 (-3.3)	0	4 (-2.7)
Proteases	23	0.6	3 (5.2)	4 (3.2)	9 (2.1)	0	5 (-3.7)	0	2 (-7.6)
Phytases	24	1.1	3 (6.8)	0	12 (2.6)	1	8 (-3.0)	0	0
Multi-enzymes	29	3.1	10 (7.9)	0	10 (2.9)	1	8 (-2.3)	0	0

Table 1.1. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig ADG ^{1,3} .	
---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------	--

¹Significant (Sig.; $p \le 0.05$), tendency (0.05), and non-significant (NS.; <math>p > 0.10). ²Average of the % of difference of all the comparisons. ³Number outside of the parentheses represents the number of comparisons. Number inside the parentheses represents the average of the percentage of difference of these comparisons.

				Positive				Negative	
Item	Comparisons, n	Difference, ⁹ / ₀ ²	Sig.	Tendency	NS.	Neutral	NS.	Tendency	Sig.
Acidifiers	65	3.1	13 (6.4)	0	40 (3.8)	2	9 (-3.1)	0	1 (-9.7)
Essential oils	17	5.8	7 (10.9)	1 (4.5)	6 (3.5)	1	2 (-1.5)	0	0
DFM	66	3.3	18 (6.1)	3 (3.0)	32 (3.9)	2	11 (-2.2)	0	0
Yeasts	33	2.7	10 (7.8)	0	12 (3.9)	1	10 (-3.6)	0	0
Copper	149	1.8	30 (5.1)	3 (1.0)	71 (3.1)	6	37 (-2.7)	0	2 (-3.7)
Zinc	30	1.2	0	4 (1.2)	14 (4.2)	1	11 (-2.6)	0	0
Betaine	35	2.7	5 (13.2)	0	18 (2.7)	2	9 (-2.3)	0	1 (-0.4)
Chromium	138	1.0	14 (5.2)	0	60 (3.1)	16	41 (-2.1)	0	7 (-4.3)
CLA	57	3.5	13 (4.5)	6 (8.8)	24 (4.6)	4	9 (-2.3)	0	1 (-2.8)
L-carnitine	24	2.5	1 (2.9)	3 (3.7)	13 (4.4)	2	5 (-2.0)	0	0
Carbohydrases	84	1.7	8 (8.5)	2 (5.9)	46 (2.9)	9	19 (-3.8)	0	0
Proteases	22	1.8	7 (4.9)	1 (7.6)	5 (2.2)	2	7 (-2.0)	0	0
Phytases	24	1.1	2 (5.7)	1 (2.9)	13 (2.3)	1	7 (-2.5)	0	0
Multi-enzymes	29	3.3	10 (9.0)	0	12 (1.8)	2	5 (-3.3)	0	0

Table 1.2. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig G:F^{1,3}.

¹Significant (Sig.; $p \le 0.05$), tendency (0.05), and non-significant (NS.; <math>p > 0.10). ²Average of the % of difference of all the comparisons. ³Number outside of the parentheses represents the number of comparisons. Number inside the parentheses represents the average of the percentage of difference of these comparisons.

				Positive				Negative	
Item	Comparisons, n	Difference, %	Sig.	Tendency	NS.	Neutral	NS.	Tendency	Sig.
Acidifiers	24	-0.6	0	0	14 (2.6)	2	5 (-3.2)	0	3 (-12)
Essential oils	14	-2.7	0	0	5 (3.7)	0	6 (-5.5)	0	3 (-2.7)
DFM	21	-1.5	1 (16.8)	0	6 (7.1)	0	9 (-6.3)	3 (-2.9)	2 (-13.1)
Yeasts	21	-3.1	0	0	12 (4.1)	1	8 (-14.4)	0	0
Copper	73	-1.4	0	0	24 (3.5)	9	36 (-4.1)	1 (-5.4)	3 (-10.3)
Zinc	19	-0.6	1 (13.1)	0	5 (1.3)	2	11 (-2.9)	0	0
Betaine	32	-1.7	0	0	13 (2)	0	16 (-2.9)	0	3 (-10.7)
Chromium	133	-3.9	2 (8)	5 (6.3)	42 (4.2)	2	53 (-6.4)	7 (-12.4)	22 (-14.4)
CLA	59	-7.0	0	0	14 (4)	2	16 (-6.1)	5 (-6.5)	22 (-15.4)
L-carnitine	22	-3.4	3 (4)	2 (1.4)	1 (1.9)	1	6 (-5.7)	7 (-4.8)	2 (-12.5)
Carbohydrases	57	-0.4	2 (4.1)	1 (4.8)	18 (4)	7	29 (-3.7)	0	0
Proteases	13	-0.1	0	3 (3.7)	3 (4.5)	1	6 (-4.4)	0	0
Phytases	14	-0.2	1 (8.3)	0	6 (1.7)	2	5 (-4.2)	0	0
Multi-enzymes	12	2.8	0	0	6 (10.4)	0	5 (-3.8)	0	1 (-10.2)

|--|

¹Significant (Sig.; $p \le 0.05$), tendency (0.05), and non-significant (NS.; <math>p > 0.10). ²Average of the % of difference of all the comparisons. ³Number outside of the parentheses represents the number of comparisons. Number inside the parentheses represents the average of the percentage of difference of these comparisons.

			Positive				Negative			
Item	Comparisons, n	Difference, % ²	Sig.	Tendency	NS.	Neutral	NS.	Tendency	Sig.	
Acidifiers	24	-0.5	0	0	9 (0.9)	0	15 (-1.4)	0	0	
Essential oils	9	0.9	3 (2.5)	0	3 (1.2)	1	2 (-1.5)	0	0	
DFM	13	1.0	0	1 (1.8)	9 (1.8)	0	3 (-1.8)	0	0	
Yeasts	8	1.0	0	3 (0.8)	2 (4.9)	0	2 (-1.3)	1 (-1.2)	0	
Copper	25	1.6	2 (1.1)	0	16 (2.8)	0	7 (-1.1)	0	0	
Zinc	14	0.9	0	0	12 (1.1)	1	1 (-0.4)	0	0	
Betaine	25	2.0	1 (5.2)	0	15 (3.6)	1	8 (-1.2)	0	0	
Chromium	105	1.6	20 (6.6)	1 (5)	43 (1.9)	3	36 (-1.2)	0	2 (-4.1)	
CLA	37	2.6	14 (4.9)	0	16 (1.9)	0	7 (-0.6)	0	0	
L-carnitine	20	1.1	4 (3.8)	2 (1.5)	7 (1.5)	1	3 (-0.7)	0	3 (-1.3)	
Carbohydrases	55	0.3	1 (5.6)	0	28 (1.1)	4	20 (-0.8)	0	2 (-0.7)	
Proteases	13	0.0	0	0	6 (1.1)	1	6 (-1.1)	0	0	
Phytases	9	0.0	0	0	4 (0.6)	0	5 (-0.5)	0	0	
Multi-enzymes	9	0.7	1 (4.4)	0	6 (0.6)	0	2 (-0.9)	0	0	

Table 1.4. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig percentage lean ^{1,3}.

¹Significant (Sig.; $p \le 0.05$), tendency (0.05 < $p \le 0.10$), and non-significant (NS.; p > 0.10). ²Average of the % of difference of all the comparisons. ³Number outside of the parentheses represents the number of comparisons. Number inside the parentheses represents the average of the percentage of difference of these comparisons.

			Positive			_	Negative			
Item	Comparisons, n	Difference, %	Sig.	Tendency	NS.	Neutral	NS.	Tendency	Sig.	
Acidifiers	11	1.6	2 (6.3)	0	7 (2.6)	0	2 (-6.9)	0	0	
Essential oils	10	1.9	3 (7.1)	0	4 (1)	0	3 (-2.3)	0	0	
DFM	19	1.5	1 (10.9)	0	14 (2)	1	3 (-3.4)	0	0	
Yeasts	17	1.4	0	0	10 (3.6)	0	7 (-1.9)	0	0	
Copper	62	2.3	5 (4.4)	0	43 (3.4)	2	11 (-1.4)	0	1 (-7.5)	
Zinc	15	0.2	0	0	11 (0.9)	0	4 (-1.5)	0	0	
Betaine	24	-0.2	0	1 (6.3)	10 (1.9)	0	10 (-2.2)	0	3 (-2.3)	
Chromium	125	3.1	23 (13.9)	0	61 (3.2)	2	38 (-3)	0	1 (-11.6)	
CLA	38	0.9	6 (7.6)	1 (3.7)	14 (3)	0	15 (-3)	1 (-4.8)	1 (-5.9)	
L-carnitine	21	2.4	1 (6.3)	0	13 (4.4)	1	6 (-2.3)	0	0	
Carbohydrases	38	1.1	0	0	20 (3.3)	1	17 (-1.5)	0	0	
Proteases	9	-2	0	0	3 (2.4)	0	6 (-4.1)	0	0	
Phytases	11	-1.4	0	0	7 (1.7)	0	4 (-6.9)	0	0	
Multi-enzymes	9	0.3	1 (11.3)	0	3 (1.8)	0	5 (-2.8)	0	0	

Table 1.5. Summary of the effects of feed additives on grow–finish pig longissimus muscle area/loin depth ^{1,3}.

¹Significant (Sig.; $p \le 0.05$), tendency (0.05 < $p \le 0.10$), and non-significant (NS.; p > 0.10). ²Average of the % of difference of all the comparisons. ³Number outside of the parentheses represents the number of comparisons. Number inside the parentheses represents the average of the percentage of difference of these comparisons.



Figure 1.1. The distribution of results for various feed additives on ADG by significance level and direction. The comparison was significant (Sig.) if $p \le 0.05$, had a tendency (T.) if 0.05 , and was non-significant (NS.) if <math>p > 0.10.



Figure 1.2. The distribution of results for various feed additives on G:F by significance level and direction.

The comparison was significant (Sig.) if $p \le 0.05$, had a tendency (T.) if 0.05 , and was non-significant (NS.) if <math>p > 0.10



Figure 1.3. The distribution of results for various feed additives on BF by significance level and direction. The comparison was significant (Sig.) if $p \le 0.05$, had a tendency (T.) if 0.05 , and was non-significant (NS.) if <math>p > 0.10.



Figure 1.4. The distribution of results for various feed additives on percentage lean by significance level and direction. The comparison was significant (Sig.) if $p \le 0.05$, had a tendency (T.) if 0.05 , and was non-significant (NS.) if <math>p > 0.10.



Figure 1.5. The distribution of results for various feed additives on longissimus muscle area/loin depth by significance level and direction.

The comparison was significant (Sig.) if $p \le 0.05$, had a tendency (T.) if 0.05 , and was non-significant (NS.) if <math>p > 0.10.

Feed Additives—Health

This section discusses the feed additives that can potentially improve growth performance and carcass characteristics by enhancing the health status of grow–finish pigs. The feed additives discussed are acidifiers, essential oils, DFM, yeasts, Cu, and Zn.

Acidifiers—Mechanism of Action

Acidifiers have been used in animal diets for their beneficial effects on antimicrobial activity and nutrient digestibility coefficients. The most used acidifiers are organic acids in the form of short-chain fatty acids (fumaric, citric, malic, formic, lactic, acetic, butyric, and propionic acid), medium-chain fatty acids (sorbic, capric, and caprylic acid), and benzoic acid. Acidifiers lower the pH of the digestive tract, which provides an acidic environment (pH < 4.5) that inhibits the growth of acid-sensitive bacteria [2]. The low pH also assists the digestibility of protein and minerals by stimulating the secretion and activity of enzymes in the small intestine [17,18]. Moreover, in an acidic environment, non-dissociated organic acids can freely penetrate the bacterial cell wall and reduce the pH of cytoplasm [2]. The increased H+ requires bacteria to spend energy on removing these H+ and, therefore, retards the growth of acid-sensitive pathogens [2]. With these mechanisms, acidifiers can potentially improve growth performance and carcass characteristics by enhancing the gut health and digestibility of the pig [2,17,18].

Acidifiers—Results

There were 68 comparisons for ADG between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added acidifiers with an average of a 1.7% increase (range between -14.9 and 11.4%) in pigs fed acidifiers, and for G:F, there were 65 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added acidifiers with an average of a 3.1% increase (range between -9.7 and 11.3%) in pigs fed acidifiers. For carcass data, there were 24 comparisons evaluating BF change between pigs fed a

control diet or diets with added acidifiers with an average of a 0.6% decrease (range between - 15.3 and 14.4%) in pigs fed acidifiers. For percentage lean, there were 24 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added acidifiers with an average of a 0.5% decrease (range between -3.6 and 4.2%) in pigs fed acidifiers. There were 11 comparisons for LMA/LD between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added acidifiers with an average of a 1.6% improvement (range between -7.2 and 8.1%) in pigs fed acidifiers. These results could be expected because the mechanisms do not directly affect protein and lipid metabolism. In summary, feeding acidifiers has the potential to improve growth performance but only minor effects on carcass characteristics.

Essential Oils (EO)- Mechanism of Action

Essential oils (ethereal oils) are classified as phytogenic feed additives. Essential oils are a mixture of volatile and non-volatile compounds extracted from plants (approximately 1% of the wet weight of plants), such as oregano, thyme, rosemary, and garlic [19]. The primary active ingredients in EO are phenols (thymol, carvacrol, eugenol, -cymene). These phenolic components have been widely used for antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, insecticidal, and antiparasitic activities in humans and animals [5]. For the antibacterial effects, the lipophilic structures of EO can penetrate and disrupt the cell wall and cell membrane of the pathogens, which causes alterations in the cell functions [20], which is similar to the antimicrobial mechanism of the organic acids. The phenolic OH group can also act as an antioxidant by donating hydrogen to free radicals [19]. Moreover, EO may potentially enhance the immune system by interacting with the microbiota of the pigs and altering the lymphocyte population and distribution in the gut [19]. These beneficial mechanisms suggest that EO may potentially improve grow–finish pig growth performance and carcass characteristics.

Essential Oils—Results

For ADG, there were 20 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added EO with an average of a 5.8% improvement (range between -2.9 and 18.8%) in pigs fed EO. There were 17 comparisons for G:F between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added EO with an average of a 5.8% improvement (range between -2.6 and 19.9%) in pigs fed EO. Fourteen comparisons evaluated BF between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added EO with an average of a 2.7% decrease (range between -14.2 and 6.3%) in pigs fed EO. For percentage lean, there were 9 comparisons with an average of a 0.9% improvement (range between -2.5 and 2.8%) in pigs fed EO. For LMA/LD, there was an average of a 1.9% improvement (range between -6.3 and 12.3%) in pigs fed EO.

Overall, the results suggest that EO positively affected ADG and G:F. Adding EO alone or in combination with acids has the potential to improve growth performance. However, there was only a small amount of research on EO's effect on growth performance, and only three studies were conducted in the US; therefore, using EO may not be beneficial in US-based conditions. More experiments are needed to determine the effect of including EO in the diets of grow–finish pigs.

Direct-Fed Microbials (DFM) -Mechanism of Action

Direct-fed microbial (DFM) or probiotic products are defined as feed additives that contain live (viable)microorganisms (bacteria and/or yeast) that are beneficial to the host. The most used DFM strains added in grow–finish pig diets are yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*), and Bacillus and Lactobacillus species either as a single strain or blend based on the articles we collected (the effect of the single addition of yeast in diets was discussed in the yeast section). Adding DFM aims to achieve a healthy and balanced intestinal microbial composition [4]. These

19

beneficial microorganisms may improve the digestibility of nutrients and reduce the adverse effects of pathogens in the gastrointestinal tract by competitive exclusion, modulation of the immune response, and/or the production of bacteriocins [21]. The inclusion of DFM has been used as an alternative to antibiotics and has shown beneficial effects in research when fed mainly in weaned pig diets.

DFM—Results

There were 71 comparisons for ADG between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added DFM with an average of a 3.3% improvement (range between -6.2 and 20.3%) in pigs fed DFM. For G:F, there were 66 comparisons between pigs with an average of a 3.3% improvement (range between -7.2 and 13.1%) in pigs fed DFM. There was an average 1.5% decrease (range between -18.1 and 20.3%) in BF for pigs fed a DFM vs. a control diet across 21 comparisons. For percentage lean, there were 13 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added DFM with an average of a 1.0% improvement (range between -2.0 and 3.6%) in pigs fed DFM. There were 19 comparisons evaluating added DFM for LMA/LD, with an average of a 1.5% improvement (range between -5.8 and 10.9%) in pigs fed DFM.

In summary, DFM can potentially improve the growth performance of grow-finish pigs. However, the small effects and lack of statistical differences of DFM on carcass characteristics may suggest that the mechanisms of DFM do not directly affect pigs' protein and lipid metabolism. It is worth mentioning that there were relatively few US-based studies for DFM; therefore, the effects of DFM in US-based conditions may not be the same as what has been observed to date.

Yeasts—Mechanism of Action

Yeast is a single-cell fungus used in the food industry, ethanol production, and animal feed for its nutritional and health benefits. The most used yeast strain in animal feed is *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, while *Phaffia rhodozyma* (red yeast) is rarely used. Yeast products are added as live yeast (as a DFM additive), yeast cell wall extracts, or a combination of both. Yeast converts substrates (carbon and nitrogen sources) into carbon dioxide, ethanol, and yeast cell contents through fermentation [6]. The fermented yeast cell culture contains vitamin B, β -glucan, α -mannans polysaccharides, and microbial protein, which can serve as a protein source for animals. The yeast cell wall extracts mainly consist of β -glucan and α -mannan polysaccharides, which have shown prebiotic effects on improving nursery pigs' immune system and gastrointestinal health [6]. Mannan oligosaccharides (MOS) are the side chains of mannan polysaccharides and intestinal morphology in nursery pigs [22]. In addition, MOS reduces the colonization of pathogens by binding to the pathogens and improves gut morphology by increasing the villus height:crypt depth ratio [22].

Yeasts—Results

There were 36 comparisons for ADG between pigs fed diets with added yeasts with an average of a 1.6% improvement (range between -13.7 and 10.3%) in pigs fed yeasts. For G:F, there were 33 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added yeasts with an average of a 2.7% improvement (range between -11.7 and 17.7%) in pigs fed diets containing yeasts. There were 21 comparisons evaluating pigs fed diets with added yeasts on BF with an average of a 3.1% decrease (range between -30.7 and 11%) in pigs fed yeasts. For percentage lean, there were 8 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added yeasts with an

average of a 1.0% improvement (range between -1.7 and 6.6%) in pigs fed yeasts. Lastly, for LMA/LD, there were 17 comparisons with pigs fed added yeasts having an average of a 1.4% improvement (range between -4.3 and 16.6%).

In summary, yeasts can be a potential feed additive with a relatively large magnitude of improving the growth performance of grow–finish pigs, especially for growth performance.

Copper (Cu)—Mechanism of Action

Copper is an essential trace mineral for several metalloenzymes that play roles in oxidation–reduction reactions, transport of oxygen and electrons, and protection against oxidative stress [3]. Feeding pharmacological levels of Cu has shown growth-promoting effects in weaned and growing pigs by reducing diarrhea frequency and increasing feed efficiency [23,24]. These improvements may be because of Cu's effects on the enzymes (lipase, phospholipase A, lipoprotein lipase) involved in lipid digestion and metabolism [3]. Copper also showed bacteriostatic and bactericidal properties that improve weaned pigs' microbiota, gastrointestinal structure, and immune status [25,26]. However, because Cu accumulates in the liver and other organs when fed above requirement estimates, toxicity should be a concern when provided above 250 mg/kg in pig diets. Feeding excess levels of Cu resulted in hemolysis and organ damage in pigs [3].

Copper—Results

There were 155 comparisons of ADG between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added Cu with an average of a 2.5% improvement (range between -12.2 and 15.2%) in pigs fed pharmacological levels of added Cu. For G:F, there were 149 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added Cu with an average of a 1.8% improvement (range between -8.0 and 17.6%) in pigs fed Cu. Seventy-three comparisons evaluated BF between pigs fed diets with

22
added Cu with an average of a 1.4% decrease (range between -17.0 and 11.5%) in BF of pigs fed Cu. For percentage lean, there were 25 comparisons with pigs fed added Cu having an average improvement of 1.6% (range between -2.7 and 34.7%). For LMA/LD, there were 62 comparisons between pigs fed diets with added Cu with an average of a 2.3% improvement (range between -7.5 and 14.5%).

Most studies used Cu additions of 125 to 250 mg/kg (137 comparisons), and increasing Cu addition did not generally further improve pig performance. The growth-promoting effects of Cu can potentially improve growth performance (2.5 and 1.8% improvement for ADG and G:F); however, with carcass characteristics, the effects were relatively small, with most comparisons finding no evidence of difference.

Zinc (Zn)—Mechanism of Action

Zinc is an essential trace mineral in several important metalloenzymes for the growth and development of animals. High levels (1500 to 4000 mg/kg) of dietary zinc oxide (ZnO) have been widely used as a growth-promotive feed additive in weaned pig diets to improve growth performance and gastrointestinal health [7]. However, the mechanisms of the growth-promotive effect of ZnO are still not fully understood. Zinc oxide may regulate the secretion of ions in the intestine, reduce the inflammatory reaction, stabilize the microbiota, prevent the attachment of pathogens, and improve the gastrointestinal structure [7]. Moreover, for grow–finish pigs, whether high Zn inclusion (above 100 mg/kg) can provide a growth-promotive effect is also unclear.

Zinc—Results

For ADG and G:F, there were 30 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added Zn with increases of 0.6% (range between -14.4 and 18.7%) and 1.2% (range between -7.6

and 14.4%), respectively. There were 19 comparisons for BF and pigs fed diets with added Zn had an average of a 0.6% decrease (range between -7.6 and 13.1%). For percentage lean, there were 14 comparisons that observed an average 0.9% improvement (range between -0.4 and 3.9%) in pigs fed Zn. All the comparisons (15) found a 0.2% improvement (range between -2.9 and 2.7%) in LMA/LD.

Overall, the results suggest that Zn had positive but relatively small effects on ADG, G:F, and carcass characteristics. Moreover, there were insufficient data to support whether different types of basal diets and inclusion levels affected the response to added Zn.

Feed Additives—Energy and Lipid Metabolism

This section discusses the feed additives that have the potential to improve growth performance and carcass characteristics by affecting the energy and lipid metabolism of grow– finish pigs. The feed additives discussed are betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine.

Betaine—Mechanism of Action

Betaine is a trimethyl derivative of glycine that can be widely found in plants and animals. It serves as a methyl group donor along with choline and methionine, and plays a role in synthesizing carnitine, creatine, and methylated AAs. It can also improve the metabolism of methionine by donating a carbon molecule for the remethylation of methionine from homocysteine [8]. In pigs, betaine supplementation increased serum growth hormone (GH) and insulin growth factor 1 (IGF-1), which may improve protein synthesis and growth performance [27,28]. Betaine supplementation may also improve energy utilization, resulting in improved growth performance [29]. For meat quality, betaine is likely to regulate genes responsible for the uptake and oxidation of fatty acids in the muscle, and therefore reduce the body fat percentage of the pigs and change the free fatty acid concentration in muscles. Betaine can also delay the anaerobic glycolysis after slaughter, affecting muscle pH, pork color, and water-holding capacity [8].

Betaine—Results

There was an average of a 1.3% improvement (range between -8.3 and 27.5%) in ADG across 37 comparisons for pigs fed betaine vs. those fed a control diet. For G:F, there were 35 comparisons and those fed added betaine had on average a 2.7% improvement (range between - 6.3 and 23.2%). For BF, there were 32 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added betaine with an average of 1.7% in favor of pigs fed betaine (range between -18.6 and 7.4%). For percentage lean and LMA/LD, there were 25 and 24 comparisons, respectively, between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added betaine with an average of a 2.0% (range between -4.8 and 12.4%) and 0.20% (range between -7.0 and 8.9%) improvement in pigs fed betaine.

There were insufficient data to support whether different types of basal diets affected the response to betaine for ADG and G:F. However, betaine may have a more beneficial effect on ADG and G:F in limit-fed pigs [30,31]. In summary, the results suggest that betaine had relatively small positive effects on ADG but may benefit G:F more. Adding dietary betaine to finishing pig diets only significantly affected carcass characteristics in a few experiments.

Chromium (Cr)—Mechanism of Action

Chromium affects several enzymes (adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase, tyrosine kinase, etc.) and hormones (IGF-1, triiodothyronine, etc.) that regulate energy metabolism, protein accretion, and fat deposition [9]. The primary mechanism of action for Cr is potentiating the action of insulin by facilitating the binding of insulin to receptors on cell membranes which increases the translocation of glucose transporter type 4 to plasma membrane

and thus improves glucose utilization of these cells [9,32]. For muscle cells, Cr increases glucose and AAs uptake and improves energy metabolism which increases lean accretion and reduces fat deposition [9]. Therefore, Cr has the potential to improve feed efficiency and carcass characteristics of grow–finish pigs.

Chromium—Results

There were 138 comparisons for ADG and G:F between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added Cr with an average of a 1.1% (range between -21.1 and 21.2%) and 1.0% (range between -10.3 and 10.3%) improvement, respectively. In addition, many experiments (133) also evaluated BF change when pigs were fed added Cr with an average of a 3.9% decrease (range between -31.4 and 15%) in BF depth. For percentage lean, there were 105 comparisons with pigs fed added Cr having an average of a 1.6% improvement (range between -7.4 and 14.1%). For LMA/LD, there were 125 comparisons with pigs fed added Cr having an average of a 3.1% (range between -11.6 and 22.6%) improvement.

According to our database, Cr slightly improved ADG and G:F. This is in agreement with a meta-analysis that analyzed data from 31 studies and found that grow–finish pigs fed 200 to $500 \mu g/kg$ Cr had improved ($p \le 0.05$) ADG and G:F compared with the control pigs [33]. Chromium's effect on improving BF, percentage lean, and LMA/LD was relatively large and more consistent than many of the other feed additives reviewed.

Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA)—Mechanism of Action

Conjugated linoleic acid is a collective term for fatty acids with 18 carbon-atom structures that are geometric isomers of linoleic acid [34]. These fatty acids contain 2 double bonds on either positions 9 and 11 or 10 and 12 in cis or trans configuration [10]. Conjugated linoleic acids play a significant role in lipid metabolism by inhibiting glucose entry into adipocytes and increasing the activities of nuclear transcription factors and enzymes that affect fatty acid catabolism; therefore, these effects reduce lipogenesis and potentiate lipolysis through β -oxidation [10]. Thus, CLA can potentially improve growth performance by regulating energy metabolism and improving carcass composition by reducing adipose tissue and increasing lean tissue.

CLA—Results

A 2.1% (range between -14.5 and 14.1%) and 3.5% (range between -7.4 and 16.7%) improvement in ADG and G:F, respectively, were observed in pigs fed added CLA across 57 comparisons. Fifty-nine comparisons with pigs fed added CLA observed an average of a 7.0% decrease (range between -27.5 and 18%) in BF. For percentage lean, there were 37 comparisons with an average of a 2.6% (range between -1.8 and 9.1%) improvement in pigs fed CLA. However, for LMA/LD, there was only an average of a 0.9% increase (range between -7.5 and 11%) with added CLA.

In summary, CLA may improve growth performance, with the greatest chance for improvement being elicited for G:F. In addition, CLA has the potential to reduce BF and increase percentage lean more consistently compared with other feed additives considered in this review.

L-carnitine—Mechanism of Action

L-carnitine is an essential molecule that transports long-chain fatty acids into the mitochondrial matrix, where the fatty acids are oxidized for energy production through β -oxidation [11]. L-carnitine can also promote energy production by regulating important key enzymes for glycolysis and the tricarboxylic acid cycle [11]. However, the concentration of L-carnitine is low in plants (e.g., corn and soybean) typically used in animal feeds [11]. Even

though pigs can produce endogenous L-carnitine, its production is affected by the pig's micronutrient status, and in some situations, endogenous production or renal absorption may not satisfy the requirements [11]. Due to these reasons, the addition of L-carnitine in plant-based swine diets has been investigated in numerous studies for its potential to improve performance and carcass characteristics.

L-carnitine—Results

For ADG and G:F, there were 24 comparisons evaluating pigs fed a control diet or diets with added L-carnitine with an average of a 2.1% (range between -4.8 and 9.4%) and 2.5% (range between -3.6 and 7.7%) increase, respectively, observed in pigs fed L-carnitine. For BF, there were 22 comparisons and an average of a 3.4% decrease (range between -18.2 and 4.8%) in pigs fed L-carnitine. Percentage lean significantly increased ($p \le 0.05$) by an average of 3.8% (range between -2.6 and 7.6%) for pigs fed added L-carnitine. For LMA/LD, there was an average of a 2.4% improvement (range between -6.4 and 16.2%) in pigs fed L-carnitine (21 comparisons).

Overall, the results suggest that L-carnitine has the potential to improve ADG and G:F (79 and 71% of all the comparisons, respectively) with relatively large improvements. In addition, the results also suggest that L-carnitine is a potential feed additive that had relatively large effects on BF, percentage lean, and LMA/LD compared to other feed additives evaluated in this review.

Feed Additives—Enzymes

This section discusses dietary enzymes used as feed additives in classes of carbohydrases, proteases, phytases, and combination of different types of enzymes (multi-enzymes).

Mechanism of Action—Enzymes

Because endogenous digestive enzymes of pigs cannot fully digest various feed substances (e.g., fiber and phytate), exogenous enzymes are included in diets to improve the digestion of these feed ingredients [12]. Moreover, indigestible fibrous substances can entrap nutrients or negatively affect digestion. Carbohydrases (xylanase, glucanase, mannanase, etc.) can break down some indigestible non-starch polysaccharides (cell wall and fiber) of the plantbased ingredients and release previously unavailable nutrients for the animals [13]. Moreover, the products of this degradation process may be beneficial for gut health [13]. In addition, proteases assist the breakdown of dietary protein to improve utilization and reduce excess protein in the hindgut and manure.

The main reason for adding phytases is to break down dietary phytate and release phytate-bound [35]. Furthermore, phytases may also improve the digestibility of other nutrients (i.e., energy, AAs, minerals, etc.) by reducing the negative effect of dietary phytate on these nutrients [36]. Blending different enzymes into multi-enzyme complexes is common with the intent of combining the benefits because of different enzymatic mechanisms.

Carbohydrases—Results

For ADG, there were 87 comparisons with pigs fed a control diet or diets with added carbohydrases with an average of a 1.3% improvement (range between -9.3 and 14.8%). For G:F, there were 84 comparisons with an average of a 1.7% improvement (range between -12.3 and 16.5%) in pigs fed carbohydrases. There were over 50 comparisons evaluating BF and percentage lean between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added carbohydrases with an average of a 0.4% decrease (range between -17 and 16.1%) or a 0.40% increase (range between - 4.8 and 8.1%) in BF and percentage lean, respectively. For LMA/LD, there were 38 comparisons

between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added carbohydrases with an average of a 1.1% improvement (range between -3.5 and 12.7%) in pigs fed carbohydrases. Overall, results suggest that carbohydrases had positive effects on ADG and G:F (63 and 67% of all the comparisons, respectively), but the magnitude was small, and most comparisons had no statistical differences. The mixed and relatively small and non-significant responses are expected because the mechanisms of exogenous enzymes assist the digestion of feed substrates but do not affect protein and lipid metabolism. The high percentage of non-significant comparisons also suggested that the carcass results were highly variable.

Proteases—Results

There were 23 comparisons for ADG between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added proteases with an average of a 0.6% improvement (range between -9.8 and 6.0%) in pigs fed proteases. For G:F, there were 22 comparisons with an average of a 1.8% improvement (range between -4.3 and 15.1%) in pigs fed proteases. Comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added proteases showed an average of a 0.1% decrease (range between -8.3 and 10.8%) in BF of pigs fed proteases. There was no difference (range between -2.1 and 2.4%) in percentage lean across 13 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added proteases. For LMA/LD, there were 9 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added proteases with an average of a 2.0% decrease (range between -6.5 and 5.4%) in pigs fed proteases.

Overall, there were relatively small and non-significant results observed in growth performance and carcass characteristics when proteases were included in grow–finish pig diets.

Phytases—Results

An average of a 1.1% improvement (range between -4.6 and 10.6%) in ADG of pigs fed phytases was observed across 24 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added phytases. Feed efficiency was improved by 1.1% (range between -6.6 and 6.9%) across 24 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added phytase. There were 14 comparisons for BF between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added phytases with an average of a 0.2% decrease (range between -6.7 and 8.3%) in pigs fed phytases. No differences (range between -0.8 and 1.3%) were observed in percentage lean with 9 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added phytases between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added phytases. For LMA/LD, there were 11 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with an average of a 1.4% decrease (range between -11.6 and 3.5%) in pigs fed phytases.

In summary, including phytase in diets with adequate P may not affect finishing pig ADG and G:F. Furthermore, there were relatively small and non-significant results observed in carcass characteristics when phytases were included in grow–finish pig diets.

Multi-Enzymes—Results

For ADG, there were 29 comparisons between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added multi-enzymes with an average of a 3.1% improvement (range between -6.5 and 24.9%) by the addition of multi-enzymes. A 3.3% improvement (range between -6.6 and 30.8%) in G:F of pigs fed multi-enzymes was observed across 29 comparisons. There were 12 comparisons for BF between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added multi-enzymes with an average of a 2.8% increase (range between -12.3 and 29.4%) in pigs fed multienzymes. There were 9 comparisons in percentage lean and LMA/LD between pigs fed a control diet or diets with added multi-enzymes with an average of a 0.7% (range between -1.3 and 4.4%) and 0.30% (range between -

3.2 and 11.3%) improvement in pigs fed multi-enzymes. Overall, results suggest that multienzymes positively affect ADG and G:F. There were relatively small and non-significant results observed in carcass characteristics when multi-enzymes are included in grow–finish pig diets. Moreover, the combination of multiple enzymes provided greater improvement than adding any single type of enzyme (carbohydrase, protease, and phytase) alone according to our summaries, which suggests that different types of enzymes may have a synergetic effect; however, some factorial studies that used multi enzyme types found combining enzyme types do not improve performance [37,38].

Furthermore, most comparisons showed little or negative effects in US-based research; therefore, US-based diets with multi-enzymes should be evaluated further.

Discussion

Overall, the greatest proportion of the comparisons for each feed additive was positive; however, most of them were also not statistically significant (Tables 1.1–1.5). For most feed additives, there were enough comparisons to show the general effects on ADG and G:F. For carcass characteristics, the overall effects were also positive; however, there were fewer comparisons, and effects were mostly small and inconsistent (Figures 1.1–1.5). Moreover, the sampling process for carcass characteristics often only selects a smaller portion of the animals that were used for the growth performance data, which accentuated the between-animal variations for the relatively small treatment effects. This potentially resulted in a higher proportion of the comparisons having no evidence of difference for carcass characteristics.

For utilizing these results in US-based production, the results suggest that Cr, carbohydrases, proteases, phytases, and Zn had minor effects and did not appear to be potential feed additives based on growth performance. Essential oils consistently improved ADG and G:F

with a relatively larger magnitude (>3%), but the number of comparisons was low, and most studies were not US-based; therefore, publication bias and locational effect should be concerned. On the other hand, acidifiers, betaine, CLA, L-carnitine, and yeasts had relatively substantial positive effects (2.5 to 3.5 %) on G:F. Moreover, despite limited data, benzoic acid and other acidifiers may be potential additives for improving ADG and G:F, but further research is needed. The effects of Cu were most studied, with a 2.5% improvement in ADG, but the average effect on G:F was minor (1.8%). Moreover, DFM and multi-enzymes had relatively large and consistent improvements (approximately 3%) in ADG and G:F with a sizeable number of comparisons; however, there were relatively few US-based studies for DFM. Therefore, acidifiers, betaine, CLA, DFM, multi-enzymes, L-carnitine, and yeasts may have the greatest opportunity to improve finishing pig G:F. However, their concentration and feeding strategies need further research. Lastly, betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine may potentially improve carcass characteristics because of their effects on lipid and energy metabolism.

Additionally, even though we collected all the known research studies, publication bias still needs to be kept in mind when interpreting the results of this literature review. Furthermore, most research was conducted in well-controlled research facilities that only utilized a small number of pigs per experiment; therefore, it may have limitations in representing the whole pig population. Moreover, compared with pigs in commercial settings, these research pigs were observed closely, experienced relatively little environmental stress (e.g., space allowance and temperature), and often had better health status and high feed intake (nutrient intake) relative to the pigs' requirements. Therefore, adding these feed additives may be more advantageous in pigs' diets in commercial settings where pigs are not under optimal conditions. More commercial research should be conducted to understand the effects of additives used under these conditions.

Additionally, to utilize these results, the location of these studies should also be considered because some additives (e.g., DFM and EOs) had large positive responses in some countries, but, in contrast, the US-based results showed neutral or negative responses. These may be due to the differences in pig genetics, farm environments, formulated nutrient levels, and diet compositions. Lastly, even though economics was not discussed in this review, the decision to include feed additives in pig diets should consider the return of investment based on the price and the magnitude of benefit of the feed additive. For example, a relatively small magnitude of G:F improvement may still be economical when provided by a relatively low-priced feed additive. On the other hand, a feed additive with a relatively large magnitude of improvement in G:F may not be economical if it has a relatively high price.

Conclusions

In conclusion, this literature review collected available research on finishing pig feed additives to provide a descriptive analysis of the effects on growth and carcass performance. In addition, this database has the potential to be further analyzed with advanced statistical methods, such as meta-analysis, to figure out the reasons behind the variable results when additives were added, and possibly lead to a better understanding of the effect of feed additives to improve the efficiency of swine production.

References

- 1. Patience, J.F.; Rossoni-Serão, M.C.; Gutiérrez, N.A. A review of feed efficiency in swine: Biology and application. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. **2015**, 6, 33.
- 2. Nguyen, D.; Seok,W.; Kim, I. Organic acids mixture as a dietary additive for pigs—A review. Animals **2020**, 10, 952.
- 3. Espinosa, C.D.; Stein, H.H. Digestibility and metabolism of copper in diets for pigs and influence of dietary copper on growth performance, intestinal health, and overall immune status: A review. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. **2021**, 12, 13.
- 4. Zamojska, D.; Nowak, A.; Nowak, I.; Macierzy´nska-Piotrowska, E. Probiotics and postbiotics as substitutes of antibiotics in farm animals: A review. Animals **2021**, 11, 3431.
- 5. Stevanovi'c, Z.D.; Bošnjak-Neumüller, J.; Paji'c-Lijakovi'c, I.; Raj, J.; Vasiljevi'c, M. Essential oils as feed additives-future perspectives. Molecules **2018**, 23, 1717.
- 6. Dumitrache, C.; Matei, F.; Barbulescu, D.I.; Frincu, M.; Tudor, V.; Hirjoaba, L.N.; Teodorescu, R.I. Protein sources for animal feed: Yeast biomass of beer and/or wine review. Sci. Pap. Ser. E Land Reclam. Earth Obs. Surv. Environ. Eng. **2019**, 8, 175–182.
- 7. B[°]elková, J.; Václavková, E.; Horký, P. The effect of zinc in the diet for weaned piglets and the possibilities of substitution—review. Res. Pig Breed. **2018**, 12, 1–5.
- 8. Fu, R.; Wang, Q.; Kong, C.; Liu, K.; Si, H.; Sui, S. Mechanism of action and the uses betaine in pig production. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. **2021**, 106, 528–536.
- Valente Júnior, D.T.; Dos Reis Barbosa, L.M.; Soares, M.H.; De Amorim Rodrigues, G.; Da Silva Gomes, M.; Da Silva, C.B.; Teixeira, L.M.; Cunha Júnior, R.L.; Abranches, F.F.; Saraiva, A. Dietary supplementation of chromium for finishing pigs. Cienc. Rural 2021, 51, 1–10.
- Lehnen, T.E.; da Silva, M.R.; Camacho, A.; Marcadenti, A.; Lehnen, A.M. A review on effects of conjugated linoleic fatty acid (CLA) upon body composition and energetic metabolism. J. Int. Soc. Sport. Nutr. 2015, 12, 36.
- Ringseis, R.; Keller, J.; Eder, K. Basic mechanisms of the regulation of L-carnitine status in monogastrics and efficacy of L-carnitine as a feed additive in pigs and poultry. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 2018, 102, 1686–1719.
- 12. Aranda-Aguirre, E.; Robles-Jimenez, L.E.; Osorio-Avalos, J.; Vargas-Bello-Pérez, E.; Gonzalez-Ronquillo, M. A systematic-review on the role of exogenous enzymes on the productive performance at weaning, growing and finishing in pigs. Vet. Anim. Sci. **2021**, 14, 100195.
- 13. Petry, A.L.; Patience, J.F. Xylanase supplementation in corn-based swine diets: A review with emphasis on potential mechanisms of action. J. Anim. Sci. **2020**, 98, skaa318.

- Jerez-Bogota, K.; Sánchez, C.; Ibagon, J.; Jlali, M.; Cozannet, P.; Preynat, A.; Woyengo, T.A. Growth performance and nutrient digestibility of growing and finishing pigs fed multienzyme-supplemented low-energy and -amino acid diets. Transl. Anim. Sci. 2020, 4, 602–615.
- 15. Torres-Pitarch, A.; Gardiner, G.E.; Cormican, P.; Rea, M.; Crispie, F.; O'Doherty, J.V.; Cozannet, P.; Ryan, T.; Cullen, J.; Lawlor, P.G. Effect of cereal fermentation and carbohydrase supplementation on growth, nutrient digestibility and intestinal microbiota in liquid-fed grow-finishing pigs. Sci. Rep. **2020**, 10, 13716.
- Cottrell, J.J.; Liu, F.; Hung, A.T.; DiGiacomo, K.; Chauhan, S.S.; Leury, B.J.; Furness, J.B.; Celi, P.; Dunshea, F.R. Nutritional strategies to alleviate heat stress in pigs. Anim. Prod. Sci. 2015, 55, 1391–1402.
- Mroz, Z.; Jongbloed, A.W.; Partanen, K.H.; Vreman, K.; Kemme, P.A.; Kogut, J. The effects of calcium benzoate in diets with or without organic acids on dietary buffering capacity, apparent digestibility, retention of nutrients, and manure characteristics in swine. J. Anim. Sci. 2000, 78, 2622–2632.
- Partanen, K.; Jalava, T.; Valaja, J.; Perttilä, S.; Siljander-Rasi, H.; Lindeberg, H. Effect of dietary carbadox or formic acid and fibre level on ileal and faecal nutrient digestibility and microbial metabolite concentrations in ileal digesta of the pig. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 2001, 93, 137–155.
- 19. Zhai, H.; Liu, H.; Wang, S.; Wu, J.; Kluenter, A.-M. Potential of essential oils for poultry and pigs. Anim. Nutr. **2018**, 4, 179–186.
- 20. Burt, S. Essential oils: Their antibacterial properties and potential applications in foods—A review. Int. J. Food Microbiol. **2004**, 94, 223–253.
- 21. Barba-Vidal, E.; Martín-Orúe, S.M.; Castillejos, L. Practical aspects of the use of probiotics in pig production: A review. Livest. Sci. **2019**, 223, 84–96.
- 22. Halas, V.; Nochta, I. Mannan oligosaccharides in nursery pig nutrition and their potential mode of action. Animals **2012**, 2, 261–274.
- Espinosa, C.D.; Fry, R.S.; Usry, J.L.; Stein, H.H. Effects of copper hydroxychloride and choice white grease on growth performance and blood characteristics of weanling pigs kept at normal ambient temperature or under heat stress. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 2019, 256, 114257.
- 24. Barber, R.S.; Braude, R.; Mitchell, K.G. Antibiotic and copper supplements for fattening pigs. Br. J. Nutr. **1955**, 9, 378–381.
- 25. Stahly, T.S.; Cromwell, G.L.; Monegue, H.J. Effects of the dietary inclusion of copper and(or) antibiotics on the performance of weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. **1980**, 51, 1347–1351.

- Højberg, O.; Canibe, N.; Poulsen, H.D.; Hedemann, M.S.; Jensen, B.B. Influence of dietary zinc oxide and copper sulfate on the gastrointestinal ecosystem in newly weaned piglets. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 2005, 71, 2267–2277.
- 27. Lothong, M.; Tachampa, K.; Assavacheep, P.; Angkanaporn, K. Effects of dietary betaine supplementation on back fat thickness and serum IGF-1 in late finishing pigs. Thai. J. Vet. Med. **2016**, 46, 427–434.
- Huang, Q.C.; Xu, Z.R.; Han, X.Y.; Li, W.F. Effect of betaine on growth hormone pulsatile secretion and serum metabolites in finishing pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. 2007, 91, 85–90.
- 29. Lipi ' nski, K.; Szramko, E.; Jeroch, H.; Matusevi cius, P. Effects of betaine on energy utilization in growing pigs—A Review. Ann. Anim. Sci. **2012**, 12, 201–300.
- Siljander-Rasi, H.; Peuranen, S.; Tiihonen, K.; Virtanen, E.; Kettunen, H.; Alaviuhkola, T.; Simmins, P.H. Effect of equi-molar dietary betaine and choline addition on performance, carcass quality and physiological parameters of pigs. Anim. Sci. 2003, 76, 55–62.
- Dunshea, F.R.; Cadogan, D.J.; Partridge, G.G. Dietary betaine and ractopamine combine to increase lean tissue deposition in finisher pigs, particularly gilts. Anim. Prod. Sci. 2009, 49, 65–70.
- 32. NRC. Nutrient Requirements of Swine, 11th ed.; National Academic Press: Washington, DC, USA, 2012.
- Sales, J.; Jančík, F. Effects of dietary chromium supplementation on performance, carcass characteristics, and meat quality of growing-finishing swine: A meta-analysis. J. Anim. Sci. 2011, 89, 4054–4067.
- 34. Campbell, B.; Kreider, R.B. Conjugated linoleic acids. Curr. Sport. Med. Rep. **2008**, 7, 237–241.
- Rosenfelder-Kuon, P.; Siegert, W.; Rodehutscord, M. Effect of microbial phytase supplementation on P digestibility in pigs: A meta-analysis. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 2020, 74, 1– 18.
- 36. Dersjant-Li, Y.; Awati, A.; Schulze, H.; Partridge, G. Phytase in non-ruminant animal nutrition: A critical review on phytase activities in the gastrointestinal tract and influencing factors. J. Sci. Food Agric. **2015**, 95, 878–896.
- O'Doherty, J.V.; Forde, S. The effect of protease and _-galactosidase supplementation on the nutritive value of peas for growing and finishing pigs. Ir. J. Agric. Food Res. 1999, 38, 217– 226.
- 38. O'Shea, C.J.; McAlpine, P.O.; Solan, P.; Curran, T.; Varley, P.F.; Walsh, A.M.; Doherty, J.V.O. The effect of protease and xylanase enzymes on growth performance, nutrient

digestibility, and manure odour in grower-finisher pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. **2014**, 189, 88–97.

Chapter 2 - Evaluation of selenium source on nursery pig growth performance, serum and tissue selenium concentrations, and serum antioxidant status.

Abstract

A total of 3,888 pigs (337×1050 , PIC, Hendersonville, TN; initially 6.0 ± 0.23 kg) were used in a 35-d study. At the time of placement, pens of pigs were weighed and allotted to 1 of 3 dietary treatments in a randomized complete block design with blocking structure including sow farm origin, date of entry into the facility, and average pen BW. A total of 144 pens were used with 72 double-sided 5-hole stainless steel fence line feeders, with one feeder serving as the experimental unit. For each feeder, 1 pen contained 27 gilts, and 1 pen contained 27 barrows. There were 24 replicates per dietary treatment. Diets were fed in three phases, and all contained 0.3 mg/kg added Se. A common phase 1 diet contained added Se from sodium selenite and was fed in pelleted form to all pigs from d -7 to approximately d 0. Three Se sources [sodium selenite; Se yeast; or hydroxy-selenomethionine (OH-SeMet;] were used to formulate 3 experimental diets in meal form for phase 2 (d 0 to 14) and phase 3 (d 14 to 35). During the pretreatment period(d -7 to 0), there was marginally significant evidence (P = 0.097) of a difference in ADFI between treatments, although no significant pairwise differences were observed (P >(0.05). There were no other differences in growth performance between treatments from d -7 to 0. Clinical disease attributed to Streptococcus suis was observed within the trial between d 0 and 14, and water-soluble antimicrobial therapy was administered to all treatment groups for 7 d. From d 0 to 35, pigs fed OH-SeMet tended to have decreased ADG (P < 0.10) and had increased (P < 0.05) serum and tissue selenium concentration compared to other treatments. There was

marginally significant evidence of a source \times day interaction for total antioxidant capacity (**T**-**AOC**) where the numerical increase over time was less for the OH-SeMet than sodium selenite or selenium yeast treatments. There was no difference (P > 0.05) in antioxidant status as measured by serum GSH-Px or TBARS assay between treatments. In summary, compared to sodium selenite and selenium yeast, OH-SeMet had greater bioavailability as indicated by increased serum and tissue selenium concentration; however, antioxidant status was similar between treatments and OH-SeMet tended to reduce growth performance compared with pigs fed sodium selenite.

Introduction

Selenium (Se) is an essential trace mineral for selenoproteins that are crucial for all stages of animal production because of their roles as antioxidant enzymes [e.g., glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px) and thioredoxin reductase] that protect cells from oxidative damage (NRC, 2012; Hosnedlova et al., 2017). Selenium deficiency may result in sudden death, pale muscle, liver necrosis, mulberry heart disease, and damage to lungs and gastrointestinal tissues in pigs (NRC, 2012; Hosnedlova et al., 2017). Therefore, meeting the dietary Se requirement is important for animal production, especially in regions that use feed ingredients grown in low Se soils (Hosnedlova et al., 2017). For swine production, the dietary Se requirement ranges from 0.3 mg/kg for nursery pigs to 0.15 mg/kg for growing-finishing pigs and sows (NRC, 2012). Even though Se is an essential trace mineral for pigs, there is a narrow range between requirement and toxicity (Shini et al., 2015). Excess Se excretion in animal waste can cause environmental pollution (NRC, 2012). Thus, the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulates the addition of Se in swine diets, and the maximum level of added dietary Se is 0.3 mg/kg in complete feed for all stages of production (FDA, 2021). To meet this requirement, several inorganic or organic Se sources can be added to animal feed. Sodium selenite is commonly used as the primary inorganic Se source. In nature, organic Se is predominantly found in seleno-amino acid forms where Se replaces the S in sulphur-containing AAs, such as cysteine and methionine, to form selenocysteine and selenomethionine (Shini et al., 2015). Commercial organic Se sources used in animal feed are in the form of selenomethionine, such as Se yeast or hydroxy-selenomethionine (OH-SeMet). Different Se sources have shown bioavailability differences in animals due to the structural differences that affect absorption and storage of Se and may improve an animal's performance (Shini et al., 2015). Nursery pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg OH-SeMet had increased tissue Se levels compared to pigs fed sodium selenite without a difference in growth performance (Chao et al., 2019). Growing pigs fed organic Se sources (Se yeast or OH-SeMet) had greater (P < 0.05) plasma and muscle Se concentrations compared to pigs fed inorganic Se source (sodium selenite) without differences (P > 0.05) in growth performance (Jlali et al., 2014). However, the differences between these products added to diets formulated with corn and soybean meal originating from low soil Se regions and fed to nursery pigs are still not clear. Therefore, the objective of this study was to determine the effect of Se source (sodium selenite, Se yeast, and OH-SeMet) included at the legal limit in the United States of 0.3 mg/kg added Se on growth performance, serum and tissue Se concentrations, and serum antioxidant status of nursery pigs.

Material and Methods

General

The Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved the protocol used in this study. Experiments were conducted at a commercial research facility in north-central Ohio (Bucyrus, OH). Weaned pigs (approximately 21 d of age) from three sow farms entered the research facility over a 7-d period. Sows were fed diets containing 0.3 mg/kg of added Se with a minimum of 50% from yeast-derived organic Se and the remainder from

sodium selenite. At the time of weaning (d -7), a total of 3,888 pigs (337×1050 , PIC, Hendersonville, TN; initially 6.0 ± 0.23 kg) were placed in the research barn with 27 pigs per pen (2.2×2.7 m). A total of 144 pens were used with 72 double-sided 5-hole stainless steel fence line feeders, each feeding 2 adjacent pens with feeder serving as the experimental unit. For each feeder, 1 pen contained 27 gilts, and 1 pen contained 27 barrows. Each pen also contained a cup-waterer to provide *ad libitum* access to feed and water. At the time of placement in the nursery facility, pens of pigs were weighed and allotted to 1 of 3 dietary treatments in a randomized complete block design with blocking structure including sow farm origin, date of entry into the facility, and average pen bodyweight. There were 24 replicates (feeders) per dietary treatment.

There was an increase in clinical disease associated with *Streptococcus suis* above expected levels in the research barn during the phase 2 period (d 0 to 14) for approximately a week. Amoxicillin (250 mg/5mL; NDC 0781-6041-55; Sandoz, Princeton, NJ) was administered through the water to all pens for 7 d.

Diets

Samples of corn, soybean meal, and enzymatically-treated soybean meal (HP300, Hamlet Protein Inc., Findlay, OH) were collected and analyzed for Se concentration at the Michigan State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (**MSU VDL**, East Lansing, MI) prior to initiation of the study. The trace mineral premix used in the treatment diets did not contain Se (SEM Minerals, L.P., Quincy, IL). Diets were fed in three phases, and all contained 0.3 mg/kg added Se (Table 2.1). Phase 1 common diet was formulated with added Se from sodium selenite, manufactured and pelleted at Premier Feeds, LLC (Urbana, OH), and was fed to all pigs from weaning to approximately 6.0 kg BW with a feed budget of 0.68 kg/pig. Three Se sources (sodium selenite, Se yeast, and OH-SeMet) were used to formulate 3 experimental diets for

phase 2 and 3, and were manufactured at the Hord Elevator (Bucyrus, OH). Phase 2 and 3 diets were fed in meal form with a feed budget of 11.6 and 14.5 kg/pig, respectively. The phase 1, 2, and 3 diets were fed approximately from d -7 to 0, d 0 to 14, and d 14 to 35, respectively. All diets met the NRC (2012) vitamin and mineral requirement estimates.

Feed samples were collected from at least 6 feeders per treatment per phase, pooled, and subsampled for Se concentration (MSU VDL) and crude protein (Kansas State University Swine Laboratory, Manhattan, KS; Table 2.2). The feed Se assay was based on an Agilent Technologies Inc. (Santa Clara, CA) method using an inductively coupled plasma mass spectrometer (**ICP/MS**). The ICP/MS was tuned to yield a minimum of 7500 cps sensitivity for 1ppb yttrium (mass 89), less than 1.0% oxide level as determined by the 156/140 mass ratio and less than 2.0% double charged ions as determined by the 70/140 mass ratio. Selenium concentration was calibrated using a 6-point linear curve of the analyte-internal standard response ratio. Standards were from Inorganic Ventures (Christiansburg, VA). A National Institute of Standards and Technology (**NIST**; Gaithersburg, MD) typical diet standard was used as a control.

Data and sample collection

Feed additions to each feeder were made and recorded by an electronic feeding system (Dry Exact; Big Dutchman, Inc. Holland, MI). Pens of pigs were weighed by pen, and feed disappearance was calculated every 7 d until the study's conclusion to calculate ADG, ADFI, average BW, and G:F. Feed disappearance was measured using a volumetric regression equation which estimates the quantity of feed remaining in the feeder subtracted from the quantity of feed added to the feeder.

Serum samples were collected from 1 median weight barrow of each experimental unit on d 0, 14, and 35 of the experiment. The same pig per experimental unit was marked with high visibility, numbered ear tag on d 0, and used in all subsequent serum collections. Serum samples

from two pigs could not be collected due to the removal of the pig from the study; therefore, replacement barrows from the same pen were randomly selected and used for further sampling. Whole blood samples were allowed to clot for 30 min, centrifuged at $1,500 \times g$ for 15 min., and the resulting serum supernatants were divided into 7 polypropylene tubes as aliquots and transferred and stored at -80°C. Day 0 serum samples were collected when all pigs were still on the phase 1 common diet formulated with sodium selenite. Serum Se concentration was analyzed on d 0, 14, and 35 samples at the MSU VDL. The serum Se assay used a similar method as the feed Se analysis but with in-house serum pools as the controls. Serum glutathione peroxidase (GSH-Px), total antioxidant capacity (T-AOC), and thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS) were evaluated on d 14 and 35 samples at the Kansas State University Swine Laboratory (Manhattan, KS). For serum GSH-Px, assay kits were purchased from Cayman Chemical Company (Ann Arbor, MI; # 703102). For serum T-AOC, assay kits were purchased from Cell Biolabs, Inc. (OxiSelec, San Diego, CA; # STA-360). For TBARS, the assay was a modification of the methods of Yagi (1998) and Aguilar Diaz De Leon and Borges (2020). Serum GSH-Px, T-AOC, and TBAR samples were run in triplicate in 96-well microplates with an intra-assay CV of \leq 5.0%. The malondial dehyde bis (MDA bis) standard curve was prepared freshly for each 96 well microtiter plate with a range of 1.56 to 100 µM MDA. A total of 100 µL of each standard or undiluted serum sample was added to each test tube, and then 200 μ L of 10% TCA solution was added for MDA extraction. The solution was mixed with 1.0 mL of TBA/sodium acetate and incubated in a boiling water bath (95 °C) for 60 min. After incubation, test tubes were placed in an ice bath for 15 min and then centrifuged at $1500 \times g$ for 10 min at 4 °C. Immediately after centrifugation, 150 µL of supernatant was aliquoted from each tube and placed into a separate well of a 96 well microtiter plate. The absorbance was read at 532 nm with

a spectrophotometer. The average absorbance reading of the blank samples was subtracted from all other absorbance readings. A standard curve was created by plotting the blank-subtracted absorbance readings and the known concentrations of each standard. Sample data points were then fitted using the equation of the linear regression line obtained from the standard curve to calculate sample concentrations.

The same 72 barrows used for serum collection were euthanized with a penetrative captive bolt pistol on d 35 of the experiment for the collection of muscle and liver tissue by a licensed veterinarian for consistency of sample collection. Muscle samples were collected from the loin at the 10th rib. Liver samples were collected from the right median lobe adjacent to the gallbladder. Following collection, fresh tissue samples were stored on ice and transported to the MSU VDL for analysis of tissue Se concentration. The tissue Se analysis used a similar method as the feed Se analysis, but with NIST bovine liver and muscle standards as controls.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed as a randomized complete block design for one-way ANOVA using the lmer function from the lme4 package for growth performance, percentage of injectable treatments, Se concentration, and antioxidant status, and the glmer function (binomial distribution) from the lme4 package for the percentage of removal and mortality in R program (R core team, 2019; Vienna, Austria). Feeder (2 pens of pigs) was considered the experimental unit. Initial pen average BW, sow farm origin, and date of entry into the facility were the blocking factors. Treatment was used as the fixed effect. For d 0 to 35 growth performance, d -7 to 0 ADFI was used as a covariate because of the tendency of difference between treatments. For serum selenium concentration, d 0 selenium concentration was used as a covariate for d 14 and 35 serum selenium concentrations which were analyzed as repeated measures. For the serum GSH-Px, T-AOC, and TBARS assay, a microtiter plate was used as a random effect, and serum

samples were balanced for the block when placed on microplates. For the serum GSH-Px assay, T-AOC, and TBARS were analyzed in triplicate, duplicate, and triplicate, respectively. Data were analyzed by accounting for subsampling and repeated measures over time. Tukey adjustment was used for multiple comparisons. All results were considered significant at $P \le 0.05$ and marginally significant at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

Results

Growth performance

From d -7 to 0 (pre-treatment period), there was no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in d -7 BW, d 0 BW, ADG, and G:F between treatment groups (Table 2.3). However, despite the common diet, there was marginally significant evidence of a difference (P = 0.097) in ADFI between treatments from d -7 to 0, with the OH-SeMet having a numerically lower ADFI compared to the other treatment groups; therefore, d -7 to 0 ADFI was used as a covariate for growth performance in subsequent periods and overall growth performance. From d 0 to 14, pigs fed OH-SeMet had decreased (P < 0.05) ADFI and consequently lower ADG compared to pigs fed the other two treatments. There was no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in G:F between treatments. From d 14 to 35, there was no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in any growth criteria between the three treatments. From d 0 to 35, pigs fed OH-SeMet tended to have decreased ADG (P < 0.10) compared to pigs fed sodium selenite. From d -7 to 35 (overall period), pigs fed OH-SeMet tended to have decreased ADFI (P < 0.10) compared to pigs fed sodium selenite. However, for the same period, there was no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in ADG, G:F, d 35 BW, percentage of injections, removal, and mortality between treatments.

Serum and tissue Se concentration

There was a tendency (P = 0.072) of source × day interaction for serum Se (Table 2.4). Pigs fed OH-SeMet had a greater increase in serum Se from d 14 to 35 than pigs fed sodium selenite or selenium yeast. On d 14, pigs fed OH-SeMet had increased (P < 0.05) serum selenium concentration compared to pigs fed selenium yeast. On d 35, despite a lower ADFI, pigs fed OH-SeMet had increased (P < 0.05) serum, muscle, and liver selenium concentration compared to all other treatments.

Antioxidant status

There was a marginally significant increase in GSH-Px (P = 0.074) over time; however, no source × day interaction or main effect of the source was observed (P > 0.10; Table 2.4). A source × day interaction (P = 0.027) was found on serum T-AOC. Although no significant means separation was present, pigs fed OH-SeMet had a smaller numerical increase in serum T-AOC from d 14 to 35 compared to pigs fed sodium selenite or selenium yeast. Additionally, there was a marginally significant increase in T-AOC over time (P = 0.089). There was no evidence of a source × day, source, or day effect for TBARS (P > 0.10).

Discussion

Effects of Se sources on growth performance

Consistent with a limited number of previous trials with nursery and growing pigs, different Se sources did not affect growth performance. Chao et al. (2019) found no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in growth performance between nursery pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg added Se from sodium selenite and OH-SeMet. Cao et al. (2014) reported no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in growth performance between nursery pigs fed different levels of DL-SeMet (0.1 to 0.7 mg/kg) or between pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg Se from DL-SeMet and sodium selenite. Jlali et al. (2014) also reported no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in growth performance between growing pigs fed either 0.1 or 0.3 mg/kg added Se from sodium selenite, Se yeast, or OH-SeMet. Moreover, Mahan et al. (1999) found no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in growth performance between growing-finishing pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg of sodium selenite or Se yeast. However, the present study observed a reduction in early phase ADFI in nursery pigs fed OH-SeMet compared to pigs fed sodium selenite or Se yeast. The feed, serum, and tissue Se concentration analysis confirmed that OH-SeMet was added to the diets; therefore, we concluded that the reduction in ADFI was not caused by Se deficiency. In addition, factors that might reduce ADFI were closely examined, and no bias was found.

Effects of Se sources on serum and tissue Se concentration

For normal pigs, Ullrey (1987) and Mahan (1991) suggested that the serum Se concentration ranges from 0.08 to 0.15 ppm, while Blood and Radostits (1989) considered above 0.120 μ g/ml serum as normal levels. These suggest that all pigs from the three Se sources had serum Se concentration within normal range without deficiency. The inorganic and organic forms of Se are both used as feed mineral additives along with Se provided from other feed ingredients to meet the Se requirement of pigs; however, organic Se sources have been shown to have greater bioavailability than inorganic sources (Shini et al., 2015). Other studies comparing pigs fed OH-SeMet to sodium selenite observed similar results as our study. Chao et al. (2019) reported increased serum, liver, kidney, and muscle Se concentration in nursery pigs fed OH-SeMet to sodium selenite. Mahan et al. (1999) and found that growing-finishing pigs fed Se yeast had greater (Se source × Se level, *P* < 0.01) increases in tissue Se as dietary Se level increased from 0.05 to 0.3 mg/kg compared to sodium selenite. Similarly, Mahan et al. (2014)

also found that growing-finishing pigs fed Se yeast had greater serum Se and tissue Se (loin, liver, and heart) compared to sodium selenite. Growing pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg of added Se from OH-SeMet had the highest (P < 0.05) plasma, liver, and muscle Se concentration, followed by Se from Se yeast, and sodium selenite had the lowest concentration (Jlali et al., 2014). A similar result was reported in another study where growing pigs fed L-SeMet had the highest (P < 0.05) tissue Se concentration, followed by Se yeast and then sodium selenite (Falk et al., 2018). In a meta-analysis, Zhou et al. (2021) observed that sows fed organic Se sources had 29% greater serum Se concentration than inorganic Se sources. However, we observed no evidence of difference in pigs fed Se yeast compared to sodium selenite. Cao et al. (2014) also found no evidence of difference in plasma Se concentration between nursery pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg of Se from sodium selenite and DL-SeMet. By comparing the results herein with these previous studies, we can conclude that OH-SeMet has the greater bioavailability, followed by Se yeast, and sodium selenite. To understand the differences in bioavailability between Se sources, differences in Se absorption across the intestine wall should be considered. Inorganic Se, such as sodium selenite, is absorbed passively across the intestinal wall as ions, while selenomethionine is absorbed actively with AA or peptide transporters on the enterocytes (Mahima et al., 2012; Shini et al., 2015).

Moreover, the chemical properties of inorganic Se ions may form insoluble complexes with other feed components or interact with phytate in the digesta, which reduces the absorption of Se across the intestine wall (Mahima et al., 2012). On the other hand, organic Se, as a result of Se being bound to AAs, forms stable complexes that are less prone to interact with other feed components (Mahima et al., 2012). After absorption, both inorganic and organic Se are converted to selenocysteine or selenoproteins in the enterocytes and then transported via the

portal vein to the liver, where selenocysteine is converted into selenoprotein P or extracellular GSH-Px for peripheral tissue, such as kidney and muscle (Shini et al., 2015). Consequentially, these factors result in the greater absorption/bioavailability of organic Se sources, as observed in the increased serum and tissue Se concentrations.

Effects of Se sources on antioxidant status and health

Because organic Se source elevates the Se status of animals, we were interested in whether this increase can translate to an elevated antioxidant status. The results of our study and the previous studies showed that the effects of Se sources on antioxidant status have some inconsistencies, which might be caused by the differences in the concentrations of Se in the basal diets, the oxidative stress caused by the environment, and/or the stage of production. We found no evidence of difference between sources of Se in the antioxidant status of nursery pigs. Mahan et al. (1999) and Mahan et al. (2014) observed no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in serum GSH-Px between growing-finishing pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg of sodium selenite or Se yeast. Cao et al. (2014) reported no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in serum MDA, liver GSH-Px, liver T-AOC, liver MDA, muscle T-AOC, and muscle MDA between nursery pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg added Se from sodium selenite and DL-SeMet; however, pigs fed DL-SeMet had increased (P < 0.05) serum GSH-Px, serum T-AOC, muscle GSH-Px compared to sodium selenite. Chao et al. (2019) found no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in serum T-AOC, serum GSH-Px, liver GSH-Px, and liver MDA between nursery pigs fed 0.3 mg/kg added Se from sodium selenite and OH-SeMet; however, pigs fed OH-SeMet had reduced (P < 0.05) serum MDA and increased (P < 0.05) liver T-AOC compared to sodium selenite. These experiments suggest that there were some differences in antioxidant status between feeding 0.3 mg/kg of inorganic and organic Se sources

for pigs in their growing stage, but the growth performance result showed no difference. However, these experiments were conducted in research facilities that may have lower oxidative stress from the environment and pathogens compared to commercial facilities. Therefore, the increased Se status did not consistently benefit the antioxidant system in these experiments. Moreover, pigs have lower feed intake in commercial facilities compared to research facilities; thus, the magnitude of the bioavailability of Se sources may play a more important role in commercial facilities. In a meta-analysis, the authors observed that sows fed organic Se sources had 6.4% higher GSH-Px activity than inorganic Se sources (Zhou et al., 2021). This consistent improvement may be because sows are under constant oxidative stress during gestation and lactation; therefore, the increase in tissue Se level from organic Se may benefit the antioxidant status and performance of the animals (Zhou et al., 2021).

Selenium supplementation with OH-SeMet during the gestation period improved (P < 0.05) litter weight gain, antioxidant status, and intestinal antioxidant capacity, and reduced (P < 0.05) birth interval and inflammation level compared to sodium selenite (Mou et al., 2020a; Mou et al., 2021). By implication, organic Se may also be beneficial in growing pigs under greater environmental or pathogenic oxidative stress. Even though the Se was not directly fed to the piglets, LPS-challenged weaned pigs from sows fed OH-SeMet had improved antioxidant status and reduced inflammation levels compared to piglets from sows fed sodium selenite (Mou et al., 2020a; Mou et al., 2021). Doan et al. (2020) challenged nursery pigs with diquat and found no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in post-challenge ADFI and BW between challenged pigs fed Se yeast and pigs without challenge. However, they observed improved (P < 0.05) antioxidant status in challenged pigs fed Se yeast compared to challenged nursery pigs fed sodium selenite. On the contrary, even though our pigs were reared under commercial

conditions, we observed no difference in antioxidant status between Se sources when pigs experienced Streptococcus suis challenge. However, the challenge was not planned or controlled, and pigs may have recovered from the pathogen challenge before the blood samples were taken on d 14 of the trial. Therefore, more research is needed to confirm the effect of organic Se sources in pigs under oxidative stress or challenges.

In conclusion, organic Se sources, especially OH-SeMet, provided greater Se bioavailability as indicated by the increased serum and tissue Se concentration. However, the improved Se reservoir did not affect the pigs' growth performance, health status, or antioxidant status. This indicates that under the conditions of this experiment, both inorganic and organic Se sources added at 0.3 mg/kg can provide adequate Se to meet the pigs' requirement. A higher Se reservoir in tissue may benefit health and antioxidant status when pigs are under high oxidative stress. However, more studies are needed to confirm the effect of the organic Se source used in these scenarios.

References

- Aguilar Diaz De Leon, J., and C. R. Borges. 2020. Evaluation of oxidative stress in biological samples using the thiobarbituric acid reactive substances assay. J. Vis. Exp. (159):e61122. doi: 10.3791/61122
- Blood, D., and , and O. Radostits. 1989. Veterinary Medicine, London.
- Cao, J., F. Guo, L. Zhang, B. Dong, and L. Gong. 2014. Effects of dietary Selenomethionine supplementation on growth performance, antioxidant status, plasma selenium concentration, and immune function in weaning pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 5(1):46-46. doi: 10.1186/2049-1891-5-46
- Chao, Y., B. Yu, J. He, Z. Huang, X. Mao, J. Luo, Y. Luo, P. Zheng, J. Yu, and D. Chen. 2019. Effects of different levels of dietary hydroxy-analogue of selenomethionine on growth performance, selenium deposition and antioxidant status of weaned piglets. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 73(5):374-383. doi: 10.1080/1745039x.2019.1641368
- Doan, N., Y. Liu, X. Xiong, K. Kim, Z. Wu, D. M. Bravo, A. Blanchard, and P. Ji. 2020. Organic selenium supplement partially alleviated diquat-induced oxidative insults and hepatic metabolic stress in nursery pigs. Br. J. Nutr. 124(1):1-11. doi: 10.1017/S0007114520000689
- Falk, M., A. Bernhoft, T. Framstad, B. Salbu, H. Wisløff, T. M. Kortner, A. B. Kristoffersen, and M. Oropeza-Moe. 2018. Effects of dietary sodium selenite and organic selenium sources on immune and inflammatory responses and selenium deposition in growing pigs. J. Trace Elem. Med Biol. 50:527-536. doi: 10.1016/j.jtemb.2018.03.003
- FDA. 2021. Food additives permitted in feed and drinking water of animals Sub part B. Food additive listing Title 21. Food and drugs Part 573 (573.920). https://www.ecfr.gov/current/title-21/chapter-I/subchapter-E/part-573/subpart-B/section-573.920 (Accessed 18 February 2021.).
- Hosnedlova, B., M. Kepinska, S. Skalickova, C. Fernandez, B. Ruttkay-Nedecky, T. D. Malevu, J. Sochor, M. Baron, M. Melcova, J. Zidkova, and R. Kizek. 2017. A summary of new findings on the biological effects of selenium in selected animal species-a critical review. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 18(10):2209. doi: 10.3390/ijms18102209
- Jlali, M., M. Briens, F. Rouffineau, P. A. Geraert, and Y. Mercier. 2014. Evaluation of the efficacy of 2-hydroxy-4-methylselenobutanoic acid on growth performance and tissue selenium retention in growing pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 92(1):182-188. doi: 10.2527/jas.2013-6783
- Mahan, D. C. 1991. Chapter 12 Vitamin E and Selenium in Swine Nutrition. In: E. R. Miller, D. E. Ullrey and A. J. Lewis, editors, Swine Nutrition. Butterworth-Heinemann. p. 193-214.

- Mahan, D. C., M. Azain, T. D. Crenshaw, G. L. Cromwell, C. R. Dove, S. W. Kim, M. D. Lindemann, P. S. Miller, J. E. Pettigrew, H. H. Stein, and E. van Heugten. 2014.
 Supplementation of organic and inorganic selenium to diets using grains grown in various regions of the United States with differing natural Se concentrations and fed to grower-finisher swine. J. Anim. Sci. 92(11):4991-4997. doi: 10.2527/jas.2014-7735
- Mahan, D. C., T. R. Cline, and B. Richert. 1999. Effects of dietary levels of selenium-enriched yeast and sodium selenite as selenium sources fed to growing-finishing pigs on performance, tissue selenium, serum glutathione peroxidase activity, carcass characteristics, and loin quality. J. Anim. Sci. 77(8):2172-2179. doi: 10.2527/1999.7782172x
- Mahima, A. K. Verma, A. Kumar, A. Rahal, V. Kumar, and D. Roy. 2012. Inorganic versus organic selenium supplementation: a review. Pak. J. Biol. Sci. 15(9):418-425. doi: 10.3923/pjbs.2012.418.425
- Mou, D., D. Ding, S. Li, H. Yan, B. Qin, Z. Li, L. Zhao, L. Che, Z. Fang, S. Xu, L. Yan, Y. Zhuo, J. Li, C. Huang, Y. Zou, L. Li, M. Briens, D. Wu, and B. Feng. 2020a. Effect of maternal organic selenium supplementation during pregnancy on sow reproductive performance and long-term effect on their progeny. J. Anim. Sci. doi: 10.1093/jas/skaa366
- Mou, D., D. Ding, H. Yan, B. Qin, Y. Dong, Z. Li, L. Che, Z. Fang, S. Xu, Y. Lin, Y. Zhuo, J. Li, C. Huang, Y. Zou, L. Li, M. Briens, D. Wu, and B. Feng. 2020b. Maternal supplementation of organic selenium during gestation improves sows and offspring antioxidant capacity and inflammatory status and promotes embryo survival. Food Funct. 11(9):7748-7761. doi: 10.1039/D0FO00832J
- Mou, D., D. Ding, M. Yang, X. Jiang, L. Zhao, L. Che, Z. Fang, S. Xu, Y. Lin, Y. Zhuo, J. Li, C. Huang, Y. Zou, L. Li, D. Wu, and B. Feng. 2021. Maternal organic selenium supplementation during gestation improves the antioxidant capacity and reduces the inflammation level in the intestine of offspring through the NF-κB and ERK/Beclin-1 pathways. Food Funct. 12(1):315-327. doi: 10.1039/d0fo02274h
- NRC. 2012. Nutrient requirements of swine. 11th rev. ed. National Academic Press, Washington, DC.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing., Vienna, Austria.
- Shini, S., A. Sultan, and W. L. Bryden. 2015. Selenium biochemistry and bioavailability: Implications for animal agriculture. Agriculture 5(4):1277-1288. doi: 10.3390/agriculture5041277
- Ullrey, D. E. 1987. Biochemical and physiological indicators of selenium status in animals. J. Anim. Sci. 65(6):1712-1726. doi: 10.2527/jas1987.6561712x
- Yagi, K. 1998. Simple assay for the level of total lipid peroxides in serum or plasma. Methods Mol. Biol. 108:101-106. doi: 10.1385/0-89603-472-0:101

Zhou, S. Y., B. X. Wu, Z. Liu, and T. J. Zhang. 2021. Effects of different selenium sources on sow reproductive performance and piglet development: a meta-analysis. J. Anim. Feed Sci. doi: 10.22358/jafs/138774/2021

Item	Phase 1	Phase 2	Phase 3
Ingredients, %			
Čorn	35.00	60.64	62.90
Soybean meal	21.90	30.27	31.34
Dried whey	25.00		
Soft red wheat	5.00		
Enzymatically treated soybean meal ²	5.00	2.50	
Corn oil	3.50	1.50	1.50
Limestone, ground	0.83	1.10	1.05
Monocalcium phosphate	0.90	1.10	0.95
Salt	0.35	0.50	0.35
L-Lvs HCl	0.50	0.50	0.45
DL-Met	0.33	0.28	0.21
Thr source ³	0.26	0.33	0.28
L-Trp	0.08	0.06	0.05
L-Val	0.21	0.15	0.10
Phytase ⁴	0.05	0.10	0.10
Choline chloride	0.04		
Vitamin premix ⁵	0.05	0.05	0.05
Sodium metabisulfite	0.50	0.50	0.50
Zinc oxide	0.38	0.26	
Copper sulfate		0.03	0.03
Trace mineral premix ^{6}	0.10	0.10	0.10
Se source ⁷	0.05	0.05	0.05
Total	100.00	100.00	100.00
Standardized ileal digestible (SID) amino	acids, %		
Lys	1.42	1.38	1.30
Iso:Lys	55	56	57
Leu:Lys	105	113	117
Met:Lys	42	40	38
Met and Cys:Lys	62	61	59
Thr:Lys	66	65	65
Trp:Lys	21.8	20.7	20.2
Val:Lys	72	71	69
His:Lys	32	36	37
Net energy, kcal/kg	2,628	2,469	2,467
Crude protein, %	20.6	21.9	21.0
Ca, %	0.74	0.75	0.70
STTD P, ⁸ %	0.59	0.50	0.47

Table 2.1. Diet composition, (as-fed basis)¹

¹Corn, soybean meal, HP300 (Hamlet Protein Inc., Findlay, OH), sodium selenite, Se yeast, and OH-SeMet (hydroxy-selenomethionine) were analyzed for Se concentration prior to the study at Michigan State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (East Lansing, MI). Analyzed Se concentration: Corn (0.06 mg/kg), soybean meal (0.275 mg/kg), HP300 (0.321 mg/kg), sodium selenite (640.1 mg/kg), Se yeast (648.8 mg/kg), and OH-SeMet (657.8 mg/kg). Basal Se concentration was calculated based on ingredient sample analysis prior to the study for corn, soybean meal, and HP300 at the MSU VDL, and Se concentration for dried whey and wheat were from NRC (2012). The basal Se concertation for phase 1, 2, and 3 were 0.141, 0.128, and 0.124 mg/kg respectively. All diets had 0.3 mg/kg added Se from either Se sources.

²HP300 (Hamlet Protein Inc., Findlay, OH) is an enzyme-treated soybean meal.

³L-Threonine was used in phase 1 diet, and Thr pro Biomass (CJ Bio America, Fort Dodge, IA) was used in phase 2 and 3 diets.

⁴Quantum Blue 5G (AB Vista, Plantation, FL) was used in phase 1 diet and provided 2,002 FTU per kg of diet with an expected STTD P release of 0.13%. Quantum Blue 2G was used in phase 2 and 3 diet, and provided 2,002 FTU per kg of diet with an expected STTD P release of 0.14%.

⁵Vitamin premix provided per kg of diet: 5,512 IU vitamin A; 1,653 IU vitamin D; 66 IU vitamin E; 3.3 mg vitamin K; 0.033 mg vitamin B12; 24.8 mg niacin; 27.6 mg pantothenic acid; 8.27 mg riboflavin; 0.22 mg biotin; 2.2 mg folic acid; and 0.99 mg pyridoxine.

⁶Trace mineral premix (SEM Minerals, L.P., Quincy, IL) did not contain Se and provided per kg of diet: 161 mg Zn, 134 mg Fe, 42 mg Mn, 14 mg Cu, 0.66 mg Cl, and 9.0 µg Cr.

⁷Sodium selenite was used in phase 1 diet as the added Se source. Sodium selenite, Se yeast, and OH-SeMet were used as the added Se source in phase 2 and 3 diets as the 3 dietary treatments.

 8 STTD P = standardized total tract digestible phosphorus.

-	Sodium selenite	Se yeast	OH-SeMet
Phase 1 (common)		-	
Se, mg/kg	0.514		
Crude protein, %	18.6		
Phase 2			
Se, mg/kg	0.552	0.588	0.616
Crude protein, %	19.9	20.5	20.5
Phase 3			
Se, mg/kg	0.414	0.548	0.549
Crude protein, %	19.0	19.8	19.0

Table 2.2. Analyzed dietary Se and crude protein concentrations¹.

¹Sodium selenite was used in phase 1 diet as the added Se source. Sodium selenite, Se yeast, and OH-SeMet were used as the added Se source in phase 2 and 3 diets as the 3 dietary treatments. Feed samples were collected from at least 6 feeders per treatment per phase, pooled, and subsampled for Se concentration (MSU VDL) and crude protein (Kansas State University Swine Laboratory, Manhattan, KS).
	Sodium selenite	Se yeast	OH-SeMet	<i>P</i> =
d -7 to 0 (pre-treatment) ³				
d -7 BW, kg	6.0 ± 0.05	6.0 ± 0.05	6.0 ± 0.05	0.979
d 0 BW, kg	6.6 ± 0.08	6.6 ± 0.08	6.6 ± 0.08	0.485
ADG, g	97 ± 6.2	93 ± 6.2	93 ± 6.2	0.367
ADFI, g	107 ± 3.6	103 ± 3.6	102 ± 3.6	0.097
G:F, g/kg	884 ± 33.8	897 ± 33.8	898 ± 33.8	0.815
d 0 to 14				
d 14 BW, kg	12.7 ± 0.07	12.7 ± 0.07	12.6 ± 0.07	0.121
ADG, g	435 ± 3.0^{a}	$432 \pm 3.0^{\mathrm{a}}$	422 ± 3.0^{b}	0.003
ADFI, g	490 ± 3.2^{a}	490 ± 3.1^{a}	479 ± 3.2^{b}	0.015
G:F, g/kg	888 ± 4.7	883 ± 4.6	884 ± 4.6	0.623
d 14 to 35				
d 35 BW, kg	26.9 ± 0.11	26.7 ± 0.11	26.7 ± 0.11	0.312
ADG, g	672 ± 4.4	664 ± 4.3	666 ± 4.4	0.328
ADFI, g	956 ± 7.8	940 ± 7.7	945 ± 7.8	0.176
G:F, g/kg	703 ± 3.0	707 ± 3.0	705 ± 3.0	0.352
d 0 to 35				
ADG, g	$577 \pm 3.0^{\mathrm{x}}$	571 ± 2.9^{xy}	$567 \pm 2.9^{\mathrm{y}}$	0.066
ADFI, g	769 ± 4.8	759 ± 4.8	756 ± 4.8	0.100
G:F, g/kg	750 ± 2.1	752 ± 2.1	750 ± 2.1	0.560
d -7 to 35				
ADG, g	494 ± 2.5	490 ± 2.5	487 ± 2.5	0.110
ADFI, g	$656 \pm 3.9^{\mathrm{x}}$	647 ± 3.9^{xy}	$645 \pm 3.9^{ m y}$	0.090
G:F, g/kg	754 ± 2.2	757 ± 2.2	755 ± 2.2	0.450
Treatments, % ⁴	4.6 ± 0.78	3.9 ± 0.78	5.8 ± 0.78	0.196
Removal, % ⁵	2.65 ± 0.495	2.58 ± 0.487	2.94 ± 0.528	0.824
Mortality, % ⁶	0.39 ± 0.172	0.39 ± 0.172	0.46 ± 0.189	0.939
Removal with mortality, % ⁷	3.18 ± 0.509	3.11 ± 0.503	3.56 ± 0.540	0.781

Table 2.3. Evaluation of Se source on nursery pig growth performance^{1,2}.

¹A total of 3,888 pigs (initially 6.0 ± 0.23 kg) was used with 54 pigs per replicate and 24 replicates per treatment. All pigs were fed 0.68 kg per pig of phase 1 common starter pellet that contained 0.3 mg/kg of added Se from sodium selenite for approximately 7 d. Phase 2 and phase 3 treatment diets were fed after pigs finished the phase 1 feed budget. All treatment diets provided 0.3 mg/kg added Se from sodium selenite, Se yeast, or hydroxy-selenomethionine ().

 $^{2}BW = body$ weight. ADG = average daily gain. ADFI = average daily feed intake. G:F = feed efficiency.

³Day -7 to 0 ADFI was used as a covariate for growth performance in subsequent periods and overall growth performance.

⁴The number of injectable treatments given when pigs were on treatment diet divided by the number of pigs on d 0.

⁵The number of pigs removed based on body condition, lameness, and health status when they were on treatment diet divided by the number of pigs on d 0.

⁶The number of pigs found dead when they were on treatment diets divided by the number of pigs on d 0.

⁷The number of pigs removed or dead when they were on treatment diets divided by the number of pigs on d 0.

^{a,b} Means within a row with different superscripts differ ($P \le 0.05$).

^{x,y} Means within a row with different superscripts differ $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$.

					P =	
	Sodium selenite	Selenium yeast	OH-SeMet	Source \times day	Source	Day
Serum selenium, ng/mL ²				0.072	0.002	< 0.0001
d 14	131 ± 3.7^{cd}	122 ± 3.7^{d}	139 ± 3.7^{c}			
d 35	184 ± 3.7^{b}	184 ± 3.7^{b}	$205\pm3.7^{\mathrm{a}}$			
Liver selenium, µg/g					< 0.0001	
d 35	1.97 ± 0.049^{b}	1.99 ± 0.049^{b}	2.45 ± 0.049^a			
Muscle selenium, µg/g					< 0.0001	
d 35	0.81 ± 0.024^{b}	$0.87 \pm 0.024^{ m b}$	1.42 ± 0.024^{a}			
Serum GSH-Px, nmol/min/mL ³				0.710	0.971	0.074
d 14	869 ± 129	888 ± 129	881 ± 129			
d 35	$1,268 \pm 128$	$1,210 \pm 128$	$1,239 \pm 128$			
Serum T-AOC, CRE ⁴				0.027	0.306	0.089
d 14	359 ± 22.9	389 ± 22.9	385 ± 22.9			
d 35	440 ± 22.9	470 ± 22.9	417 ± 22.9			
TBARS, μ M MDA ⁵				0.262	0.177	0.781
d 14	5.92 ± 0.97	5.25 ± 0.97	6.34 ± 0.97			
d 35	5.52 ± 0.97	4.28 ± 0.97	4.58 ± 0.97			

Table 2.4. Evaluation of selenium source on nursery pig serum and tissue selenium concentrations and serum antioxidant status¹.

¹A total of 3,888 pigs (initially 6.0 ± 0.23 kg) was used with 54 pigs per replicate and 24 replicates per treatment. All pigs were fed 0.68 kg per pig of phase 1 common starter pellet that contained 0.3 mg/kg of added selenium from sodium selenite for approximately 7 d. Phase 2 and phase 3 treatment diets were fed after pigs finished the phase 1 feed budget. All treatment diets provided 0.3 mg/kg added selenium. Selenium concentrations for serum, liver, and muscle were analyzed at MSU VDL.

²Day 0 serum samples were collected when all pigs were fed the phase 1 common diet and averaged 125 ng/mL across all treatments. Day 0 serum selenium concentration was used as a covariate for statistical analysis of d 14 and 35 serum selenium concentration as repeated measurement.

 3 GSH-Px = Glutathione peroxidase. One unit is defined as the amount of enzyme that causes the oxidation of 1.0 nmol of NADPH to NADP⁺ per minute at 25°C.

 4 T-AOC = Total antioxidant capacity. CRE = μ M Copper Reducing Equivalents.

⁵Thiobarbituric acid reactive substances. µM of MDA (malondialdehyde) equivalent.

^{a,b,c,d} Means within a response with different superscripts differ ($P \le 0.05$).

Chapter 3 - Polyphenols as a partial replacement for vitamin E in nursery pig diets.

Abstract

A total of 300 pigs (241×600 ; DNA, Columbus, NE; initially 6.0 ± 0.01 kg) were used in a 42-d trial to determine the effects of vitamin E levels and partially replacing vitamin E with a polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark) on growth performance, complete blood count (CBC), serum thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), superoxide dismutase (SOD), and cytokine panel. Sixty pens of pigs were weighed and allotted to 1 of 5 dietary treatments in a completely randomized design with 12 pens per treatment. A control treatment was formulated to provide 15 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence from vitamin E. This control treatment was then used as a base for 3 replacement strategy diets to determine the effects of replacing an additional 60 IU/kg of vitamin E with polyphenol in diets containing a basal level of vitamin E requirement estimate (15 IU/kg). First, an additional 60 IU/kg of vitamin E was added for a total of 75 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence. Second, 50% of the additional vitamin E (30 IU/kg) was replaced with the equivalency of polyphenol. Third, all 60 IU/kg of the additional vitamin E was replaced with the equivalency of polyphenol. To evaluate whether there are negative effects of feeding nursery pigs a high level of polyphenol, a fifth treatment was formulated to provide 575 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence with 75 IU/kg from vitamin E and 500 IU/kg from polyphenol. Whole blood and serum samples were collected on d 10 and 42. For growth performance, increasing vitamin E equivalence tended to improve (quadratic, P < 0.10) G:F from d 10 to 21, and tended to improve (linear, P < 0.10) G:F from d 21 to 42 and 0 to 42. For antioxidant status, increasing vitamin E equivalence improved (linear, P < 0.05) d 42 SOD. For cytokine, there was no evidence of differences (P > 0.10) between treatments and vitamin E equivalence. Moreover, there was no

evidence of differences (P > 0.10) in all response variables between the 3 replacement strategies throughout the entire periods. In summary, increasing vitamin E equivalence tended to improve G:F, which may be related to the improved SOD activity. Furthermore, polyphenol can effectively replace vitamin E provided above the vitamin E requirement to provide similar benefits from increasing vitamin E equivalence.

Introduction

Weaning is a stressful period for piglets due to changes in diet composition, environment, and bacterial challenges, which results in reduced feed intake and growth rate (Campbell et al., 2013). During stressful periods, the need for antioxidants increases because of the increased oxidative stress (Hao et al., 2021). Oxidative stress is caused by the imbalance of excess formation of oxidants [free radicals, such as reactive oxygen species (ROS)] and insufficient degradation of these radicals by the animal's antioxidant system (Lü et al., 2010; Gessner et al., 2017; Hao et al., 2021). High ROS levels damage the cellular components, such as DNA, protein, and lipid, which cause gene mutation, abnormal signaling pathways, energy metabolism disorder, lipid peroxidation, and protein structure change (Lü et al., 2010; Hao et al., 2021). Moreover, during the weaning period, a local inflammation occurs in the small intestine, which can be characterized by increased cytokine levels and adverse effects on intestinal morphology, such as villus height, crypt depth, brush border enzyme activity, absorption capacity, and intestinal barrier integrity (Pié et al., 2004; Zheng et al., 2021). As a result, the combination of high oxidative stress and local inflammation from weaning in the small intestine can negatively affect growth performance.

Antioxidants neutralize free radicals by electron donation, complex formation between oxidizing elements, or the regeneration of other antioxidants (Lü et al., 2010). Besides

63

endogenous enzymatic antioxidants [e.g., superoxide dismutase (SOD), catalase, glutathione peroxidase], natural non-enzymatic antioxidants can also be involved (e.g., vitamin E and C, carotenoids, polyphenols) in protecting the cells from free radicals (Lü et al., 2010; Gessner et al., 2017; Hao et al., 2021).

Vitamin E is a fat-soluble vitamin that can be found in feed ingredients (green plants or seeds) as natural vitamin E (RRR- α -tocopheryl acetate); however, natural vitamin E is destroyed rapidly through oxidation under the influence of heat, moisture, rancid fat, or trace minerals (NRC, 2012). Thus, synthetic vitamin E (DL- α -tocopheryl acetate) has also been used to meet the vitamin E requirement estimate of the pigs (NRC, 2012). For nursery pigs, the vitamin E requirement estimate is 16 IU/kg (mg/kg) of the complete diet (NRC, 2012). However, surveys of industry nutritionists reported that their typical commercial US nursery diets contained approximately 75, 66, and 45 IU/kg of vitamin E for phase 1, 2, and 3 diet, respectively (Flohr et al., 2016; Faccin et al., 2023). These above-requirement levels of vitamin E suggest a belief that providing extra antioxidant support will help the pigs overcome oxidative stress from the weaning process. Nonetheless, the effect of this higher level of dietary vitamin E compared to the NRC (2012) vitamin E requirement estimate on nursery pigs is not well understanded.

Another type of antioxidant that has been used in swine diets is plant-based polyphenols derived from the fruit and plant byproduct industry. These polyphenols are secondary plant metabolites that consist of a diverse group of compounds, including phenolic acids, flavonoids, tannins, and other phenolics (Naczk and Shahidi, 2006). They have shown some antioxidative and anti-inflammatory properties in several in vitro and in vivo studies and have the potential to partially replace vitamin E in swine, poultry, or dairy cow diets (Gessner et al., 2017; Lipiński et al., 2017). However, the effects of dietary polyphenols on nursery pigs' growth performance,

64

antioxidant status (TBARS and SOD), complete blood count, and cytokine panels have not been well investigated. Cabanin CSD (R2 Argo, Denmark) is a natural plant-based polyphenol product that contains selected extracts from grapes, citrus, blackcurrant, and chestnuts. These ingredients contain high concentrations of polyphenols; therefore, we hypothesized that this polyphenol product could potentially be used as an effective antioxidant replacer above the minimum NRC (2012) vitamin E requirement estimate for nursery pigs with no negative effects.

The objectives of this experiment were to evaluate the effects of vitamin E equivalence levels (15, 75, and 575 IU/kg), and vitamin E replacement strategies of replacing 60 IU/kg of vitamin E with polyphenol in diets above the minimum vitamin E requirement on growth performance, antioxidant status (TBARS and SOD), complete blood count, and cytokine panels of nursery pigs from weaning to 42 d post-weaning.

Material and Methods

General

The Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved the protocol used in this experiment conducted at the Kansas State University Swine Teaching and Research Center in Manhattan, KS. Two nursery rooms were used in this trial with 30 pens per room. Pigs were housed in pens with each pen $(1.5 \times 1.5 \text{ m})$ equipped with a 4-hole dry self-feeder, and a nipple waterer to provide *ad libitum* access to feed and water. A total of 300 pigs $(241 \times 600, \text{DNA}, \text{Columbus}, \text{NE}; \text{initially } 6.0 \pm 0.01 \text{ kg})$ were weaned at approximately 21 d of age and placed in pens of 5 pigs each based on initial BW and gender. Pens of pigs were then randomly allotted to the 5 treatments in a completely randomized design with 12 replicate pens per treatment. The gender was balanced between dietary treatments.

Diets

The vitamin E form (44,092 IU/kg, DSM, Parsippany, NJ) used in this trial was DL-atocopherol acetate with 1 mg providing 1 IU of vitamin E equivalence. The natural polyphenolbased product (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark; Lot number: 220120) contained selected extracts from grapes, citrus, blackcurrant, and chestnuts. These ingredients contained high concentrations of polyphenols in the form of phenolic acids, flavonoids, and tannins, which have shown great antioxidative activity in in vitro studies (Naczk and Shahidi, 2006). The polyphenol product was assumed to have a 50% equivalency to vitamin E (DL- α -tocopherol acetate) based on a previous university trial conducted at Freie Universität Berlin (Germany) for weaned pigs (data not published). One mg of this polyphenol product provided 0.5 IU of vitamin E equivalence. The total polyphenol content was 9.2 % for this specific lot of polyphenol product used in this trial. A control treatment was formulated to provide 15 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence from vitamin E to meet the requirement estimate for vitamin E. This control diet with 15 IU/kg of vitamin E was then used as the basal diet for three replacement strategy diets (Table 3.1). First, an additional 60 IU/kg of vitamin E was added for a total of 75 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence. Second, 50% of the additional vitamin E (30 IU/kg) was replaced with the vitamin E equivalence from polyphenol. Third, all 60 IU/kg of supplemental vitamin E was replaced with the equivalency of polyphenol. These three replacement strategies allowed us to determine the effects of replacing vitamin E with polyphenol at different ratios for the additional 60 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence added to diets containing a minimum vitamin E requirement estimate (15 IU/kg). The fifth treatment was formulated to provide a total of 575 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence with 75 IU/kg from vitamin E and 500 IU/kg from polyphenol to evaluate whether there are negative effects of feeding nursery pigs a high level of polyphenol. Treatment

diets were fed in 3 phases based on bodyweight (phase 1: 6- to 7-kg; phase 2: 7- to 12-kg; and phase 3: 12- to 25-kg) in meal form.

Basal diets for all 3 phases (Table 3.2) were manufactured at Hubbard Feeds, Beloit, KS. The basal diets were mixed with remaining ingredients (e.g., vitamin E-free vitamin premix, vitamin E, and/or polyphenol) at the Kansas State University O.H. Kruse Feed Technology Innovation Center (Manhattan, KS) to make the 5 treatment diets. The remaining ingredients were mixed thoroughly for each dietary treatment before mixing with the basal diet. All diets met or exceeded the NRC (2012) nutrient requirement estimates, except for the low vitamin E treatment diet (15 IU/kg of vitamin E) and the phase 1 Lys level, which was formulated at 1.35% SID Lys for all treatments. Diet samples were collected and thoroughly mixed within treatment before analysis for vitamin E concentration with HPLC at the Colorado State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (Fort Collins, Colorado).

Data and sample collection

Pen weights and feed disappearance were measured on d 0, 10, 21, 31, 38, and 42 to determine ADG, ADFI, and G:F. The pigs were healthy as there were few medical treatments and no mortality throughout the 42-d trial. Whole blood and serum samples were collected from 1 median-weight pig of each pen on d 10 and 42 of the experiment for complete blood count (CBC), serum SOD activity, serum thiobarbituric acid reactive substances (TBARS), and serum cytokine panel. The same pig per experimental unit was used in all subsequent whole blood and serum collections. The gender of the selected pigs was balanced between treatments. Whole blood samples were collected with EDTA containing blood tubes (VACUETTE tube 6 ml K3E K3EDTA separator 13×100 , non-ridged; Greiner Bio-One North America Inc., Monroe, NC) and analyzed for CBC at the Kansas State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory

(Manhattan, KS) using an Advia 2120 hematology analyzer (Siemens Healthineers, Malvern, PA). For serum samples, whole blood was collected with blood collection tubes (Covidien Monoject blood collection tubes, silicone-coated tubes with red stoppers, no additive, 7 mL draw; Medtronic, Minneapolis, MN) that contained no anticoagulant or preservative, and allowed to clot for at least 30 min, centrifuged at 1,500 × g for 30 min, and the resulting serum supernatants were divided into 4 polypropylene tubes (PR1MA microcentrifuge tubes, natural boil-proof; Midwest Scientific, St. Louis, MO) as aliquots, and stored at -80°C. Serum cytokine panel (GM-CSF, IFN γ , IL-1 α , IL-1 α , IL-1 β , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-8, IL-10, IL-12, IL-18, TNF α) was evaluated at Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada). Serum TBARS and SOD were evaluated at the Kansas State University Swine Nutrition Laboratory (Manhattan, KS). For serum TBARS, the assay used in the experiment was described in Rao et al. (2021) and the samples were run in triplicate in 96-well microplates with intra-assay CV of \leq 5.0%.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed as a completely randomized design for one-way ANOVA using the lmer function from the lme4 package for growth performance and blood parameters (CBC, cytokine panel, SOD, and TBARS) in R program (R Core Team, 2022). Pen was considered the experimental unit. Treatment was used as the fixed effect. Room was included in the model as a random intercept. Polynomial contrasts were constructed to evaluate the linear and quadratic effects of increasing vitamin E equivalence levels (15, 75, and 575 IU/kg) for all response criteria. Contrast coefficients were adjusted for unequally spaced treatments. Interactive effects of vitamin E equivalence levels × day (d 10 and 42) interaction and dietary treatment × day (d 10

and 42) interaction were tested for blood parameters. For serum cytokine data, the data were analyzed with the raw fluorescence intensity value based on Breen et al. (2015) with a log10 transformation for statistical analysis. All serum samples were analyzed at the same time with a single standard curve for each cytokine criteria. For serum TBARS and SOD assay, microtiter plate was used in the model as a random intercept. A Tukey multiple comparison adjustment was used, and all results were considered significant at $P \le 0.05$ and marginally significant at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

Results

Growth performance

There was no evidence of differences (P > 0.10) in ADG and ADFI as vitamin E equivalence increased or between replacement strategies throughout the entire 42-d experimental period (Table 3.3). From d 10 to 21, increasing vitamin E equivalence increased (quadratic, P =0.086) G:F from 15 to 75 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence with no further increase at 575 IU/kg. From d 21 to 42, there was a tendency of improvement (linear, P = 0.063) in G:F as the vitamin E equivalence increased. This tendency of increasing improvement in G:F was also observed in overall (d 0 to 42) G:F (linear, P = 0.075).

Antioxidant status (TBARS and SOD)

For serum TBARS, there was no evidence of vitamin E equivalence × day interaction, treatment × day interaction, vitamin E equivalence effect, treatment effect, or day effect (P > 0.10; Figure 3.1). However, there was a vitamin E equivalence × day interaction (P = 0.050) on serum SOD activity (Figure 3.2). Increasing vitamin E equivalence increased (linear, P = 0.036) serum SOD activity on d 42 but not on d 10 (linear, P = 0.616). Moreover, there was no treatment effect, day effect, or treatment × day interaction (P > 0.10) in serum SOD activity between the five dietary treatments on d 10 and 42.

Complete blood count

All CBC variables were approximate to or within the reference intervals for these ages of pigs according to the Iowa State University Clinical Pathology Laboratory reference intervals for swine (ISU, 2011). There was no evidence (P > 0.10) of vitamin E equivalence × day interaction and treatment × day interaction for all CBC criteria (Table 3.4). Increasing vitamin E equivalence tended to increase (quadratic, P = 0.070) leukocyte concentration and increased (quadratic, P = 0.045) eosinophil concentration from 15 to 75 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence then reduced at 575 IU/kg. Additionally, there was a tendency (Treatment, P = 0.089) of treatment difference in segmented neutrophil concentration; however, no pairwise mean separation was observed. Lymphocyte and monocyte concentration were increased (Day, P < 0.05); platelets and segmented neutrophil concentration showed a tendency to increase (Day, P < 0.10), while RBC distribution width was decreased (Day, P < 0.001) from d 10 to 42.

Serum cytokines

There was no evidence of vitamin E equivalence × day interaction, vitamin E equivalence effect, treatment × day interaction, or treatment effect (P > 0.10) for any measured cytokine (Table 3.5). Even though there were no statistical differences, several proinflammatory cytokines showed numeric reduction in pigs fed diets formulated with 75 or 575 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence compared to the control diet (15 IU/kg). Moreover, cytokine IL-1 α , IL-2, IL-4, and IL-6 were increased (Day, P < 0.05); IL-1 β , IL-10, and IL-12 showed a tendency to increase (Day, P < 0.10), and GM-CSF showed a tendency to decrease (Day, P = 0.069) from d 10 to 42.

Discussion

Although vitamin E and polyphenols are both added to swine diets for their antioxidative properties, their mechanism of action are different. Vitamin E can be absorbed in the intestine and enter the systemic circulation, as supplementing vitamin E in pig diets has shown increased serum and tissue (loin muscle, liver, and fat) vitamin E concentrations throughout the literature (Lauridsen, 2010; Song et al., 2014; Rey et al., 2017). The absorbed vitamin E can be used directly as antioxidants in the animals at cell membrane level, and also has a structural role in the cell membranes (NRC, 2012). On the other hand, there are few in vivo swine studies on the digestibility and bioavailability of polyphenols. Several human research studies suggest that only low percentages of the dietary polyphenols may be absorbed in the small intestine and had low bioavailability because of their molecular structures (Han et al., 2007; Landete, 2013; Faria et al., 2014). The polyphenols are expected to have direct antioxidant effects in vivo in the intestinal lumen because of the higher concentration of polyphenols in the lumen compared to the systemic concentrations (Gessner et al., 2017). Moreover, the low amount of absorbed polyphenols are then extensively bio-transformed in the liver and rapidly excreted in urine and bile (Hackman et al., 2008). Next, the bile-excreted polyphenol metabolites and the unabsorbed polyphenols are bio-transformed by the colon microbiota's enzymatic activities to various metabolites (Hein et al., 2008; Gessner et al., 2017). These bio-transformed polyphenol metabolites have shown prebiotic effects as growth-promoting substrates or antimicrobial substances for bacteria of the colon microbiota in human and mice research (Gessner et al., 2017). As these experiments were conducted on other monogastric species, more swine research is needed to determine whether this physiological process occurs similarly in pigs. Although there was no analytical data of the bio-transformed polyphenol metabolites, several swine research found feeding polyphenols

modulated the nursery pigs' microbiota composition (Ao et al., 2022; Wei et al., 2022; Xu et al., 2022), lowered the diarrhea incidence rate (Liu et al., 2021; Xu et al., 2022), and improved intestine barrier integrity (Hu et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2022; Guo et al., 2022). These improvements in gastrointestinal health from feeding polyphenols can potentially be a key mechanism of action in improving the overall health status, such as growth performance, systemic antioxidant status, and immune system of the nursery pigs.

Because the cell structural need for the lipophilic vitamin E and pigs cannot synthesize vitamin E endogenously (NRC, 2012), polyphenols, which are relatively hydrophilic (Tsao, 2010), theoretically cannot completely replace vitamin E in the diets (Gessner et al., 2017). Thus, our treatment diets all contained a minimum basal level of vitamin E equivalence (15 IU/kg) from vitamin E to meet the baseline requirement of vitamin E. This design allowed us to determine the effect of replacing vitamin E with polyphenols for the additional vitamin E equivalence above vitamin E requirement. In our study, we found no evidence of difference in ADG and ADFI throughout the 42-d experimental period; however, G:F was improved as vitamin E equivalence increased in our trial. Moreover, the three vitamin E replacement strategies showed similar results in all response variables, which suggests that polyphenol can effectively replace vitamin E for the additional 60 IU/kg of vitamin E equivalence in nursery pig diets that contained a baseline requirement (15 IU/kg) of vitamin E. Similar to our results, some studies found improved G:F with no evidence of difference in ADG and ADFI when additional vitamin E (Wilburn et al., 2008) or polyphenols (Fiesel et al., 2014; Silva-Guillen et al., 2020) were added to the nursery pig diets contained above requirement level of vitamin E. Differently, some studies found polyphenols improved nursery pigs' ADG or ADFI but not G:F (Dell'Anno et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2021; Ao et al., 2022). The improvement in growth performance in our

trial and other experiments may be related to the improvement in antioxidant and immune function. We found increasing vitamin E equivalence increased serum SOD activity. Similar to our results, several studies also found improved ($P \le 0.05$) antioxidant status indicated by improved SOD, total antioxidant capacity (TAOC), and TBARS when nursery pigs were supplemented with vitamin E (Rey et al., 2017; Silva-Guillen et al., 2020) or polyphenols (Ao et al., 2022; Guo et al., 2022; Wei et al., 2022). For the immunes function, even though we only found some numerical reduction, many studies found significant reductions in proinflammatory cytokines, such as TNF- α , NF-kB, IL-1 β , IL-1 α , IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, or IL-8, when vitamin E (Silva-Guillen et al., 2020) or polyphenols were fed to the nursery pigs (Fiesel et al., 2014; Pistol et al., 2019; Guo et al., 2022). A reduction in proinflammatory cytokine level in health pigs indicates an improvement in immune status, which suggests that these pigs may be able to spend less energy and AAs on immune overexpression which can potentially lead to an improved energy and AAs utilization (Gessner et al., 2017). This may explain the reduced cytokines and improved feed efficiency found in several experiments cited above. Moreover, we found several cytokines (GM-CSF, IL-1a, IL-1β, IL-2, IL-4, IL-6, IL-10, and IL-12) increased from d 10 to 42 as nursery pig aged. Though there are no reference values for cytokine level based on pig's age, some evidences suggest that cytokine levels tend to increase as weaned pigs age (de Groot et al., 2005). For the results of CBC, we observed some differences as the vitamin E equivalence increased (leukocyte and eosinophil) or between dietary treatments (segmented neutrophil); however, whether these differences affected growth performance are not clear as all CBC variables were within the reference intervals for these ages of pigs (ISU, 2011). There is some evidence suggesting that some CBC parameters are associate with growth performance for growfinish pigs (Lindholm-Perry et al., 2021); nevertheless, more research is needed for nursery pigs.

Additionally, we found lymphocyte, monocyte, platelets, and segmented neutrophil increase, while RBC distribution width decreased from d 10 to 42. These differences between days can be expected as pigs age (ISU, 2011).

Though some studies found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in growth performance (ADG, ADFI, and G:F) following the inclusion of dietary vitamin E (Kim et al., 2016; Rey et al., 2017; Chen et al., 2019) or polyphenols (Zhang et al., 2014; Xu et al., 2019; Hu et al., 2020) in the nursery pig diets, several of these studies found improvement in antioxidant status (TBARS and T-AOC) or gastrointestinal health (tight junction), or reduced cytokines (TNF- α , IL-1 β , IL-2, or IL-6). This lack of differences in growth performance may be attributed to the lack of sufficiently stressful events that would generate high levels of oxidative stress that allow the improved antioxidant and immune status to demonstrate their beneficial effects on growth. Many of these studies were conducted in high-health-status farms, where the barn environment was highly regulated, and exposure to environmental pathogens was minimized, thereby reducing the challenges that can increase oxidative stress or trigger immune responses in these weaned pigs. Dietary vitamin E or polyphenol levels in these experimental diets might have already provide sufficient antioxidative or immune promoting effects to optimize the growth performance of these nursery pigs; thus, no evidence of differences in growth was be found. To understand the effects of vitamin E and polyphenols fed to pigs under higher oxidative stress, controlled challenged experiments may have the potential to provide us some insights as they can increase the oxidative stress of pigs (Hao et al., 2021). Jiang et al. (2014) found E. coli challenged nursery pigs fed polyphenols had improved G:F, GSH-Px, and T-AOC compared to the E. coli challenged pig without polyphenols. Chen et al. (2022) found diquat-challenged nursery pigs fed polyphenols had improved ADG, antioxidant status, and intestinal barrier integrity compared to

challenged pigs without polyphenols in the diet. For nursery pigs challenged with LPS, dietary polyphenols reduced TBARS and cytokines, and improved intestine tight junction (Hu et al., 2020; Hu et al., 2022). These results suggest that pigs under high oxidative stress from controlled challenges could benefit from supplementing vitamin E and polyphenols in the diets for growth, antioxidant status, and health. However, more research is needed as only few research has been conducted for pigs under controlled oxidative stress.

Additionally, comparing the results of different polyphenol experiments on nursery pigs poses challenges due to the diversity of polyphenols used as feed additives. These polyphenol additives are derived from various fruits and herbs extracts, and combined in different ratios. The scientific literature lacks a thorough investigation of whether different polyphenols exert distinct or similar effects on nursery pigs' growth, antioxidant status, or immune system. Furthermore, the inclusion levels of these polyphenol additives vary widely from 0.01 to 10% with difference concentrations and compositions of polyphenol content. Similarly, the effects of vitamin E on nursery pigs may also be variable, since the natural vitamin E concentrations from feed ingredients vary as heat and humidity from environmental conditions could rapidly destroys them (NRC, 2012). Furthermore, vitamin E requirement can also be affected by many dietary factors, including Se, unsaturated fatty acids, and other natural or synthetic antioxidants (NRC, 2012). These factors all contributed to posing challenges in determining the effects of vitamin E and polyphenols on nursery pigs' performance.

In summary, increasing vitamin E equivalence by the addition of vitamin E or polyphenols improve feed efficiency, which may be related to the improved serum SOD activity. Moreover, we found no evidence of difference between the three vitamin E replacement strategies in all response criteria. Thus, this suggests that polyphenol can be used as an effective

75

replacement for the 60 IU/kg of additional vitamin E added to diets that met the basal vitamin E requirement (15 IU/kg) for nursery pigs. These similar improvements may be driven by different mechanism of actions between vitamin E and polyphenols. Lastly, whether different vitamin E levels or vitamin E replacement strategies can provide similar results in conditions that have higher oxidative stress or pathogen challenge requires further research.

.

References

- Ao, W., M. Cheng, Y. Chen, J. Sun, C. Zhang, X. Zhao, M. Liu, and B. Zhou. 2022. Fermented apple pomace improves plasma biochemical and antioxidant indicators and fecal microbiota of weaned pigs. Agriculture 12(10):1603. doi:10.3390/agriculture12101603
- Breen, E. J., V. Polaskova, and A. Khan. 2015. Bead-based multiplex immuno-assays for cytokines, chemokines, growth factors and other analytes: Median fluorescence intensities versus their derived absolute concentration values for statistical analysis. Cytokine 71(2):188-198. doi:10.1016/j.cyto.2014.10.030
- Campbell, J. M., J. D. Crenshaw, and J. Polo. 2013. The biological stress of early weaned piglets. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 4:19. doi:10.1186/2049-1891-4-19
- Chen, C., Z. Wang, J. Li, Y. Li, P. Huang, X. Ding, J. Yin, S. He, H. Yang, and Y. Yin. 2019. Dietary vitamin E affects small intestinal histomorphology, digestive enzyme activity, and the expression of nutrient transporters by inhibiting proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells within jejunum in weaned piglets1. J. Anim. Sci. 97(3):1212-1221. doi:10.1093/jas/skz023
- Chen, J., D. Chen, B. Yu, Y. Luo, P. Zheng, X. Mao, J. Yu, J. Luo, Z. Huang, H. Yan, and J. He. 2022. Chlorogenic acid attenuates oxidative stress-induced intestinal mucosa disruption in weaned pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:806253. doi:10.3389/fvets.2022.806253
- de Groot, J., L. Kruijt, J. W. Scholten, W. J. Boersma, W. G. Buist, B. Engel, and C. G. van Reenen. 2005. Age, gender and litter-related variation in T-lymphocyte cytokine production in young pigs. Immunology 115(4):495-505. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2005.02184.x
- Dell'Anno, M., M. Hejna, S. Sotira, V. Caprarulo, S. Reggi, R. Pilu, F. Miragoli, M. L. Callegari, S. Panseri, and L. Rossi. 2020. Evaluation of leonardite as a feed additive on lipid metabolism and growth of weaned piglets. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 266:114519. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114519
- Faccin, J. E. G., M. D. Tokach, R. D. Goodband, J. M. DeRouchey, J. C. Woodworth, and J. T. Gebhardt. 2023. Industry survey of added vitamins and trace minerals in US swine diets. Transl. Anim. Sci. doi:10.1093/tas/txad035
- Faria, A., I. Fernandes, S. Norberto, N. Mateus, and C. Calhau. 2014. Interplay between anthocyanins and gut microbiota. J. Agric. Food. Chem. 62(29):6898-6902. doi:10.1021/jf501808a
- Fiesel, A., D. K. Gessner, E. Most, and K. Eder. 2014. Effects of dietary polyphenol-rich plant products from grape or hop on pro-inflammatory gene expression in the intestine, nutrient digestibility and faecal microbiota of weaned pigs. BMC Vet. Res. 10:196. doi:10.1186/s12917-014-0196-5

- Flohr, J., J. DeRouchey, J. Woodworth, M. Tokach, R. Goodband, and S. Dritz. 2016. A survey of current feeding regimens for vitamins and trace minerals in the US swine industry. J. Swine Health Prod. 24:290-303.
- Gessner, D. K., R. Ringseis, and K. Eder. 2017. Potential of plant polyphenols to combat oxidative stress and inflammatory processes in farm animals. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 101(4):605-628. doi:10.1111/jpn.12579
- Guo, Z., X. Chen, Z. Huang, D. Chen, J. Yu, H. Yan, H. Chen, J. He, P. Zheng, Y. Luo, and B. Yu. 2022. Apple polyphenols improve intestinal barrier function by enhancing antioxidant capacity and suppressing inflammation in weaning piglets. Anim. Sci. J. 93:e13747. doi:10.1111/asj.13747
- Hackman, R. M., J. A. Polagruto, Q. Y. Zhu, B. Sun, H. Fujii, and C. L. Keen. 2008. Flavanols: digestion, absorption and bioactivity. Phytochem. Rev. 7(1):195-208. doi:10.1007/s11101-007-9070-4
- Han, X., T. Shen, and H. Lou. 2007. Dietary polyphenols and their biological significance. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 8(9):950-988. doi:10.3390/i8090950
- Hao, Y., M. Xing, and X. Gu. 2021. Research progress on oxidative stress and its nutritional regulation strategies in pigs. Animals (Basel) 11(5):1384. doi:10.3390/ani11051384
- Hein, E.-M., K. Rose, G. van't Slot, A. W. Friedrich, and H.-U. Humpf. 2008. Deconjugation and degradation of flavonol glycosides by pig cecal microbiota characterized by fluorescence in situ hybridization (fish). J. Agric. Food. Chem. 56(6):2281-2290. doi:10.1021/jf073444o
- Hu, R., Z. He, M. Liu, J. Tan, H. Zhang, D. Hou, J. He, and S. Wu. 2020. Dietary protocatechuic acid ameliorates inflammation and up-regulates intestinal tight junction proteins by modulating gut microbiota in LPS-challenged piglets. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11:92. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-00492-9
- Hu, R., S. Wu, B. Li, J. Tan, J. Yan, Y. Wang, Z. Tang, M. Liu, C. Fu, H. Zhang, and J. He. 2022. Dietary ferulic acid and vanillic acid on inflammation, gut barrier function and growth performance in lipopolysaccharide-challenged piglets. Anim. Nutr. 8:144-152. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2021.06.009
- Iowa State University's Clinical Pathology Laboratory. 2011. Reference Intervals. derived from: https://vetmed.iastate.edu/vpath/services/diagnostic-services/clinical-pathology/testingand-fees/reference-intervals?field_p_type_tid=287 (Accessed 10 March 2023.).
- Jiang, X. R., H. J. Zhang, G. Mantovani, G. L. Alborali, J. M. Caputo, G. Savoini, V. Dell'Orto, and V. Bontempo. 2014. The effect of plant polyphenols on the antioxidant defence system of weaned piglets subjected to an Escherichia coli challenge. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 23(4):324-330. doi:10.22358/jafs/65668/2014

- Kim, J. C., B. P. Mullan, J. L. Black, R. J. E. Hewitt, R. J. van Barneveld, and J. R. Pluske. 2016. Acetylsalicylic acid supplementation improves protein utilization efficiency while vitamin E supplementation reduces markers of the inflammatory response in weaned pigs challenged with enterotoxigenic E. coli. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 7:58. doi:10.1186/s40104-016-0118-4
- Landete, J. M. 2013. Dietary intake of natural antioxidants: Vitamins and polyphenols. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr. 53(7):706-721. doi:10.1080/10408398.2011.555018
- Lauridsen, C. 2010. Evaluation of the effect of increasing dietary vitamin E in combination with different fat sources on performance, humoral immune responses and antioxidant status of weaned pigs. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 158(1-2):85-94. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2010.03.015
- Lindholm-Perry, A. K., L. A. Kuehn, J. E. Wells, L. A. Rempel, C. G. Chitko-McKown, B. N. Keel, and W. T. Oliver. 2021. Hematology parameters as potential indicators of feed efficiency in pigs. Transl. Anim. Sci. 5(4):txab219. doi:10.1093/tas/txab219
- Lipiński, K., M. Mazur, Z. Antoszkiewicz, and C. Purwin. 2017. Polyphenols in monogastric nutrition A review. Ann. Anim. Sci. 17(1):41-58. doi:10.1515/aoas-2016-0042
- Liu, X. Z., Y. Ju, N. Bao, Y. L. Luo, L. L. Huang, N. X. Cao, M. Z. Liu, J. N. Bo, S. Zhang, and Y. Yan. 2021. Effects of polyphenol-rich Aronia melanocarpa pomace feeding on growth performance, biochemical profile, and meat quality in pigs at weaned and finishing stages. Livest. Sci. 252:104674. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104674
- Lü, J. M., P. H. Lin, Q. Yao, and C. Chen. 2010. Chemical and molecular mechanisms of antioxidants: experimental approaches and model systems. J. Cell. Mol. Med. 14(4):840-860. doi:10.1111/j.1582-4934.2009.00897.x
- Naczk, M., and F. Shahidi. 2006. Phenolics in cereals, fruits and vegetables: Occurrence, extraction and analysis. J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 41(5):1523-1542. doi:10.1016/j.jpba.2006.04.002
- NRC. 2012. Nutrient requirements of swine. 11th rev. ed. National Academic Press, Washington, DC.
- Pié, S., J. P. Lallès, F. Blazy, J. Laffitte, B. Sève, and I. P. Oswald. 2004. Weaning is associated with an upregulation of expression of inflammatory cytokines in the intestine of piglets. J. Nutr. 134(3):641-647. doi:10.1093/jn/134.3.641
- Pistol, G. C., L. M. Palade, D. E. Marin, M. Stancu, and I. Taranu. 2019. The effect of grape wastes, wine industry byproducts, on inflammatory and antioxidant biomarkers in postweaning piglets. Lucrări Științifice - Universitatea de Științe Agricole și Medicină Veterinară, Seria Zootehnie 71:219-223.
- R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing., Vienna, Austria.

- Rao, Z.-X., M. D. Tokach, J. C. Woodworth, J. M. DeRouchey, R. D. Goodband, M. De Marco, S. Moreland, and J. T. Gebhardt. 2021. Evaluation of selenium source on nursery pig growth performance, serum and tissue selenium concentrations, and serum antioxidant status. Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports 7(11)doi:10.4148/2378-5977.8188
- Rey, A., C. López-Bote, and G. Litta. 2017. Effects of dietary vitamin E (DL-α-tocopheryl acetate) and vitamin C combination on piglets oxidative status and immune response at weaning. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 26(3):226-235. doi:10.22358/jafs/76595/2017
- Silva-Guillen, Y. V., C. Arellano, R. D. Boyd, G. Martinez, and E. van Heugten. 2020. Growth performance, oxidative stress and immune status of newly weaned pigs fed peroxidized lipids with or without supplemental vitamin E or polyphenols. J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol. 11(22):22. doi:10.1186/s40104-020-0431-9
- Song, R., C. Chen, L. J. Johnston, B. J. Kerr, T. E. Weber, and G. C. Shurson. 2014. Effects of feeding diets containing highly peroxidized distillers dried grains with solubles and increasing vitamin E levels to wean-finish pigs on growth performance, carcass characteristics, and pork fat composition. J. Anim. Sci. 92(1):198-210. doi:10.2527/jas.2013-6334
- Tsao, R. 2010. Chemistry and biochemistry of dietary polyphenols. Nutrients 2(12):1231-1246. doi:10.3390/nu2121231
- Wei, X., L. Li, H. Yan, Q. Li, J. Gao, and R. Hao. 2022. Grape seed procyanidins improve intestinal health by modulating gut microbiota and enhancing intestinal antioxidant capacity in weaned piglets. Livest. Sci. 264:105066. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2022.105066
- Wilburn, E. E., D. C. Mahan, D. A. Hill, T. E. Shipp, and H. Yang. 2008. An evaluation of natural (RRR-alpha-tocopheryl acetate) and synthetic (all-rac-alpha-tocopheryl acetate) vitamin E fortification in the diet or drinking water of weanling pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 86(3):584-591. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0377
- Xu, Q., M. Cheng, R. Jiang, X. Zhao, J. Zhu, M. Liu, X. Chao, C. Zhang, and B. Zhou. 2022. Effects of dietary supplement with a Chinese herbal mixture on growth performance, antioxidant capacity, and gut microbiota in weaned pigs. Front. Vet. Sci. 9:971647. doi:10.3389/fvets.2022.971647
- Xu, X., X. Chen, Z. Huang, D. Chen, B. Yu, H. Chen, J. He, Y. Luo, P. Zheng, J. Yu, and J. Luo. 2019. Dietary apple polyphenols supplementation enhances antioxidant capacity and improves lipid metabolism in weaned piglets. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 103(5):1512-1520. doi:10.1111/jpn.13152
- Zhang, H. J., X. R. Jiang, G. Mantovani, A. E. V. Lumbreras, M. Comi, G. Alborali, G. Savoini, V. Dell'Orto, and V. Bontempo. 2014. Modulation of plasma antioxidant activity in weaned piglets by plant polyphenols. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 13(2):424-430. doi:10.4081/ijas.2014.3242

Zheng, L., M. E. Duarte, A. Sevarolli Loftus, and S. W. Kim. 2021. Intestinal health of pigs upon weaning: Challenges and nutritional intervention. Front. Vet. Sci. 8:628258. doi:10.3389/fvets.2021.628258

Vitamin E ¹ , mg/kg:	15	75	45	15	75
Polyphenol ² , mg/kg:	0	0	60	120	1,000
Vitamin E equivalence, IU/kg					
Vitamin E requirement	15	15	15	15	15
Additional vitamin E equivalence					
Vitamin E	0	60	30	0	60
Polyphenol	0	0	30	60	500
Total vitamin E equivalence ³	15	75	75	75	575
Analyzed vitamin E, mg/kg ⁴					
Phase 1	17.0	36.0	35.0	16.0	76.0
Phase 2	5.3	50.0	51.0	11.0	25.0
Phase 3	23.0	85.0	69.0	13.0	98.0
Weighted average ⁵	16.9	64.2	56.2	13.2	73.6

Table 3.1. Sources of treatment dietary vitamin E equivalence.

¹Vitamin E (44,092 IU/kg, DSM, Parsippany, NJ). The vitamin E form was DL-α-tocopherol acetate. One mg of DL-α-tocopherol acetate provides 1 IU of vitamin E equivalence.

² Cabanin CŠD (R2 Argo, Denmark) was used as the polyphenol source in this trial and assumed to have a 50% equivalency to vitamin E. One mg of Cabanin CSD provides 0.5 IU of vitamin E equivalence.

¹³ Total vitamin E equivalence is the combination of vitamin E equivalence provided by vitamin E and polyphenol.

⁴ Vitamin E concentration was analyzed at Colorado State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (Fort Collins, Colorado).

⁵ Weighted averages = Sum of the calculated vitamin E intake of the 3 phases / total feed intake.

Ingredients, %43.444.752.4Corn43.444.752.4Soybean meal (46.5% CP)20.626.429.1Corn DDGS5.010.015.0Fish meal2.5Dried whey10.0Dried whey permeate (80% lactose)10.0Fermented soybean meal ² 4.04.0Choice white grease1.01.0	Item	Phase 1	Phase 2	Phase 3
Corn43.444.752.4Soybean meal (46.5% CP)20.626.429.1Corn DDGS5.010.015.0Fish meal2.5Dried whey10.0Dried whey permeate (80% lactose)10.0Fermented soybean meal ² 4.04.0Choice white grease1.01.0	Ingredients, %			
Soybean meal (46.5% CP)20.626.429.1Corn DDGS 5.0 10.0 15.0 Fish meal 2.5 $$ $$ Dried whey 10.0 $$ $$ Dried whey permeate (80% lactose) 10.0 $$ $$ Fermented soybean meal ² 4.0 4.0 $$ Choice white grease 1.0 1.0 $$	Corn	43.4	44.7	52.4
Corn DDGS 5.0 10.0 15.0 Fish meal 2.5 $$ $$ Dried whey 10.0 $$ $$ Dried whey permeate (80% lactose) 10.0 $$ $$ Fermented soybean meal ² 4.0 4.0 $$ Choice white grease 1.0 1.0 $$	Soybean meal (46.5% CP)	20.6	26.4	29.1
Fish meal 2.5 $$ $$ Dried whey 10.0 $$ $$ Dried whey permeate (80% lactose) 10.0 $$ $$ Fermented soybean meal ² 4.0 4.0 $$ Choice white grease 1.0 1.0 $$	Corn DDGS	5.0	10.0	15.0
Dried whey 10.0 Dried whey permeate (80% lactose) 10.0 Fermented soybean meal ² 4.0 4.0 Choice white grease 1.0 1.0	Fish meal	2.5		
Dried whey permeate (80% lactose) 10.0 Fermented soybean meal ² 4.0 4.0 $$ Choice white grease 1.0 1.0 $$	Dried whey	10.0		
Fermented soybean meal2 4.0 4.0 $$ Choice white grease 1.0 1.0 $$	Dried whey permeate (80% lactose)	10.0		
Choice white grease 1.0 1.0	Fermented soybean meal ²	4.0	4.0	
	Choice white grease	1.0	1.0	
Calcium carbonate 0.50 0.83 0.90	Calcium carbonate	0.50	0.83	0.90
Monocalcium phosphate 0.80 0.90 0.70	Monocalcium phosphate	0.80	0.90	0.70
Sodium chloride 0.30 0.50 0.60	Sodium chloride	0.30	0.50	0.60
L-Lys-HCl 0.45 0.45 0.45	L-Lys-HCl	0.45	0.45	0.45
DL-Met 0.22 0.19 0.11	DL-Met	0.22	0.19	0.11
L-Thr 0.18 0.17 0.15	L-Thr	0.18	0.17	0.15
L-Trp 0.03 0.02 0.03	L-Trp	0.03	0.02	0.03
L-Val 0.09 0.04 0.02	L-Val	0.09	0.04	0.02
Trace mineral premix ³ 0.15 0.15 0.15	Trace mineral premix ³	0.15	0.15	0.15
Zinc oxide 0.40 0.26	Zinc oxide	0.40	0.26	
Phytase ⁴ 0.01 0.01 0.01	Phytase ⁴	0.01	0.01	0.01
Vitamin premix ⁵ 0.11 0.11 0.11	Vitamin premix ⁵	0.11	0.11	0.11
Treatment premix ⁶ 0.29 0.29 0.29	Treatment premix ⁶	0.29	0.29	0.29
Total 100.00 100.00 100.00	Total	100.00	100.00	100.00
Colculated analysis	Colculated analysis			
	SID A A %			
1 35 1 35 1 30	Lys	1 35	1 35	1 30
$\frac{1}{100} \frac{1}{100} \frac{1}$		58	61	61
117 127 137		117	127	137
Met:Lys 38 37 33	Met I vs	38	37	33
$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Met.Lys Met and Cyc:Lyc	56	56	55
The Lys 50 50 50 50	The Lys. Lys	53	50	50
Tim.Lys 05 05 05		10.0	10.1	18.0
11p.Lys 19.0 19.1 10.9 Volution 60 60 60	Volutivo	19.0	19.1	10.9
Val.Lys 09 09 09		09	09	09 40
HIS:Lys 54 56 40	HISLYS	34 2 5 2 0	38 2460	40
$\frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}$	CD 0/	2,329	2,409	2,392
Cr , $\frac{70}{21.4}$ 22.9 23.0 Co_{-0} 0.67 0.67		21.4	22.9 0.67	25.0
Ca, 70 0.07 0.07 0.04 STTD P % 0.60 0.53 0.40	Ca, 70 STTD D 04	0.07	0.07	0.04

 Table 3.2. Diet composition, (as-fed basis)¹

¹ Phase 1, 2, and 3 diets were formulated based on pig bodyweight (phase 1: 6- to 7-kg; phase 2: 7- to 12-kg; and phase 3: 12- to 25-kg) in meal form.

² MEpro (Prairie Aquatech, Brookings, SD).

³ Trace mineral premix provided per kg of diet: 110 mg Zn, 110 mg Fe, 33 mg Mn, 16.5 mg Cu, 0.29 mg I, and 0.29 mg Se.

⁴ Quantum Blue 5G (AB Vista, Plantation, FL) provided 626 FTU per kg of diet with an expected STTD P release of 0.15%.

⁵ Vitamin premix without vitamin E provided per kg of diet: 4,134 IU vitamin A; 1,653 IU vitamin D; 3.3 mg vitamin K; 0.033 mg vitamin B_{12} ; 49.6 mg niacin; 27.6 mg pantothenic acid; and 8.27 mg riboflavin.

⁶For the 5 treatments, treatment premix provided per ton of diet: 0.35, 1.7, 1.05, 0.35, and 1.7 kg of vitamin E (44,092 IU/kg, DSM, Parsippany, NJ), respectively; 2.35, 1.0, 1.6, 2.25, and 0.0 kg of ground corn, respectively; and 0.0, 0.0, 0.06, 0.12, 1.0 kg of polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark), respectively.

Vitamin E, mg/kg	15	75	45	15	75			
Polyphenol, mg/kg	0	0	60	120	1,000		Probab	ility, <i>P</i> =
Total E equivalence, IU/kg	15	75	75	75	575	SEM	Linear ⁴	Quadratic ⁴
d 0 to 10 (Phase 1)								
d 0 BW, kg	6.0	6.0	6.0	6.0	6.0	0.01	0.998	0.803
d 10 BW, kg	7.4	7.2	7.2	7.4	7.3	0.11	0.945	0.451
ADG, g	140	128	125	139	137	11.3	0.943	0.429
ADFI, g	168	165	154	161	162	8.0	0.776	0.394
G:F, g/kg	824	771	807	858	835	42.3	0.678	0.693
d 10 to 21 (Phase 2)								
d 21 BW, kg	12.4	12.4	12.4	12.5	12.3	0.21	0.588	0.931
ADG, g	460	465	475	465	451	19.7	0.405	0.485
ADFI, g	591	584	585	576	567	20.1	0.244	0.670
G:F, g/kg	779	797	810	807	798	13.8	0.574	0.086
d 21 to 42 (Phase 3)								
d 42 BW, kg	25.1	25.3	25.5	25.8	25.2	0.38	0.867	0.319
ADG, g	604	617	620	633	614	12.2	0.878	0.159
ADFI, g	929	936	947	959	917	19.2	0.400	0.348
G:F, g/kg	649	660	657	660	670	7.3	0.063	0.337
d 0 to 42 (Overall)								
ADG, g	455	461	464	471	458	9.0	0.867	0.321
ADFI, g	659	660	663	669	646	13.0	0.317	0.655
G:F, g/kg	691	698	701	705	709	6.5	0.075	0.212

Table 3.3. Evaluation of vitamin E levels and vitamin E replacement strategies on nursery pig growth performance^{1,2}

¹A total of 300 pigs were used with 60 pigs per replicate and 12 replicates per treatment. Total E equivalence is the combination of vitamin E equivalence provided by vitamin E and polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark).

² BW = body weight. ADG = average daily gain. ADFI = average daily feed intake. G:F = feed efficiency. ³ Treatment was not significant, P> 0.10.

⁴ Polynomial contrasts were utilized to analyze the effects of dietary total E equivalence levels (15, 75, and 575 IU/kg).

Vitamin E, mg/kg		15	75	45	15	75					
Polyphenol, mg/kg		0	0	60	120	1,000		Probability, $P =$			
Total E equivalence, IU/kg		15	75	75	75	575	SEM	$\overline{\text{CM}}$ Treatment ² Day ² Lin		Linear ³	Quadratic ³
Erythrocyte, M/uL	d 10	6.33	6.38	6.20	6.34	6.29	0.118	0.818	0.456	0.770	0.492
	d 42	6.43	6.31	6.32	6.31	6.35					
Hemoglobin, g/dL	d 10	11.3	11.5	11.5	11.7	11.2	0.21	0.702	0.540	0.915	0.613
	d 42	11.5	11.3	11.7	11.4	11.7					
Mean cell volume, fL	d 10	60.3	60.9	62.5	62.1	60.4	1.06	0.244	0.530	0.828	0.163
	d 42	60.9	60.8	62.5	61.7	62.1					
Mean cell hemoglobin, pg	d 10	18.0	18.0	18.5	18.4	17.9	0.35	0.376	0.757	0.872	0.225
	d 42	17.9	17.9	18.6	18.2	18.3					
Mean cell hemoglobin, g/dL	d 10	29.8	29.5	29.6	29.7	29.6	0.25	0.970	0.230	0.977	0.938
	d 42	29.4	29.5	29.7	29.4	29.6					
Hematocrit, %	d 10	35.5	35.9	36.0	36.6	35.3	0.67	0.666	0.389	0.702	0.745
	d 42	36.3	35.3	36.5	35.8	36.2					
RBC distribution width, %	d 10	23.5	23.3	23.1	23.7	22.6	0.75	0.872	< 0.001	0.324	0.871
	d 42	18.9	18.4	18.2	19.2	18.2					
Leukocyte, K/uL	d 10	13.0	17.3	14.3	13.9	14.1	1.50	0.149	0.003	0.843	0.070
	d 42	18.1	19.7	19.3	20.0	19.0					
Segmented neutrophil, K/uL	d 10	5.47	8.53	6.5	5.7	5.84	0.919	0.089	0.081	0.812	0.329
	d 42	7.43	7.39	7.66	7.22	7.28					
Band neutrophil, K/uL	d 10	0.008	0.100	0.025	0.027	0.033	0.0402	0.527	0.456	0.716	0.354
	d 42	0.050	0.030	0.080	0.090	0.080					
Lymphocyte, K/uL	d 10	6.51	7.17	6.72	7.07	7.11	0.852	0.967	0.024	0.462	0.144
	d 42	8.8	10.3	10.0	10.6	10.0					
Monocyte, K/uL	d 10	0.67	0.95	0.75	0.67	0.70	0.15	0.667	< 0.001	0.345	0.748
	d 42	1.48	1.37	1.23	1.61	1.22					
Eosinophil, K/uL	d 10	0.24	0.52	0.29	0.41	0.34	0.084	0.163	0.833	0.885	0.045
	d 42	0.27	0.54	0.29	0.28	0.26					

Table 3.4. Evaluation of vitamin E levels and vitamin E replacement strategies on nursery pig complete blood count¹

Basophil, K/uL	d 10	0.06	0.03	0.08	0.02	0.05	0.038	0.753	0.426	0.934	0.587
	d 42	0.10	0.06	0.03	0.16	0.10					
Platelets, K/uL	d 10	342.2	430.2	378.5	395.9	310.7	53.03	0.315	0.068	0.117	0.207
	d 42	437.4	407.3	528.3	438.0	382.0					

¹ A total of 300 pigs (initially 6.0 kg) were used with 60 pigs per replicate and 12 replicates per treatment. Complete blood count was analyzed at Kansas State University Veterinary Diagnostic Laboratory (Manhattan, KS). Total E equivalence is the combination of vitamin E equivalence provided by vitamin E and polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark).

² F-test *P*-value. All treatment × day interactions were not statistically significant (P > 0.10).

³ Polynomial contrasts were utilized to analyze the effects of dietary total E equivalence levels (15, 75, and 575 IU/kg) of collection. All total E equivalence levels × day interactions were not statistically significant (P > 0.10).

Vitamin E, mg/kg		15	75	45	15	75					
Polyphenol, mg/kg		0	0	60	120	1,000		Probability, $P =$			
Total E equivalence, IU/kg		15	75	75	75	575	SEM	Treatment ²	Day ²	Linear ³	Quadratic ³
GM-CSF	d 10	18.0	14.0	11.9	18.8	15.9	1.22	0.476	0.069	0.884	0.856
	d 42	12.2	11.6	11.7	20.0	12.7					
IFNγ	d 10	43.0	46.3	36.8	45.9	42.3	1.31	0.973	0.138	0.889	0.909
	d 42	28.5	30.2	23.7	39.7	32.0					
IL-1a	d 10	47.2	32.7	26.5	71.6	27.0	1.40	0.122	0.004	0.185	0.239
	d 42	162.3	114.9	97.3	79.7	101.8					
IL-1β	d 10	85.4	70.4	56.7	98.3	44.0	1.31	0.220	0.059	0.139	0.288
	d 42	163.5	123.6	103.8	95.9	120.1					
IL-1ra	d 10	359.1	274.0	310.0	464.1	291.9	1.25	0.127	0.631	0.268	0.377
	d 42	314.5	221.1	249.5	235.7	225.3					
IL-2	d 10	51.8	31.6	31.3	74.5	26.8	1.42	0.150	0.008	0.188	0.202
	d 42	166.8	94.4	105.8	81.3	107.1					
IL-4	d 10	71.2	53.0	40.7	98.1	39.6	1.40	0.128	0.020	0.101	0.267
	d 42	174.0	138.0	108.2	89.8	102.9					
IL-6	d 10	63.9	37.4	39.8	82.5	32.3	1.37	0.134	0.041	0.160	0.198
	d 42	147.8	112.0	92.1	76.7	104.0					
IL-8	d 10	680.5	583.7	437.7	674.5	654.6	1.37	0.849	0.166	0.565	0.770
	d 42	406.8	401.2	393.7	417.8	273.1					
IL-10	d 10	58.6	39.9	46.0	80.0	34.5	1.38	0.371	0.067	0.180	0.359
	d 42	125.7	79.5	79.7	72.5	76.1					
IL-12	d 10	612.2	700.3	757.3	774.1	644.3	1.16	0.757	0.064	0.119	0.711
	d 42	900.9	741.8	806.3	777.6	589.5	1.00	0 0 1	0.407	0.407	
IL-18	d 10	91.7	82.8	80.3	128.6	63.4	1.30	0.367	0.135	0.405	0.537
	d 42	148.2	109.9	99.8	107.0	129.8	1.00	0.070	0.400	0.000	0 = 11
ΤΝΓα	d 10	37.2	31.4	27.6	32.9	34.1	1.22	0.872	0.132	0.690	0.741

Table 3.5. Evaluation of vitamin E levels and vitamin E replacement strategies on nursery pig cytokine profile (fluorescence intensity value)¹

¹ A total of 300 pigs (initially 6.0 kg) were used with 60 pigs per replicate and 12 replicates per treatment. Serum cytokine panel was evaluated at Eve Technologies (Calgary, AB, Canada). Data was log10 transformed for statistical analysis and transformed back for the cell mean values reported in this table. Total E equivalence is the combination of vitamin E equivalence provided by vitamin E and polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark).

² F-test *P*-value. All treatment × day interactions were not statistically significant (P > 0.10).

³ Polynomial contrasts were utilized to analyze the effects of dietary total E equivalence levels (15, 75, and 575 IU/kg) of collection. All total E equivalence levels × day interactions were not statistically significant (P > 0.10).



Figure 3.1. Serum TBARS concentration on d 10 and 42.

Error bar equals to 1 SEM. A total of 300 pigs (initially 6.0 kg) were used with 60 pigs per replicate and 12 replicates per treatment. Total E equivalence is the combination of vitamin E equivalence provided by vitamin E and polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark). There was no evidence of total vitamin E equivalence × day interaction, vitamin E equivalence, treatment × day interaction, treatment, or day effect (P > 0.10).



Figure 3.2. Serum SOD activity on d 10 and 42.

Error bar equals to 1 SEM. A total of 300 pigs (initially 6.0 kg) were used with 60 pigs per replicate and 12 replicates per treatment. Total E equivalence is the combination of vitamin E equivalence provided by vitamin E and polyphenol (Cabanin CSD, R2 Argo, Denmark). There was a total vitamin E equivalence × day interaction (linear interaction, P = 0.05), but no evidence of treatment × day interaction, treatment, or day effect (P > 0.10). Increasing total vitamin E equivalence increased SOD on d 10 (linear, P = 0.036) but not on d 42 (linear, P = 0.616).

Chapter 4 - Evaluation of nutritional strategies to slow growth rate then induce compensatory growth in 90-kg finishing pigs.

Abstract

Two 44-d experiments were conducted to evaluate nutritional strategies with different concentrations of dietary lysine (and other amino acids) on growth rate and subsequent compensatory gain of 90-kg finishing pigs. Three diets were formulated to contain 0.70 (control), 0.50% and 0.18% standardized ileal digestible (SID) Lys. In Exp. 1, 356 pigs (Line 241×600 , DNA; initially 89.0 ± 1.10 kg) were used with four treatments. From d 0 to 28, pigs received either the control or the 0.50%-Lys diet. On d 28, pigs either remained on these diets or were switched the 0.18%-Lys diet until d 44. There were 18 pens per treatment from d 0 to 28 and 9 pens per treatment from d 28 to 44. From d 0 to 28, pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.001) ADG and G:F compared to those fed the control diet. From d 28 to 44, pigs switched to the 0.18%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG and G:F compared to pigs that remained on the control or 0.50%-Lys diets. From d 0 to 44, pigs fed 0.50%-Lys diet for 44-d had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, G:F, and percentage carcass lean compared to pigs fed the control diet. Pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet then the 0.18%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG and G:F compared to other treatments. Pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet for 44-d and pigs fed the control diet then 0.18%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, G:F, and percentage carcass lean compared to control pigs. In Exp. 2, 346 pigs (Line 241×600 , DNA; initially 88.6 ± 1.05 kg) were used to evaluate compensatory growth after varying durations of dietary lysine restriction. A total of four treatments were used including pigs fed the control diet for 44-d or fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 14, 21, or 28-d and then fed the control diet until the conclusion of the experiment on d 44. There were nine pens per treatment. On average, pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet grew 49% slower than the control. Compared to the control, ADG of pigs previously fed the 0.18%-Lys diet increased (P < 0.05) 28% during the first week after switching to the control diet and 12% for the rest of the trial. Despite this improvement, overall ADG, G;F, final BW, and percentage carcass lean decreased (linear, P < 0.05) as the duration of Lys restriction increased. In summary, feeding Lys restricted diets reduced the ADG and G:F of finishing pigs. Compensatory growth can be induced in Lys-restricted finishing pigs, but the duration of restriction and recovery influences the magnitude of compensatory growth.

Introduction

The U.S. pork industry experienced a substantial reduction in the ability to process market pigs due to packing plant closures attributed to the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic. With the reduced capacity for processors to accept market animals, pigs grew beyond their intended market weight making them too large for the infrastructure of the facility. Therefore, producers were forced to utilize a variety of strategies to reduce the growth rate of pigs and minimize economic hardship. Because lysine (Lys) is the first limiting amino acid (AA) for corn- soybean meal-based diets, reducing dietary SID Lys in the late-finishing period has been shown to reduce the ADG and ADFI of pigs beyond 100-kg body weight (Soto et al., 2019). Therefore, feeding finishing pigs SID Lys (as well as other AA) concentrations below their estimated requirements can reduce the growth rate, but the magnitude of the reduction is not fully researched. Recently, Helm et al. (2021) evaluated nutrient restriction to slow growth rate of finishing pigs in response to processing plant closures or reduced capacity. In that study, restricting Lys and other AAs dramatically decreased ADG and G:F. To the best of our knowledge, there is little additional information available in the literature regarding using severely deficient SID Lys concentrations as a nutritional strategy to intentionally limit the growth rate of late-finishing pigs. In addition, as
processing plants re-opened or increased their processing capability, pigs were often switched from the Lys-restricted corn-based diets formulated to restrict growth, to more standard diets with sufficient Lys concentrations to attempt to recover growth rates. For growing-finishing pigs, switching from Lys-restricted diets to Lys-sufficient diets can induce compensatory growth, a physiological process of animals having accelerated growth rate after a period of restriction (Hornick et al., 2000; Menegat et al., 2020). Therefore, our objectives were to determine the effects of feeding diets with severely deficient SID Lys and other AA concentrations to reduce growth rates, and second, to evaluate the effects of Lys-induced compensatory gain on growth performance and carcass characteristics of late-finishing pigs beyond 90-kg BW.

Materials and Methods

General

The Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved the protocol used in these experiments. These studies were conducted at the Kansas State University Swine Teaching and Research Center in Manhattan, KS. The facility was totally enclosed and environmentally regulated. Each pen was equipped with a two-hole dry single-sided feeder (Farmweld, Teutopolis, IL) and a 1-cup waterer to provide ad libitum access to feed and water. Pigs were stocked at a floor space of approximately 0.65 m2 per pig for Exp. 1 and 0.74 m2 per pig for Exp. 2. Pens were equipped with adjustable gates to allow space allowances per pig to be maintained if a pig died or was removed from a pen during the experiment. Pens were located over a completely slatted concrete floor with a 1.2-m pit underneath for manure storage. A robotic feeding system (FeedPro; Feedlogic Corp., Wilmar, MN) was used to deliver and record daily feed additions to each individual pen. At the initiation of the studies, pens of pigs were weighed and allotted to 1 of 4 treatments for each experiment in a randomized complete block

design with average pen weight serving as the blocking factor. Pigs were housed in mixedgender pens with 9–10 pigs per pen. Pens of pigs were weighed approximately every 7 days from d 0 to 44 of the experiments to determine average daily gain (ADG), average daily feed intake (ADFI), and gain-to-feed ratio (G:F). On the last day of both experiments, final pen weights were taken, and the remaining pigs were tagged with RFID ear tags and transported to a USDAinspected packing plant (Triumph Foods, St. Joseph, MO) for carcass data collection. Carcass measurements included hot carcass weight (HCW), loin depth, backfat depth, and percentage lean.

Diets

A total of 3 diets were manufactured (control, 0.50%-Lys and 0.18%-Lys; Table 4.1). The control diet was corn–soybean meal-based and formulated to contain 0.70% SID Lys and 13.0% CP. The 0.50%-Lys diet included 5% soybean meal and contained 10.3% CP. The 0.18%-Lys diet was made up of 98% corn and 2% vitamins and minerals. It was calculated to have 8.1% CP and was the lowest SID Lys (and other AAs) concentration possible for an all corn-based diet. The control diet was formulated to meet requirement estimates established by NRC (2012) for pigs in this weight range. The other two diets were formulated to be deficient in SID Lys and other AAs to restrict growth rate. All diets met NRC (2012) requirement estimates for vitamins and minerals.

Experiment 1

A total of 356 pigs (Line 241×600 , DNA; Columbus, NE; initially 89.0 ± 1.10 kg) were used with 4 treatments in a 44-d study. From d 0 to 28, pens of pigs were fed 1 of 2 dietary treatments (control or 0.50%-Lys; Figure 4.1). On d 28, pens of pigs previously fed the control diet were divided into two groups, half continued to be fed the control diet and the other half

96

were fed the 0.18%-Lys diet until d 44. Pens previously fed the 0.50%-Lys diet were divided into two groups, half continued to be fed the 0.50%-Lys diet and the other half were fed the 0.18%-Lys diet until d 44. On d 28, one or two of the heaviest pigs in each pen were selected and marketed resulting in 8 remaining pigs per pen until d 44. The adjustable gates were moved to maintain a constant floor space per pig when the heaviest pigs were removed. These pigs were included in the d 0–28 growth performance data but not carcass data.

Experiment 2

A total of 346 pigs (Line 241×600 , DNA, Columbus, NE; initially 88.6 ± 1.05 kg) were used with 4 treatments in a 44-d study. The first treatment consisted of pigs fed the control diet from d 0 to 44 (Figure 4.2). For the other three treatments, pigs were fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 14, 21, or 28 days and then switched to the control diet for the remainder of the trial. Thus, these treatment groups were fed the control diet for 30, 23, or 16 days prior to marketing, respectively. The restriction period was defined as the period when pigs were fed the 0.18%- Lys diet, and the recovery period was defined as the period when pigs were switched from the 0.18%- Lys diet to the control diet. Like Exp. 1, pigs were marketed for carcass data collection at the same packing plant; however, all pigs were marketed on d 44 (no pigs were marketed on day 28).

Economic Analysis

For both experiments, economic analysis including feed cost, feed cost per kg of gain, revenue per pig, and income over feed cost (IOFC) was calculated on a per pig placed basis. Ingredient cost (USD per kg) at the time of the study were used with corn valued at \$0.12, soybean meal at \$0.336, L-lysine HCl at \$1.32, DL-methionine at \$2.54, L-threonine at \$1.76, and L-tryptophan at \$8.82. Diet cost was \$0.17 per kg for the control diet, \$0.15 per kg for the 0.50%-Lys diet, and \$0.14 per kg for the 0.18%-Lys diet. Feed cost per pig was calculated by

multiplying the diet cost per kg by ADFI and by the number of days in each period. Feed cost per kg of gain was calculated by dividing the feed cost per pig by the overall weight gain per pig. Revenue was obtained by multiplying HCW by either a low carcass market value (\$0.66/ kg; low) or a more typical market value (\$1.43/kg; standard). The IOFC was calculated by subtracting the feed cost per pig from revenue per pig.

Representative diet samples of both experiments were obtained from the feeders of each treatment, homogenized, and analyzed for dry matter (method 935.29; AOAC Int., 2019) and crude protein (method 990.03; AOAC Int., 2019; Ward Laboratories Inc., Kearney, NE; Table 4.1).

Statistical Analysis

Data were analyzed as a randomized complete block design for one-way ANOVA using the lme function from the nlme package (Pinheiro et al., 2020) in R program (R Core Team, 2019). Pen was considered the experimental unit, initial pen average BW as the blocking factor, and treatment as a fixed effect. For every response, two analytical models were constructed by assuming 1) equal variance across all treatments, or 2) assuming a unique estimate of variance for each treatment group. Similar procedures have been implemented by Rao et al. (2020a, 2020b) building upon the concepts outlined by Goncalves et al. (2016). Both models were fit, and model selection was based on the ANOVA test ($P \le 0.05$) via Bayesian information criterion. Tukey adjustment was used for multiple comparisons using the emmeans package (Lenth, 2020). All results were considered significant at $P \le 0.05$ and marginally significant at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$. For Exp. 1, data were analyzed as two treatments (control or 0.50%-Lys) with 18 pens per treatment from d 0 to 28 and as 4 treatments with 9 pens per treatment for d 28 to 44 and the overall period. For Exp. 2, data were analyzed as two treatments (control or 0.18%- Lys diet) from d 0 to 14, 3 treatments from d 14 to 21, and 4 treatments from d 21 to 44, and d 0 to 44. Polynomial contrasts were constructed to evaluate the linear and quadratic effects for feeding duration of the 0.18%-Lys diet for d 28–44, and d 0–44.

Results

Experiment 1

From d 0 to 28, pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.001) ADG, G:F, d 28 BW, Lys intake per day, and Lys intake per kg of gain compared to pigs fed the control diet (Table 4.2). On d 28, one or two of the heaviest pigs in each pen were selected and marketed. Day 28 pre-marketing BW was approximately 3.7 kg lighter and when the one or two heaviest pigs in a pen were removed, d 28 post-marketing BW was approximately 4.8 kg lighter for pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet compared to pigs fed the control diet. There was no evidence of difference in ADFI.

From d 28 to 44, regardless of the previous diets fed from d 0 to 28, pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, G:F, Lys intake per day, and Lys intake per kg of gain compared to pigs fed the control or 0.50%-Lys diets (Table 4.2). Pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet for 44-d had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, G:F, Lys intake per day, and Lys intake per kg of gain compared to pigs fed the control diet for the entire 44-d study.

For the overall period (d 0–44), there was no evidence of difference in ADFI between treatments (Table 4.2). Pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet (d 0–28) then the 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44) had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, G:F, final BW, and Lys intake per day compared to the three other treatments, and were approximately 11.8 kg lighter than pigs fed the control diet (Figure 4.3). There was no evidence of difference between pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet for 44-d and pigs fed the control diet (d 0–28) then the 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44) in ADG, G:F, and final BW. Pigs on these two treatments had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG and G:F, and final BW (~7 kg lighter), compared to pigs fed the control diet for 44-d. All pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet from d 0 to 28 had decreased (P < 0.05) overall Lys intake per kg of gain compared to pigs fed the control diet from d 0 to 28. There were no differences in removals, mortality, or incidences of tail-biting or other vices (data not shown). Overall, pig health was very good throughout the study.

For carcass characteristics, there was no evidence of difference in carcass yield between treatments (Table 4.2). Pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet (d 0–28) then the 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44) had decreased (P < 0.05) HCW, percentage lean, loin depth, and increased (P < 0.05) backfat depth compared to pigs fed the control diet for 44-d. There was no evidence of a difference in backfat depth, loin depth, and percentage lean between the pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys for 44 days, the pigs fed the control diet (d 0–28) then the 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44), and the pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet (d 0–28) then 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44).

Revenue per pig was calculated using either the low market value at the time of the study (0.66/kg; low) or a more typical market value (1.43/kg; standard; Table 4.3). Pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet (d 0–28) then the 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44) had decreased (P < 0.05) revenue, using either the low or standard pricing model, compared to all other treatments, and had increased (P < 0.05) feed cost per kg of gain and decreased IOFC (low pricing) compared to pigs fed the control or the 0.50%-Lys treatments for 44 d. Pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diets from d 28 to 44 had decreased (P < 0.05) IOFC (low and standard pricing) per pig placed and feed cost compared to pigs fed the control diet for 44-d. There was no evidence of a difference in all economic criteria between pigs fed the control diet (d 0–28) then 0.18%-Lys diet (d 28–44) and pigs fed the 0.50%-Lys diet for 44 d.

Experiment 2

From d 0 to 14, pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, ADFI, G:F, d 14 BW, and Lys intake per day compared to pigs fed the control diet (Table 4.4). Day 14 BW was approximately 8 kg lighter for pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet compared to pigs of the control group (Figure 4.4). There was no evidence of a difference in Lys intake per kg of gain.

From d 14 to 21, pigs previously fed the 0.18%- Lys diet for 14-d and then switched to the control diet exhibited compensatory gain with increased (P < 0.05) ADG, ADFI, G:F Lys intake per day, and improved (P < 0.05) Lys intake per kg of gain, but still lower (P < 0.05) d 21 BW compared to pigs in the control group. Pigs that remained on the 0.18%-Lys diet had decreased (P < 0.05) d 21 BW, Lys intake per day, and improved (P < 0.05) Lys intake per kg of gain compared to all other treatments. They also had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG compared to the pigs previously fed the 0.18%-Lys diet and switched to the control diet. There was no evidence of a difference in ADFI and G:F between pigs in the control group and pigs fed the 0.18%- Lys diet for 21-d.

From d 21 to 28, pigs previously fed the 0.18%- Lys diet for 21-d and then switched to the control diet had compensatory gain with increased (P < 0.05) ADG and ADFI. However, d 28 BW was decreased (P < 0.05) compared to pigs in the control group. Pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 21-d before being switched to the control diet also had decreased (P < 0.05) d 28 BW compared to pigs fed the 0.18%- Lys diet for the first 14-d before being switched to the control diet thereafter. Pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 14 of the 44-d continued to have decreased (P < 0.05) d 28 BW compared to pigs in the control group. Pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 28-d had decreased (P < 0.05) ADG, G:F, d 28 BW, and Lys intake per day, and improved (P < 0.05) Lys intake per kg of gain compared to all other treatments. On d 44, pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 28-d had been switched to and provided the control diet for the final 16-d, pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 21-d had been provided with the control diet for 23-d, and pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet for 14-d had been provided with the control diet for 30-d. From d 28 to 44, ADG, G:F, and Lys intake per kg of gain improved (linear, P < 0.001) as time since switching to the control diet increased. Average daily feed intake and Lys intake per day tended to increase (linear, P = 0.053) as time since switching to the control diet increased. All treatments which were provided with the 0.18%-Lys diet demonstrated compensatory growth following the transition to the control diet at the respective time points, and the rate of improvement in growth performance by compensatory growth was reduced over time.

For the overall period (d 0–44), there was no evidence of a difference in ADFI between all treatments (Table 4.4). Average daily gain and Lys intake per kg of gain decreased (linear, P< 0.001), and G:F and Lys intake per day decreased (quadratic, P < 0.028) as the duration of Lys restriction increased. There were no differences in removals, mortality, or incidences of tailbiting or other vices (data not shown). Overall, pig health was very good throughout the study.

For carcass characteristics, HCW, carcass yield, loin depth, and percentage lean decreased (linear, $P \le 0.007$) as the duration of Lys restriction increased (Table 4.4). Backfat depth increased (linear, P < 0.001) as the duration of Lys restriction increased.

Revenue (standard and low), feed cost, and IOFC (standard and low) were decreased (linear, P < 0.001) as the duration of Lys restriction increased (Table 4.5). Feed cost per kg of gain was increased (linear, P < 0.001; quadratic, P = 0.018) as the duration of Lys restriction increased.

Discussion

The 2020 COVID-19 pandemic caused an abnormal market scenario where the US pork industry had a substantial reduction in the ability to process market pigs due to packing plant closures. The reduced processing capacity resulted in a longer growth period which led to the risk of pigs becoming too heavy for the infrastructure of the packing facility. Therefore, we conducted these two experiments to provide producers with a variety of strategies with Lysdeficient diets to reduce the growth rate of pigs and minimize economic hardship.

Dietary Standardized Ileal Digestible Lysine Requirement Estimates

The NRC (2012) SID Lys requirement estimate is 0.73% for 75- to 100-kg pigs and 0.61% for 100- to 135-kg pigs. Soto et al. (2019) reported that the predicted maximum ADG and G:F for pigs beyond 100-kg BW was achieved at 0.62% and 0.63% SID Lys, respectively. Distinct from regular Lys titration studies, we used diets (0.50%-Lys and 0.18%-Lys diet) that were severely deficient in Lys and other AAs for this weight range to evaluate the effects on growth performance. In both experiments, control pigs had greater Lys intake per day and ADG compared to pigs fed Lys-restricted diets. On average, control pigs consumed approximately 18–20 g/d SID Lys where pigs fed 0.18% SID Lys diets consumed approximately 10–12 g/d. Similarly, Soto et al. (2019) reported a decrease in ADG and G:F as SID Lys intake per day decreased in 100- to 135-kg pigs, but the magnitude of reduction was less than what we observed in our experiments with severely deficient Lys diets. Goncalves et al. (2017) reported that the optimal performance for ADG and G:F of 100- to 135-kg pigs was associated with a SID Lys intake per day of 19.5 and 19.7 g/d, respectively. Whereas the NRC (2012) requirement estimate for SID Lys is 16.9 g/d for this same weight range.

In response to COVID 19 induced abnormal marketing situations, Helm et al. (2021) observed that late-finishing pigs fed a diet containing 97% corn (0.16% SID Lys) had decreased ADG, G:F, and increased (P < 0.05) backfat depth compared to pigs fed a control diet. Our findings are consistent with Helm et al. (2021) in that severe Lys restriction will dramatically decrease growth performance and carcass leanness. In both of our experiments, pigs restricted in Lys and other AAs had increased backfat depth and decreased percentage lean compared to the nonrestricted pigs.

Compensatory Growth

Compensatory growth has been categorized into complete, incomplete, and no compensatory growth (Menegat et al., 2020). It can be affected by several factors, such as the stage of growth at restriction, severity of restriction, and duration of restriction and recover periods (Skiba, 2005; Hector and Nakagawa, 2012; Menegat et al., 2020). Complete compensatory growth refers to previously restricted pigs having faster growth rates during recovery and obtaining a similar BW compared to nonrestricted pigs at a similar age. Incomplete compensatory growth refers to previously restricted pigs having faster growth rates during recovery, but the magnitude of improvement is not enough to obtain a similar BW compared to nonrestricted pigs at a similar age. No compensatory growth refers to previously restricted pigs having similar or reduced growth rates during recovery compared to nonrestricted pigs. According to Menegat et al. (2020), compensatory growth seems to happen if: 1) Lys restriction is between 10% and 30%; 2) Lys restriction is induced before pigs reach maximum protein deposition; 3) duration of Lys restriction is short (<45% of overall period) and duration of recovery is long (>55% of overall period); and 4) Lys concentration during recovery needs to be close to or above the estimated requirements. In our study, all restricted pigs showed

104

compensatory growth, especially during the first week of recovery. The compensatory growth would be characterized as incomplete compensatory growth, because the restricted pigs did not reach a similar d 44 BW as the non-restricted pigs (Figure 4.4). However, the magnitude of compensatory growth was greater as the period of restriction was shorter and the period of recovery was greater. Restricted pigs had increasing backfat depth and decreasing lean percentage as the duration of restriction increased, indicating that restricted pigs had greater fat deposition and lower lean deposition compared to the control pigs.

The average difference in growth rate between pigs fed the control diet and pigs fed the 0.18%-Lys diet was about 49%, which resulted in the reduced BW during restriction. During the recovery period, previously restricted pigs grew faster than control pigs with a greater improvement in ADG during the first week (28% increase) compared to subsequent weeks (12% increase; Figure 4.5). Using these rates of recovery, for the restricted pigs to achieve similar BW as the control, pigs restricted for 14 d would require 34 d of recovery, pigs restricted for 21 d would require 55 d of recovery, and pigs restricted for 28 d would require 75 d of recovery.

Physiological changes that can explain the compensatory growth during the recovery are observed throughout the literature. For Lys restricted grow-finish pigs, the main driver for compensatory growth is an improvement in G:F because ADFI does not appear to change (Menegat et al., 2020). The improved G:F can be explained by the improvement in nitrogen utilization, Lys efficiency, protein deposition, and lean growth in the restricted pigs for reaching target body composition as the nonrestricted pigs at a similar age (Menegat et al., 2020). Sun et al. (2020) observed that liver metabolic function and small intestinal absorptive function of the restricted pigs were increased during a recovery period. Insulin-like growth factor (IGF), IGFbinding protein, cortisol, and corticosterone, regulators of protein deposition, were also increased during the recovery period (Martínez-Ramírez et al., 2009; Ishida et al., 2012). These changes in hormone status suggest an improvement in protein deposition and growth rate. Therefore, these improvements may contribute to the improved G:F of the restricted pigs in our study. In Exp. 2, d 0–14 ADFI was lower for pigs fed 0.18%-Lys diet compared with the control pigs (Figure 4.6). However, we observed greater ADFI during the recovery period, especially the first week. The decreased ADFI might be the result of an AA imbalance, then ADFI increased when pigs were switched to an AA balanced control diet.

Economic Significance of Reducing Growth Rate

Even though Lys-restricted diets are lower cost, feeding late-finishing pig diets with suboptimal Lys concentrations would not be economical because of the reduced grow rate and poor feed efficiency. However, under abnormal market scenarios when processing plants lack capacity to keep up with the number of pigs produced, these pigs will need to stay at the farm for an extended period and may grow to weights beyond the maximum market weight feasible for processing plants. Pigs marketed greater than the packer's preferred weight range are often severely discounted in price. If excessive weight gain becomes a detriment, such as the situation with COVID-19 shutting down processing plants, feeding Lys restricted diets will reduce ADG resulting in more acceptable BWs, which would increase the chances that the pigs could generate more income in this abnormal scenario. These nutritional strategies provide an estimate of growth rate for producers to have a more flexible timeline to manage the BW of their finishing pigs based on the availability of the processing plants. This in turn has the potential to minimize the economic loss of these pigs.

In conclusion, using nutritional strategies to reduce growth rates of finishing pigs allows producers to cope with the dynamic changes in processing plant capacity to minimize economic

106

losses during abnormal market scenarios. Moreover, compensatory growth can be observed in Lys-restricted late-finishing pigs, but the duration of restriction and recovery periods are crucial factors influencing the magnitude of compensatory growth.

References

- AOAC Int. 2019. Official methods of analysis AOAC international. 21st ed. Association of Official Analytical Chemists, Arlington, VA.
- Goncalves, M., U. Orlando, W. Cast, and M. Culbertson. 2017. Standardized ileal digestible lysine requirements for finishing PIC pigs under commercial conditions: A meta-analysis. J. Anim. Sci. 95(suppl_2):131-132. doi: 10.2527/asasmw.2017.273
- Gonçalves, M. A. D., N. M. Bello, S. S. Dritz, M. D. Tokach, J. M. DeRouchey, J. C. Woodworth, and R. D. Goodband. 2016. An update on modeling dose–response relationships: Accounting for correlated data structure and heterogeneous error variance in linear and nonlinear mixed models. J. Anim. Sci. 94(5):1940-1950. doi: 10.2527/jas.2015-0106
- Hector, K. L., and S. Nakagawa. 2012. Quantitative analysis of compensatory and catch-up growth in diverse taxa. J. Anim. Ecol. 81(3):583-593. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2011.01942.x
- Helm, E. T., J. W. Ross, J. F. Patience, S. M. Lonergan, E. Huff- Lonergan, L. L. Greiner, L. M. Reever, C. W. Hastad, E. K. Arkfeld, and N. K. Gabler. 2021. Nutritional approaches to slow late finishing pig growth: implications on carcass composition and pork quality. J. Anim. Sci. 99(1). doi:10.1093/jas/skaa368
- Hornick, J. L., C. Van Eenaeme, O. Gérard, I. Dufrasne, and L. Istasse. 2000. Mechanisms of reduced and compensatory growth. Domest. Anim. Endocrinol. 19(2):121-132. doi: 10.1016/S0739-7240(00)00072-2
- Ishida, A., T. Kyoya, K. Nakashima, and M. Katsumata. 2012. Nitrogen balance during compensatory growth when changing the levels of dietary lysine from deficiency to sufficiency in growing pigs. Anim. Sci. J. 83(11):743-749. doi: 10.1111/j.1740-0929.2012.01018.x
- Lenth, R. 2020. emmeans: estimated marginal means, aka least-squares means. R package version 1.4.8. Retrived from: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=emmeans.
- Martínez-Ramírez, H. R., E. A. Jeaurond, and C. F. M. de Lange. 2009. Nutrition-induced differences in body composition, compensatory growth and endocrine status in growing pigs. Animal 3(2):228-236. doi: 10.1017/S1751731108003492
- Menegat, M. B., S. S. Dritz, M. D. Tokach, J. C. Woodworth, J. M. DeRouchey, and R. D. Goodband. 2020. A review of compensatory growth following lysine restriction in grow-finish pigs. Transl. Anim. Sci. 4(2):531-547. doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa014
- NRC. 2012. Nutrient requirements of swine. 11th rev. ed. National Academic Press, Washington, DC.

- Pinheiro, J., D. Bates, S. DebRoy, and D. Sarkar. 2020. nlme: linear and nonlinear mixed effects models. R package version 3.1-152. Retrived from: https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=nlme.
- R Core Team. 2019. R: A language and environment for statistical computing., Vienna, Austria.
- Rao, Z. X., M. D. Tokach, S. S. Dritz, J. C. Woodworth, J. M. DeRouchey, R. D. Goodband, and H. I. Calderon. 2020a. Efficacy of commercial products on nursery pig growth performance fed diets with fumonisin contaminated corn. Transl. Anim. Sci. 4(4)doi: 10.1093/tas/txaa217
- Rao, Z. X., M. D. Tokach, J. C. Woodworth, J. M. DeRouchey, R. D. Goodband, H. I. Calderón, and S. S. Dritz. 2020b. Effects of fumonisin-contaminated corn on growth performance of 9 to 28 kg nursery pigs. Toxins (Basel) 12(9):604.
- Skiba, G. 2005. Physiological aspects of compensatory growth in pigs. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 14(Suppl. 1):191-203. doi: 10.22358/jafs/70362/2005
- Soto, J. A., M. D. Tokach, S. S. Dritz, J. C. Woodworth, J. M. DeRouchey, R. D. Goodband, and F. Wu. 2019. Optimal dietary standardized ileal digestible lysine and crude protein concentration for growth and carcass performance in finishing pigs weighing greater than 100 kg. J. Anim. Sci. 97(4):1701-1711. doi: 10.1093/jas/skz052
- Sun, Y., T. Teng, G. Bai, S. Qiu, B. Shi, D. Ju, and X. Zhao. 2020. Protein-restricted diet balanced for lysine, methionine, threonine, and tryptophan for nursery pigs elicits subsequent compensatory growth and has long term effects on protein metabolism and organ development. Anim. Feed Sci. Technol. 270:114712. doi: 10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114712

Items	Control	0.50%-Lys	0.18%-Lys ³
Ingredients, %			
Corn	86.41	92.99	98.22
Soybean meal	11.53	5.00	
Limestone, ground	0.89	0.88	0.86
Monocalcium phosphate	0.26	0.36	0.43
Salt	0.35	0.35	0.35
L-Lysine-HCl	0.30	0.25	
Methionine hydroxy analog, dry	0.01		
L-Threonine	0.09	0.03	
L-Tryptophan	0.02	0.01	
Vitamin and trace mineral premixes ¹	0.16	0.16	0.16
Total	100	100	100
Calculated analysis			
Standardized ileal digestible (SID) amino a	acids, %		
Lysine	0.70	0.50	0.18
Isoleucine:lysine	60	62	124
Leucine:lysine	156	187	452
Methionine:lysine	30	34	81
Methionine and cysteine:lysine	58	68	163
Threonine:lysine	65	61	117
Tryptophan:lysine	18.6	15.9	25.9
Valine:lysine	70	77	168
Lysine:net energy, g/Mcal	2.73	1.93	0.69
Net energy, kcal/kg	2,564	2,599	2,623
Crude protein, %	13.0	10.3	8.1
Ca, %	0.47	0.46	0.45
STTD P, ² %	0.24	0.24	0.24
Chemical analysis, ³ %			
Dry matter	88.7	88.7	88.9
Crude protein	12.6	10.2	8.1

 Table 4.1. Composition of experimental diets (as-fed basis)

¹Provided per kg of diet: 1,240.10 IU vitamin A; 496.04 IU vitamin D; 13.23 IU vitamin E; 0.99 mg vitamin K; 0.01 mg vitamin B12; 14.88 mg niacin; 8.27 mg pantothenic acid; 2.48 mg riboflavin; 55 mg Zn from zinc sulfate; 55 mg Fe from iron sulfate; 17 mg Mn from manganese oxide; 8 mg Cu from copper sulfate; 0.15 mg I from calcium iodate; 0.15 mg Se from sodium selenite; and 375 FTU Ronozyme HiPhos GT 2700 (DSM Nutritional Products, Basel, Switzerland) with an expected STTD P release of 0.08%.

 2 STTD P = standardized total tract digestible phosphorus.

³A representative sample of each diet was collected from the feeders of each treatment, homogenized, and analyzed (Ward Laboratories, Inc., Kearney, NE).

d 0 to 28	Control ³		0.509	0.50%-Lys		
d 28 to 44	Control	0.18%-Lys	0.50%-Lys	0.18%-Lys	Probability ⁴ , $P <$	
d 0 to 28						
ADG, kg	0.84 ±	: 0.016	$0.71 \pm$	0.009	< 0.001	
ADFI, kg	2.77 ±	0.028	$2.78 \pm$	2.78 ± 0.028		
G:F	0.301	± 0.004	$0.254 \pm$	0.002	< 0.001	
Lys intake, g/d	19.4 :	± 0.21	13.9 ±	0.15	< 0.001	
Lys intake, g/kg gain	23.3	± 0.28	19.7 ±	0.14	< 0.001	
d 0 BW, kg	89.1 :	± 1.10	89.0 ±	1.10	0.708	
d 28 BW, kg (pre-marketing) ⁵	112.5	± 1.22	108.8 -	± 1.13	< 0.001	
d 28 to 44						
ADG, kg	0.86 ± 0.032^{a}	$0.48 \pm 0.032^{\circ}$	0.71 ± 0.032^{b}	$0.44 \pm 0.032^{\circ}$	< 0.001	
ADFI, kg	2.60 ± 0.058^a	2.42 ± 0.058^{ab}	2.46 ± 0.058^{ab}	2.26 ± 0.058^{b}	0.005	
G:F	0.331 ± 0.0150^{a}	0.197 ± 0.0100^{b}	0.289 ± 0.0066^a	0.195 ± 0.0065^{b}	< 0.001	
Lys intake, g/d	$18.2\pm0.42^{\rm a}$	4.4 ± 0.12^{c}	12.3 ± 0.29^{b}	4.1 ± 0.09^{c}	< 0.001	
Lys intake, g/kg gain	$21.6 \pm 1.16^{\text{a}}$	$9.5\pm0.56^{\rm c}$	17.4 ± 0.44^{b}	$9.4\pm0.31^{\rm c}$	< 0.001	
d 28 BW, kg (post-marketing) ⁵	111.2 ± 1.41^{a}	111.2 ± 1.41^{a}	106.4 ± 1.41^{b}	106.5 ± 1.41^{b}	< 0.001	
d 44 BW, kg	125.3 ± 1.47^a	$118.9 \pm 1.98^{\text{b}}$	117.8 ± 1.69^{b}	$113.5 \pm 1.25^{\circ}$	< 0.001	
d 0 to 44						
ADG, kg	0.86 ± 0.018^{a}	0.71 ± 0.018^{b}	0.72 ± 0.018^{b}	$0.61 \pm 0.018^{\circ}$	< 0.001	
ADFI, kg	2.72 ± 0.039	2.66 ± 0.039	2.69 ± 0.039	2.61 ± 0.039	0.221	
G:F	0.315 ± 0.0042^{a}	0.268 ± 0.0042^{b}	0.267 ± 0.0042^{b}	0.235 ± 0.0042^{c}	< 0.001	
Lys intake, g/d	$19.0\pm0.22^{\rm a}$	14.7 ± 0.22^{b}	$13.5\pm0.22^{\circ}$	10.8 ± 0.22^{d}	< 0.001	
Lys intake, g/kg gain	22.3 ± 0.33^a	20.7 ± 0.33^{b}	18.8 ± 0.33^{c}	17.6 ± 0.33^{c}	< 0.001	
Carcass characteristics						
HCW, kg	$93.5\pm1.29^{\rm a}$	88.9 ± 1.24^{b}	87.5 ± 1.35^{bc}	$84.5\pm1.26^{\rm c}$	< 0.001	

Table 4.2. Effect of nutritional strategies to reduce growth rate of pigs beyond 90-kg body weight, Exp. 1^{1,2}.

Carcass yield, %	74.8 ± 0.20	74.2 ± 0.19	74.2 ± 0.21	74.1 ± 0.20	0.096
Backfat depth, mm ⁶	13.9 ± 0.34^{b}	15.2 ± 0.30^{a}	15.3 ± 0.34^{a}	$15.8\pm0.32^{\rm a}$	0.002
Loin depth, mm ⁶	$62.0\pm0.60^{\rm a}$	59.1 ± 0.53^{b}	59.8 ± 0.60^{ab}	58.1 ± 0.56^{b}	< 0.001
Lean, % ⁵	$55.5\pm0.20^{\rm a}$	54.5 ± 0.18^{b}	$54.6\pm0.20^{\text{b}}$	54.0 ± 0.19^{b}	< 0.001

^{a,b,c,d} Means within a row with different superscripts differ (P < 0.05).

¹A total of 356 pigs (initially 89 kg) were used with 10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment. On d 28, one or two heaviest pigs in each pen were selected and marketed as standard farm marketing protocol. These heavy pigs were included in the d 0 to 28 growth performance data and d 28 pre-marketing BW, but not in d 28 post-marketing BW and carcass data.

 $^{2}BW = body$ weight. ADG = average daily gain. ADFI = average daily feed intake. G:F = feed efficiency. HCW = hot carcass weight

³SID lysine (%) was 0.70 for the control diet, 0.50 for the 0.50% -Lys diet, and 0.18 for the 0.18% -Lys diet.

⁴Treatment *F*-test based on ANOVA.

⁵On d 28, one or two of the heaviest pigs in each pen were selected and marketed resulting in 8 remaining pigs per pen for all pens until d 44. These pigs were included in the d 0 to 28 growth performance data but not carcass data.

⁶Adjusted using HCW as covariate.

d 0 to 28	Control ²		0.509	0.50%-Lys		
d 28 to 44	Control	0.18%-Lys	0.50%-Lys	0.18%-Lys	Probability ³ , $P <$	
Economics (per pig placed), \$ ⁴						
Revenue (low) ⁵	17.28 ± 0.355^a	14.26 ± 0.355^b	14.41 ± 0.355^b	12.30 ± 0.355^{c}	< 0.001	
Revenue (standard) ⁶	37.44 ± 0.769^a	30.90 ± 0.769^{b}	31.23 ± 0.769^{b}	26.65 ± 0.769^{c}	< 0.001	
Feed cost ⁷	18.59 ± 0.257^a	17.24 ± 0.257^{b}	16.62 ± 0.257^{bc}	15.68 ± 0.257^{c}	< 0.001	
Feed cost per kg of gain ⁸	0.53 ± 0.009^{c}	0.59 ± 0.009^{ab}	0.57 ± 0.009^{bc}	0.63 ± 0.009^{a}	< 0.001	
IOFC (low) ⁹	$\textbf{-1.32}\pm0.232^{a}$	-2.98 ± 0.232^{bc}	-2.21 ± 0.232^{b}	$-3.38 \pm 0.232^{\circ}$	< 0.001	
IOFC (standard)	18.84 ± 0.598^a	13.66 ± 0.598^b	14.61 ± 0.598^{b}	10.97 ± 0.598^{c}	< 0.001	

Table 4.3. Effect of nutritional strategies to reduce growth rate of pigs beyond 90-kg body weight, Exp. 1¹

^{a,b,c} Means within a row with different superscripts differ (P < 0.05).

¹ A total of 356 pigs (initially 89 kg) were used with 10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment.

²SID lysine (%) was 0.70 for the control diet, 0.50 for the 0.50%-Lys diet, and 0.18 for the 0.18%-Lys diet.

³Treatment *F*-test based on ANOVA.

⁴Removal rates were similar between all treatments.

⁵Revenue (low) = $0.66 \times (\text{total live weight gain} \times \text{carcass yield}).$

⁶Revenue (standard) = $1.43 \times$ (total live weight gain \times carcass yield).

⁷Feed cost per kg: \$0.17 (control diet); \$0.15 (0.50% -Lys diet); and \$0.14 (0.18% -Lys diet).

⁸Feed cost per kg gain = (total pen feed cost) / (total pen gain).

⁹IOFC (income over feed cost) = revenue – feed cost.

d 0 to 14	Control	0.18%-Lys					
d 14 to 21	Control	Control	0.18%-Lys				
d 21 to 28	Control	Control	Control	0.18%-Lys	Probability, <i>P</i> <		P <
d 28 to 44	Control	Control	Control	Control	Treatment ⁴	Linear ⁵	Quadratic ⁵
d 0 to 14							
d 0 BW, kg	88.6 ± 1.05		88.6 ± 0.94		0.963		
d 14 BW, kg	$99.7 \pm 1.00^{\rm a}$		91.8 ± 0.93^{b}		< 0.001		
ADG, kg	0.79 ± 0.025^a		0.23 ± 0.015^{b}		< 0.001		
ADFI, kg	2.48 ± 0.048^{a}		2.18 ± 0.029^{b}		< 0.001		
G:F	0.317 ± 0.0093^{a}		0.103 ± 0.0054^{b}		< 0.001		
Lys intake, g/d	$17.4\pm0.29^{\rm a}$		4.0 ± 0.05^{b}		< 0.001		
Lys intake, g/kg gain	22.2 ± 0.57		19.6 ± 1.54		0.121		
d 14 to 21							
d 21 BW, kg	106.0 ± 1.00^{a}	101.1 ± 1.00^{b}	97.2 ±	= 0.93 ^c	< 0.001		
ADG, kg	0.89 ± 0.050^{b}	1.34 ± 0.050^{a}	$0.76 \pm$	0.036 ^b	< 0.001		
ADFI, kg	2.63 ± 0.076^{b}	3.01 ± 0.076^{a}	$2.73 \pm$	0.054 ^b	< 0.001		
G:F	0.336 ± 0.0179^{b}	0.446 ± 0.0179^{a}	$0.280 \pm$	0.0137 ^c	< 0.001		
Lys intake, g/d	18.4 ± 0.45^{b}	21.1 ± 0.39^{a}	5.0 ±	0.11 ^c	< 0.001		
Lys intake, g/kg gain	$21.6 \pm 1.52^{\rm a}$	15.8 ± 0.42^{b}	$6.8 \pm$	0.38 ^c	< 0.001		
d 21 to 28							
d 28 BW, kg	$112.7\pm1.05^{\rm a}$	$108.7\pm1.05^{\rm b}$	$105.7\pm1.05^{\rm c}$	$101.2\pm1.05^{\text{d}}$	< 0.001		
ADG, kg	0.95 ± 0.062^{b}	1.09 ± 0.062^{ab}	1.23 ± 0.062^{a}	$0.56\pm0.062^{\rm c}$	< 0.001		
ADFI, kg	2.59 ± 0.091^b	2.87 ± 0.091^{ab}	2.98 ± 0.091^{a}	2.78 ± 0.091^{ab}	0.040		
G:F	0.365 ± 0.0152^{a}	0.378 ± 0.0152^{a}	0.412 ± 0.0152^a	0.201 ± 0.0152^{b}	< 0.001		
Lys intake, g/d	$18.2\pm0.88^{\text{a}}$	20.1 ± 0.51^a	20.9 ± 0.58^{a}	5.1 ± 0.13^{b}	< 0.001		
Lys intake, g/kg gain	$19.4\pm0.82^{\text{a}}$	18.6 ± 0.82^{a}	$17.2\pm0.82^{\rm a}$	9.9 ± 0.82^{b}	< 0.001		

Table 4.4. Evaluation of compensatory growth of 90-kg finishing pigs previously fed a reduced Lys diet, Exp. 2^{1,2,3}.

d 28 to 44

d 44 BW, kg	126.0 ± 1.12	123.9 ± 1.12	120.8 ± 1.12	118.5 ± 1.12	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.123
ADG, kg	0.83 ± 0.021	0.94 ± 0.021	0.94 ± 0.021	1.06 ± 0.021	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.200
ADFI, kg	2.67 ± 0.122	2.80 ± 0.122	2.75 ± 0.122	2.85 ± 0.122	0.168	0.053	0.904
G:F	0.311 ± 0.0053	0.336 ± 0.0053	0.342 ± 0.0053	0.374 ± 0.0053	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.083
Lys intake, g/d	18.7 ± 0.386	19.6 ± 0.386	19.2 ± 0.386	19.9 ± 0.386	0.168	0.053	0.904
Lys intake, g/kg gain	22.6 ± 0.331	20.9 ± 0.331	20.5 ± 0.331	18.7 ± 0.331	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.227
d 0 to 44							
ADG, kg	0.85 ± 0.018	0.80 ± 0.018	0.73 ± 0.018	0.67 ± 0.018	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.111
ADFI, kg	2.59 ± 0.041	2.65 ± 0.041	2.59 ± 0.041	2.61 ± 0.041	0.717	0.858	0.544
G:F	0.325 ± 0.040	0.301 ± 0.040	0.280 ± 0.040	0.257 ± 0.040	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.028
Lys intake, g/d	18.1 ± 0.238	14.9 ± 0.238	12.3 ± 0.238	10.1 ± 0.238	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.024
Lys intake, g/kg gain	21.6 ± 0.36	18.7 ± 0.18	17.0 ± 0.18	15.0 ± 0.12	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.097
Carcass characteristics							
HCW, kg	94.3 ± 1.55	92.4 ± 1.19	91.0 ±1.35	87.8 ± 1.38	0.017	0.004	0.292
Carcass yield, %	74.7 ± 0.26	73.8 ± 0.21	74.3 ± 0.23	73.5 ± 0.23	0.003	0.003	0.913
Backfat depth, mm	14.5 ± 0.24	15.2 ± 0.24	15.5 ± 0.24	15.8 ± 0.24	0.007	< 0.001	0.919
Loin depth, mm	62.8 ± 0.58	60.7 ± 0.57	58.6 ± 0.59	57.6 ± 0.58	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.651
Lean, %	54.9 ± 0.24	54.5 ± 0.18	54.1 ± 0.20	54.0 ± 0.21	0.048	0.007	0.792

^{a,b,c,d} Means within a row with different superscripts differ ($P \le 0.05$).

¹A total of 346 pigs (initially 88.6 kg) were used with 9 to 10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment.

 $^{2}BW = body$ weight. ADG = average daily gain. ADFI = average daily feed intake. G:F = feed efficiency. HCW = hot carcass weight

³SID lysine (%) was 0.70 for the control diet and 0.18 for the 0.18% -Lys diet.

⁴Treatment *F*-test based on ANOVA.

⁵Polynomial contrasts were constructed to evaluate the effects of duration of feeding pigs the 0.18%-Lys diet for d 28 to 44 and overall period.

d 0 to 14	Control	0.18%-Lys					
d 14 to 21	Control	Control 0.18%-Lys		_			
d 21 to 28	Control	Control	Control	ntrol 0.18%-Lys Probability, J		, P <	
d 28 to 44	Control	Control	Control	Control	Treatment ²	Linear ³	Quadratic ³
Economics (per pig placed), \$ ⁴							
Revenue (low) ⁵	18.12 ± 0.433	17.02 ± 0.433	15.52 ± 0.433	14.31 ± 0.433	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.182
Revenue (standard) ⁶	39.27 ± 0.937	36.87 ± 0.937	33.62 ± 0.937	31.01 ± 0.937	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.182
Feed cost ⁷	18.91 ± 0.343	18.44 ± 0.343	17.36 ± 0.343	17.08 ± 0.343	0.002	< 0.001	0.501
Feed cost per kg of gain ⁸	0.516 ± 0.0062	0.529 ± 0.0062	0.551 ± 0.0062	0.579 ± 0.0062	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.018
IOFC (low)	$\textbf{-0.78} \pm 0.191$	-1.43 ± 0.191	$\textbf{-1.84} \pm 0.191$	-2.76 ± 0.191	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.060
IOFC (standard) ⁹	20.36 ± 0.929	18.42 ± 0.399	16.26 ± 0.696	13.94 ± 0.391	< 0.001	< 0.001	0.068

Table 4.5. Evaluation of compensatory growth of 90-kg finishing pigs previously fed a reduced Lys diet, Exp. 2¹.

¹ A total of 346 pigs (initially 88.6 kg) were used with 9 to 10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment.

²Treatment F-test based on ANOVA.

³Polynomial contrasts were constructed to evaluate the effects of duration of feeding pigs the 0.18%-Lys diet for d 28 to 44 and overall period.

⁴Removal rates were similar between all treatments.

⁵Revenue (low) = $0.66 \times (\text{total live weight gain} \times \text{carcass yield})$.

⁶Revenue (standard) = $1.43 \times$ (total live weight gain \times carcass yield).

⁷Feed cost per kg: \$0.17 and \$0.14 (0.18% -Lys diet).

⁸Feed cost per kg gain = (total pen feed cost) / (total pen gain).

⁹IOFC (Income over feed cost) = revenue – feed cost.



Figure 4.1. Experimental treatment design of Exp. 1.

A total of 3 diets were manufactured (control [0.70% SID Lys], 0.50%-Lys, and 0.18%-Lys). From d 0 to 28, pens received one of two dietary treatments (control or 0.50%-Lys). On d 28, pens previously fed the control diet were divided into two groups, half continued to be fed the control diet and the other half were fed to the 0.18%-Lys diet, which was fed until d 44. Pens previously fed the 0.50%-Lys diet, which was fed until d 44.



Figure 4.2. Experimental treatment design of Exp. 2.

A total of 2 diets were manufactured (control [0.70% SID Lys] and 0.18%-Lys). Nine pens of pigs were in the control group and fed the control diet from d 0 to 44. The other three treatments also consisted of 9 pens per treatment and were fed 0.18%-Lys diets for the first 14, 21, or 28-d and then fed the control diet until d 44.



Figure 4.3. Exp. 1 body weight difference compared to control diet (horizontal axis at 0).

A total of 346 pigs (initially 89.0 kg) were used with 9–10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment. The weekly BW differences were calculated by subtracting the BW of pigs fed the control diet from BW of pigs fed other treatments. Two diets (control [0.70% SID Lys] and 0.50%-Lys) were fed to pigs from d 0 to 28. Four treatments were used from d 28 to 44. Error bar represents 1 SE.



Figure 4.4. Exp. 2 body weight difference compared to control diet (horizontal axis at 0).

A total of 346 pigs (initially 88.6 kg) were used with 9–10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment. The weekly BW differences were calculated by subtracting the BW of pigs fed the control diet from BW of pigs fed other treatments. Error bar represents 1 SE.



Figure 4.5. Exp. 2 weekly ADG of the 4 treatments.

A total of 346 pigs (initially 88.6 kg) were used with 9–10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment. Error bar represents 1 SE.



Figure 4.6. Exp. 2 weekly ADFI of the 4 treatments.

A total of 346 pigs (initially 88.6 kg) were used with 9–10 pigs per pen and 9 replicates per treatment. Error bar represents 1 SE.

Chapter 5 - Effect of different sow lactation feeder types and drip cooling on sow bodyweight, litter performance, and feeder cleaning criteria.

Abstract

A total of 600 sows (Line 3; PIC, Hendersonville, TN) were used to evaluate the effect of different lactation feeder types and drip cooling on sow farrowing performance and litter growth performance during the summer. For the feeder evaluation, the trial was conducted in 2 sequential groups with 300 sows per group. Five 60-farrowing-stall rooms with tunnel ventilation were used for each group. At approximately d 110 to 112 of gestation, sows were blocked by body condition score (BCS), parity, and offspring sire (Line 2 or Line 3 sires; PIC), then randomly allotted to 1 of 3 feeder types: 1) PVC tube feeder; 2) Rotecna feeder (Rotecna, Agramunt, Spain), or 3) SowMax feeder (Hog Slat, Newton Grove, NC). The 3 feeder types were placed in one of 3 stalls with the same sequence from the front to the end of all rooms to balance for environmental effects. For drip cooling evaluation, the trial was conducted during the 2nd group of 300 sows. Drippers were blocked in 3 of every 6 farrowing stalls to balance feeder type and environmental effects. After farrowing, sows had *ad libitum* access to feed. For litter performance data, only pigs from sows bred to Line 2 sires were recorded. Line 3 sire pigs were not included in litter performance data, but sows of these pigs were included in sow BW and feed disappearance data. After weaning, feeder cleaning time was recorded on a subsample of 67 feeders (19, 23, and 25 for PVC tube, Rotecna, and SowMax, respectively). There was no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in sow entry BW, exit BW, BW change, and litter performance among the different feeder types. However, sows using the SowMax feeders had decreased (P <

0.05) total feed disappearance, average daily feed disappearance, and total feed cost compared to those fed with the PVC tube feeders. There was a marginal difference (P < 0.10) between feeder types in cleaning time, with PVC tube feeders requiring less time than the Rotecna feeders; however, cleaning time varied greatly between the personnel doing the cleaning. Sows with drip cooling had greater (P < 0.05) feed disappearance, litter growth performance, and subsequent total born, and reduced (P < 0.05) BW change. In conclusion, using a SowMax feeder reduced feed disappearance with no effects on sow and litter performance compared to a PVC tube feeder, and drip cooling improved sow and litter performance during summer.

Introduction

During lactation, maximizing sow feed intake is critical to reduce body reserve mobilization and sustain milk production for litter growth (Tokach et al., 2019). Lactation feed intake also affects sow longevity and subsequent reproductive performance (Patterson et al., 2011). However, sow farms located in warm and humid climates have difficulties maximizing lactation feed intake, which may lead to poorer performance of sows under heat stress (Bjerg et al., 2020; Zhang et al., 2022). Several factors can affect sow feed intake, including feeder type and environmental comfort (Tokach and Dial, 1992; Tokach et al., 2019; Bjerg et al., 2020). There are several types of lactation feeders for use in farrowing stalls. A good farrowing stall feeder should minimize feed wastage and spoilage and improve sow feed intake by enhancing the accessibility of feed and match the sow's feed intake pattern without causing pain or injury (Taylor, 1990; Peng et al., 2007; Choi et al., 2018). However, the difficulty of cleaning feeders also needs to be considered to avoid excess workload and cross-contamination of pathogens on the feeders to the next group of sows and litter.

In addition to feeder type, another factor influencing feed intake is environmental temperature. In hot environments, evaporative cooling can help reduce body temperature of swine (Godyń et al., 2020). Heat from the skin is dissipated through evaporation of sweat or water. Pigs have structures that morphologically conform with apocrine sweat glands in the skin but they do not sweat (Ingram, 1965) and therefore, cannot rely on evaporative cooling on their skin with sweat. Spray or drip cooling systems have been applied to provide skin evaporative cooling during warm weather. Drip cooling reduces the heat stress of a sow in a hightemperature environment and increases feed intake (Murphy et al., 1987; McGlone et al., 1988; Dong et al., 2001; Perin et al., 2016). However, there are few studies evaluating the effect of drip cooling in hot and humid environments. Furthermore, a limiting factor in drip cooling is high humidity. High humidity reduces the efficiency of evaporative cooling in removing heat (Godyń et al., 2020). Thus, it is theorized that drip cooling may not have significant effects on sows' performance in hot and humid areas. Therefore, the objective of this experiment was to evaluate the effect of lactation feeder type and drip cooling on lactating sow farrowing performance, litter growth, and feeder cleaning criteria in a hot and humid environment.

Material and Methods

General

The Kansas State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee approved the protocol used in this study. The experiment was conducted at a commercial sow farm located in central Arkansas. There were 60 stalls per room. A total of 5 tunnel-ventilated farrowing rooms (300 stalls; 100 stalls per lactation feeder treatment) were used for each group. Evaporative cool cells were installed in all farrowing rooms and started circulating water at 26°C. Each farrowing crate was equipped with a bowl waterer. The trial was conducted in 2 sequential groups for a

total of 600 mixed parity sows (Line 3, PIC, Hendersonville, TN). The first group of sows farrowed between June 6 and 18, 2021, and the pigs were weaned between June 24 and July 7, 2021. The second group of sows farrowed between July 2 and 15, and the pigs were weaned between July 25 and August 4, 2021. Daily high and low temperatures were recorded inside the rooms for the duration of this study (Figure 5.1). Relative humidity data was not recorded by room; therefore, data were retrieved from the closest weather station (17 km away), CXW weather station (Conway, AR; Figure 5.1). For the first group of sows (June 6 to July 7, 2021), the average daily temperature ranged between 58.9 to 96.6% with an average of 24.5°C and the average daily relative humidity ranged between 58.9 to 96.6% with an average of 71.9%. For the second group of sows (July 2 to August 4, 2021), the average daily temperature ranged between 21.5 to 27.1°C with an average of 24.7°C and the average daily relative humidity ranged between 21.5 to 27.1°C with an average of 75.1%.

Animals and sow lactation feeders

Sows were inseminated with PIC line 2 (441 sows) and line 3 (159 sows) semen. At approximately d 110 to 112 of gestation, sows were moved from the gestation facility to the farrowing house, and blocked by body condition score (BCS), parity, and offspring sire line, then randomly allotted to farrowing stalls equipped with 1 of 3 feeder types with sow as the experimental unit. The 3 feeder types were; 1) PVC tube; 2) Rotecna ball feeder (Rotecna, Agramunt, Spain); or 3) SowMax ad-lib sow feeder (SKU: 7150890500; Hog Slat, Newton Grove, NC, Figure 5.2). The PVC tube feeders were the existing feeders in this sow farm. New Rotecna and SowMax feeders were installed for this trial. All farrowing stalls had the same feeder bowl type. The feeder bowl height and width were 55.9 and 35.6 cm, respectively, with a 10.2 cm depth from the front tip to the base. Moreover, with the specific feed hopper design of each feeder type, the Rotecna feeder could hold approximately 12 kg of feed, and the SowMax feeder and the PVC tube feeder could hold approximately 10 kg of feed. The PVC tube feeder consisted of a 7.6-cm-diameter PVC tube installed perpendicularly to the base of the feeder bowl in the back-left corner. The feeder adjustment for the PVC tube feeder was conducted by adjusting the gap size between the bottom of the PVC tube opening and the inside of the base of the feeder bowl to control the feed flow from the feed hopper. As there was no mechanism to restrict the feed from flowing into the feeder bowl, sows did not need to trigger any mechanism and had continual access to feed in the bowl. The Rotecna feeder consisted of a round plastic bracket with a moveable ball structure at the bottom of the feeder. This was installed on the farrowing stall headgate with the bottom of the plastic bracket matching approximately the top edge of the feeder bowl. For feed delivery, sows were required to push up the ball, which opened a gap between the plastic bracket and the ball that allowed the feed to flow from the feed hopper to the feeder bowl. When pushed all the way up, the top of the ball stopped the feed flow by closing the gap at the bottom of the feeder hopper. When not triggered or pushed on by the sows, the ball dropped and closed the bottom-gap stopping the flow of feed. The amount of feed dropped from the Rotecna feeder was controlled by adjusting the distance (space) between the top- and bottom-gap. On the front side of the plastic bracket, there were 7 settings from 0 to 6 with 0 fully closed restricting all feed flow and 6 allowing the greatest amount of feed to flow to the bowl when triggered by the sow. The SowMax feeder consisted of a rectangular metal box with a rod-like structure at the bottom of the feeder. This was installed on the farrowing stall headgate with the bottom of the metal box matching approximately the top edge of the feeder bowl. For feed delivery, sows were required to push the rod from side to side, which moved internal parallel plates that allowed feed to drop from the feed hopper to the feeder bowl. When

not triggered by the sows, the plates restricted the feed from flowing to the feeder bowls. The adjustment for the SowMax feeder was controlled by adjusting the distance between the plates. On the side of the metal box, there were 6 distance settings from 0 to 5 with 0 fully closed constricting all feed flow and 6 allowing greatest feed flow when triggered by sow. The 3 feeder types were placed in the farrowing stalls in the same sequence (Rotecna, SowMax, and then PVC tube feeder) from the front to the end of all farrowing rooms to balance the environmental effect in each room (Figure 5.3). For the drip cooling evaluation, the trial was conducted during the second group of 300 sows. Water drippers were located above the stall and aimed at the shoulder of the sow. The setpoint of the drip cooling system initiated at 24°C and the system ran on a 10-min cycle (2 min on and 8 min off). Water drippers were disabled in 3 of every 6 farrowing stalls and the sequence changed between rows to balance the feeder types and the environmental effect in each room (Figure 5.3).

The same corn-soybean meal-based lactation feed was fed to all sows. During the prefarrowing period, sows were provided approximately 0.91 kg in the morning and 0.91 kg during late afternoon, for a total of 1.82 kg per day of the lactation diet. After farrowing, sows were provided ad libitum access to feed. The hopper of each feeder type was filled to the top with lactation diet at least twice a day throughout the experimental period to provide sows with feed at all times. Feeder adjustments were made daily to achieve approximately 40 to 60% feed coverage on the base of the feeder bowl. Wet or moldy feed was removed from the feeder bowl when necessary. The spoiled feed was not weighed and defined as part of the total feed disappearance. Viable pigs from sows bred to Line 2 sires (7,562 pigs from 441 sows) were individually tagged with a RFID tag within 24 h of birth. Line 3 sired pig data was not collected as both of their ears were occupied with the farm's specific breeder tags and did not have space

128

left for the LeeO RFID tags; therefore, these line 3 sired pig data was not included in the litter performance data. However, the sows of these pigs were included in the sow BW and feed disappearance data. If cross-fostering was needed, pigs were cross-fostered within 24 h of birth and within feeder type and offspring sire line. The weaning age was between 19 and 22 d.

Data and sample collection

All animal and feed scales used in this trial were calibrated and verified with test weights to assure accuracy. The experiments' sow and litter data were recorded and stored using the LeeO system (Prairie Systems, Spencer, IA). An RFID tag was attached to each sow stall and identified as a location pen in the LeeO system. For sow data, the information (sow ID, parity, breeding date, and offspring sire line) of each sow was exported from the PigChamp system (Ames, IA) and then imported into the LeeO system. A walk-on platform scale was used to weigh sows before entering the farrowing house and at weaning. When sows were placed in the farrowing stall, they were also registered in the location pens in the LeeO system. The sow record cards were checked to assure the LeeO electronic system recorded and stored the data correctly. Feed carts equipped with scales were used to obtain the weight of each feed addition. Each feed addition was registered to the stall (location pen) with the date and weight recorded for calculating total feed disappearance data. Total feed disappearance was calculated by subtracting leftover feed in the feed hoppers at weaning from the cumulative feed addition during the lactation period. Total sow feed disappearance would represent the combination of feed intake as well as feed wastage. Subsequent sow performance data was obtained from the PigChamp system. Sows that were culled due to age, structural problems, or death were not included in the subsequent farrowing data analysis. For litter performance, viable Line 2 sired pigs were registered under the sow and location pen, and individually weighed at birth and at weaning.

Nonviable pigs (low birth weight or dead before ear tagging), stillborn, and mummies were recorded but not weighed. Any cross-fostering and mortalities throughout the lactation period were recorded. The data for pigs from sows bred to Line 3 sires were not collected; however, the sows of these pigs were included in the sow BW and feed disappearance data. Although there were differences in sample sizes, the treatments were still well balanced in terms of replication, BCS, sire line, and parity (Table 5.1 and 5.2) for the measurements.

After weaning, 3 farm employees were designated to wash feeders and record cleaning times for several feeders per feeder type. The number of feeders used was 19, 23, and 25 for the PVC tube, Rotecna, and SowMax feeder, respectively. For economic data, the lactation feed cost was USD 0.29/kg, litter value was USD 1.54/kg of litter weight, and the labor cost for cleaning was USD 15/h.

Statistical analysis

Data were analyzed as a randomized complete-block design for one-way ANOVA in R program (R core team, 2022; Vienna, Austria). Sow (litter) or feeder (cleaning criteria) were considered as the experimental unit. Groups and farrowing rooms were the blocking factors for sow and litter data. Cleaning personnel was used as the blocking factor for the cleaning criteria. Feeder type and drip cooling were used as the fixed effect. The lmer function from the lme4 package was used for lactating sow BW, feed disappearance, litter growth performance, cleaning criteria, and economics. The glmer function (Poisson distribution) from the lme4 package was used for total born, litter size after cross-fostering, live born, viable live born, and pigs weaned. The glmer function (negative binomial distribution) from the lme4 package was used for nonviable live born, stillborn, mummies, and subsequent total born. The glmer function (binomial distribution) from the lme4 package was used for subsequent farrowing rate, and bred
by 7, 14, and 30 d data. The glmmTMB function (beta-binomial distribution) from the glmmTMB package was used for pre-weaned mortalities. Sow entry weight was used as a covariate for weaning weight and weight change. Total born was used as a covariate for farrowing performance at birth. Litter size at 24 h after cross-fostering was used as a covariate for litter growth performance and litter economic data. These covariates were used when they significantly improved (P < 0.05) the models based on Bayesian information criterion. For both groups of sows, there was no interaction (P > 0.10) between treatments (feeder types or drip cooling settings) and female type (gilt or sow) for all response variables (Data not shown). A Tukey/Sidak multiple comparison adjustment was used when appropriate. All results were considered significant at $P \le 0.05$ and marginally significant at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

Results

Sow and litter performance

For the effect of sow lactation feeder, there was no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in sow entry BW, weaning BW, BW change, and litter performance (Table 5.1). The results from all sows showed that sows fed with SowMax feeders had decreased (P < 0.05) total feed disappearance, average daily feed disappearance, and total feed cost compared to sows fed with the PVC tube feeders, while the results of sows fed with the Rotecna feeders were intermediate. Moreover, the results from sows with litter data showed that sows fed with SowMax feeders had decreased (P < 0.05) total feed disappearance, average daily feed disappearance, and total feed cost compared to sows fed with either the PVC tube or Rotecna feeders. Therefore, litter feed efficiency, feed cost per pig weaned, and feed cost per kg of litter weight gain were improved (P< 0.05) for sows fed using the SowMax feeders compared to sows fed with either the PVC tube or Rotecna feeders. There was no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in subsequent reproduction performances (percentage bred by 7, 14, and 30 d after weaning, subsequent farrowing rate, and subsequent total born) between feeder types.

For the effect of drip cooling, sows provided with drip cooling had greater (P < 0.05) weaning BW, total feed disappearance, average daily feed disappearance, feed cost, and feed cost per pig weaned, and decreased (P < 0.05) BW change and percentage BW change (Table 5.2). There was no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in litter criteria at farrowing, except sows without drip cooling had a greater (P = 0.042) percentage viable live born than sows with drip cooling. At weaning, litter weaning weight, pig weaning weight, litter weight gain, and litter ADG of sows provided drip cooling were greater (P < 0.05) than sows without drip cooling. There was no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in litter feed efficiency, percentage weaned pigs, or mortalities. For subsequent reproduction performance, sows provided drip cooling had an increased (P = 0.009) subsequent total born compared to sows without drip cooling with no evidence of differences (P > 0.10) in subsequent farrowing rate and percentage of bred by 7, 14, and 30 d after weaning.

Cleaning criteria

Rotecna ball feeders tended to have a greater (P < 0.10) cleaning time and cleaning cost compared to the PVC tube feeders (Table 5.1); however, the results were highly variable among the people who washed the feeders (Figure 5.4). Regardless of the feeder type, the range of cleaning time per stall for the 3 people was from 30 to 71 s (person 1), 30 to 39 s (person 2), and 40 to 102 s (person 3), respectively.

Discussion

Feeder type

The setup of this study only allowed us to collect feed disappearance data, which is a combination of feed intake and feed wastage. However, because there was no evidence of

differences in sow body weight change and litter performance between feeder types, we speculate that sows fed with any of the feeder types had similar actual feed intake. Therefore, the differences in feed disappearance might have been affected by the differences in feed wastage between feeder types. Because the only mechanism for the PVC tube feeder type to control feed flow is the gap size between the bottom of the PVC tube and the base of the feeder bowl, the PVC tube has an almost continual flow without restriction. On the other hand, the SowMax and Rotecna feeders require sows to trigger the feed drop mechanism to deliver feed to the base of the feeder bowl. Our target during this study was to maintain feed coverage of the bowl to be 40 to 60 % covered. Though the feed coverage was not recorded, we observed that the feeder bowls of the PVC tube feeders had a greater frequency of excessive feed coverage than the other feeder types, even with daily adjustment. Additionally, the Rotecna and SowMax feeders can be easily adjusted to prevent excessive feed in the feeder bowl. When sows are eating, excessive feed in the feeder bowl might have a higher chance of being pushed out and resulting in feed wastage. Therefore, PVC tube feeders used in this study resulted in greater feed disappearance than the SowMax feeders with the Rotecna feeder intermediate. Moreover, excessive feed in the feeder bowl has a greater chance of spoiling and being contaminated because of exposure to water and saliva. Spoiled feed may cause feed refusal and reduce sow performance (Kanora and Maes, 2009). Peng et al. (2007) evaluated a self-fed feeder with ball mechanism similar to the Rotecna feeder. They observed that the self-fed feeders had a greater (P < 0.05) feed disappearance but improved (P < 0.05) litter performance compared to the hand-fed sows; however, their trial was conducted during the fall and winter seasons and the self-fed feeders used were wet-dry feeders while the hand-fed feeders were not. Moreover, because of the limited number of feedings per day, hand-fed sows might not have had access to feed at all times compared to sows with the

self-fed feeders that had feed storage hoppers. They concluded that the improvement was a consequence of sows having the choice of when to eat and the desired moisture level. Choi et al. (2018) also observed sows with an electronic self-fed feeders had greater (P < 0.05) feed intake and piglet ADG and reduced (P < 0.05) BW change compared to conventional feeders during summer. They suggested that it was due to the fermentation of residual feed in the conventional feeders that caused feed refusal. One concern about self-fed feeders is whether sows can learn how to operate them effortlessly. In our trial, sows had access to the feeders 1 to 3 d before farrowing to be familiar with the feeders. Farm staff were cognizant of any feed intake problems and were instructed to trigger the Rotecna or SowMax feeders if it was apparent a sow was not eating.

Another concern about different feeder types is the difficulty of cleaning which affects the cleanliness and the labor required (time and cost). We observed differences in the time required to wash a feeder, but we also observed large variation between people responsible for washing the feeders. This variation may come from the difference in the experience of cleaning and the personal standards of cleanliness. One potential confounding factor on cleaning time was that the farm crew had more experience cleaning the PVC tube feeders than the SowMax and Rotecna feeders, which might have unintentionally given PVC tube feeders an advantage in reducing cleaning time.

Drip cooling

Contrary to the theory that drip cooling may have no benefit in a hot and humid environment, our results suggest that drip cooling improved sow and litter performance. For sows with drip cooling, feed disappearance was increased, which led to greater feed cost and feed cost per pig weaned; however, these sows had reduced BW loss and improved lactation performance, indicated by the greater weaning pig weight and litter value. Moreover, we also observed that sows with drip cooling had an increase in the number of total born in the subsequent farrowing compared to sow without drip cooling. Other research has observed that drip cooling reduced (P < 0.05) sow body temperature, respiration rate, and BW loss, and increased (P < 0.05) feed intake and litter weaning weight in warm and humid environments (Murphy et al., 1987; Dong et al., 2001). In a hot and dry environment (approximately 40% relative humidity), McGlone et al. (1988) observed that lactating sows with drip cooling had increased (P < 0.05) feed intake and reduced (P < 0.05) BW change and respiration rate during heat stress. These results suggest that sows with drip cooling experienced less heat stress than sows without drip cooling in hot environments. Similarly, sprinkler systems in a finishing facility increased (P < 0.05) ADG and reduced (P < 0.05) respiration rate of pigs compared to a control without cooling systems in farm located in a humid tropical area (Huynh et al., 2006). In addition, Barbari and Conti (2009) observed that sows preferred areas with high air velocity and drip cooling more than areas with only high air velocity or only drip cooling when they were housed in a hot and humid environment. Our study also suggests that drip cooling could be advantageous in hot and humid environments where the facility is tunnel-ventilated and has high air velocity.

In conclusion, the SowMax feeder appeared to reduce feed wastage without limiting sow feed intake. This resulted in improved production efficiency and economic savings. Moreover, drip cooling increased sow feed disappearance which improved sow and litter performance in a hot and humid environment. These results provide information on management practices that can improve sow farm production.

References

- Barbari, M., and L. Conti. 2009. Use of different cooling systems by pregnant sows in experimental pen. Biosyst. Eng. 103(2):239-244. doi: 10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2009.02.016
- Bjerg, B., P. Brandt, P. Pedersen, and G. Zhang. 2020. Sows' responses to increased heat load -A review. J. Therm. Biol. 94:102758. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2020.102758
- Choi, Y., A. Hosseindoust, J. Kim, S. Lee, M. Kim, A. Kumar, K. Kim, Y. Kim, and B. Chae. 2018. An overview of hourly rhythm of demand-feeding pattern by a controlled feeding system on productive performance of lactating sows during summer. Ital. J. Anim. Sci. 17:1-9. doi: 10.1080/1828051X.2018.1438214
- Dong, H., X. Tao, J. Lin, Y. Li, and H. Xin. 2001. Comparative evaluation of cooling systems for farrowing sows. Appl. Eng. Agric. 17(1):91-96. doi: 10.13031/2013.1930
- Godyń, D., P. Herbut, S. Angrecka, and F. M. Corrêa Vieira. 2020. Use of different cooling methods in pig facilities to alleviate the effects of heat stress - A review. Animals 10(9):1459. doi: 10.3390/ani10091459
- Huynh, T. T. T., A. J. A. Aarnink, C. T. Truong, B. Kemp, and M. W. A. Verstegen. 2006. Effects of tropical climate and water cooling methods on growing pigs' responses. Livest. Sci. 104(3):278-291. doi: 10.1016/j.livsci.2006.04.029
- Ingram, D. L. 1965. Evaporative cooling in the pig. Nature 207(4995):415-416. doi: 10.1038/207415a0
- Kanora, A., and D. Maes. 2009. The role of mycotoxins in pig reproduction: A review. Vet. Med. 54:565-576. doi: 10.17221/156/2009-VETMED
- McGlone, J. J., W. F. Stansbury, and L. F. Tribble. 1988. Management of lactating sows during heat stress: effects of water drip, snout coolers, floor type and a high energy-density diet. J. Anim. Sci. 66(4):885-891. doi: 10.2527/jas1988.664885x
- Murphy, J. P., D. A. Nichols, and F. V. Robbins. 1987. Drip cooling of lactating sows. Appl. Eng. Agric. 3(2):200-202. doi: 10.13031/2013.26673
- Patterson, J. L., M. N. Smit, S. Novak, A. P. Wellen, and G. R. Foxcroft. 2011. Restricted feed intake in lactating primiparous sows. I. Effects on sow metabolic state and subsequent reproductive performance. Reprod. Fertil. Dev. 23(7):889-898. doi: 10.1071/rd11015
- Peng, J., S. A. Somes, and D. Rozeboom. 2007. Effect of system of feeding and watering on performance of lactating sows. J. Anim. Sci. 85:853-860. doi: 10.2527/jas.2006-474
- Perin, J., T. S. Gaggini, S. Manica, D. Magnabosco, M. L. Bernardi, I. Wentz, and F. P. Bortolozzo. 2016. Evaporative snout cooling system on the performance of lactating

sows and their litters in a subtropical region. Cienc. Rural 46(2):342-347. doi: 10.1590/0103-8478cr20141693

- R Core Team. 2022. R: A language and environment for statistical computing., Vienna, Austria.
- Taylor, I. A. 1990. Design of the sow feeder: A systems approach. PhD Diss, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Ann Arbor.
- Tokach, M. D., and G. D. Dial. 1992. Managing the lactating sow for optimal weaning and rebreeding performance. Vet. Clin. North Am. Food Anim. Pract. 8(3):559-573. doi: 10.1016/S0749-0720(15)30704-0
- Tokach, M. D., M. B. Menegat, K. M. Gourley, and R. D. Goodband. 2019. Review: Nutrient requirements of the modern high-producing lactating sow, with an emphasis on amino acid requirements. Animal 13(12):2967-2977. doi: 10.1017/s1751731119001253
- Zhang, X., L. Yang, M. Wang, J. Zeng, S. Long, T. He, and Z. Chen. 2022. Effect of precision air supply cooling system with different cooling air speed on reproductive performance, stress status, immunoglobulin and fecal microbiota of lactating sows. J. Therm. Biol. 108:103249. doi: 10.1016/j.jtherbio.2022.103249

Item	PVC tube	Rotecna	SowMax	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
Sow body weight (Line 2 and 3 sire)					
n 	157	153	151		
Parity	2.8	3.0	2.9		
Entry, kg	223.2	221.4	225.1	4.59	0.580
Weaning, kg ²	194.0	194.9	193.6	2.75	0.725
Weight change, kg ²	-31.4	-30.6	-31.8	2.75	0.725
Weight change, % ²	14.1	13.7	14.2	1.22	0.724
All sow feed disappearance (Line 2 and 3 sire)					
n	198	194	191		
Parity	3.0	3.1	3.0		
Total feed disappearance, kg	134.7 ^a	130.4 ^{ab}	127.6 ^b	6.50	0.056
Daily feed disappearance, kg	6.3 ^a	6.1 ^{ab}	5.9 ^b	0.31	0.027
Lactation feed cost, \$ ³	39.34 ^a	38.09 ^{ab}	37.26 ^b	1.899	0.055
Sows with litter performance (Only Line 2 sire)					
n	145	145	142		
Parity	3.5	3.6	3.5		
Lactation length, d	21.5	21.5	21.5	0.43	0.994
Total feed disappearance, kg	142.2^{a}	139.5ª	131.90	8.06	0.003
Daily feed disappearance, kg	6.6 ^a	6.5ª	6.1 ⁰	0.37	0.002
Lactation feed cost, \$ ⁵	41.55"	40.74ª	38.52	2.354	0.003
1 otal born, n	17.5	17.2	16.8	0.35	0.356
Live born, n'	15.4	15.7	15.3	0.33	0.729
Viable live born, n ⁴	14.0	14.5	13.9	0.32	0.418
Nonviable live born, n ⁴	1.5	1.1	1.3	0.12	0.450
Suiidorn, n' Mummified, n ⁴	1.1	0.9	1.2	0.11	0.215
Mummmed, n Litter birth weight kg ⁴	0.2	0.2	0.1	0.04	0.589
Dig birth weight ka^4	20.1	20.1	19.7	0.57	0.000
r_{1g} bittin weight, κg Litter size at 24 h n^4	1.3	1. 4 1/1 8	1. 4 1/1	0.02	0.130
Litter weaping weight ka^6	14.4 73 3	14.0 74.6	14.1 74 4	0.32 2.43	0.271
Pig weaping weight ka^6	57	5 8	5 8	2.+3 0.16	0.328
I itter weight gain $k\sigma^6$	53.7	54.8	54 5	2 55	0.326
Litter average daily gain $k\sigma^6$	25	25	25	0.11	0.452
Weaned n ⁶	12.9	12.9	12.9	0.31	0.991
Pre-weaned mortalities. % of live born ⁷	18.7	17.9	16.8	1.09	0.440
Pre-weaned mortalities, % of little size at 24 h^8	10.5	11.0	9.3	0.83	0.285
Litter feed efficiency 9	0.39^{a}	0.40^{ab}	0.42^{b}	0.074	0.021
Litter value. \$ ^{3,6}	113.15	115.05	114.78	3.752	0.588
Litter value over lactation feed cost, \$ ⁶	71.39 ^y	74.34 ^{xy}	76.06 ^x	1.777	0.060
Feed cost per pig weaned, $\6	3.26^{a}	3.22 ^{ab}	3.02 ^b	0.172	0.014
Feed cost per kg of litter weight gain, \$	0.82 ^a	0.77^{ab}	0.74 ^b	0.021	0.031
Sow subsequent performance (Line 2 and 3 sire) 10					
n	189	184	180		
Parity	2.9	3.0	2.9		
Bred by 7 d, %	80.0	76.3	78.5	3.81	0.395
Bred by 14 d, %	81.5	78.3	78.9	3.54	0.336
Bred by 30 d, %	95.2	93.6	94.4	2.27	0.257

Table 5.1. The effect of sow lactation feeder type on sow and litter performance¹.

Subsequent farrowing rate, % Subsequent total born, n	90.4 16.2	89.4 16.2	85.4 16.0	$\begin{array}{c} 2.98\\ 0.40\end{array}$	0.314 0.901
Feeder cleaning criteria					
n	19	23	25		
Time per feeder, sec	43.6 ^y	53.3 ^x	51.0 ^{xy}	10.01	0.053
Cleaning cost per feeder, $\3	0.18 ^y	0.22^{x}	0.21 ^{xy}	0.042	0.053

¹ A total of 600 mixed parity sows (PIC, Line 3) that were bred to Line 2 and Line 3 sires were used with 200 sows per treatment. Pigs of sows bred to Line 2 sires were included in the litter performance data. Sows were weighed on d 110, 111, or 112 of gestation, blocked by parity category and BCS, and allotted to treatment stalls at the time of entry to the farrowing house.

²Entry BW was used as a covariate.

³Lactation feed cost was USD 0.29/kg, and the labor cost for cleaning was USD 15/h. Litter value = litter weaning weight \times USD 1.54/kg.

⁴Total born was used as a covariate.

⁵Nonviable pigs were pigs with low birth weight or dead before ear tagging.

⁶Litter size at 24 h after cross fostering was used as a covariate.

⁷Pre-weaned mortalities, % of live born = [(Total dead after birth)/(Viable live-born + nonviable live-born)] $\times 100\%$

⁸Pre-weaned mortalities, % of litter size = [(Dead after cross-fostering)/(Litter size at 24 h)] \times 100%

 9 Litter feed efficiency = Total litter weight gain/ total feed disappearance.

¹⁰Subsequent performance data was obtained approximately one month after weaning. Sows that were culled due to old age, structural problems, or death were not included.

^{a,b} Means within a row with different superscripts differ ($P \le 0.05$).

^{x,y} Means within a row with different superscripts differ ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$).

	Drip co			
Item	Without	With	SEM	<i>P</i> -value
Sow body weight (Line 2 and 3 sire)				
n	124	121		
Parity	2.9	2.9		
Entry, kg	217.3	218.7	7.98	0.731
Weaning, kg^2	188.9	192.5	3.13	0.028
Weight change, kg^2	-34.1	-30.5	3.13	0.028
Weight change, $\%^2$	15.5	13.9	1.41	0.023
All sow feed disappearance (Line 2 and 3 sire)				
n	149	145		
Parity	3.1	3.2		
Total feed disappearance, kg	121.3	135.2	8.62	< 0.001
Daily feed disappearance, kg	5.5	6.2	0.40	< 0.001
Lactation feed cost, $\3	35.46	39.50	2.52	< 0.001
Sows with litter performance (Only Line 2 sire)				
n	108	111		
Parity	3.5	3.7		
Lactation length, d	21.9	21.9	0.57	0.926
Total feed disappearance, kg	127.0	144.4	9.98	< 0.001
Daily feed disappearance, kg	5.8	6.6	0.41	< 0.001
Lactation feed cost, $\3	37.10	42.17	2.91	< 0.001
Total born, n	17.6	17.6	0.40	0.989
Live born, n ⁴	15.9	15.7	0.38	0.754
Viable live born, n ⁴	14.6	14.4	0.37	0.592
Nonviable live born, $n^{4,5}$	1.2	1.3	0.14	0.351
Stillborn, n ⁴	1.0	1.3	0.14	0.204
Mummified, n ⁴	0.2	0.3	0.06	0.554
Litter birth weight, kg ⁴	20.6	20.0	0.40	0.201
Pig birth weight, kg^4	1.4	1.4	0.02	0.371
Litter size at 24 h, n^4	14.8	14.5	0.37	0.610
Litter weaning weight, kg ⁶	71.7	75.0	3.25	0.034
Pig weaning weight, kg ⁶	5.5	5.8	0.22	0.025
Litter weight gain, kg ⁶	51.2	55.0	3.27	0.015
Litter average daily gain, kg ⁶	2.3	2.5	0.11	0.012
Weaned, n ⁶	12.9	13.0	0.35	0.846
Pre-weaned mortalities, % of live born ⁷	18.2	18.4	1.20	0.890
Pre-weaned mortalities, % of litter size at 24 h ⁸	11.4	10.2	0.95	0.332
Litter feed efficiency ⁹	0.39	0.41	0.014	0.215
Litter value, $\3,6	110.67	115.77	5.01	0.034
Litter value over lactation feed cost, \$ ⁶	73.42	73.59	2.646	0.944
Feed cost per pig weaned, $\6	2.90	3.27	0.223	< 0.001
Feed cost per kg of litter weight gain, \$	0.77	0.82	0.029	0.234
Sow subsequent performance (Line 2 and 3 sire) ¹⁰				
n	145	134		
Parity 7	3.0	3.0		
Bred by 7 d, %	74.6	74.7	3.96	0.987
Bred by 14 d, %	75.4	77.7	3.96	0.644
Bred by 30 d, %	97.3	93.8	3.0	0.120

Table 5.2. The effect of drip cooling on sow and litter performance¹.

Subsequent farrowing rate, %	83.0	85.8	3.17	0.522
Subsequent total born, n	15.2	16.8	0.59	0.009

¹ A total of 300 mixed parity sows (PIC, Line 3) that were bred to Line 2 and Line 3 sires were used with 150 sows per treatment. Pigs of sows bred to Line 2 s were included in the litter performance data. Sows were weighed on d 110, 111, or 112 of gestation, blocked by parity category and BCS, and allotted to treatment stalls at the time of entry to the farrowing house.

²Entry BW was used as a covariate.

³Lactation feed cost was USD 0.29/kg, and the labor cost for cleaning was USD 15/h. Litter value = litter weaning weight \times USD 1.54/kg.

⁴Total born was used as a covariate.

⁵Nonviable pigs were pigs with low birth weight or dead before ear tagging.

⁶Litter size at 24 h after cross fostering was used as a covariate.

⁷Pre-weaned mortalities, % of live born = [(Total dead after birth)/(Viable live-born + nonviable live-born)] $\times 100\%$

⁸Pre-weaned mortalities, % of litter size = [(Dead after cross-fostering)/(Litter size at 24 h)] \times 100%

⁹Litter feed efficiency = Total litter weight gain/ total feed disappearance.

¹⁰Subsequent performance data was obtained approximately one month after weaning. Sows that were culled due to old age, structural problems, or death were not included.



Figure 5.1. Room temperature and outdoor relative humidity data.

Daily high and low temperatures were recorded inside the rooms for the duration of this study, and the humidity data were retrieved from the closest weather station, CXW weather station (Conway, AR; 17 km away). For the first group of sows (June 6 to July 7, 2021), the average daily temperature ranged between 22.0 to 27.1°C with an average of 24.5°C and the average daily relative humidity ranged between 58.9 to 96.6% with an average of 71.9%. For the second group of sows (July 2 to August 4, 2021), the average daily temperature ranged between 21.5 to 27.1°C with an average of 24.7°C and the average daily relative humidity ranged between 62.6 to 95.0% with an average of 75.1%.



Figure 5.2. Sow lactation feeders, feeder trigger, and adjustment mechanisms.

For feeder adjustment, the PVC tubes were pushed against the feeder wall by a screw to maintain the gap between the end of the PVC tube and the bottom of the feeder bowl with friction. The Rotecna and SowMax feeders had quick adjustment handles to control the amount of feed dropped (gap size) for each trigger by the sows. For the trigger mechanism, Rotecna has a ball structure that can be pushed up from all directions and opens a gap to allow feed to drop. SowMax has a rod that can be pushed sideways and opens a gap on the sides of the hopper to allow feed to drop.

/e s				х	x	х				x	х	х				
rativ cells	x	x	х				x	x	х				x	x	х	ns
apo :ool				x	x	x				x	x	x				Fa
Ч Ч	x	x	х				x	x	x				x	x	x	
Rotecna SowMax PVC tube X – Disabled dripper																

Figure 5.3. Example of lactation feeder type and drip cooling setup in a farrowing room.

Five rooms with 60 stalls per room were used. Every cell represents a farrowing stall. Rotecna, SowMax, and PVC tube feeders were installed in green, blue, and yellow cells, respectively. Water drippers were disabled in cells that contain an "X".



Figure 5.4. Feeder cleaning time per feeder by personnel.

After weaning, the feeders were washed by 3 farm employees and the cleaning times for several feeders per feeder type were recorded. The number of feeders used was 19, 23, and 25 for the PVC tube, Rotecna, and SowMax feeder, respectively. Each color represents a distinct farm employee. The results varied highly between the people who washed the feeders. The range of cleaning time for the 3 people was from 30 to 71 s (red), 40 to 102 s (blue), and 30 to 39 s (green), respectively.

Appendix A - Effects of various feed additives on finishing pig growth performance and carcass characteristics: A review - Supplemental material

Feed Additives – Health

This section discusses the feed additives that have the potential to improve growth performance and carcass characteristics by enhancing the health status of grow-finish pigs. The feed additives discussed are acidifiers, essential oils, DFM, yeasts, Cu, and Zn.

1. Acidifiers

There were 32 research articles for acidifiers with 68 comparisons from 16 countries during the grow-finish or finishing period which met the requirements for inclusion. Of these, 68 comparisons reported growth performance data and 42 comparisons reported carcass data. Most acidifiers collected for this review were organic acids that were in the form of short-chain fatty acids (**SCFA**; 39 comparisons), medium-chain fatty acids (**MCFA**; 1 comparison), and benzoic acid (10 comparisons), and were added alone or in combinations (SCFA and MCFA; 18 comparisons) from 0.05 to 5.0% in the diets.

1.1. Growth performance - Acidifiers

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 18 comparisons (average of 5.8%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 4 comparisons (average of 10.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.1). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (46 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 31 comparisons (average of 3.4%) and numerically decreased in 15 comparisons (average of 3.4%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 13 comparisons (average of 6.4%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (9.7%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (51 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 40 comparisons (average of 3.8%) and numerically decreased in 9 comparisons (average of 3.1%) compared to control pigs. By comparing different acid types, acid blends and benzoic acids improved ADG more than SCFAs, while acid blends and SCFA improved G:F more than benzoic acid. Compared to control pigs, those fed acidifiers had 4.1% (18 comparisons), 2.8% (10 comparisons), and 0.3% (39 comparisons) improvement in ADG when fed acid blends, benzoic acid, and SCFA, respectively. Feed efficiency was improved by 4.2% (18 comparisons), 2.1% (10 comparisons), and 2.9% (39 comparisons) in pigs fed acid blends, benzoic acid, and SCFA, respectively, compared to control pigs. There were not enough data to support whether different types of basal diets and inclusion levels affected the response to acidifiers for ADG and G:F in grow-finish pig diets. In summary, feeding acidifiers has the potential to improve growth performance.

				_	Differe	nce, %
Author	Country	Acids	Inclusion, %	Sig.	ADG	G:F
			3.0	ns	-2.7	6.3
Thacker and Bowland (1980)	Canada	Propionic acid	6.0	ADG	-12.2	4.5
			9.0	ADG	-14.9	10.8
		Dronionio ocid	3.5	ns	1.3	7.1
The alter and Deviland (1081)	Canada	Propionic acid	7.0	ns	-3.8	5.9
Thacker and Bowland (1981)	Callada	Coloium propionata	3.5	ns	4.8	6.6
			7.0	ns	-8.3	-6.8
Theology of al. (1081)	Canada	Propionio agid	5.0^{4}	ADG, G:F	-8.1	8.8
Thacker et al. (1981)	Callada		5.0^{4}	ADG	-7.9	6.1
Ciasting and Easter (1985)		Eumoria agid	1.5		2.5	-2.7
Glesting and Easter (1983)	USA		3.0	IIS	7.6	0.0
Thacker et al. (1992)	Canada	Propionic acid	2.5	ns	-1.2	4.1
Baustad (1993) Evp 1	Norway	Formic acid	0.6	ADG, G:F	11.4	11.3
Baustau (1993), Exp. 1	Norway		1.2	ns	5.3	6.2
Baustad (1993), Exp. 2	Norway	Formic acid	0.6	ADG, G:F	7.0	7.0
Baustad (1993), Exp. 3	Norway	Formic acid	0.6	ns	3.8	3.6
Krause et al. (1994)	USA	Fumaric acid	2.5	ns	2.3	3.6
Siljander-Rasi et al. (1998)	Finland	Formic acid	0.8	ns	1.4	1.0
Portanon at al. (2002)	Finland	Formic acid	0.8	G:F	4.7	4.9
Faitaliell et al. (2002)	Fillianu	Formic acid and sorbate	0.8	ADG, G:F	8.6	9.9
Canibe et al. (2005)	Denmark	Formic acid	1.8	ns	9.0	5.4
Jansons and Nudiens (2005)	Latvia	Formic acid, acetic acid, citric	0 6/0 4/0 3	ADG	5.9	n/a
Jansons and Tudiens (2003)	Latvia	acid, and phosphoric acid	0.0/0.4/0.3			
Bühler et al. (2006)	Switzerland	Benzoic acid	1.0	ns	4.0	1.7
Campbell et al. (2006)	Ireland	Acid blend	0.3	ns	-5.4	-7.5
	IICland	Fumaric acid	0.2	ns	-8.1	-6.3
			0.3	ns	4.9	3.7
Partanen et al. (2006)	Finland S	Sorbate-coated formic acid	0.6	ADG	6.4	3.7
			1.2	ADG, G:F	5.6	7.3

Table A.1. Studies on the effects of dietary acidifiers on growth performance

			0.3	ADG, G:F	6.4	5.5
		Formic acid and lactic acid	0.6	G:F	4.6	4.6
			1.2	G:F	5.4	5.0
			1.2/1.0	ns	-0.9	2.4
			1.0/0.8	ns	-0.1	5.2
Eisemann and Hauston (2007)		Formic acid, ammonium	0.8/0.6	ns	0.9	3.9
Eisemann and Heugten (2007)	USA	formate	1.0	ns	2.9	3.4
			0.8	ns	-1.0	2.5
	_		0.6	ns	-1.4	2.3
		Formic acid	1.0	ns	1.8	3.4
		Benzoic acid	0.85	ns	2.3	3.9
Øverland et al. (2007)	Norway	Sorbic acid	0.85	ns	2.4	4.4
		Fat coated Ca-butyrate	1.2	ns	7.2	0.9
	_	Inulin coated Ca-butyrate	1.5	ns	-2.9	0.5
		Formic acid and propionic acid	0.7/0.6/0.5/0.0.3	ns	-1.5	-0.9
Guy et al. (2008)	UK	Formic acid, fumaric acid, and propionic acid	1.0/0.8/0.6/0.5/0.4	ns	-0.3	-1.3
Kijparkorn et al. (2009)	Thailand	propionic acidnorodot of 0.070.0701norFormic acid, lactic acid, citric acid, fumaric acid0.4G:F		-12.5	-9.7	
Thacker and Haq (2009)	Canada	Propionic acid and acetic acid	1.0	ns	4.8	-0.7
$I_{ansons at al} (2011)$	Lativia	Formic acid, acetic acid, citric	0.6/0.4/0.34	ADG	6.2	n/a
	Lativia	acid, and phosphoric acid	0.6/0.4/0.34	ns	-1.3	n/a
	South	Fumaric acid, citric acid, malic	0.1	hDC^{2}	3.9	2.8
Upadhaya et al. (2014)	Korea	acid, MCFA (capric and caprylic acid)	0.2	ADG ²	6.0	3.7
Cho et al. (2015)	South Korea	Benzoic acid	0.5	ns	0.1	-1.1
Giannenas et al. (2016)	Greece	Benzoic acid	0.5	ns	2.9	7.1
$\overline{\mathbf{Z}}$	China	Danzaia agid	0.3	$ADC^2 C E^2$	5.9	3.1
Zhai et al. (2017)	Ciiiia		0.5	ADO, O.F	5.2	3.1
	South	Fumaric acid, citric acid, malic	0.05	ns	3.1	4.7
Lei et al. (2018)	Korea	acid, MCFA (capric and caprylic acid)	0.1	ns	5.4	6.3

Nguyen Thi (2018)	Vietnam	Fumaric acid, lactic acid, calcium formate, and phosphoric acid	0.2	ADG	5.6	4.3
Morel et al. (2010)	New	Benzoic acid	0.5	ns	0.5	0.7
	Zealand	Butyrate	0.15	ns	2.4	0.3
	South	Fumaric acid, citric acid, malic	0.1	ADG	4.1	4.5
Nguyen et al. (2019)	Korea a	acid, MCFA (capric and caprylic acid)	0.2	ADG, G:F	4.5	5.0
O^{2} Magne et al. (2020)	Inclored	Benzoic acid	0.25		2.9	-0.9
O Meara et al. (2020)	Ireland		0.5	IIS	1.1	1.8
Tran Thi Bich et al. (2020)	Thailand	Formic acid, acetic acid, lactic acid, propionic acid, citric acid, and sorbic acid) and MCFAs	0.2	ADG, G:F	5.3	8.1
Muniverpen et al. (2021)	South	Fumaric acid, citric acid,	0.05		2.5	1.4
Muniyappan et al. (2021)	Korea	phosphoric acid, and malic acid	0.1	ADU	3.3	1.8
Tutida et al. (2021)	Brazil	Lactic, citric, and ascorbic acid	0.1/0.05	ns	0.0	0.0

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis. ³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

1.2. Carcass Characteristics - Acidifiers

Back-fat significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 12%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (21) comparisons; Table A.2). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 14 comparisons (average of 2.6%) and numerically decreased in 5 comparisons (average of 3.2%) compared to control pigs. For percentage lean, all comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean. Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 9 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased in 15 comparisons (average of 1.4%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 6.3%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LAM/LD (9 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 2.6%) and numerically decreased in 2 comparisons (average of 6.9%) compared to control pigs. These results could be expected because the mechanisms do not directly affect the protein and lipid metabolism. Also, it appears that acidifiers' impacts on ADG and G:F were not great enough to affect carcass characteristics.

				_	Difference, %				
Author	Country	Acidifiers	Inclusion, %	Sig.	Yield	BF	percentage lean	LMA/LD	
The alter and Developed			3.0	ns	0.1	-2.4	n/a	n/a	
(1080)	Canada	Propionic acid	6.0	BF	2.2	-5.9	n/a	n/a	
(1980)			9.0	BF	-3.5	-15.3	n/a	n/a	
		Duoniania aaid	3.5	ns	-0.4	0.9	n/a	n/a	
Thacker and Bowland	Canada		7.0	ns	-0.6	-2.6	n/a	n/a	
(1981)	Callaua	Calcium propionata	3.5	ns	-0.6	-6.6	n/a	n/a	
			7.0	BF	-2.7	-14.8	n/a	n/a	
Thacker et al. (1992)	Canada	Propionic acid	2.5	ns	-0.6	n/a	-0.6	n/a	
Poustad (1002) Exp. 1	Norway	Formia acid	0.6	ns	n/a	n/a	-0.5	n/a	
Baustad (1993), Exp. 1	norway		1.2	ns	n/a	n/a	-1.6	n/a	
Baustad (1993), Exp. 2	Norway	Formic acid	0.6	ns	n/a	n/a	4.2	n/a	
Baustad (1993), Exp. 3	Norway	Formic acid	0.6	ns	n/a	n/a	0.8	n/a	
$\mathbf{P}_{\mathrm{eff}}$	Finland	Formic acid	0.8	ns	0.5	1.3	0.2	n/a	
		Formic acid and sorbate	0.8	ns	0.0	1.3	0.3	n/a	
Campbell et al. (2006)	Iraland	Acid blend	0.3	ns	-0.3	n/a	n/a	n/a	
	IICIAIIU	Fumaric acid	0.2	ns	0.5	n/a	n/a	n/a	
			0.3	ns	-0.1	6.2	-1.0	n/a	
		Sorbate-coated formic acid	0.6	ns	-0.8	0.0	-0.2	n/a	
Partanan at al. (2006)	Finland		1.2	ns	0.1	1.6	-0.3	n/a	
Tartaliell et al. (2000)	Timanu		0.3	ns	-0.4	1.6	-0.3	n/a	
		Formic acid and lactic acid	0.6	ns	0.0	2.3	-0.3	n/a	
			1.2	ns	0.5	0.8	0.5	n/a	
		Formic acid	1.0	ns	0.4	n/a	-2.7	n/a	
		Benzoic acid	0.85	Yield	2.3	n/a	-1.8	n/a	
Øverland et al. (2007)	Norway	Sorbic acid	0.85	ns	-0.3	n/a	-2.8	n/a	
		Fat coated Ca-butyrate	1.2	ns	-0.1	n/a	-2.9	n/a	
		Inulin coated Ca-butyrate	1.5	ns	-0.4	n/a	-3.6	n/a	
Thacker and Haq (2009)	Canada	Propionic and acetic acid	1.0	ns	0.0	14.4	-1.7	4.1	

Table A.2. Studies on the effects of dietary acidifiers on carcass characteristics.

	South	Fumaric acid, citric acid,	0.1		n/a	n/a	n/a	4.6
Upadhaya et al. (2014)	Korea	malic acid, MCFA (capric and caprylic acid)	0.2	LMA ²	n/a	n/a	n/a	8.1
Nguyen Thi (2018)	Vietnam	Fumaric acid, lactic acid, calcium formate, and phosphoric acid	0.2	ns	-0.8	0.5	n/a	2.5
Morel et al. (2010)	New	Benzoic acid	0.5	ns	0.1	0.0	n/a	1.4
Morel et al. (2019)	Zealand	Butyrate	0.15	ns	-0.4	1.1	n/a	3.4
	South Korea	Fumaric acid, citric acid,	0.1	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	-7.2
Nguyen et al. (2019)		malic acid, MCFA (capric and caprylic acid)	0.2	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	-6.5
			0.25		-0.1	3.6	-0.5	1.3
O' Meara et al. (2020)	Ireland	Benzoic acid	0.5	ns ²	-0.5	-0.7	0.5	2.6
			1.0		-0.9	-3.6	1.1	3.0
Muniyappan et al. (2021)	South	Fumaric acid, citric acid,	0.05		n/a	1.2	0.5	n/a
	South Korea	phosphoric acid, and malic acid	0.1	ns^2	n/a	2.2	0.1	n/a

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%. ²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

2. Essential Oils (EO)

There were 13 research articles for EO with 20 comparisons from 6 countries during the growfinish or finishing period with added dietary levels of 0.003 to 0.1%. Of these, 20 comparisons reported growth performance data and 17 comparisons reported carcass data. Essential oils used in these experiments were extracted from caraway, citrus, cinnamon, Chinese cinnamon, oregano, clove, clover, rosemary, fenugreek seed, eucalyptus, lemon, garlic, and *Eucommia ulmoides*. Because of the similar antibacterial properties between essential oils and acids, these two additives are sometimes blended as a single additive. Therefore, 5 more articles (5 experiments) from 4 countries with blended additives (EO and acids) were also included.

2.1. Growth Performance - Essential Oils

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 10 comparisons (average of 9.9%) compared to control pigs (Table A.3). Half of the studies found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (10 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 3.8%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 1.7%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 7 comparisons (average of 10.9%) and tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 1 comparison (4.5%) compared to control pigs. Half of the studies found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (9 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 3.5%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 2 comparisons

(average of 1.5%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that EO had positive effects on ADG and G:F (80 and 82% of all the comparisons). Moreover, the beneficial effects of EO were significant (P < 0.10) for ADG and G:F in 50 and 57% of all the comparisons, respectively. For EO and acid blends, there are only 7 comparisons for both ADG (average of 1.9% improvement) and G:F (average of 2.2% improvement). Of these, 71% of the comparison where pigs fed the additive had increased ADG (average of 3.8%) and G:F (average of 3.7%), and 29% of the comparisons had reduced ADG (average of 2.9%) and G:F (average of 1.5%) compared to control. There were insufficient data to support whether different types of basal diets and inclusion levels affected EO response for ADG and G:F. In summary, adding EO alone or in combination with acids has the potential to improve growth performance. However, there was only a small amount of research on EO's effect on growth performance, and only three studies were conducted in the US; therefore, the use of EO may not be beneficial in US-based conditions. More experiments are needed to determine the effect of including EO in the diets of grow-finish pigs.

					Differen	nce, $\%^1$	
Author	Country	Additive	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F	
Essential oils							
Onibala at al		Oregano EO	0.0025	ADG, G:F	4.1	5.8	
(2001)	Indonesia	Thyme EO	0.0025	ADG, G:F	8.8	6.5	
(2001)		Garlic EO	0.0025	ADG, G:F	5.9	7.7	
Yan et al. (2010)	South Korea	Thyme, rosemary, and oregano EO	0.01	ADG	6.6	6.6	
Simitzis et al			0.025	ns	11.1	n/a	
(2010)	Greece	Oregano EO	0.05	ns	2.6	n/a	
(2010)			0.1	ns	3.7	n/a	
Zhou et al. (2016)	China	<i>Eucommia ulmoides</i> oliver leaf polyphenolic extract	0.08	ADG, G:F	18.8	19.9	
Zou et al. (2016)	China	Oregano EO	0.0025	ADG, G:F	18.6	15.7	
Li et al. (2017)	South Korea	Cinnamon, oregano, clove, thyme, and rosemary	0.05	ns	3.8	4.1	
		EO	0.05	ns	1.0	2.0	
		Caraway, garlic, thyme, and cinnamon	0.020	ns	-0.5	1.3	
Soto et al. (2017)	USA	Oregano, citrus, and anise	0.013	ns	0.5	1.0	
5010 et al. (2017)		Caraway, garlic, thyme, cinnamon, oregano, citrus, and anise	0.033	ns	0.0	-0.3	
Zou et al. (2017)	China	Oregano EO	0.0025	ADG, G:F	10.2	9.4	
Cheng et al. (2018)	China	Oregano EO	0.025	ADG, G:F	10.6	11.0	
Lan and Kim (2018)	South Korea	Fenugreek seed, clover, and Chinese cinnamon EO	0.01	ADG	5.0	5.9	
Lowell et al. (2018)	USA	Oregano EO	0.025	ns	-2.9	0.0	
Huang et al. (2021)	China	Eucalyptus, oregano, thyme, lemon, garlic EO	0.02	ADG, $G:F^3$	10.3	4.5	
Tutida et al. (2021)	Brazil	Thymol and Carvacrol	0.100	ns	-1.6	-2.6	
Essential oils and Acidifier Blends							
Cho et al. (2014)	South Korea	Citric acids, sorbic acid, and EOs (thymol and	0.025	ADG^2	4.3	3.0	
Cilo et al. (2017)	South Kolea	vanillin)	0.05		4.0	3.0	

Table A.3. Studies on the effects of dietary essential oils (EO) with or without acids on growth performance.

Walia et al. (2017)	Ireland	Formic acid, citric acid, and EOs (citrus fruit	0.4	ns	-4.6	-2.5
		extract, cinnamon, oregano, thyme, and capsicum)	0.7	115	-4.0	-2.5
Ob at al. (2010)	South Koroo	Citric acids, sorbic acid, and EOs (thymol and	0.1/0.025 ⁵	$ADC^2 C \cdot E^2$	2.2	2.7
Oli et al. (2019) Sout	South Kolea	vanillin)	$0.2/0.05^5$	ADU, U.I	5.4	5.9
Resende et al.	Drozil	Benzoic acid and EOs (thymol, 2-methoxyphenol,	0.2	ADC	2.2	2 0
(2020)	DIAZII	and eugenol)	0.5	ADG	5.5	5.0
Hutchens et al.		Citric acids, sorbic acid, and EOs (thymol and	0 2/0 1/0 054	***	1.2	0.5
(2021)	USA	vanillin)	0.5/0.1/0.034	IIS	-1.2	-0.3

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴Feed additive was added at 0.3, 0.1% in nursery phase 1 and 2, respectively, and 0.05% in grow-finish phase.

⁵For the low inclusion treatment, feed additive was added at 0.1% in nursery phase and 0.025% in grow-finish phase. For the high inclusion treatment, feed additive was added at 0.2% in nursery phase and 0.05% in grow-finish phase.

2.2. Carcass Characteristics - Essential Oils

Back-fat significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 2.7%) compared to control pigs (Table A.4). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (11 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 3.7%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 5.5%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 2.5%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (6 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P >0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 1.2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 2 comparisons (average of 1.5%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 7.1%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (7 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 4 comparisons (average of 1.0%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. For essential oils and acid blends, there are only 3 experiments, and the effects on carcass characteristics were small and not statistically significant [BF (average of 0.5% improvement); percentage lean (average of 1.7% improvement); and LMA (average of 0.1% improvement)]. These results suggest that adding EO alone had some positive effects on carcass characteristics, which may be due to the improvement in growth performance.

However, there was only a small amount of research on EO's effect on carcass characteristics, and only two research were conducted in the US. Therefore, more experiments are needed to determine the effect of including EO in the diets of grow-finish pigs.

					Difference, % ¹				
Author	Country	Additive	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	percenta ge lean	LMA/LD	
Essential oils									
		Oregano EO	0.0025	Yield, BF, percentage lean	3.5	-7.5	2.4	n/a	
Onibala et al. (2001)	Indonesia	Thyme EO	0.0025	Yield, BF, percentage lean	3.8	-7.8	2.6	n/a	
		Garlic EO	0.0025	Yield, BF, percentage lean	3.3	-7.7	2.5	n/a	
Simitzis et al. (2010)	Greece	Oregano EO	0.025	ns	-0.6	4.1	n/a	n/a	
			0.05	ns	0.1	-3.2	n/a	n/a	
(2010)			0.1	ns	0.5	1.8	n/a	n/a	
Yan et al. (2010)	South Korea	Thyme, rosemary, and oregano EO	0.01	LMA	n/a	n/a	n/a	12.3	
Zhou et al. (2016)	China	Eucommia ulmoides oliver leaf polyphenolic extract	0.08	ns	0.8	-9.9	-2.5	-6.3	
Zou et al. (2016)	China	Oregano EO	0.0025	Yield	8.2	-0.5	n/a	n/a	
Zhou et al. (2010)Chinapolyphenolic exZou et al. (2016)ChinaOregano EOLi et al. (2017)SouthCinnamon, oreg	Cinnamon, oregano, clove,	0.05	LMA	n/a	n/a	n/a	5.4		
L1 et al. (2017)	Korea	thyme, and rosemary EO	0.05	LMA	n/a	n/a	n/a	3.7	
		Caraway, garlic, thyme, and cinnamon	0.020	ns	0.3	6.3	-0.4	0.8	
Sata at al. (2017)		Oregano, citrus, and anise	0.013	ns	0.0	3.1	0.0	1.2	
5010 et al. (2017)	USA	Caraway, garlic, thyme, cinnamon, oregano, citrus, and anise	0.033	ns	0.1	3.1	0.2	2.0	
Cheng et al. (2018)	China	Oregano EO	0.025	ns	-0.8	-14.2	2.8	0.0	
Lowell et al. (2018)	USA	Oregano EO	0.025	Yield	-0.8	-3.9	0.7	-0.1	

Table A.4. Studies on the effects of dietary essential oils (EO) with or without acids on carcass characteristics.

Huang et al. (2021)	China	Eucalyptus, oregano, thyme, lemon, garlic EO	0.02	ns	0.3	-1.4	n/a	-0.6
Essential oils and Acid	lifier Blends							
$C_{1}^{1} = (1, 1)^{1}$	South	Citric acids, sorbic acid, and	0.025	mc^2	n/a	n/a	n/a	-2.7
C_{110} et al. (2014)	Korea	EOs (thymol and vanillin)	0.05	118	n/a	n/a	n/a n/a n/a 2.0 0.5 2.6	-2.4
Walia et al. (2017)	Ireland	Formic acid, citric acid, and EOs (citrus fruit extract, cinnamon, oregano, thyme, and capsicum)	0.4	Yield, BF ³ , percentage lean, LMA	-1.1	-7.0	2.0	4.0
Ob at al. (2010)	South	Citric acids, sorbic acid, and	$0.1/0.025^4$	percentage	n/a	4.2	0.5	0.1
On et al. (2019)	Korea	EOs (thymol and vanillin)	$0.2/0.05^4$	lean ^{2,3}	n/a	4.2	2.6 1.	1.5

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 \le P < 0.10$.

⁴For the low inclusion treatment, feed additive was added at 0.1% in nursery phase and 0.025% in grow-finish phase. For the high inclusion treatment, feed additive was added at 0.2% in nursery phase and 0.05% in grow-finish phase.

3. Direct-Fed Microbials (DFM)

There were 48 research articles for DFM with 79 comparisons from 14 countries during the growfinish or finishing period which met the requirements for inclusion. Of these, 73 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 33 comparisons reported carcass data. Most strains of DFM used in the studies were *Bacillus spp., Lactobacillus spp.,* and *Enterococcus faecium.* A DFM additive could contain a single or several strains of microbials. In addition, comparisons were also included when yeast (*Saccharomyces cerevisiae*) was added with other microbials as a blended DFM product. The effect of the single addition of yeast in diets was discussed in the yeast section.

3.1. Growth Performance - DFM

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 25 comparisons (average of 6.3%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 2 comparisons (average of 3.9%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (5.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.5). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (43 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 30 comparisons (average of 3.6%) and numerically decreased (P >0.10) in 13 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. in pigs fed DFM. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 18 comparisons (average of 6.1%) and tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 3 comparisons (average of 3%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (45 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 32 comparisons (average of 3.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 2.2%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that DFM positively affected ADG and G:F (80% of all the comparisons). Moreover, DFM showed positive statistical improvement (P < 0.10) in 38 and 32% of all the comparisons for ADG and G:F, respectively. Similarly, Zimmermann et al. [50] conducted a meta-analysis and found probiotics significantly improved ADG and G:F of weaned piglets and finishing pigs. There were insufficient data to support whether different types of basal diets affected the response to DFM for ADG and G:F in grow-finish pigs. The effect of strain and inclusion level of DFM cannot be discussed because most studies used a blend of several microbials with varying concentrations. In summary, DFM has the potential to improve growth performance (3.3% improvement for ADG and G:F) of grow-finish pigs. However, there were relatively fewer US-based studies for DFM; therefore, the effects of DFM in US-based conditions may not be the same as what we discussed in this section.

Table A.5. Studies on the effects of DFM on growth performance.

			Inclusion %		Difference, % ¹	
Author	Country	DFM ⁴	inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
Dollmonn at al. (1090)	USA	L. acidophilus	0.05	ns	-1.2	-0.9
		Streptococcus faeciurn	0.05	ns	-1.2	-0.9
Harper et al. (1983)	USA	Lacidophilus	0.1/0.05	ADG	-5.8	-3.0
			0.05	ns	1.3	-1.4
Kim et al. (1998)	USA	L. acidophilus	0.05	ns	2.2	-0.4
		B. toyoi	$1.0/0.5/0.2 \times 10^9$	ADG	4.5	n/a
Kyriakis et al. (2003)	Greece		spores/kg	ADG		11/ a
Kynakis et al. (2005)	Ulter		$1.0/0.5/0.2 \times 10^9$	ADG	8.3	n/a
			spores/kg	ADO -		
			0.04/0.02	ADG, G:F	2.2	4.5
Alexopoulos et al. (2004)	Greece	B. licheniformis and B. subtilis	0.04/0.04	ADG, G:F	3.6	5.7
			0.04/0.06	ADG, G:F	3.6	5.3
Rekiel et al. (2005)	Poland	Pediococcus acidilactici	0.01	ns	-1.9	-1.9
Jukna et al. (2005)	Lithuania	Saccharamyce cerevisiae, L. casei, L. acidophilus, Streptococcus faecium, B. subtilis	0.20	ns	20.3	n/a
Shon et al. (2005)	South Korea	L. reuteri and L. salivarius complex	0.2	ns	3.2	1.4
Chap at al (2006)	South Korea	B. subtilis, B. coagulans, and L. acidophilus	0.1	ns	5.3	3.7
Chen et al. (2000)			0.2	ADG	11.4	5.1
Chan at al. (2006)	South Korea	Enteropopous faccium SE68	0.1	ns^2	4.9	2.0
			0.2	115	4.1	4.0
Davis et al. (2008)	USA	B. lichenformis and B. subtilis	0.05	G:F	0.6	3.0
Ko et al. (2008)	South Korea	L. acidophilus, L. plantarum, B. subtilis, B. coagulans, and Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.5	ns	4.6	7.7
	South Korea	L. acidophilus, L. plantarum, B. subtilis, B.	0.1	ns	7.5	0.9
Ko and Yang (2008)			0.5	ns	6.5	2.9
-		coaguians, ana saccharomyces cerevisiae	1.0	ns	4.3	-1.4
Černauskienė et al. (2010), Exp. 1	Lithuania	Enterococcus faecium	10 ¹⁰ cfu/kg	ADG	3.1	-0.6

Černauskienė et al. (2010), Exp. 2	Lithuania	Enterococcus faecium	$10^{10}\mathrm{cfu/kg}$	ns	1.5	3.0
Meng et al. (2010)	South Korea	B. subtilis endospores and Clostridium butyricum	0.2	ADG, G:F	7.5	7.9
		B. subtilis	0.3	ns	1.3	1.8
		B. subtilis and Saccharomyces boulardi	0.3	ns	2.6	2.9
Giang et al. (2011)	Vietnam	B., Saccharomyces boulardi, Enterococcus faecium, L. acidophilus, Pediococcus pentosaceus, and L. fermentum	0.3	ADG	5.2	5.3
Nitikanchana et al. (2011)	USA	B. species	$0.2 imes 10^9 ext{ cfu/g} \ 2 imes 10^9 ext{ cfu/g}$	ns ²	-2.3 -1.4	0.8 0.4
Hossain et al. (2012)	South Korea	L. acidophilus, L. plantarum, B. subtilis, B. coagulans, and Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.5	ADG	7.9	6.0
Cui et al. (2013)	China	B. subtilis	2.0	ADG, G:F	3.6	2.4
Korratal (2012)	USA	Pediococcus acidilactici	0.011	ns	0.8	-1.5
Kerr et al. (2013)		B. licheniformis and B. subtilis	0.05	ns	-1.1	-5.4
Liu et al. (2013)	China	Yeasts, lactic acid-producing bacteria, and B. subtilis	1.0	ns	3.2	2.9
Balasubramanian et al. (2016)	South Korea	B. coagulans, B. licheniformis, B. subtilis, and	0.01	ADG ² ,	2.7	4.9
		Clostridium butyricum	0.02	$G:F^2$	3.2	5.2
Dowarah et al. (2016)	India	L. acidophilus NCDC-15	0.02	ADG, G:F	11.7	9.4
Dowarah et al. (2016)		Pediococcus acidilactici FT28	0.02	ADG, G:F	14.9	9.8
Giannenas et al. (2016)	Greece	Enterococcus faecium	0.0035	ns	3.0	6.8
Jørgensen et al. (2016)	Denmark	B. licheniformis and B. subtilis	0.04	ADG, G:F	3.3	1.9
	South Korea	L. acidophilus, L. plantarum, B. subtilis, B. coagulans, and Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.2	ns	-6.2	-7.2
Sarker et al. (2016)			0.4	ns	-0.5	3.9
			0.8	ns	2.1	13.1
Nguyen et al. (2017)	South Korea	Enterococcus faecium	0.01	ADG, G:F	3.9	3.1
Tufarelli et al. (2017)	Italy	Streptococcus thermophilus, Bifidobacterium animalis ssp. Lactis, L. acidophilus, L. helveticus, L. paracasei, L. plantarum, and L. brevis.	100 mg/kg BW	ADG3	3.0	n/a
Balasubramanian et al. (2018)	South Korea		0.01	ADG, G:F	6.0	8.4

		B. coagulans, B. licheniformis, B. subtilis, and Clostridium butyricum	0.02	ADG, G:F	7.4	9.3
Bučko et al. (2018)	Slovak	L. plantarum	3g/day	ns	-1.2	0.4
Nguyen Thi (2018)	Vietnam	B. subtilis, L. spp., Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.2	ADG	4.7	3.3
		I lastis Campohastorium diversors I sassi	0.05^{5}	ns	2.2	2.2
Samolińska et al. (2018)	Poland	L. lacits, Carnobacierium alvergens, L. casel,	0.05^{5}	ns	3.1	3.5
			0.05 ⁵	ns	2.5	3.0
Shi at al (2018)	China	P subtilis and Daussis an	0.2	ns	-3.2	10.9
Sill et al. (2018)		B. subilits and Devosia sp.	0.2	ADG	15.3	5.1
			0.02		1.8	0.0
Lan and Kim (2019)	South Korea	B. licheniformis and B. subtilis	0.04	ns ²	2.0	0.9
			0.08		5.4	1.2
Wong and Kim (2010)	South Vorea	D subtilis and D faminosa	0.1	ADG ² ,	1.7	2.0
wang and Killi (2019)	South Korea	B. subilits and P. jarinosa	0.2	$G:F^{2,3}$	3.8	4.0
Peet-Schwering et al. (2020)	Netherlands	B. amyloliquefaciens and B. subtilis	0.04	G:F	1.4	0.5
Reszka et al. (2020)	Poland	EM Carbon Bokash	0.5/0.3	ns	1.4	0.8
Rybarczyk et al. (2020)	Poland	Saccharomyces cerevisiae, L. casei, and L.	0.30	ns	-5.9	n/a
		plantarum	0.50	ns	-2.4	n/a
		L. sp., B. sp., and Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.1	ns	n/a	9.0
Frimpong et al. (2021)	Ghana	L. sp., B. sp., Saccharomyces cerevisiae, and Paenibacillus polymyxa	0.15	ns	n/a	4.1
Grela et al. (2021)	Poland	Lactococcus lactis, Carnobacterium divergens S1, L. casei, L. plantarum, and Sacharomyces cerevisiae	0.1	ADG, G:F ³	2.5	3.0
Kwak et al. (2021)	South Korea	L. plantarum, L. fermentum, L. salivarius, Leuconostoc paramesenteroides, and B. subtilis, and B. licheniformis	0.2	ADG ³ , G:F	4.8	8.6
Pomorska-Mól et al. (2021)	Poland	Leuconostoc mesenteroides, L. casei, L. plantarum, Pediococcus pentosaceus.	$4 \times 10^{12} \text{cfu/kg}$	ns	3.7	n/a
Rybarczyk et al. (2021)	Poland	B. licheniformis and B. subtilis	0.04	ADG, G:F	14.6	7.7
Shop at al. (2021)	China	B. subtilis	5×10^9 cfu/kg	ns	0.8	6.7
Shell et al. (2021)		biodegradable B. subtilis	5×10^9 cfu/kg	G:F	3.6	13.0
Tutida et al. (2021)	Brazil	B. spp., B. bifidum, E. faecium, L. acidophilus	0.05	ns	-1.4	0.0
²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴Bacillus spp. is abbreviated as B., and Lactobacillus spp. is abbreviated as L.

⁵The basal diets in the middle and bottom comparison contained long-chain inulin and Jerusalem artichoke, respectively, while the top comparison did not.

3.2. Carcass Characteristics - DFM

Back-fat significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (16.8%), significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) 0.05) in 2 comparisons (average of 13.1%) and tended to decrease $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 3 comparisons (average of 2.9%) compared to control pigs (Table A.6). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (15 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 7.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 9 comparisons (average of 6.3%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le$ 0.10) in 1 comparison (1.8%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (12 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 9 comparisons (average of 1.8%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 1.8%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (average of 10.9%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (18 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 14 comparisons (average of 2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 3.4%) compared to control pigs. The small effects and lack of statistical differences of DFM on carcass characteristics may suggest that the mechanisms of DFM do not directly affect pigs' protein and lipid metabolism. Even though

DFM has beneficial effects on growth performance, the improvement in growth did not equally improve

BF, percentage lean, and LMA/LD to the same extent.

 Table A.6. Studies on the effects of DFM on carcass characteristics.

					Difference, % ¹					
			Inclusion. %	1			percen			
Author	Country	DFM^4		Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	tage lean	LMA/LD		
Kim et al. (1998)	USA	L. acidophilus	0.05	ns	0.8	-5.6	1.5	n/a		
Jukna et al. (2005)	Lithuania	Saccharamyce cerevisiae, L. casei, L. acidophilus, Streptococcus faecium, B. subtilis	0.20	ns	2.7	n/a	n/a	n/a		
Rekiel et al. (2005)	Poland	Pediococcus acidilactici	0.01	ns	0.3	0.4	2.4	2.2		
Černauskienė et al. (2010), Exp. 1	Lithuania	Enterococcus faecium	10 ¹⁰ cfu/kg	ns	-0.3	n/a	-2.0	n/a		
Černauskienė et al. (2010), Exp. 2	Lithuania	Enterococcus faecium	10 ¹⁰ cfu/kg	ns	0.1	n/a	n/a	n/a		
Meng et al. (2010)	South Korea	B. subtilis endospores and Clostridium butyricum	0.2	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	4.3		
Nitikanchana et al. (2011)	USA	B. species	$0.2 imes 10^9 \ ext{cfu/g}$	BF ^{2,3}	0.5	-4.2	0.7	0.0		
			$2 \times 10^9 \text{cfu/g}$		0.9	-1.4	0.5	1.1		
Hossain et al. (2012)	South Korea	L. acidophilus, L. plantarum, B. subtilis, B. coagulans, and Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.5	ns	n/a	20.3	n/a	n/a		
Cui et al. (2013)	China	B. subtilis	2.0	BF, LMA	2.0	16.8	n/a	10.9		
Balasubramanian et al. (2016)	South	B. coagulans, B. licheniformis, B.	0.01	- ns ²	n/a	4.5	0.9	1.2		
	Korea	subtilis, and Clostridium butyricum	0.02		n/a	-5.1	1.5	2.4		
	South	L. acidophilus, L. plantarum, B.	0.2	ns	n/a	-10.9	n/a	n/a		
Sarker et al. (2016)	Korea	subtilis, B. coagulans, and	0.4	ns	n/a	-4.2	n/a	n/a		
		Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.8	ns	n/a	-9.1	n/a	n/a		
Nguyen et al. (2017)	South Korea	Enterococcus faecium	0.01	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.5		
Balasubramanian et al. (2018)	South	B. coagulans, B. licheniformis, B.	0.01	ns	n/a	-2.2	n/a	0.1		
	Korea	subtilis, and Clostridium butyricum	0.02	BF	n/a	-8.2	n/a	2.8		
Bučko et al. (2018)	Slovak	L. plantarum	3g/day	BF	n/a	-18.1	3.6	1.2		

Nguyen Thi (2018)	Vietnam	B. subtilis, L. spp., Saccharomyces cerevisiae	0.2	ns	-0.8	-1.0	n/a	2.9
Bunium at al. (2018)	India	P. acidilactici	2×10^9 cfu/g	ns	0.6	-10.7	3.1	n/a
Kuljuli et al. (2018)	mula	L. acidophilus	$2 \times 10^9 \text{cfu/g}$	ns	-0.5	-7.9	2.1	n/a
			0.5/0.3	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	5.0
Reszka et al. (2020)	Poland	EM Carbon Bokash	0.5/0.3	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	-1.5
			0.5/0.3	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.6
Pubarczyk at al. (2020)	Poland	Saccharomyces cerevisiae, L. casei,	0.30	ns	n/a	8.1	-2.0	-5.8
	Folaliu	and L. plantarum	0.50	ns	n/a	6.3	-1.3	-2.9
Grela et al. (2021)	Poland	Lactococcus lactis, Carnobacterium divergens S1, L. casei, L. plantarum, and Sacharomyces cerevisiae	0.1	BF ³ , percentage lean ³	-0.5	-3.0	1.8	1.9
Rybarczyk et al. (2021)	Poland	B. licheniformis and B. subtilis	0.04	ns	0.9	n/a	n/a	n/a
Tian et al. (2021)	China	L. reuteri	5×10^{10} cfu/kg	ns	2.2	3.1	n/a	1.9

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%. ²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis. ³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$. ⁴Bacillus spp. is abbreviated as *B*., and *Lactobacillus spp*. is abbreviated as *L*.

4. Yeasts – Yeast Culture and Yeast-Derived Ingredients

There were 22 research articles for yeasts with 36 comparisons from 12 countries during the growfinish or finishing period which met the requirements for inclusion. Of these, 36 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 24 comparisons reported carcass data. Yeast was included in the diets as yeast culture, hydrolysate yeast culture, or mannan oligosaccharide (**MOS**). Yeast products were derived from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* (yeast) and *Phaffia rhodozyma* (red yeast) yeast strains. Because of the lack of studies for individual yeast products, the effects of yeast culture and yeast-derived ingredients were combined and discussed for growth performance and carcass characteristics.

4.1. Growth Performance - Yeasts

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 9 comparisons (average of 5.6%) compared to control pigs (Table A.7). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (27 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 16 comparisons (average of 3.2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 4.1%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 10 comparisons (average of 7.8%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (23 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 3.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 10 comparisons (average of 3.6%) compared to control pigs. There were not enough data to support whether different basal diets affected the response of yeasts on ADG and G:F. Moreover, there were insufficient comparisons or information to determine the effect of different concentrations of active yeast ingredients on ADG and G:F. Overall, the results suggest that yeasts positively affected ADG and G:F (69 and 67% of all the comparisons, respectively), with 25 and 30% of all the comparisons being significant ($P \le$ 0.05). In summary, yeasts can be a potential feed additive with relatively large magnitude on improving the growth performance of grow-finish pigs, especially for G:F.

Table A.7. Studies on the effects of yeasts and yeast-derived ingredients on growth performance

					Differe	nce, $\%^1$
Author	Country	Yeast form ⁶	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
Barber et al. (1971)	UK	Yeast culture	$(7.1 \text{ and } 3.1)/(3.6 \text{ and } 1.6)^4$	ADG	2.9	n/a
Devener and Verm (1072)		Vaaat oulture	2.00 ⁵	ns	-5.3	0.0
Bowman and veum (1973)	USA	r east culture	2.00^{5}	ns	2.9	3.3
Burnett and Neil (1977), Exp. 1	UK	Yeast culture	0.05	ns	-0.6	-0.9
Burnett and Neil (1977), Exp. 2	UK	Yeast culture	0.05	ns	0.6	0.0
Bae et al. (1999)	South Korea	MOS	0.10	ns	1.3	4.7
Davis et al. (2002)	USA	MOS	0.2	ns	1.2	-1.3
Campbell et al. (2006)	Ireland	MOS	0.15	ns	-5.4	-7.0
Reynoso-González et al. (2010),	Mariaa	Voost gulture	0.75	ns	-7.0	-2.6
Exp. 1	MEXICO	reast culture	1.5	ns	-3.5	-3.2
Reynoso-González et al. (2010),	Mariaa	Vagat gultura	0.75^{5}	ns	4.8	4.9
Exp. 2	MEXICO	reast culture	0.755	ns	-2.2	-6.1
Ha et al. (2012)	South Korea	Yeast culture	2.0	ns	-1.4	n/a
Kerr et al. (2013)	USA	Yeast culture	0.1	ns	-13.7	-11.7
Wenner et al. (2013)	USA	MOS	0.2/0.1/0.055	ns	0.8	1.6
Edwards et al. (2014)	Australia	MOS	0.04/0.025	ns	3.6	3.9
L ai and Kim (2014)	South Voraa	Vaast gulturg	0.1	$\mathbf{C} \cdot \mathbf{E}^2$	3.6	4.6
Lei allu Killi (2014)	South Kolea	reast culture	0.2	0.г	2.4	5.2
Giannenas et al. (2016)	Greece	MOS	0.1	ns	3.4	9.1
$S_{zakaos} $ at al. (2016)	Domonio	Voost ovtroot	0.03	ns	4.9	10.4
SZAKACS ET AL. (2010)	Komama	Teast extract	0.03	ns	1.6	-2.5
Gong et al. (2018)	China	Yeast culture	0.3	ADG	8.4	5.2
			0.05		2.6	3.8
Then α at al. (2010)	South Koraa	Hydrolysate yeast	0.10	ADG ² ,	3.7	0.8
Zhang et al. (2017)	South Kolea	culture	0.50	$G:F^2$	3.9	4.8
			1.00		7.0	5.0
Bo et al. (2020)	Vietnom	Vasst avtract	2.00	G:F	6.0	13.2
D0 ct al. (2020)	v ictilalli	I Cast CALLACT	4.00	G:F	9.7	17.7

			6.00	G:F	10.3	16.8
Dávila Damínaz et al. (2020)	Mariaa	Voost oulture	0.2	ADG	5.4	2.0
Daviia-Rainnez et al. (2020)	Mexico	i east culture	0.3	ADG	6.1	-0.5
He et al. (2021)	China	Yeast culture	2.0	ns	-1.6	1.5
Mayorga et al. (2021)	USA	Yeast culture	0.025	ns	3.3	n/a
Namtad at al. (2021)	Theiland	Hydrolysate yeast	0.5	G:F	-1.6	6.6
Namied et al. (2021)	Thananu	culture	1.0	ns	-2.3	0.4
Tutida et al. (2021)	Brazil	MOS	0.04/0.02	ns	0.8	-0.4

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴Inclusion levels of sequential phases.

⁵For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁶Yeast culture and yeast-derived ingredients (MOS) were produced from strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, except the yeast culture used in Lei and Kim (2014). Yeast culture used in Lei and Kim (2014) was derived from *Phaffia rhodozyma*.

4.2. Carcass Characteristics - Yeasts

All 21 comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF. Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 4.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 8 comparisons (average of 14.4%) compared to control pigs (Table A.8). Percentage lean tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 3 comparisons (average of 0.8%) and tended to decrease ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 1 comparison (1.2%) compared to control pigs. Half of the studies found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (4 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 2 comparisons (average of 4.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 2 comparisons (average of 1.3%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD. Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 10 comparisons (average of 3.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 1.9%) compared to control pigs.

$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $						Difference, % ¹				
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Author	Country	Yeast form ⁶	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	percenta ge lean	LMA/L D	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Barber et al. (1971)	UK	Yeast culture	$(7.1 \text{ and } 3.1)/(3.6 \text{ and } 1.6)^4$	ns	-0.9	0.5	n/a	-0.6	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Bowmon and Voum (1072)		Voost oulturo	2.00^{5}	ns	n/a	7.1	-0.9	-3.2	
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Bowman and Veum (1975)	USA	Teast culture	2.00^{5}	ns	n/a	-2.8	-1.7	0.7	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Burnett and Neil (1977), Exp. 2	UK	Yeast culture	0.05	ns	0.9	2.5	n/a	n/a	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Campbell et al. (2006)	Ireland	MOS	0.15	ns	-0.6	n/a	n/a	n/a	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Reynoso-González et al.	Mavico	Vaset cultura	0.75	ns	-2.3	-12.4	n/a	-2.4	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	(2010), Exp. 1	MEXICO	Teast culture	1.5	ns	0.0	-19.4	n/a	6.9	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	Reynoso-González et al.	Mavico	Vaset cultura	0.75 ⁵	ns	1.1	-10.6	n/a	0.9	
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	(2010), Exp. 2	MEXICO	Teast culture	0.75 ⁵	ns	-0.8	8.0	n/a	-0.3	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Ha et al. (2012)	South Korea	Yeast culture	2.0	ns	n/a	0.0	n/a	n/a	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Wenner et al. (2013)	USA	MOS	0.2/0.1/0.055	ns	n/a	-2.6	n/a	1.4	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Edwards et al. (2014)	Australia	MOS	0.04/0.025	Yield	2.2	2.7	n/a	n/a	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Loi and $Kim(2014)$	South Vorac	Yeast	0.1	$\mathbf{n}c^2$	n/a	n/a	n/a	2.5	
$ \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Zhang et al. (2019)} \\ \mbox{Zhang et al. (2019)} \\ \mbox{South Korea} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \mbox{Hydrolysate} \\ \mbox{yeast culture} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 0.05 \\ 0.1 \\ \mbox{yeast culture} \end{array} \begin{array}{c} \mbox{n/a} \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.5 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7 \\ 0.7$	Lei and Kim (2014)	South Kolea	culture ⁶	0.2	115	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.8	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				0.05		n/a	0.8	-1.2	n/a	
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Then $a t a (2010)$	South Voraa	Hydrolysate	0.1	percentage	n/a	3.3	0.6	n/a	
$\frac{1.0}{2.00} \qquad n/a \qquad 4.5 \qquad 0.4 \qquad n/a}{n/a} \qquad \frac{2.00}{ns} \qquad n/a \qquad 0.0 \qquad n/a \qquad 1.6}{n/a} \qquad \frac{1.6}{n/a} \qquad \frac{1.6}{n/$	Zhang et al. (2019)	South Kolea	yeast culture	0.5	lean ^{2,3}	n/a	3.5	1.4	n/a	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				1.0		n/a	4.5	0.4	n/a	
Bo et al. (2020) Vietnam Yeast extract 4.00 ns n/a 1.3 n/a 0.5 6.00 ns n/a 4.0 n/a -0.3 Dávila-Ramírez et al. (2020) Mexico Yeast culture 0.2 ns 0.0 -24.6 n/a 4.7 Namted et al. (2021) Mail and Hydrolysate 0.5 ns 0.6 -1.9 Namted et al. (2021) Thailand Hydrolysate 0.5 ns -0.4 -12.2 3.2 -4.3			_	2.00	ns	n/a	0.0	n/a	1.6	
$\frac{6.00}{1.00} + \frac{1.00}{1.00} + \frac{1.00}{1.00$	Bo et al. (2020)	Vietnam	Yeast extract	4.00	ns	n/a	1.3	n/a	0.5	
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			-	6.00	ns	n/a	4.0	n/a	-0.3	
Davia-Rainiez et al. (2020) Mexico Feast culture 0.3 ns 0.5 11.2 n/a 16.6 Namted et al. (2021) Thailand Hydrolysate yeast culture 0.5 ns -0.8 -30.7 6.6 -1.9	Dávila Románaz et al. (2020)	Mariaa	Voost oulture	0.2	ns	0.0	-24.6	n/a	4.7	
Namted et al. (2021) Thailand Hydrolysate yeast culture 0.5 ns -0.8 -30.7 6.6 -1.9 Namted et al. (2021) Thailand Hydrolysate yeast culture 1.0 ns -0.4 -12.2 3.2 -4.3	Daviia-Kaillitez et al. (2020)	MEXICO	i east culture	0.3	ns	0.5	11.2	n/a	16.6	
Named et al. (2021) Inaliand yeast culture 1.0 ns -0.4 -12.2 3.2 -4.3	Normand et al. (2021)	Theilerd	Hydrolysate	0.5	ns	-0.8	-30.7	6.6	-1.9	
	Namiled et al. (2021)	Thanana	yeast culture	1.0	ns	-0.4	-12.2	3.2	-4.3	

Table A.8. Studies on the effects of yeasts and yeast-derived ingredients on carcass characteristics.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴Inclusion levels of sequential phases.

⁵For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁶Yeast culture and yeast-derived ingredients (MOS) were produced from strains of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, except the yeast culture used in Lei and Kim (2014). Yeast culture used in Lei and Kim (2014) was derived from *Phaffia rhodozyma*.

5. Copper(Cu)

There were 55 research articles for Cu with 157 comparisons from 11 countries during the growfinish or finishing period with added dietary levels of 50 to 300 mg/kg with most studies ranged between 120 to 250 mg/kg. Of these, 155 comparisons reported growth performance data and 83 comparisons reported carcass data. The Cu sources used in the studies were in inorganic [CuSO₄, Cu₂O, CuO, Tribasic Cu chloride (**TBCC**), CuS] or organic form (Cu-AAs).

5.1. Growth Performance - Cu

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 30 comparisons (average of 6.2%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 3 comparisons (average of 4.1%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (0.1%) compared to control pig (Table A.9). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (121 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 81 comparisons (average of 3.8%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 33 comparisons (average of 3.4%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le$ 0.05) in 30 comparisons (average of 5.1%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 3 comparisons (average of 1.0%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 3.7%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (114 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 71 comparisons (average of 3.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 37 comparisons (average of 2.7%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that Cu positively affected ADG and G:F (74 and 70 % of all the comparisons). Most studies used corn or barley as the major ingredient in basal diets. Copper supplementation in the barley diet had a greater percentage improvement in ADG (2.8%; 60 comparisons) and G:F (3.1%; 59 comparisons) than Cu supplementation in corn-based diets [ADG (2.0%; 89 comparisons) and G:F (0.8%; 84 comparisons)]. Most studies used Cu inclusion from 125 to 250 mg/kg added level (137 comparisons) and increasing the Cu level did not further improve the performance. In summary, the growth-promoting effects of Cu can potentially improve growth performance (2.5 and 1.8% improvement for ADG and G:F).

				Inclusion,		Difference, %	
Author	Country	Cu		mg/kg	Sig.	ADG	G:F
Lucas and Calder (1957), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄		200	ns	3.9	0.7
Lucas and Calder (1957), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄		200	ns	6.5	7.1
				0.10%	G:F	2.9	6.1
King (1960)	UK	CuSO ₄		0.10%	ADG, G:F	7.7	11.0
				100	ns	11.1	-1.8
Wallace et al. (1960), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄		150	ns	5.2	0.9
			-	200	ns	0.7	0.9
Wellson at al. (1060) Euro 2		CCO		200^{4}	ns	-3.8	-8.0
wallace et al. (1960), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄		200^{4}	ns	3.3	4.5
Wellage et al. (1060) Even 2		CuSO		100^{4}	ns	0.0	17.6
wallace et al. (1960), Exp. 5	USA	CuSO4		100^{4}	ns	-6.5	0.3
Pollic (1061)	UV	CuSO		125	ns	3.9	3.3
Bellis (1901)	UK	CuSO4		250	ADG, G:F	7.1	8.0
			. <u>.</u>	62	ns	-1.1	-1.4
Lucas et al. (1961), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄	. <u>.</u>	125	ns	1.1	0.6
				250	ns	4.5	0.6
	UK		. .	62	ns	2.2	0.9
Lucas et al. (1961), Exp. 2		CuSO ₄		125	ns	2.2	1.8
				250	ns	3.3	2.1
Barber et al. (1962)	ΠK	CuSO4		2504	ADG, G:F	14.5	5.5
				2504	ADG	5.1	2.2
Braude et al. (1962)	ΠK	CuSO4		2504	ADG, G:F	9.7	8.6
	<u> </u>			2504	ADG, G:F	6.2	5.2
Lucas et al. (1962)	UK	CuSO ₄		250	ns	2.6	-0.1
Gipp et al. (1967)	USA	CuO		<u>1504</u>	ns	-4.7	-2.3
	0011			1504	ns	0.4	4.2
Barber et al. (1968), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄		250	ADG, G:F	11.1	9.0
Barber et al. (1968), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄		250	ns	7.1	3.9
Barber et al. (1968), Exp. 3	UK	CuSO ₄		250	G:F	5.3	4.4
Hanrahan and O'Grady (1968)	Ireland	CuSO ₄		250	ns	-12.2	-6.0
Boyazoglu and Barrett (1970)	South	CuSO ₄		150	ns	n/a	4.4
	Africa			300	ns	n/a	-0.8
Barber et al. (1971), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄		2504	G:F	4.5	5.3
				2504	G:F	-1.4	4.1
Barber et al. (1971), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄		2504	ADG, G:F	8.1	6.1
	-			2504	ns	-3.8	-1.3
Barber et al. (1971), Exp. 3	UK	CuSO ₄		250	ADG, G:F	7.4	5.6
DeGoey et al. (1971)	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ADG	15.2	1.9
Kline et al. (1971)	USA	CuSO ₄		150	ADG^2	7.2	-2.4
	0.511			200	-	-0.1	-/.8

Table A.9. Studies on the effects of Cu on growth performance.

				250		8.4	-0.5
				250^{4}	ns	14.8	5.4
Kline et al. (1972)	USA	CuSO ₄		250^{4}	ns	-3.2	10.7
				250^{4}	ns	5.5	-6.7
				150		3.1	3.6
Braude and Ryder (1973)	UK	CuSO ₄		200	$ADG^2, G:F^2$	4.4	3.9
				250		5.9	5.5
Elliot and Amer (1973), Exp. 1	Canada	CuSO ₄		250	ns	-6.8	n/a
				125	ns	-4.3	10.0
				150	ns	0.0	0.3
Elliot and Amor (1073) Exp. 2	Canada	CuSO		175	ns	1.8	1.9
Efflot and Afflet (1975), Exp. 2	Callaua	CuSO4		200	ns	1.8	10.0
				225	ns	-3.7	1.9
				250	ns	-10.2	1.3
Gipp et al. (1973), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ns	4.1	3.3
Gipp et al. (1973), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ns	-1.3	-3.3
Gipp et al. (1973), Exp. 3	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ns	-4.0	-0.7
Kline et al. (1973), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ADG, G:F	8.9	6.7
Kline et al. (1973), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ns	0.4	-2.9
Kline et al. (1973), Exp. 3	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ns	-5.5	9.3
NCR-42 Committee on Swine Nutrition (1974), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄		250	ns	1.8	0.1
NCD 42 Committee on Service				125.5	ns	2.1	0.3
NCR-42 Committee on Swine	USA	CuSO ₄		187.5	ns	2.3	-0.3
Nutition (1974), Exp. 2				250	ns	3.5	1.5
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{allie}}$ (1075)	1117	C50		175 ⁴	ns	-1.5	0.0
Beins (1975)	UK	CuSO ₄		175 ⁴	ADG, G:F	3.1	2.8
				125 ⁵	ns	4.8	-1.5
Costall at al. (1075) Even 1	Canada	CuSO		200^{5}	ns	8.7	4.1
Castell et al. (1975), Exp. 1	Callaua	CuSO4		125 ⁵	ns	4.3	4.2
				200^{5}	ns	6.3	3.5
				125 ⁵	ns	2.0	2.2
Costall at al. (1075) Even 2	Canada	CuSO		200^{5}	ns	1.7	0.9
Castell et al. (1975), Exp. 2	Callada	CuSO ₄		125 ⁵	ns	2.8	5.5
				200^{5}	ns	2.6	5.2
Costall at al. (1075) Even 2	Canada	CuSO		125	ns	-0.4	-3.3
Castell et al. (1975), Exp. 5	Callada	CuSO ₄		200	ns	0.9	-3.0
Costall at al. (1075) Even 4	Canada	CuSO		125	ns	2.0	3.3
Castell et al. (1975), Exp. 4	Callada	CuSO ₄		200	ns	-2.0	2.9
Costall at al. (1075) Even 5	Canada	CuSO		125	ns	3.3	2.1
Castell et al. (1973), Exp. 3	Canada	CuSO4		200	G:F	3.1	4.3
Hansen and Draces (1075)	Denmar	Curco		125	ADG, G:F	4.9	5.2
Hansen and Bresson (19/5)	k	CuSO4		200	ADG	3.9	3.2
	NT' '	0.00		125	ns	9.3	5.5
Omole et al. (19/6)	Nigeria	CuSO ₄		200	G:F	14.8	8.5

Barber et al. (1978)	UK	NA	250	ADG. G:F	2.0	2.9
			125	ns	4.5	0.3
Cromwell et al. (1978), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄	188	ns	2.8	-2.2
· · · -			250	ns	14.0	2.0
Cromwall at al (1078) Even 2		CuSO	125	G:F	0.4	2.3
Ciolifwell et al. (1978), Exp. 2	USA		250	G:F	1.3	3.5
Cromwell et al. (1978) Exp. 3	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	2.8	2.5
	0.5/1	CuS	250	ns	-2.7	2.2
Pond et al. (1978)	USA	CuSO ₄	200	ns	0.0	-3.2
Eisemann et al. (1979)	USA	CuSO ₄	120	ns	-6.6	-2.0
Prince et al. (1979), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	1.8	1.5
Prince et al. (1979), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	5.3	5.4
Barber et al. (1981), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄	250	ADG, G:F	4.1	3.7
Barber et al. (1981), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄	250	ADG, G:F	2.6	2.5
Ribeiro de Lima et al. (1981). Exp.			2504	ns	10.0	1.7
1	USA	CuSO ₄	2504	ns	-4.6	0.0
			2504	ns	-3.7	-1.4
Ribeiro de Lima et al. (1981), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	0.8	-4.6
Ribeiro de Lima et al. (1981), Exp. 3	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	0.0	1.5
			125	ADG, G:F	4.4	4.8
Proudo and Hocking (1082)	uи	CuSO	200	ADG, G:F	3.1	2.8
braude and Hosking (1982)	UK	Cu5O4	200/125	ADG, G:F	3.3	3.4
			250/125	5 ADG, G:F	4.9	4.8
		CuSO ₄	52.5	ns	0.0	n/a
Bradley et al. (1983)	USA		112.5	ns	-1.8	n/a
			232.5	ns	-1.8	n/a
Prince et al. (1984), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	0.1	1.4
Prince et al. (1984), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ADG ³	3.0	1.6
Southern and Stewart (1984), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	3.8	n/a
Southern and Stewart (1984), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	0.0	n/a
Rowan and Lawrence (1986)	UK	NA	183	ns	-0.1	-0.7
			63	ns	1.1	6.3
Astrup and Matre (1987)	Norway	CuSO ₄	125	ns	4.8	5.3
			250	ns	3.5	4.6
Lüdke and Schöne (1988), Exp.1	German y	CuSO ₄	250	ns	10.7	2.1
Lüdke and Schöne (1988), Exp.2	German y	CuSO ₄	250	ns	5.7	2.5
Schöne et al. (1988)	German y	CuSO ₄	250	ns	14.2	5.2
Ward et al. (1991)	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	2.5	-5.5

Myer et al. (1992)	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	-1.1	-1.1
Southern et al. (1993)	USA	NA	250	ns	-1.1	0.0
Among and Kamagay (1006)		CuSO ₄	200	ns	-2.8	n/a
Apgar and Kornegay (1996)	USA	Cu-Lys	200	ns	11.1	n/a
Lauridsen et al. (1999)	Denmar k	CuSO ₄	175	ns	0.3	-5.0
Davis et al. (2002)	USA	CuSO ₄	175/125	ADG, G:F	6.6	3.6
Haméndaz et al. (2000)	Australi		50^{4}	G:F	-1.1	-5.4
Hernandez et al. (2009)	a	Cu-AA	50 ⁴	ns	-3.2	0.4
		C50	50	G:F	2.0	-1.9
Coble et al. (2014)	USA	CuSO ₄	125	ns	1.5	-1.9
		Cu-AA	50	ns	2.0	-0.4
Ealdraugh et al. (2016)		C90	125 ⁴	ns	0.5	1.3
Feidpausch et al. (2016)	USA	CuSO ₄	1254	ns	-0.5	-1.3
Cable at al. (2017)			75	ADC^2	3.9	-2.2
	USA	CuSO4/IBCC	150	ADG	3.9	-1.8
Coble et al. (2018)	USA	TBCC	150	ns	1.7	0.3
			150 ⁴	ADG^3, GF^3	0.0	0.3
Coble et al. (2018), Exp. 1	USA	TBCC	150 ⁴	ADG^3, GF^3	0.0	1.1
			150 ⁴	ADG^3, GF^3	2.4	1.6
			150 ⁶	ns	0.0	0.3
Coblact al. (2018) Eyrp 2		TRCC	150 ⁶	ns	1.1	0.0
Coble et al. (2018), Exp. 2	USA	IDCC	150 ⁶	ns	2.2	1.8
			<u>150⁶</u>	ns	1.1	0.6
			70		1.7	0.8
Carpenter et al. (2019)	USA	CuSO ₄ /Cu-AA	100	ns ²	2.3	1.1
			130		1.1	1.7
Seidu et al. (2020)	China	CuSO4	125	ns	4.2	-1.1
	Ciiiia	Cu5O4	215	ADG	5.2	-6.2
		$CuSO_4$	125	ns	2.2	0.0
Blavi et al. (2021)	I IS A	Cu5O4	250	ns	1.1	-0.5
Diavi et al. (2021)	USA	 Cu2O	125	ns	2.2	0.0
			250	ADG ³	6.7	-2.9

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵The top two comparisons were the results of the barrows and the bottom two comparisons were the results of the gilts.

⁶The top two comparisons were the results of the feeding Cu in grow-finish phase and the bottom two comparisons were the results of feeding Cu in the finish phase. The basal diet Lys concentrations from the top to bottom comparisons were at 92.5, 100, 92.5, and 100% of the requirement.

5.2. Carcass Characteristics – Cu

Back-fat significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 10.3%) and tended to decrease $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (5.4%) compared to control pigs (Table A.10). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (69 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 24 comparisons (average of 3.5%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 36 comparisons (average of 4.1%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 1.1%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (23) comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 16 comparisons (average of 2.8%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 1.1%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 5 comparisons (average of 4.4%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (7.5%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (56 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 43 comparisons (average of 3.4%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 1.4%) compared to control pigs.

			Inclusion			Differ	ence, %			
Author	Country	Form	mg/kg	Sig.	Yield	BF	percentag e lean	LMA/LD		
Lucas and Calder (1957), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄	200	ns	1.3	-7.5	n/a	1.5		
Lucas and Calder (1957), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄	200	ns	-0.1	-9.1	n/a	2.7		
Bellis (1961)	IIK	CuSO4	125	ns	0.5	n/a	n/a	n/a		
Denns (1901)		CuSO ₄	250	ns	0.1	n/a	n/a	n/a		
			62	ns	1.1	-4.8	n/a	1.4		
Lucas et al. (1961), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄	125	ns	1.8	0.0	n/a	-0.7		
-			250	ns	2.0	0.0	n/a	-1.4		
			62	ns	-0.3	0.0	n/a	5.4		
Lucas et al. (1961), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄	125	ns	0.4	3.8	n/a	2.5		
			250	ns	0.7	3.8	n/a	5.0		
$\mathbf{D} = 1 + 1 + 1 + 2 2$	UK		250^{4}	ns	n/a	0.7	n/a	1.4		
Braude et al. (1962)		CuSO ₄	250^{4}	ns	n/a	1.4	n/a	3.9		
Lucas et al. (1962)	UK	CuSO ₄	250	ns	-0.1	4.4	n/a	5.0		
Developed and Demott (1070)	Couth Africa	C50	150	ns	0.0	-7.5	n/a	12.5		
Boyazogiu and Barreu (1970)	South Africa	CuSO ₄	300	ns	0.6	-10.0	n/a	9.5		
Darbar et al (1071) Euro 1		C50	250^{4}	ns	1.1	-1.2	n/a	n/a		
Barber et al. (1971), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄	250^{4}	ns	0.4	-17.0	n/a	n/a		
Barber et al. (1971), Exp. 2	IIIZ	07-50	250^{4}	ns	0.1	-4.0	n/a	n/a		
· · · -	UK	CuSO ₄	250^{4}	ns	0.3	9.3	n/a	n/a		
Barber et al. (1971), Exp. 3	UK	CuSO ₄	250	ns	-0.5	-1.0	n/a	n/a		
······			150		0.5	1.9	n/a	1.9		
Braude and Ryder (1973)	UK	CuSO ₄	200	ns ²	0.7	0.0	n/a	1.9		
			250		0.4	0.0	n/a	3.4		
Gipp et al. (1973), Exp. 2	USA	CuSO ₄	250	LMA	n/a	-2.4	-1.3	-7.5		
Gipp et al. (1973), Exp. 3	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	n/a	-1.5	0.7	2.1		

Table A.10. Studies on the effects of Cu on carcass characteristics.

NCR-42 Committee on Swine Nutrition (1974), Exp. 1	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	n/a	-10.2	n/a	4.3
Bellis (1975)	IIK	CuSO	175	ns	0.1	-2.7	n/a	1.0
Denns (1975)		Cu504	175	ns	0.4	2.2	n/a	1.7
			1255	ns	1.9	n/a	n/a	0.0
Castell et al. (1975) Exp. 1	Canada	CuSO	2005	ns	-0.1	n/a	n/a	-2.3
Castell et al. (1975), LAP. 1	Callada	Cu504	1255	ns	-1.4	n/a	n/a	1.7
			2005	ns	1.1	n/a	n/a	5.6
			1255	ns	0.1	n/a	n/a	7.3
Castell et al. (1975) Exp. 2	Canada	CuSO	2005	ns	-1.9	n/a	n/a	4.8
Castell et al. (1775) , Exp. 2	Callada	Cu504	<u>125⁵</u>	ns	-1.9	n/a	n/a	-1.3
			200^{5}	ns	0.2	n/a	n/a	2.9
Castell et al. (1975). Exp. 3	Canada	CuSO	125	ns	0.5	1.7	n/a	3.7
Custon et al. (1775), Exp. 5	Callaua	CuSO4	200	ns	0.5	3.3	n/a	3.0
Castell et al. (1975), Exp. 4	Canada	CuSO	125	ns	1.0	-1.9	n/a	4.1
	Cunada	Cu504	200	ns	0.8	-4.6	n/a	12.0
Costall at al. (1075) Exp. 5	Canada	CuSO4	125	ns	0.4	-1.0	n/a	3.4
Casten et al. (1975), Exp. 5		Cu504	200	ns	0.5	-1.9	n/a	2.7
Hansen and Bresson (1075)	Denmark	CuSO ₄	125	ns	<u>n/a</u>	0.0	n/a	n/a
Transen and Dresson (1975)			200	ns	n/a	2.9	n/a	n/a
Omolo at al. (1076)	Nigorio	CuSO	125	ns	-0.3	2.6	n/a	3.4
	Inigenia	CuSO ₄	200	ns	0.8	-5.8	n/a	14.5
Barber et al. (1978)	UK	n/a	250	BF	-0.3	-8.1	n/a	n/a
Barber et al. (1981), Exp. 1	UK	CuSO ₄	250	BF	-0.8	-21.0	n/a	0.6
Barber et al. (1981), Exp. 2	UK	CuSO ₄	250	ns	0.0	0.0	n/a	n/a
			125	ns	0.4	-3.2	n/a	n/a
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathbf{n}} = \{1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, 1, \mathbf$	I IIZ	0.2-0	200	ns	0.7	-1.4	n/a	n/a
Braude and Hosking (1982)	UK	CuSO ₄	200/125	ns	1.1	-2.7	n/a	n/a
			250/125	ns	0.4	-2.7	n/a	n/a
Rowan and Lawrence (1986)	UK	NA	183	ns	-0.4	0.0	n/a	n/a
Astrup and Matra (1987)	Norway	CuSO	63	ns	1.1	3.1	n/a	n/a
Asuup and Mane (1907)	Norway	CuSO ₄	125	ns	0.7	2.7	n/a	n/a

			250		0.0	1.0		/	
			250	ns	0.0	-1.0	n/a	n/a	
Ward et al. (1991)	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	-0.7	-5.4	1.4	-0.9	
Myer et al. (1992)	USA	CuSO ₄	250	ns	n/a	2.9	n/a	-3.1	
Southern et al. (1993)	USA	NA	250	ns	-0.7	n/a	n/a	n/a	
Hernández et al. (2009)	Australia		50 ⁴	ns	-0.3	-3.4	n/a	n/a	
Themandez et al. (2009)	Australia	Cu-AA	50 ⁴	ns	-0.6	-13.6	n/a	$\begin{array}{c c} n/a \\ -0.9 \\ -3.1 \\ n/a \\ n/a \\ n/a \\ 0.0 \\ -0.4 \\ 1.1 \\ 0.6 \\ 0.9 \\ 2.2 \\ 2.1 \\ 0.6 \\ -1.1 \\ 1.2 \\ 2.6 \\ 0.9 \\ -1.2 \\ 0.9 \\ -1.2 \\ 0.9 \\ -1.2 \\ 0.9 \\ -5.5 \\ 0.9 \\ -5.5 \\ 3.6 \\ 1.5 \\ 6.6 \\ \end{array}$	
Coble et al. (2014)			50	ns	-0.8	3.1	-0.4	0.0	
	USA		125	ns	-0.1	-1.6	0.1	-0.4	
		Cu-AA	50	ns	-0.6	3.1	34.7	1.1	
Ealdraugh at al (2016)		CuSO	125^{4}	ns	0.2	-0.3	0.4	0.6	
Feidpausch et al. (2016)	USA	CuSO ₄ –	125^{4}	ns	-0.1	0.8	0.4	0.9	
Coble et al. (2017)			75	percentag	-0.8	-5.8	1.4	.4 2.2	
	USA	CC	150	e lean ² , LD ²	-0.5	-2.6	0.8	2.1	
Coble et al. (2018)	USA	TBCC	150	ns	0.2	0.0	0.0	0.6	
		TBCC	150^{4}	ns	0.0	-1.8	0.3	-1.1	
Coble et al. (2018), Exp. 1	USA		150^{4}	ns	-0.5	-3.0	1.3	1.2	
			150^{4}	ns	0.3	1.9	-0.4	2.6	
			150^{6}	ns	2.2	-6.0	1.3	0.9	
Cable at al. (2018) Error 2			150^{6}	ns	-0.2	7.1	-1.2	-1.2	
Coble et al. (2018), Exp. 2	USA	IBCC	150^{6}	ns	0.9	-6.5	1.3	0.9	
			150^{6}	ns	-0.4	7.7	-2.7	-2.6	
			70		0.4	0.9	-0.2	0.2	
Carpenter et al. (2019)	USA		100	ns ²	0.4	-0.6	0.1	-0.5	
		-AA	130		-0.3	-0.3	0.2	0.9	
			125	ns	0.3	11.5	-1.2	5.5	
Playi at al. (2021)	LIC A	CuSO4	250	ns	0.4	-1.8	0.5	3.6	
Diavi et al. (2021)	USA	<u> </u>	125	ns	0.5	1.8	0.1	1.5	
			250	ns	0.5	-9.7	1.3	6.6	

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵The top two comparisons were the results of the barrows and the bottom two comparisons were the results of the gilts.

⁶The top two comparisons were the results of the feeding Cu in grow-finish phase and the bottom two comparisons were the results of feeding Cu in the finish phase. The basal diet Lys concentrations from the top to bottom comparisons were at 92.5, 100, 92.5, and 100% of the requirement.

6. *Zinc* (*Zn*)

There were 13 research articles for Zn with 30 comparisons from 6 countries during the grow-finish or finishing period which met the requirements for inclusion. Of these, 30 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 21 comparisons reported carcass data. The growth-promotive levels of Zn were close to the control Zn levels used in most research (ranged approximately between 50 to 100 mg/kg); therefore, only trials with the total Zn level above or at approximately 100 mg/kg were used in this literature review. The difference in Zn levels between control diets and the growth-promotive Zn diets ranged between 38 to 400 mg/kg. The Zn sources used in the studies were inorganic (ZnO, ZnSO₄, Zn-HCl, Zn hydroxy chloride) or organic form (Zinc glycinate, Zn-AA).

6.1. Growth Performance – Zn

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (18.7%), tended to increase (0.05 < $P \le 0.10$) in 1 comparison (1.1%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (14.4%) compared to control pigs (Table A.11). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (27 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 4.0%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 3.2%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 4 comparisons (average of 1.2%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (26 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 14 comparisons (average of 4.2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 2.6%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that Zn had positive but relatively small effects on ADG and G:F. Moreover, there were insufficient data to support whether different types of basal diets and inclusion levels affected the response to Zn for ADG and G:F. **Table A.11.** Studies on the effects of Zn on growth performance.

						Differe	nce, % ¹
Author	Country	Zn	Basal, mg/kg	Added, mg/kg	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
			100	1004	ns	8.1	-5.1
			100	200^{4}	ns	-1.8	14.4
$V_{\rm line at al}$ (1072)		7-20	100	1004	ns	-8.8	-0.3
Kille et al. (1972)	USA	211504	100	200^{4}	ns	-9.7	1.3
			100	100^{4}	ns	0.0	-3.7
			100	200^{4}	ns	5.7	-2.5
Omolo et al. (1076)	Nigorio	Zn nowdor	50	100^{4}	ns	11.9	9.0
	Inigena		50	1004	ns	9.7	$\begin{array}{r} \hline \\ \hline $
Eisemann et al. (1979)	USA	ZnO	100	400	ns	2.7	4.4
Wedekind et al. (1994)	USA	ZnSO4	52	60	ns	-3.4	0.0
Rupić et al. (1997)	Croatia	ZnSO4	37	84	ADG	18.7	3.8
Hamándaz at al. (2000)			70	404	ns	0.2	-1.5
	Australia	$7n \Lambda \Lambda$	70	404	ns	1.8	1.5
Tiernandez et al. (2003)	Australia	Z 11 ⁻ / X / X	70	404	ns	2.7	2.2
			70	404	ns	ADGG:H 8.1 -5.1 -1.8 14.4 -8.8 -0.3 -9.7 1.3 0.0 -3.7 5.7 -2.5 11.9 9.0 9.7 5.0 2.7 4.4 -3.4 0.0 18.7 3.8 0.2 -1.5 1.8 1.5 2.7 2.2 -3.0 3.7 0.0 -2.9 -1.8 -2.7 1.0 1.3 0.0 -1.5 1.1 3.4 2.2 2.5 1.1 -0.5 -1.1 1.4	3.7
Paulk et al. (2014)	USA	7n0	50	<u>75⁵</u>	ns	0.0	-2.9
			50	<u>75⁵</u>	ns	-1.8	-2.1
Feldnausch et al. (2016)	USA	7n0 -	110	<u>1504</u>	ns	1.0	1.3
			110	<u>1504</u>	ns	0.0	-1.3
		7n-A A	70	40	ns	2.2	3.7
Holen et al. (2018)	USA	<u> </u>	70	80	ns	1.1	3.4
		ZnSO ₄	70	80	ns	2.2	2.5
		Zn	113	50	2.2	1.1	-0.3
Cemin et al. (2019)	USA	hydroxychloride/ ZnSO4	113	50	ADG ^{2,3}	0.0	-0.8
			50	37.5		-2.1	0.5
Cemin et al. (2019)	USA	Zn hydroxychloride	50	75	$G:F^{2,3}$	-1.1	1.9
			50	112.5		-1.1	1.4

			50	150		-1.1	0.8
Villagómez-Estrada et al. (2021)	Spain	ZnSO ₄ /Zn-HCl	60	60	ns	-1.4	1.4
Natalello et al. (2022)	Italy	Zn glycinate	22.3	100	ADG	-14.4	-7.6

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵High Zn diet was fed for 72 d in the top comparison and 27 d in the below comparison.

6.2. Carcass Characteristics - Zn

Back-fat significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (13.1%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (18 comparisons; Table A.12). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 1.3%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 2.9%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (14 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 1.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 1 comparison (0.4%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (15 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 11 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 0.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 14 comparisons (average of 1.5%) compared to control pigs.

						Difference, % ¹			
Author	Country	Zn	Basal,	Added,	Sig 1	Viold	DE	percenta	LMA/L
Aution	Country	ZII	mg/kg	mg/kg	Sig.	Tielu	DI	ge lean	D
Ormala at al. (1076)	Nigorio	Zn nowdor	50	100^{4}	ns	-0.5	-5.1	n/a	2.6
Ollole et al. (1970)	INIgena	Zii powdei	50	100^{4}	ns	-0.2	0.9	n/a	-2.9
			70	40^{4}	ns	0.0	3.4	n/a	n/a
Harmándaz at al (2000)	Australia	$7n$ \wedge \wedge	70	404	ns	0.9	-6.0	n/a	n/a
Hemandez et al. (2009)	Australia	LII-AA	70	40^{4}	ns	-0.3	13.1	n/a	n/a
			70	40^{4}	ns	-0.3	-7.6	n/a	n/a
Paulk et al. (2014)		7n0	50	75 ⁵	ns	-0.1	-1.7	3.9	0.4
	USA	ZIIO	50	75 ⁵	ns	1.2	0.8	3.9 0.4 3.2 -1.3 0.1 0.1 0.1 0.4 0.2 0.8	-1.8
Feldpausch et al. (2016)		7n0	110	150 ⁴	ns	0.1	-1.6	0.1	0.1
	USA	ZIIO	110	150 ⁴	ns	-0.3	-0.5	0.1	0.4
Holen et al. (2018)	USA	Zn-AA	70	40	ns	-0.4	0.9	0.2	0.8
			70	80	ns	0.3	-3.2	0.3	-0.4
		ZnSO ₄	70	80	ns	0.5	-2.3	1.3	2.7
Cemin et al. (2019) USA		Zn	113	50	Viold	1.4	0.0	1.4	0.5
	USA	hydroxychlorid e/ ZnSO ₄	113	100	2	1.4	0.0	1.5	0.7
		7	50	37.5		-0.3	0.0	0.2	0.6
Comin at al. (2010)		Lll	50	75	nc^2	-0.5	-1.7	0.2	-0.9
Cemin et al. (2019)	USA		50	112.5	118	-0.1	0.6	0.0	0.7
		C	50	150		-0.1	-1.7	0.4	0.1
Villagómez-Estrada et al. (2021)	Spain	ZnSO ₄ /Zn-HCl	60	60	ns	0.3	n/a	-0.4	n/a
Natalello et al. (2022)	Italy	Zn glycinate	22.3	100	ns	-0.2	n/a	n/a	n/a

Table A.12. Studies on the effects of Zn on carcass characteristics.

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵High Zn diet was fed for 72 d in the top comparison and 27 d in the below comparison.

Feed Additives – Energy and Lipid Metabolism

This section discusses the feed additives that can potentially improve growth performance and carcass characteristics by affecting the energy and lipid metabolism of grow-finish pigs. The feed additives discussed are betaine, Cr, CLA, and L-carnitine.

1. Betaine

There were 20 research articles for betaine with 37 comparisons from 9 countries during the growfinish or finishing period with added dietary levels of 0.02 to 1.05 %. Of these, all comparisons reported growth performance data, and 32 comparisons reported carcass data.

1.1. Growth Performance - Betaine

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 7 comparisons (average of 10.6%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 1 comparison (4.3%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 2.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.13). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (27 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 10 comparisons (average of 2.4%) and numerically decreased in 15 comparisons (average of 3.3%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le$ 0.05) in 5 comparisons (average of 13.2%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (0.4%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G;F (29 comparisons). Of these, G;F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 18 comparisons (average of 2.7%) and numerically decreased in 9 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. Most comparisons (19 comparisons) had added betaine levels of 0.1 and 0.125%; therefore, the effect of betaine levels is not evaluated. There were insufficient data to support whether different types of basal diets affected the response to betaine for ADG and G:F. However, betaine may have a more beneficial effect on ADG and G:F in limit-fed pigs [176, 177]. In summary, the results suggest that betaine had relatively small positive effects on ADG (1.3% improvement) but may benefit G:F more (2.7% improvement).

				Differen	nce, $\%^1$
Authors	Country	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
Smith at al. (1004)		0.100^{4}	ADG ³	5.7	2.4
Smith et al. (1994)	USA	0.100^{4}	ns	1.1	-1.3
Smith et al. (1994)	USA	0.100	ns	3.3	4.1
Matthews et al. (1998), Exp 1	USA	0.125	ns	-0.5	-3.6
Matthews et al. (1998), Exp 2	USA	0.125	ns	0.0	5.6
Øverland et al. (1999)	Norway	1.050	ns	4.2	2.3
Matthews et al. (2001)	USA	0.250	ns	0.0	0.4
		0.125		-3.6	6.7
Matthews et al. (2001)	USA	0.250	ns ²	-8.3	3.3
		0.500		-8.3	0.4
Young et al. (2001)	USA	0.140	ns	-1.6	-1.3
		0.125 ⁵	ns	-0.6	2.3
Lawrence et al. (2002), Exp 1	USA	0.125^{5}	ns	3.1	2.7
Lawrence et al. (2002), Exp 2	USA	0.100	ns	0.9	3.8
·		0.025		-0.5	-0.4
Siljander-Rasi et al. (2003)	Finland	0.050	ADG^2, GF^2	6.8	5.6
5		0.100	,	9.7	7.5
Feng et al. (2006)	China	0.125	ns	4.6	1.6
Dunshea et al. (2009)	Australia	0.150	ns	2.1	0.9
Huang et al. (2009)	China	0.125	ADG	5.5	2.6
		0.100^{6}	ns	-7.1	n/a
Nakev et al. (2009)	Bulgaria	0.100^{6}	ns	-4.5	n/a
		0.200	ADG, G:F	3.3	15.0
Yang et al. (2009)	South Korea	0.400	ADG, G:F	27.5	23.2
		0.600	ADG, G:F	17.6	14.6
Van Heugten (2014), Exp 1	USA	0.200	ns	-2.9	1.2
······································		0.063		-2.1	-1.3
Van Heugten (2014), Exp 2	USA	0.125	ns ²	-1.1	-1.6
		0.188		0.8	1.6
Madeira et al. (2015)	USA	0.330	ns	1.1	0.4
Wang et al. (2015)	China	0.100	ns	1.2	0.0
Lothong et al. (2016)	Thailand	0.100	ns	-5.6	-6.3
Mendoza et al. (2017), Exp 1	USA	0.200	ADG	-5.1	-1.1
X		0.063		-1.2	-1.0
Mendoza et al. (2017), Exp 2	USA	0.125	ns ²	-1.8	-3.0
× // f		0.188		-0.1	0.0
Lan and Kim (2018)	South Korea	0.100	ADG	3.7	2.9

Table A.13. Studies on the effects of dietary betaine on growth performance

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴The top comparison used a solid form of betaine and the bottom comparison used a liquid form betaine.

⁵Treament diets were fed from 82 to 106 kg in the top comparison and fed from 104 to 116 kg in the bottom comparison.

⁶The top comparison represented male pigs and the bottom comparison represented female pigs.

1.2. Carcass Characteristics - Betaine

Back-fat significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 10.7%) compared to control pigs (Table A.14). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (29 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 13 comparisons (average of 2.0%) and numerically decreased in 16 comparisons (average of 2.9%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (5.2%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (24 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P >0.10) in 15 comparisons (average of 3.6%) and numerically decreased in 8 comparisons (average of 1.2%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (6.3%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (20 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 10 comparisons (average of 1.9%) and numerically decreased in 10 comparisons (average of 2.2%) compared to control pigs

			_	Difference, % ¹				
Authors	Country	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	percentage lean	LMA/LD	
Smith et al. (1994)		0.100^{4}	LMA ³	n/a	-3.2	1.6	6.3	
	USA	0.100^{4}	ns	n/a	0.8	2.6	8.9	
Smith et al. (1994)	USA	0.100	ns	n/a	-3.2	0.5	-1.6	
Matthews et al. (1998), Exp 1	USA	0.125	Yield	0.9	1.4	-0.2	0.5	
Matthews et al. (1998), Exp 2	USA	0.125	ns	0.0	2.3	-0.6	2.1	
Øverland et al. (1999)	Norway	1.050	ns	1.2	0.7	0.8	n/a	
Matthews et al. (2001)	USA	0.250	ns	-0.4	4.8	-1.1	-0.4	
		0.125		-1.5	-4.3	1.2	-3.0	
Matthews et al. (2001)	USA	0.250	BF^2	1.1	-18.2	5.2	0.7	
		0.500		0.1	-12.6	-0.8	-5.6	
Low man $\alpha \alpha$ at al. (2002) Even 1	USA	0.125 ⁵	ns	0.3	-0.4	0.6	1.5	
Lawrence et al. (2002), Exp 1	USA	0.125 ⁵	ns	0.0	-0.4	-1.6	-0.4	
Lawrence et al. (2002), Exp 2	USA	0.100	BF	n/a	-3.2	n/a	-0.4	
		0.025		n/a	-3.0	n/a	n/a	
Siljander-Rasi et al. (2003)	Finland	0.050	ns ²	n/a	1.0	n/a	n/a	
		0.100		n/a	-3.0	n/a	n/a	
Feng et al. (2006)	China	0.125	ns	0.6	-7.0	2.1	2.2	
Dunshea et al. (2009)	Australia	0.150	ns	n/a	4.5	0.9	n/a	
			BF,					
Huang et al. (2009)	China	0.125	percentage	0.6	-10.3	5.2	n/a	
			lean					
Nakay at al. (2000)	Bulgaria	0.1006	ns	ns	0.2	-6.3	2.4	
Nakev et al. (2009)	Dulgalla	0.1006	ns	ns	5.4	7.4	LMA/LD 6.3 8.9 -1.6 0.5 2.1 n/a -0.4 -3.0 0.7 -5.6 1.5 -0.4 -0.4 n/a n/a n/a n/a 2.2 n/a n/a 2.2 n/a n/a 0.7 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5 -1.5	
Van Heugten (2014), Exp 1	USA	0.200	ns	-0.4	1.8	-0.2	0.7	
		0.063		-0.5	-3.4	0.2	-1.5	
Van Heugten (2014), Exp 2	USA	0.125	LD^2	-0.3	-1.5	0.0	-1.5	
		0.188		-0.1	-3.9	0.2	-3.9	
Madeira et al. (2015)	USA	0.330	ns	0.2	-1.5	n/a	n/a	
Wang et al. (2015)	China	0.100	ns	3.4	0.8	n/a	n/a	

 Table A.14. Studies on the effects of dietary betaine on carcass characteristics.

Lothong et al. (2016)	Thailand	0.125	BF	n/a	-18.6	n/a	n/a
Mendoza et al. (2017), Exp 1	USA	0.200	ns	0.1	0.9	-0.1	0.2
		0.063		-0.7	0.2	11.4	-2.1
Mendoza et al. (2017), Exp 2	USA	0.125	ns ²	-0.4	0.2	11.6	-1.3
		0.188		-0.3	1.3	12.4	-0.6

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁵The top comparison used a solid form of betaine and the bottom comparison used a liquid form betaine.

⁴Treament diets were fed from 82 to 106 kg in the top comparison and fed from 104 to 116 kg in the bottom comparison.

⁶The top comparison represented male pigs and the bottom comparison represented female pigs.
2. Chromium (Cr)

There were 50 research articles for Cr with 139 comparisons from 9 countries during the growfinish or finishing period with added dietary levels of 25 to 1,000 µg/kg (1 experiment used 5,000 µg/kg Cr as an overdose trial). Of these, 139 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 133 comparisons reported carcass data. The sources of Cr were Cr picolinate, Cr propionate, Cr nicotinate, Cr methionine, Cr yeast, CrCl₃, Cr nanocomposites, Cr sulfate, and Cr bis-glycinate-nicotinamide chelate.

2.1. Growth Performance - Cr

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 14 comparisons (average of 8.9%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 4 comparisons (average of 4.6%), significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 7 comparisons (average of 7.2%), and tended to decrease ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 5 comparisons (average of 4.1%) compared to control pigs (Table A.15). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (109 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 51 comparisons (average of 3.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 48 comparisons (average of 2.2%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 14 comparisons (average of 5.2%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 7 comparisons (average of 4.3%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G;F (117 comparisons). Of these, G;F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in

60 comparisons (average of 3.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 41 comparisons (average of 2.1%) compared to control pigs. These studies found no evidence of difference because Cr's effects were not large enough and variation in performance was too great. Also, the basal diets might have provided enough Cr to meet the requirement; therefore, increasing the level of Cr did not have a significant effect on ADG and G:F [195-200]. Overall, the data suggest that Cr positively affected ADG and G:F, but the effects were small and inconsistent. The addition of 50 to 400 µg/kg Cr in diets was most common and had better improvement on ADG and GF compared to the higher levels. However, there were not enough comparisons at greater Cr levels to fully determine the effect of high Cr levels. Moreover, toxicity of Cr at a high inclusion level (5,000 µg/kg) was not observed [201]. Chromium chelated with methionine or in nanoparticle form may provide a more consistently positive effect on ADG; however, Cr form did not seem to affect the consistency of the G:F response. According to our database, Cr minorly improved ADG and G:F of pigs (approximately 1% improvement). This is in agreement with a meta-analysis that analyzed data from 31 studies and found that grow-finish pigs fed 200 to 500 μ g/kg Cr had improved ($P \le 0.05$) ADG and G:F compared to the control pigs [202].

			Inclusion,	Sig 1	Differen	nce, %
Authors	Country	Source	µg/kg	Sig.	ADG	G:F
			25		0.0	6.9
Page et al. (1993), Exp.		Dicolinato	50	ADG^2	4.1	4.5
1	USA	Ticonnate	100	ADU	-5.9	-0.3
			200		7.8	5.5
			100		-1.2	2.1
Page et al. (1993), Exp.	ΔΖΙΙ	Picolinate	200	ΔDG^2	-0.7	-0.3
2	USA	Ticolillate	400	ADO	-6.2	5.4
			800		-9.1	-0.9
Page et al. (1993). Exp	USA	CrCl ₂	2004	ns	6.0	6.4
3			2004	ns	4.2	1.2
	USA	Picolinate	100 and 200	ns	5.9	-2.7
Smith et al. (1994)	USA	Nicotinate	200	ns	2.0	1.7
Roleman et al. (1995)	ΔΖΙΙ	Picolinate	2005	ADG	-6.4	0.0
			2005	ns	-5.8	3.2
Lindemann et al.	ΔΖΙΙ	Picolinate	250	ns ²	1.0	8.1
(1995), Exp. 1			500		-3.1	6.4
Lindemann et al.		Picolinate	2004	ns	-2.4	6.8
(1995), Exp. 2	USA		2004	ns	-1.2	-2.3
L indemann et al			100		1.2	-0.3
(1995) Exp 3	USA	Picolinate	500	ns ²	1.2	-2.9
(1775), Exp. 5			1000		-2.4	-1.1
Mooney and Cromwell (1995)	USA	Picolinate	200	ADG ³	5.4	1.9
Smith et al. (1996)	USA	Nicotinate	200	ns	-1.7	-0.2
Kornegay et al. (1997)	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	2.5	n/a
	Couth		100	ns	-0.7	0.3
Min et al. (1997)	South	Picolinate	200	ns	-3.3	0.3
	Norea		400	ns	-0.5	2.5
Mooney and Cromwell		Picolinate	200	ns	2.3	1.4
(1997)	USA	CrCl ₃	5,000	ns	-1.1	-1.4
			400^{4}	ns	1.9	5.7
Wand at al. (1007)		Disalinata	4004	ns	-2.1	-5.4
ward et al. (1997)	USA	Picolinate	400^{4}	ns	4.0	3.9
			400^{4}	ns	-1.7	-2.7
Lien et al. (1998)	Taiwan	Picolinate	200	ns	-1.9	10.3
			50		4.6	1.1
		Nicotinato	100	$ADC^{2,3}$	-2.1	-0.9
O'Quinn et al. (1998)	USA	mcountate	200	ADU "	-3.6	-1.7
. ,			400		-3.2	0.2
		Picolinate	200	ns	-0.8	-1.6
Lamma at al. (1000)		Voost	200	ADG ³ , G:F	5.9	6.5
Lemme et al. (1999)	USA	reast	400	ns	0.1	1.8

Table A.15. Studies on the effects of dietary chromium on growth performance.

			800	ns	-0.7	1.1
Mooney and Cromwell (1999), Exp.1	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	-0.6	-2.6
Mooney and Cromwell (1999), Exp.2	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	-1.2	1.1
Ω' Ouinn et al. (1000)	USA	Nicotinata	50 ⁴	G:F	0.7	4.4
			<u>504</u>	G:F	4.7	6.8
Hanczakowska et al		Yeast	(0.03%)	G:F	2.2	-4.7
(1999)	Poland	Picolinate	2004	ns	-0.5	-0.3
(1)))			2004	ns	0.0	0.0
Matthews et al. (2001)	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	0.0	-1.4
		Propionate	200	ns	-1.1	2.4
Xi et al. (2001)	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	3.6	3.1
Matthews et al. (2003)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	-0.5	1.4
			50	2	-2.5	3.3
Shelton et al. (2003).			100	ns ²	0.0	3.3
Exp. 1	USA	Propionate	200		-2.5	3.3
1			2004	ns	-2.5	3.3
			2004	ns	-2.6	3.6
Shelton et al. (2003).			100	2	1.0	-5.6
Exp. 2	USA	Propionate	200	ns ²	-1.0	-2.8
			300		-1.0	-2.8
Waylan et al. (2003)	USA	Nicotinate	50	G:F	2.9	5.4
	USA	Picolinate	100	ns ²	-2.6	1.8
Groesbeck et al. (2004)			200		-3.7	-1.5
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Propionate	100	ns ²	0.0	0.3
	<u></u>		200		-1.6	-0.9
Wang and Xu (2004)	China	Nano Cr	200	G:F	5.6	3.7
Matthews et al. (2005)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	0.0	2.6
A_{max} (1.5. A_{max} (2000)		\mathbf{D}^{\prime}	200*	ns	2.5	-3.4
Amoikon et al. (2006)	USA	Picolinate	200*	ns	-5.6	0.0
			200*	ns	-2.3	0.0
$V_{\text{balansum at al}}$ (2006)	Thailand	Bisglycinate-	200	ns	-0.1	0.3
Knajarern et al. (2000)	Thanand	chelate	400	ns	1.1	1.4
Bergstrom et al. (2008)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	1.0	1.2
		Picolinate	5,000	ns	6.0	0.6
Lindemann et al.		Propionate	5,000	ns	5.8	2.3
(2008)	USA	Methionine	5,000	ns	0.3	-2.9
		Yeast	5,000	ADG	8.6	0.6
Wang et al. (2008)	China	Picolinate	200	ADG	9.8	4.8
			2004	ns	-0.8	1.5
Jackson et al. (2009)	USA	Propionate	200^{4}	ns	-2.8	-5.1
			200^{4}	ns	6.2	1.4
$\mathbf{D}_{\mathrm{orb}}$ at al. (2000)	South	CrCl ₃	200	ns	3.1	2.0
Park et al. (2009)	Korea	Picolinate	200	ADG, G:F	7.8	6.2

	Methi	Mathianina	100	ADG, G:F	4.7	3.2
		Methonne	200	ADG, G:F	6.3	6.2
		CrCl ₃	200	ns	-0.3	-2.5
Wang et al. (2009)	China	Picolinate	200	ns	2.3	-2.0
		Nano CrCl ₃	200	ns	6.4	4.8
Wang et al. (2000)	China	CrCl ₃	200	ns	-0.3	0.9
wang et al. (2007)		Nano Cr	200	ADG, G:F	6.3	9.5
			300	ADG^2	4.1	-1.7
Li et al. (2013)	China	Methionine	600	$G \cdot F^2$	16.0	-3.6
			900		20.5	-4.6
Panaite et al. (2013)	Romania	Picolinate	200	ns	-9.0	-3.3
			400	ADG, G:F	-21.1	-10.3
Hung et al. (2014)	Australia	Nano Picolinate	400	ADG ³	5.3	-0.4
Peres et al. (2014)	Brazil	Sulfate	200	ns	-0.9	0.4
·		Methionine	200	ADG, G:F	5.3	7.3
W. (2014)	C1 ·	Cr chitosan	100	\mathbf{C} \mathbf{F}^{2}	1.3	3.4
Wang et al. (2014)	China	nanoparticles	200	G:F ²	-0.1	4.1
		±	400		-0.5	3.4
			100		2.9	-1.2
Tian et al. (2015)	China	Methionine	200	ns ²	4.5	0.5
			400		1.4	-1.5
		CrCla	200	ne	1.4	0.0
		Picolinate	200		13.0	3.6
Li et al. (2017)	Taiwan	Nano CrCla	200	ns	10.6	0.0
		Nano picolinate	200	ADG	21.2	3.6
			$\frac{200}{400^4}$	ns	-4.0	_3.9
Marcolla et al. (2017)	Brazil	Yeast	400^4	ns	-4.0	0.0
Xu et al. (2017)	China	Methionine	200	ns	1.4	4.4
	~ .		200^4	ns	-3.7	-1.0
Jin et al. (2018)	China	Methionine	2004	ns	-0.9	5.1
Gebhardt et al. (2019), Exp. 1	USA	Propionate	200	ns	0.6	-1.3
			200^{4}	ns	0.0	2.8
Gebhardt et al. (2019) ,	USA	Propionate	200^{4}	ns	0.0	0.0
Exp. 2			200^{4}	ns	2.3	0.0
			100	$C \cdot E^2$	1.1	2.5
Gebhardt et al. (2019),		Duanianata	200	G:F-	0.0	0.0
Exp. 1	USA	Propionale	100/200	ns	1.1	0.0
			200/100	ns	0.0	0.0
Gebhardt et al. (2019),	LIC A	Propionata	200/100	ns	1.1	0.0
Exp. 2	USA	riopioliate	200	ADG	2.2	0.0
Lien and Lan (2010)	Taiwan	Picolinate	200	ns	11.3	1.1
	1 al w all	Nano picolinate	200	ns	7.6	-3.7
Mayorga et al. (2019)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	3.4	4.0
da Silva et al. (2021)	Brazil	Yeast	800	ns	2.0	7.1

		Picolinate	480	ns	-4.9	7.5
Souther at al. (2021)	021) USA 2022) Brazil	Dronionata	200^{4}	ADG ³ , G:F	-1.0	-2.3
Santos et al. (2021) U	USA	Propionate	2004	ADG ³ , G:F	-3.2	-2.9
Alencar et al. (2022)	Drogil	Vaaat	800 ⁴	ns	-3.9	-1.9
	Brazii	reast	8004	ns	2.0	-1.5

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵The comparison was the result of Cr fed in grow-finish phase and bottom comparison was the result of Cr fed in finish phase.

2.2. Carcass Characteristics - Cr

Back-fat significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 8.0%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 5 comparisons (average of 6.3%), significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 22 comparisons (average of 14.4%), and tended to decrease $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 7 comparisons (average of 12.4%) compared to control pigs (Table A.16). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (97 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10)0.10) in 42 comparisons (average of 4.2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 53 comparisons (average of 6.4%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 20 comparisons (average of 6.6%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (5.0%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 4.1%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (82) comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 43 comparisons (average of 1.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 36 comparisons (average of 1.2%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 23 comparisons (average of 13.9%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (11.6%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (101 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 61 comparisons (average of 3.2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 38 comparisons (average of 3.0%) compared to control

pigs. According to the database, Cr decreased BF, and increased percentage lean, and LMA/LD of growfinish pigs in more than 60% of the comparisons, and the effects were observed across all inclusion levels (25 to 5,000 μ g/kg). Additionally, increasing the Cr level improved the carcass characteristics linearly within the 50 to 400 μ g/kg inclusion (approximately 80% of all comparisons). Different Cr sources may not have the same effect on carcass characteristics. Contrary to the overall effects, Cr nicotinate increased BF by 2.2% (13 comparisons), and CrCl₃ decreased LMA/LD by 2.2% (6 comparisons). The meta-analysis conducted by Sales and Jančík [202] also found Cr reduced (*P* < 0.001) 10th rib BF and increased (*P* < 0.001) percentage lean and LMA.

			Inclusion.			Difference, % ¹		
Author	Country			Sig ¹	Vield	BE	percenta	LMA/L
Autioi	Country	Source	μg/κg	Sig.	1 Ielu	DI	ge lean	D
			25		n/a	-14.5	3.4	2.9
Page et al. (1993), Exp.		Dicolinato	50	$\mathbf{n}c^2$	n/a	-17.7	3.0	1.1
1	USA	Ficolillate	100	115	n/a	-6.0	1.9	-2.0
			200		n/a	-13.8	2.6	6.6
			100	Viold ^{2,3} \mathbf{PE}^2	0.8	-25.7	8.5	18.8
Page et al. (1993), Exp. 2		Dicolinate	200	nercentage	2.3	-16.5	5.8	17.4
	USA	Ticolliate	400	lean ² I MA ²	3.3	-30.2	11.0	22.6
			800		3.2	-21.9	8.7	18.5
		CrCla	200^{4}	ns	0.0	-5.5	0.0	-1.0
Page et al. (1993), Exp.			2004	ns	-1.1	5.4	-1.9	-3.5
3	OBA	Picolinate	100 and	BF, percentage	0.1 10.7	10 7	5.6	21.4
		I ICOIIIIate	200	lean, LMA	0.1	-17.7	5.0	21.4
Smith et al. (1994)	USA	Nicotinate	200	BF	n/a	-8.8	4.1	3.3
Lindemann et al.	USA	Picolinate	250	ns^2	n/a	2.4	n/a	3.3
(1995)			500		n/a	9.0	n/a	3.8
			200^{4}	BF, percentage	n/a	-173	89	15.9
Lindemann et al.	IISΔ	Picolinate	200	lean, LMA	11/ a	-17.5	0.7	15.7
(1995)	USA	Ticolinate	200^{4}	BF, percentage	n/a	-10.3	47	6.6
				lean, LMA	11/ a	10.5	- . .,	0.0
Lindemann et al			100	BF^{2} ,	n/a	-5.5	1.8	3.3
(1995)	USA	Picolinate	500	percentage	n/a	12.7	-7.4	-11.6
(1775)			1,000	lean ² , LMA ²	n/a	-13.9	5.8	5.3
Mooney and Cromwell (1995)	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	n/a	-0.5	n/a	-2.3
			200 ⁵	ns	0.1	7.6	-0.5	1.7
Boleman et al. (1995)	USA	Picolinate	2005	percentage lean ³	0.1	-8.9	5.0	7.3
Smith et al. (1996)	USA	Nicotinate	200	ns	0.0	2.1	0.5	-1.1
Kornegay et al. (1997)	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	-0.4	3.9	0.0	6.8

 Table A.16. Studies on the effects of dietary chromium on carcass characteristics.

Mooney and Cromwell		Picolinate	200	LMA ³	-0.5	0.3	2.1	6.3
(1997)	USA	CrCl ₃	5000	LMA ³	-0.4	-3.0	1.9	6.2
			400^{4}	ns	0.5	-6.5	-0.2	-1.3
Ward at al. (1007)		Displinate	400^{4}	ns	-0.4	0.0	-0.2	-4.3
ward et al. (1997)	USA		400^{4}	ns	-0.4	3.8	0.0	2.2
			400^{4}	ns	0.1	15.0	-1.4	0.0
			100	ns	0.3	-4.9	n/a	1.8
Min et al. (1997)	South Korea	Picolinate	200	ns	0.4	-15.9	n/a	6.6
			400	ns	-0.3	-11.4	n/a	3.1
Lien et al. (1998)	Taiwan	Picolinate	200	BF, LMA	n/a	-9.4	n/a	12.1
			50		0.2	2.0	-1.3	-1.3
O'Quinn et al. (1998),	USA	Nicotinate	100	ns ²	-1.2	8.1	-2.3	-5.7
Exp.1 (barrow)			200		0.0	2.0	-0.4	-4.9
			400		0.9	-1.0	0.2	0.6
			50		0.0	5.5	-2.0	-3.9
O'Quinn et al. (1998), Exp. 1 (gilt)		Nicotinata	100	Viold ²	0.9	6.6	-1.2	1.9
	05A		200	Tielu	1.5	6.6	-1.6	-2.5
			400		0.3	4.4	1.1	2.7
O'Quinn et al. (1998), Exp. 2 ¹²	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	0.0	3.8	-1.1	-1.9
TT 1 1 / 1		Yeast	(0.03%)	ns	n/a	1.4	-0.3	2.0
Hanczakowska et al.	Poland	Disalimete	200^{4}	ns	n/a	-1.8	1.9	4.9
O'Quinn et al. (1998), Exp. 1 (gilt) O'Quinn et al. (1998), Exp. 2 ¹² Hanczakowska et al. (1999) Mooney and Cromwell (1999), Exp. 1		Picolinate	200^{4}	ns	n/a	4.7	-2.5	-5.1
Mooney and Cromwell (1999), Exp. 1	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	0.2	-0.3	0.9	5.4
Mooney and Cromwell (1999), Exp. 2	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	-0.2	3.8	-1.6	-1.8
O'Ouinp at al (1000)		Nicotinata	50 ⁴	ns	0.7	-0.5	0.1	2.3
	USA	micountate	504	ns	-0.7	1.0	0.5	2.6
			200	Yield ³	-1.6	5.0	n/a	n/a
Lemme et al. (1999)	USA	Yeast	400	ns	0.2	-1.1	n/a	n/a
		_	800	ns	0.6	3.9	n/a	n/a
	USA	Picolinate	200	ns	0.4	-7.7	-2.8	0.7

Matthews et al. (2001), Exp. 1		Propionate	200	ns	-0.3	-7.7	-0.6	6.1
Xi et al. (2001)	USA	Picolinate	200	BF, percentage lean, LMA	1.2	-10.9	7.6	15.6
Matthews et al. (2003)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	-0.2	0.6	-1.8	-1.0
			50		0.3	-3.5	2.4	3.8
Shalton at al. (2002)			100	ns ²	0.1	2.0	-1.4	0.7
Shellon et al. (2003) ,	USA	Propionate	200		0.1	-2.3	3.0	9.9
Exp. 1		_	200^{4}	ns	0.1	-2.3	3.0	9.9
			200^{4}	ns	-1.5	-4.9	0.7	-6.1
Shalton at al. (2002)	USA		100		-0.1	7.8	-2.4	-2.6
Shellon et al. (2005) , Eve 2		Propionate	200	ns ²	-0.2	3.7	0.1	2.3
Exp. 2			300		0.2	1.8	0.1	1.7
Waylan et al. (2003)	USA	Nicotinate	50	ns	0.0	0.2	0.3	2.5
Wang and Xu (2004)	China	Nano Cr	200	BF, percentage lean, LMA	1.2	-18.2	14.1	20.0
Matthews et al. (2005)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	-0.4	10.2	-0.6	-4.3
	USA	Picolinate	200^{4}	ns	-1.9	-2.3	-0.5	-0.9
Amoikon et al. (2006)			200^{4}	ns	-0.8	7.2	-3.5	-7.0
			200^{4}	ns	1.9	-0.3	0.5	-1.1
Khaianam at al (2006)	Thailand	Bisglycinate-	200	Yield ² , BF ² ,	0.0	-4.5	2.2	5.9
Knajarern et al. (2006)	Thanana	chelate	400	LMA ²	0.9	-7.3	3.1	7.3
Bergstrom et al. (2008)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	0.7	1.4	-0.7	-3.3
Wang et al. (2008)	China	Picolinate	200	LMA	2.7	-10.3	n/a	17.3
		Tripicolinate	5,000	ns	0.6	-7.3	n/a	2.0
Lindemann et al.		Propionate	5,000	ns	1.1	-16.0	n/a	0.2
(2008)	USA	Methionine	5,000	ns	0.9	-3.8	n/a	-2.6
		Yeast	5,000	ns	0.3	-10.3	n/a	1.3
			200^{4}	BF ³	0.5	-6.3	2.6	6.1
Jackson et al. (2009)	USA	Propionate	200^{4}	BF ³	0.2	-9.1	-2.4	3.1
			200^{4}	BF ³	1.1	1.6	-1.5	3.2
Park et al. (2009)	South Korea	CrCl ₃	200	ns	-1.4	-12.6	1.6	-5.6

		Picolinate	200	ns	0.9	-13.7	3.2	1.6
			100	ns	1.2	-15.5	3.1	2.1
		Methionine	200	BF, percentage lean	0.7	-31.4	8.8	2.5
		CrCl ₃	200	ns	1.3	-2.7	3.5	-5.4
Ware at al. (2000)	China	Picolinate	200	LMA	3.1	-10.3	1.7	17.3
wang et al. (2009)	China	Nano CrCl ₃	200	BF, percentage lean, LMA	1.5	-24.3	10.6	20.2
Densite at $a1$ (2012)	Domonio	Disolinato	200	ns	n/a	-3.9	0.9	n/a
Fallalle et al. (2015)	Komama	Ficolillate	400	ns	n/a	-16.5	2.9	n/a
			300		-1.0	-15.4	3.4	7.2
Li et al. (2013)	China	Methionine	600	$BF^{2,3}$, LMA ²	0.3	-19.1	7.2	13.2
			900		-0.1	-22.8	7.3	13.1
Hung et al. (2014)	Australia	Nano Tripicolinate	400	ns	0.0	0.0	n/a	n/a
Deres at al. (2014)	Drozil	Cr sulfate	200	ns	-0.4	-0.6	n/a	-0.4
1 cics ci al. (2014)	DIAZII	Methionine	200	ns	-0.4	-3.8	n/a	0.1
Panaite et al. (2013) Li et al. (2013) Hung et al. (2014) Peres et al. (2014) Wang et al. (2014) Tian et al. (2015) Li et al. (2017)		Chitogen	100	BF ² ,	1.1	-5.2	3.2	13.5
	China	cintosan	200	percentage	1.1	-8.1	3.7	15.8
			400	lean ² , LMA ²	1.0	-7.6	3.2	11.5
			100		-1.5	7.4	-0.8	-1.4
Tian et al. (2015)	China	Methionine	200	$BF^{2,3}$	-1.2	14.5	1.9	16.3
11an et al. (2013)	Ciiiia	Weunonne	400	DI''	-0.8	-10.9	3.8	6.1
			$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $	2.1	6.8			
		CrCl ₃	200	ns	1.2	-0.4	n/a	-3.7
\mathbf{Li} at al. (2017)	Taiwan	Picolinate	200	BF	1.2	-9.6	n/a	-3.7
L1 ct al. (2017)	1 al wall	Nano CrCl ₃	200	ns	0.9	-0.9	n/a	-3.3
		Nano Picolinate	200	BF	0.9	-9.6	n/a	0.2
Marcolla et al. (2017)	Brozil	Voost	400^{4}	ns	-0.1	-24.5	n/a	-0.3
	DIazii	I Cast	400^{4}	ns	-0.3	10.2	n/a	-6.4
Xu et al. (2017)	China	Methionine	200	ns	1.1	-5.2	n/a	2.1
$\operatorname{Iin at al} (2018)$	China	Mathionina -	200^{4}	Yield	3.2	11.9	n/a	n/a
JIII EL al. (2010)	Ciiiia	wieumonnie	2004	ns	0.9	-8.2	n/a	n/a
Mayorga et al. (2019)	USA	Propionate	200	ns	n/a	-0.8	n/a	0.4

Gebhardt et al. (2019), Exp. 1	USA	Propionate	200	BF, percentage lean	0.6	3.3	-0.8	-1.0
Cabhardt at al. (2010)			200^{4}	ns	-0.3	0.8	-0.1	0.0
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Geoliarut et al. (2019),} \\ \text{Evp. 2} \end{array}$	USA	Propionate	200^{4}	ns	0.3	0.7	-0.1	0.1
Ехр. 2			200^{4}	ns	-0.5	1.5	-0.5	-1.9
	USA		100	ns ²	0.1	0.3	0.1	1.3
Gebhardt et al. (2019), Exp. 1		Propionata	200		-0.5	-0.4	0.2	0.8
		Fiopioliale	100/200	ns	-0.1	0.6	0.1	1.2
			200/100	ns	-0.3	-0.2	0.2	1.3
Gebhardt et al. (2019), Exp. 2	LIC A	Dropionata	200/100	ns	0.0	-2.2	0.6	1.2
	USA	Propioliale	200/200	Yield	-0.4	1.1	-0.2	0.5
$\mathbf{Lion} \text{ and } \mathbf{Lon} (2010)$	Taiwan	Picolinate	200	ns	-1.5	-9.7	-0.7	0.0
Lien and Lan (2019)		Nano Picolinate	200	ns	-0.6	-11.1	-1.4	4.5
de Silve et el (2021)	Prozil	Yeast	800	percentage lean	n/a	0.7	5.9	3.2
da Silva et al. (2021)	DIazii	Picolinate	480	percentage lean	n/a	-12.8	7.9	1.7
Sentes et al. (2021)		Ducuiou oto	200^{4}	BF ³	0.4	6.1	-0.7	1.5
Samos et al. (2021)	USA	Propionale	200^{4}	BF ³	-0.3	1.9	-0.6	-1.4
Alamour at al. (2022)	Drozil	Vaast	8004	ns	1.2	-1.4	-0.4	-2.5
Alencar et al. (2022)	Drazli	reast	8004	ns	-1.0	-1.5	0.2	-1.9

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵The 2 experimental diets with Cr were fed in grow-finish and finish phase respectively.

3. Conjugated Linoleic Acid (CLA)

There were 46 research articles for CLA with 73 comparisons from 15 countries during the growfinish or finishing period with added dietary levels of 0.07 to 2.72%. Of these, 55 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 65 comparisons reported carcass data.

3.1. Growth Performance - CLA

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 5 comparisons (average of 7.2%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (3.6%), and significantly decreased $(P \le 0.05)$ in 3 comparisons (average of 7.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.17). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (53 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 34 comparisons (average of 3.7%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) 0.10) in 17 comparisons (average of 4.1%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 13 comparisons (average of 4.5%), tended to increase ($0.05 \le P \le 0.10$) in 6 comparisons (average of 8.8%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (2.8%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (37 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 24 comparisons (average of 4.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 9 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that CLA had positive effects on ADG and G:F (65 and 75% of all the comparisons); however, the effects of CLA were often not significant enough to statistically

improve (P < 0.10) ADG (10% of all the comparisons). On the other hand, CLA improved (P < 0.10) G:F in 33% of all the comparisons. Increasing CLA concentrations did not increasingly improve the ADG and G:F response. Contrary to what is concluded herein, in a meta-analysis by Wang et al. [245] found no evidence of difference (P > 0.05) in ADG, ADFI, and G:F when pigs were fed CLA or linseed supplementation; however, only seven research articles were included in their meta-analysis. Different basal diets may affect the response to CLA on ADG and G:F. Diets with wheat as the main ingredient (18 comparisons) had a greater percentage of improvement in ADG (3.7%) and G:F (5.4%) compared to diets with corn as the main ingredient [ADG decreased 0.1% (32 comparisons) and G:F increased 2.8% (28 comparisons)].

				Differen	nce, % ¹
Author	Country	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
Dugan et al. (1997)	Canada	1.00	G:F ³	0.0	6.2
		0.07		10.2	5.8
		0.14		6.3	6.7
Ostrowska et al. (1999)	Australia	0.28	ns ²	8.4	8.8
		0.41		1.4	3.0
		0.55		2.8	6.7
O'Quinn et al. (2000)	USA	0.30	ns	-5.8	0.0
Bee (2001)	Switzerland	1.20	ns	7.5	6.8
Eggert et al. (2001)	USA	0.60	ADG	-10.2	-7.4
		0.164	ns	1.5	4.0
Dugan at al. (2001)	Canada	0.334	ns	4.0	2.1
Dugan et al. (2001)	Callada	0.164	ns	5.0	0.3
		0.334	ns	0.7	2.0
		0.07	ns	-1.3	4.3
Thial Cooper at al. (2001)		0.15	ns	1.2	6.0
	USA	0.30	ns	3.4	5.1
		0.60	ADG, G:F	8.2	9.1
Wiegand et al. (2001)	USA	0.75	G:F	1.9	6.1
Barowicz et al. (2002)	Dolond	1.20	ns	4.3	10.5
Barowicz et al. (2002)	Polalid	1.20	ns	1.2	0.8
Dunshea et al. (2002), Exp. 1	Australia	0.22	ns	1.4	4.1
Dunshea et al. (2002), Exp. 2	Australia	0.22	ns	-1.4	-0.7
Tischendorf et al. (2002)	Germany	1.08	ns	2.0	0.3
		0.755		0.5	2.7
Wiegand et al. (2002)	USA	0.75^{5}	$G:F^2$	1.9	3.3
		0.75 ⁵		-1.3	1.2
		0.07		6.1	6.7
		0.14		5.8	10.0
Ostrowska et al. (2003)	Australia	0.28	$G:F^{2,3}$	6.8	16.7
		0.41		-0.1	3.3
		0.55		-2.0	10.0
Sup et al. (2004)	China	1.36	$ADG^2 G \cdot F^2$	7.7	3.9
		2.72		14.1	5.2
Barowicz et al. (2005)	Poland	1.20	ns	1.2	n/a
Lauridsen et al. (2005)	Denmark	0.30	$ADG^3, G:F$	3.6	4.8
Weber et al. (2006)	USA	0.60	G:F	3.4	4.0
Bee et al. (2008)	Switzerland	0.60	ns	2.5	0.0
Corino et al. (2008)	Italy	0.38	ns	2.2	n/a
Martin et al. (2008)	Snain	0.56	ns	5.1	5.9
	Span	1.12	ns	5.7	5.9

Table A.17. Studies on the effects of dieta	ry CLA on growth performance.
---------------------------------------------	-------------------------------

White et al. (2009)	USA	0.60	ns	5.4	-1.4
Ling at al. (2010)	China	1.00	ADC^2	-7.9	0.0
Jiang et al. (2010)		2.00	ADG	-5.3	-1.6
		0.36		-6.6	n/a
Han et al. (2011)	China	0.71	ns ²	-14.5	n/a
		1.09		-9.2	n/a
Lee et al. (2011)	South Korea	0.59	ns	3.7	12.5
Barnes et al. (2012)	USA	0.60	G:F	-3.2	-2.8
Go et al. (2012)	USA	0.80	ns	-3.2	-2.7
Martinez-Aispuro et al. (2012)	Mexico	1.2/0.5/0.2	ns	-9.4	-2.0
Rickard et al. (2012)	USA	0.36	G:F	1.6	5.8
Domesou et al (2012)	LIC A	0.60^{4}	ADG, G:F	1.6	2.2
Fompeu et al. (2013)	USA	0.60^{4}	ADG, G:F	4.4	2.3
Tous et al. (2013)	Spain	2.51	ns	0.0	-2.5
Martínez-Aispuro et al. (2014)	Mexico	0.60	ns	-1.9	-2.2
Wang et al. (2015)	China	0.60	ns	1.2	0.0
Margolla et al. (2017)	Drozil	0.28^{4}	ns	5.0	3.9
	DIazii	0.28^{4}	G:F	4.9	8.1
Upodhava at al. (2017)	South Voras	0.28	ns	-0.5	1.2
Opadnaya et al. (2017)	South Kolea	0.56	ns	-0.8	-0.3
Panisson et al. (2020)	Brozil	0.18	ns	-3.4	2.0
r amssom et al. (2020)	DIAZII	0.36	ns	-5.5	2.0

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵CLA was fed in the 3 treatment diets during the last 29, 56, or 87 kg of BW gain before slaughter respectively.

3.2. Carcass Characteristics - CLA

Back-fat significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 22 comparisons (average of 15.4%) and tended to decrease $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 5 comparisons (average of 6.5%) compared to control pigs (Table A.18). Approximately half of the studies found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (32 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 14 comparisons (average of 4.0%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 16 comparisons (average of 6.1%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 14 comparisons (average of 4.9%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (23 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 16 comparisons (average of 1.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 0.6%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 6 comparisons (average of 7.6%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (3.7%), significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (5.9%), and tended to decrease ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 1 comparison (4.8%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (29 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 14 comparisons (average of 3.0%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 15 comparisons (average of 3.0%) compared to control pigs. The results showed that CLA had significant effects on decreasing BF (73% of all the comparisons and all the significant comparisons) and

increasing percentage lean (81% of all the comparisons and all the significant comparisons) of growfinish pigs. Increasing CLA concentrations did not increasingly improve the carcass characteristics. Moreover, different basal diets may affect the response to CLA on BF and percentage lean. Diets with wheat as the main ingredient had a bigger percentage of reduction in BF (13.8%; 9 comparisons) and an improvement in percentage lean (3.7%; 11 comparisons) compared to diets with corn as the main ingredient [BF decrease 7.4% (37 comparisons) and percentage lean increased 2.3% (16 comparisons)]. These results suggest that CLA has the potential to reduce BF and increase percentage lean more consistently compared to other feed additives considered in this review.

				Difference, % ¹			
Author	Country	Inclusion, %	Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	percentag e lean	LMA/LD
Dugan et al. (1997)	Canada	1.00	percentage lean	n/a	n/a	2.3	n/a
		0.07		n/a	n/a	0.7	n/a
		0.14		n/a	n/a	6.0	n/a
Ostrowska et al. (1999)	Australia	0.28	percentage lean ²	n/a	n/a	7.2	n/a
		0.41		n/a	n/a	5.4	n/a
Ω' Ouinn et al. (2000)		0.55		n/a	n/a	9.1	n/a
O'Quinn et al. (2000)	USA	0.30	ns	-1.4	-5.2	0.4	-4.1
Bee (2001)	Switzerland	1.20	BF	<u>n/a</u>	-20.7	-0.4	1.4
		0.164	percentage lean	n/a	n/a	6.0	n/a
Dugan et al. (2001)	Canada	0.334	percentage lean	n/a	n/a	4.4	n/a
Dugan et al. (2001)	Callada	0.164	ns	n/a	n/a	-0.3	n/a
		0.334	ns	n/a	n/a	1.8	n/a
Eggert et al. (2001)	USA	0.60	ns	-0.1	-8.2	n/a	-2.0
Thial Cooper at al. (2001)	USA	0.07	BF	n/a	-18.2	n/a	6.4
		0.15	BF	n/a	-18.2	n/a	2.0
The-Cooper et al. (2001)		0.30	ns	n/a	-8.7	n/a	-2.8
		0.60	ns	n/a	-10.1	n/a	-4.7
Wiegand et al. (2001)	USA	0.75	BF	n/a	-7.0	n/a	4.9
Averette Gatlin et al. (2002)	USA	0.60	ns	n/a	-2.6	-0.4	-2.9
Barowicz et al. (2002)	Dolond	1.20	ns	-0.9	18.0	5.4	n/a
Barowicz et al. (2002)	Polalid	1.20	ns	-0.1	-5.3	1.2	n/a
Dunshea et al. (2002), Exp 1	Australia	0.22	BF	0.2	-8.0	n/a	n/a
Dunshea et al. (2002), Exp 2	Australia	0.22	ns	0.7	1.0	n/a	n/a
Tischendorf et al. (2002)	Germany	1.08	percentage lean	-0.4	-7.4	2.6	n/a
	•	0.75 ⁵	\mathbf{DE}^2 moments as 1×1^2	n/a	-14.5	5.0	6.6
Wiegand et al. (2002)	USA	0.75^{5}	$D\Gamma^-$, percentage lean ² ,	n/a	-14.5	6.4	11.0
		0.75 ⁵	LIVIA	n/a	-20.6	7.4	9.2

 Table A.18. Studies on the effects of dietary CLA on carcass characteristics.

Corring at al. (2002)	Italy	0.16	BF^3	0.0	-12.8	n/a	n/a
Corino et al. (2003)	Italy	0.33	BF^3	-0.1	-8.9	n/a	n/a
		0.07		-1.3	n/a	n/a	n/a
		0.14		-0.6	n/a	n/a	n/a
Ostrowska et al. (2003)	Australia	0.28	ns ²	-0.3	n/a	n/a	n/a
		0.41		0.1	n/a	n/a	n/a
		0.55		-2.3	n/a	n/a	n/a
Sup at al. (2004)	China	1.36	\mathbf{DE}^2 IMA ²	n/a	-8.6	n/a	4.6
Sull et al. (2004)	Chillia	2.72	DF, LMA	n/a	-10.4	n/a	5.7
Barowicz et al. (2005)	Poland	1.20	BF, LMA	-1.0	-9.5	3.0	8.5
Corino et al. (2005)	Italy	0.38	ns	-1.7	1.8	n/a	n/a
Lauridsen et al. (2005)	Denmark	0.30	ns	n/a	0.4	0.4	1.2
Ostrowska et al. (2005)	Australia	0.07		-1.3	-7.1	n/a	n/a
		0.14	BF^2	-0.6	-17.8	n/a	n/a
		0.28		-0.3	-17.4	n/a	n/a
		0.41		0.1	-19.1	n/a	n/a
		0.55		-2.3	-23.7	n/a	n/a
Rossi et al. (2005)	Italy	0.38	ns	0.2	n/a	0.4	n/a
Weber et al. (2006)	USA	0.60	BF ³ , percentage lean, LMA ³	-0.6	-7.0	1.8	3.7
Bee et al. (2008)	Switzerland	0.60	BF	n/a	-11.0	0.9	n/a
Corino et al. (2008)	Italy	0.38	ns	-0.8	0.4	-0.4	-3.7
Martin at al (2008)	Snoin	0.56	ns	-0.5	0.0	n/a	n/a
Martin et al. (2008)	Spani —	1.12	ns	-0.2	5.2	n/a	n/a
Cechova et al. (2009)	Czech Republic	1.20	ns	n/a	1.2	n/a	-2.6
Larsen et al. (2009)	USA	0.45	ns	n/a	-6.1	n/a	4.4
White et al. (2009)	USA	0.60	ns	n/a	3.6	2.4	-0.4
Cechova et al. (2010)	Czech Republic	1.20	ns	n/a	n/a	-0.6	n/a
Cordero et al. (2010)	Spain	0.60	ns	-0.9	-2.7	n/a	n/a
		0.30		-1.5	n/a	n/a	n/a
Cordero et al. (2010)	Spain	0.60	ns ²	-0.8	n/a	n/a	n/a
	-	1.20		0.1	n/a	n/a	n/a
Jiang et al. (2010)	China	1.00	BF, percentage lean	-0.2	-26.8	4.7	9.3

		2.00	BF	-0.5	-8.5	3.5	-2.0
		0.36		3.0	n/a	n/a	n/a
Han et al. (2011)	China	0.71	Yield ^{2,3}	3.7	n/a	n/a	n/a
		1.09		2.3	n/a	n/a	n/a
Lee et al. (2011)	South Korea	0.59	ns	-1.9	-2.7	n/a	n/a
Barnes et al. (2012)	USA	0.60	BF, LMA	n/a	-16.0	1.8	-5.9
Go et al. (2012)	USA	0.80	ns	0.5	-1.5	n/a	-0.5
Martinez-Aispuro et al. (2012)	Mexico		ns	n/a	1.6	-1.8	-7.5
Rickard et al. (2012)	USA	0.36	BF, LMA	n/a	-12.7	n/a	-4.8
Pompeu et al. (2013)		0.60^4	Yield, BF ³	-1.0	-3.0	0.9	2.4
	USA	0.60^{4}	Yield, BF ³	-0.6	-0.9	0.2	0.1
Tous et al. (2013)	Spain	2.51	ns	-0.6	-11.6	5.0	0.8
		0.15	ns	n/a	-4.0	n/a	n/a
Bothma et al. (2014)	South Africa	0.30	ns	n/a	-1.0	n/a	n/a
		0.60	ns	n/a	-14.0	n/a	n/a
Martínez-Aispuro et al. (2014)	Mexico	0.60	ns	n/a	-5.8	-0.3	-4.3
Wang et al. (2015)	China	0.60	ns	3.1	0.0	n/a	5.2
Manaella et al. (2017)	Drozil	0.284	BF	0.0	-27.5	n/a	2.0
Marcolla et al. (2017)	Brazil	0.28^{4}	ns	-0.2	5.8	n/a	-4.2
Unadhava at al. (2017)	South Vorea	0.28	ns	n/a	-2.3	1.0	0.9
Opadilaya et al. (2017)	South Kolea	0.56	ns	n/a	-8.5 3.5 n/a n/a -2.7 n/a -16.0 1.8 -1.5 n/a -1.5 n/a -1.5 n/a -1.5 n/a -1.5 n/a -1.5 n/a -1.6 5.0 -1.0 n/a -1.0 n/a -1.0 n/a -1.0 n/a -1.0 n/a -1.0 n/a -2.7.5 n/a -2.7.5 n/a -2.3 1.0 -2.3 1.0 -6.4 1.8 4.8 n/a 5.2 n/a	1.8	0.9
Panisson at al. (2020)	Brozil	0.18	ns	n/a	4.8	n/a	-0.3
$\mathbf{Famsson} \in \mathbf{al.} (2020)$	DIaZII	0.36	ns	n/a	5.2	n/a	-3.6

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁵CLA was fed in the 3 treatment diets during the last 29, 56, or 87 kg of BW gain before slaughter respectively.

4. L-carnitine

There were 12 research articles for L-carnitine with 29 comparisons from 4 countries during the grow-finish or finishing period with added dietary levels of 25 to 250 mg/kg, with most studies feeding 50 mg/kg. Of these, 24 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 22 comparisons reported carcass data.

4.1. Growth Performance – L-carnitine

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 3.3%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 4 comparisons (average of 3.1%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (4.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.19). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (17 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 13 comparisons (average of 3.4%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) (0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 2.6%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (2.9%) and tended to increase ($0.05 \le P \le 0.10$) in 3 comparisons (average of 3.7%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (20 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 13 comparisons (average of 4.4%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 2%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that L-carnitine has the potential to improve ADG and G:F (79 and 71% of all the comparisons) with relatively large improvement.

Moreover, the beneficial effects of L-carnitine were significant (P < 0.10) for ADG and G:F in 25 and 23% of all the comparisons, respectively. There were not enough data to support whether different inclusion levels or types of basal diets affected the response to L-carnitine for ADG and G:F. However, results might suggest that pigs fed L-carnitine were more likely to have improved ADG and G:F when fed in diets without DDGS [290-292], but further research is needed to confirm this. Additionally, environmental factors, such as temperature, humidity, and stress level, may affect L-carnitine response [293] due to the change in feed intake and physiological status.

			_	Differe	nce, % ¹
Authors	Country	Inclusion, mg/kg	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
Owen at al. (2001)		50	\mathbf{p}_{c}^{2}	2.2	-3.1
Owen et al. (2001)	USA	125	115	-1.1	0.0
		25		3.3	3.1
		50		2.2	6.3
Owen et al. (2001)	USA	75	ns ²	3.3	6.3
		100	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c } \hline Sig.^1 & ADG \\ \hline ns^2 & 2.2 \\ -1.1 & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & & $	6.3	
		125		2.2	6.3
Waylan et al. (2003)	USA	50	ns	0.8	1.3
Bertol et al. (2005)	USA	150	ns	-4.7	-3.6
Han and Thacker (2006)	South Korea	50	ns	5.0	7.1
Chen et al. (2008)	South Korea	250	ns	3.9	3.1
Pietruszka et al. (2009)	Poland	100	ns	1.4	1.2
James et al. (2013)	USA	50	ns	0.0	-0.4
Lamos et al. (2012) Euro 1		25		Differen ADG 2.2 -1.1 3.3 2.2 3.3 6.5 2.2 0.8 -4.7 5.0 3.9 1.4 0.0 -4.8 0.6 2.3 -1.9 9.4 6.0 4.9 3.7 2.4 1.2 1.8	0.0
James et al. (2013), Exp. 1	USA	50	ADG-		-1.6
Lamas at al. (2012) Even 2		25	С.Е ^{2,3}	Differenc ADG 2.2 -1.1 3.3 2.2 3.3 6.5 2.2 0.8 -4.7 5.0 3.9 1.4 0.0 -4.8 0.6 2.3 -1.9 9.4 6.0 4.9 3.7 2.4 1.2 1.8	5.5
James et al. (2013), Exp. 2	USA	50	G:F	-1.9	4.1
James et al. (2013), Exp. 3	USA	50	ns	9.4	7.7
James et al. (2013), Exp. 4	USA	50	ADG, G:F	6.0	2.9
		50^{4}	$ADC^{2,3}$	4.9	3.5
Vince at al. (2012)		100^{4}	ADG-,*	3.7	0.6
$1 \lim_{n \to \infty} et al. (2013)$	USA	50^{4}	ADC ^{2,3}	Difference ADG 2.2 -1.1 3.3 2.2 3.3 6.5 2.2 0.8 -4.7 5.0 3.9 1.4 0.0 -4.8 0.6 2.3 -1.9 9.4 6.0 4.9 3.7 2.4 1.2 1.8	-1.2
		100^{4}	ADG-"	ADG 2.2 -1.1 3.3 2.2 3.3 6.5 2.2 0.8 -4.7 5.0 3.9 1.4 0.0 -4.8 0.6 2.3 -1.9 9.4 6.0 4.9 3.7 2.4 1.2 1.8	4.2
Meng et al. (2018)	USA	50	G:F ³	1.8	1.5

Table A.19. Studies on the effects of dietary L-carnitine on growth performance.

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis. ³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴The basal diets were corn-SBM based in the top two comparisons. The basal diets were corn-DDGS-SBM based in the bottom two comparisons.

4.2. Carcass Characteristics – L-carnitine

Back-fat significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 4%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 2 comparisons (average of 1.4%), significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 12.5%), and tended to decrease $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 7 comparisons (average of 4.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.20). Eight comparisons found no evidence of difference (P >0.10) in BF. Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 1 comparison (1.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 5.7%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 4 comparisons (average of 3.8%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le$ 0.10) in 2 comparisons (average of 1.5%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 1.3%) compared to control pigs. Half of the studies found no evidence of difference (P >0.10) in percentage lean (11 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P >(0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 1.5%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 0.7%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (6.3%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (20 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 13 comparisons (average of 4.4%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. There were not enough data to support whether different inclusion levels or types of basal diets affected the response to L-carnitine for carcass

characteristics. Overall, the results suggest that L-carnitine is a potential feed additive that had relatively large positive effects on BF, percentage lean, and LMA/LD (68, 65, and 67% of all the comparisons) compared to other feed additives in this review, with 23, 30, and 5% of all the comparisons being significant (P < 0.10), respectively.

				Difference, % ¹			
Authors	Country	Inclusion, mg/kg	Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	percentage lean	LMA/LD
		50	BF ^{2,3} ,	-1.3	-2.6	1.8	1.4
Owen et al. (2001)	USA	125	percentage lean ²	-1.2	-4.3	4.1	9.2
		25		0.9	0.6	-2.6	-6.4
		50	$BF^{2,3}$,	-0.4	-9.1	7.6	12.6
Owen et al. (2001)	USA	75	percentage	-0.7	-5.0	1.9	0.2
		100	lean ²	-0.1	-2.8	-0.3	-1.1
		125		1.0	2.2	-0.9	0.6
Waylan et al. (2003)	USA	50	ns	0.5	1.9	0.1	2.2
Bertol et al. (2005)	USA	150	ns	n/a	-3.8	n/a	-2.2
Han and Thacker (2006)	South Korea	50	ns	-0.1	-10.5	0.8	n/a
Chen et al. (2008)	South Korea	250	BF	n/a	-18.2	1.8	16.2
Pietruszka et al. (2009)	Poland	100	ns	2.7	-7.4	1.4	-3.4
James et al. (2013) Exp. 1	USA	25	ns ²	-0.6	-3.1	2.2	1.8
James et al. (2015), Exp.1	05A	50	115	-0.7	$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c } \hline Difference, \%^1 \\ \hline BF & percentage \\ \hline lean \\ \hline -2.6 & 1.8 \\ \hline -4.3 & 4.1 \\ \hline 0.6 & -2.6 \\ \hline -9.1 & 7.6 \\ \hline -5.0 & 1.9 \\ \hline -2.8 & -0.3 \\ \hline 2.2 & -0.9 \\ \hline 1.9 & 0.1 \\ \hline -3.8 & n/a \\ \hline -10.5 & 0.8 \\ \hline -18.2 & 1.8 \\ \hline -7.4 & 1.4 \\ \hline -3.1 & 2.2 \\ \hline -2.2 & 1.7 \\ \hline -2.0 & 1.2 \\ \hline -7.6 & 1.7 \\ \hline -7.1 & 2.4 \\ \hline 4.8 & -0.7 \\ \hline 3.0 & -0.5 \\ \hline 4.2 & -0.7 \\ \hline 0.0 & 0.0 \\ \hline -6.7 & n/a \\ \hline \end{tabular}$	0.2	
		25	BF ^{2,3} ,	3.0	-2.0	1.2	7.5
James et al. (2013), Exp.2	USA	50	percentage lean 2,3	0.6	-7.6	1.7	2.0
James et al. (2013), Exp.3	USA	50	LMA	n/a	-7.1	2.4	6.3
······		50 ⁴	V:-1423 DE2	1.6	4.8	-0.7	0.5
$V_{inc.et.al.}(2012)^7$		100^{4}	Tield ^{-,-} , BF ⁻	0.4	3.0	-0.5	-0.3
$1 \text{ mg et al. } (2013)^2$	USA	50 ⁴	Viald ^{2,3} DE ²	0.3	4.2	-0.7	-0.3
		100^{4}	1 1010 ^{-,} , BF ²	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.0
Meng et al. (2018)	USA	50	BF	-0.2	-6.7	n/a	3.3

Table A.20. Studies on the effects of dietary L-carnitine on carcass characteristics.

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴The basal diets were corn-SBM based in the top two comparisons. The basal diets were corn-DDGS-SBM based in the bottom two comparisons.

Feed Additives – Enzymes

This section discusses dietary enzymes used as feed additives in classes of carbohydrases, proteases, phytases, and combination of different types of enzymes (multi-enzymes). There were 86 research articles for enzymes with 165 comparisons from 13 countries during the grow-finish or finishing period which met the requirements for inclusion. Of these, 163 comparisons reported growth performance data, and 107 comparisons reported carcass data. For phytases, its effect in low P diets has been well established, thus, only experiments that utilized diets at/above P requirement were included to discuss the other potential benefits of adding phytases.

1. Growth performance - Carbohydrases

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 15 comparisons (average of 5.3%), tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 5 comparisons (average of 4%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 4 comparisons (average of 2.7%) compared to control pigs (Table A.21). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (63 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 35 comparisons (average of 2.9%) and numerically decreased (P >0.10) in 24 comparisons (average of 3.3%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 8 comparisons (average of 8.5%) and tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 2 comparisons (average of 5.9%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (74 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 46 comparisons (average of 2.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 19 comparisons (average of 3.8%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that carbohydrases had positive effects on ADG and G:F (63 and 67% of all the comparisons), but the magnitude was small, and most comparisons had no statistical differences. Additionally, in a meta-analysis conducted by Aranda-Aguirre et al. [302], the authors found that β -mannanase and xylanase had no effects (P > 0.10) on growth performance of finishing pigs. However, in another meta-analysis by Kiarie et al. [303], the authors found β -mannanase improved (P < 0.0001) ADG and G:F of grow-finish pigs. Dietary composition and differences in primary ingredients utilized may affect the effect of carbohydrases on ADG and G:F. Corn diets (32 comparisons) had 2.6% improvement in ADG and 2.2% increase in G:F; Barley diet had 0.4% improvement in ADG (23 comparisons) and 1.7% improvement in G:F (21 comparisons); and wheat diet had 0.9% decrease in ADG (16 comparisons) and 0.2% improvement in G:F (15 comparisons). Moreover, with the limited data, carbohydrases appeared to improve ADG and G:F in some trials with diets that were low in energy and/or AAs, which suggest carbohydrases may be beneficial for the economic efficiency in diets formulated below requirements. Moreover, carbohydrases showed no benefit or negative effects in diets with high level of DDGS (above 15%). Because the production of DDGS utilizes carbohydrases during the fermentation stage to release the nutrients (starch), there may not be enough available substrates for dietary carbohydrases to be beneficial.

				Differer	nce, $\%^1$
Author	Country	Enzyme	Sig. ¹	ADG	G:F
Thacker et al. (1988)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	2.7	0.6
Thacker et al. (1992)	Canada	Carbohydrases ⁵	ns	1.2	1.6
111acKei et al. (1992)	Callada	Carbonyurases	ns	-8.1	-3.7
		Carbohydrases ^a	ns	0.0	2.4
Baas and Thacker (1996)	Canada	Carbohydrases ^b	ns	-3.5	2.9
Daas and Thacker (1990)	Callada	Carbohydrases ^c	ns	-1.2	1.6
		Carbohydrases ^d	ns	-3.5	0.8
Kim et al. (1998)	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	3.2	-0.4
Flis et al. (1998)	Poland	Carbohydrases ⁵	ns	3.1	3.3
			ns	4.4	4.7
O'Doherty and Forde (1999)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	ns	-2.6	0.3
Thacker and Campbell (1999)	Canada	Carbohydrases ⁵	ns	0.0	0.0
			ns	-2.1	2.4
Mavromichalis et al. (2000), Exp. 1	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	-1.7	3.5
Mavromichalis et al. (2000), Exp. 2	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	2.2	0.0
Grandhi (2001)	Canada	Carbohydrases	G:F	1.2	4.2
Pettey et al. (2002)	USA	Carbohydrases	ADG, G:F ³	3.6	4.2
Park et al. (2003), Exp. 1	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	2.2	2.7
				4.4	2.8
Park et al. (2003), Exp. 2	USA	Carbohydrases ⁴	$ADG^{2,3}$	3.3	2.8
Park et al. (2003), Exp. 2				6.7	5.6
			$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.0	
Park et al. (2003), Exp. 3	USA	Carbohydrases ⁴	ns^2	1.1	3.1
		Carbohydrases SA Carbohydrases AI SA Carbohydrases SA Carbohydrases ⁴ AI SA Carbohydrases ⁴ SA Carbohydrases ⁴		1.1	0.0
			ns	2.2	5.9
			ns	-5.4	-4.7
Park et al. (2003)	USA	Carbohydrases ⁵	ns	-5.8	-5.4
			ns	1.6	1.0
			ns	-2.9	-0.5
Flis and Sobotka (2005)	Poland	Carbohydrases	ns	2.6	3.2
Thacker (2005), Exp. 1	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	0.0	1.1
Thacker (2005), Exp. 2	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	-1.9	0.0
		_	ns	3.9	3.1
Thacker and Rossnagel (2005)	Canada	Carbohydrases ⁵	ns	-1.9	-3.7
			ns	-1.9	0.0
		-	ns	1.9	1.6
Thacker and Rossnagel (2005)	Canada	Carbohydrases ⁵	ns	1.8	2.9
			ns	1.8	0.4
Kim et al. (2006)	USA	Carbohydrases ⁶	G:F ³	14.8	7.7
			<u> </u>	0.8	0.0

Table A.21. Studies on the effects of enzymes on growth performance.

R_{OSU} and F_{2} (2007)	Romania	Carbohydrases	ne	6.5	Q /
Światkiewicz and	Komama	Carbonydrases	ns	17	<u></u> n/а
Honozalzowalza (2008)	Poland	Carbohydrases ⁵	<u> </u>	1.7	11/a
Hallezakowska (2008)		Carbahardraaad		4.0	11/a
Wang et al. (2009)	South Korea	Carbonydrases"	ADG, G:F	9.0	14.5
		Carbonydrases	ADG, G:F	8.4	10.5
Widvaratne et al. (2009)	Canada	Carbohvdrases ⁵	ns	-2.9	2.8
		j	ns	-1.1	-9.7
Jacela et al. (2010), Exp. 1	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	0.5	-0.6
Jacela et al. (2010), Exp. 4	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	-1.0	0.0
				0.4	1.1
Yoon et al. (2010), Exp. 1^4	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ADG^2	4.7	5.2
				2.6	2.1
Voop at al. (2010) Eyr 2	South Voras	Carbobydragos ⁵	ADG	4.1	8.5
10011 et al. (2010), Exp. 2	South Kolea	Carbonyurases	ADG	2.5	1.5
			ADG	-0.9	1.7
Barnes et al. (2011)	USA	Carbohydrases ⁵	ADG	-1.4	-1.4
		5	ADG	-1.3	-1.0
			ns	1.5	1.9
Hanczakowska et al. (2012)	Poland	Carbohydrases ⁴	ADG	4 2	3.2
Hundzako wska et ul. (2012)	1 olulla		ADG G·F	6.2	10.6
		Carbohydrases ^a	ns	1.5	10.0
Jo et al. (2012), Exp. 1	South Korea	Carbohydrases ^b		1.5 2.8	3.0
$M_{cAlpino}$ of al. (2012)	Iroland	Carbohydrasos		2.0	5.0 n/o
MCAIPIne et al. (2012)		Carbohydragoga	ADO	-7.2	<u> </u>
Cho and Kim (2013)	South Korea	Carbonydrases		9.9	2.4
		Carbonydrases	ADG, G:F	14.7	11.9
	-	Carbonydrases	ns	5.2	-2.4
		Carbohydrases	ns	-6.6	-12.3
Kerr et al. (2013)	USA _	Carbohydrases	ns	-2.0	-4.5
	-	Carbohydrases ^a	ns	-9.3	-9.3
		Carbohydrases ^e	ns	-2.4	-3.6
Kim et al. (2013)	South Korea -	Carbohydrases ^a	ADG	10.3	8.2
Kim et al. (2013)		Carbohydrases ^b	ns	3.8	1.9
$L_{initiality}$ at al. (2012)	Doland	Carbobydracos ⁴	ADG	2.6	2.1
Lipiliski et al. (2013)	Folaliu	Carbonyurases	ADG	3.0	2.9
O'Shea et al. (2014)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	ns	-7.3	-4.9
Villca et al. (2016)	Switzerland	Carbohydrases	ns	1.5	2.5
Lindemann (2016)	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	1.0	2.3
Nguyen et al. (2018)	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ADG ³ . G:F	3.4	2.7
Torres-Pitarch et al. (2018)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	ns	0.3	0.0
Smit et al. (2019)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ADG3	2.0	2.4
Jang et al. (2020)	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns	3.2	6.8
$\frac{1}{1} \frac{1}{1} \frac{1}$	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns	17	_0.3
Jung et al. (2020)	South Kolea	Carbonyurases	<u> </u>	3 1	-0.5 5 7
Torres-Pitarch et al. (2020)	Ireland	Carbohydrases ⁵	<u> </u>		<u> </u>
			<u> </u>	-1.2 1.0	2.3 0 /
Torres-Pitarch et al. (2020)	Ireland	Carbohydrases ⁵	<u> </u>	-1.9	0.4
		-	ns	2.5	-1.1

Kpogo et al. (2021)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.9	-2.6
O'Doherty and Forde (1999)	Ireland	Proteases	ns	0.5	2.4
Thacker (2005), Exp. 2	Canada	Proteases	ns	-3.9	-0.4
			ns	-8.2	-4.3
Reyna et al. $(2006)^4$	Mexico	Proteases	ns	-4.2	-4.3
			ns	-1.5	-2.0
McAlpine et al. (2012)	Ireland	Proteases	ADG	-5.4	n/a
O'Shea et al. (2014)	Ireland	Proteases	ADG	-9.8	0.8
Stephenson et al. (2014)	USA	Proteases	ADG ³	1.7	-0.7
Upadhaya et al. (2016)	South Korea	Proteases	G:F	3.2	2.6
Choe et al. (2017)	South Korea	Proteases	ADG, G:F	6.0	15.1
Lei et al. (2017)	South Korea	Proteases	G:F	2.2	6.5
Name at al (2018)	Carath IZ a mar	Proteases ^a	ns	2.4	2.9
Nguyen et al. (2018)	South Korea	Proteases ^b	ns	1.7	2.1
Figueroa et al. (2019)	Mexico	Proteases	ns	2.9	-2.2
X			ADC ²³	1.8	1.0
Liu et al. (2019) ⁴	South Korea	Proteases	$ADG^{2,3}$,	5.5	3.1
Min et al. (2019) Lee et al. (2020)			G:F ²	3.9	1.5
Min et al. (2019)	South Korea	Proteases	ADG	5.2	2.8
Lee et al. (2020)	South Korea	Proteases	G:F ³	4.3	7.6
Kim et al. (2021)		Proteases ^a	ns	1.3	0.0
	South Korea	Proteases ^b	ADG, G:F	4.4	4.9
Perez-Palencia et al. (2021)	USA	Proteases	ns	-0.7	-0.2
Cromwell et al. (1993), Exp. 1	USA	Phytases	ns	4.6	6.0
Cromwell et al. (1993), Exp. 2	USA	Phytases	ns	1.1	-0.3
Cromwell et al. (1995)	USA	Phytases	ns	1.6	-2.1
Helander and Partanen (1997)	Finland	Phytases	ns	-1.7	-4.5
O'D - 1 - r + -1 (1000)		D 1	ns	1.3	0.0
O Donerty et al. (1999)	Ireland	Phytases	ADG, G:F G:F ns ns ns ns $ADG^{2,3}$, $G:F^2$ ADG $G:F^3$ ns ADG, $G:Fnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsnsns$	1.8	2.0
Gebert et al. (1999)	Switzerland	Phytases	ADG, G:F	10.6	8.2
Gagné et al. (2002)	Canada	Phytases	ns	-4.6	1.9
Brady et al. (2002)	Ireland	Phytases	ns	5.6	1.5
Thacker and Rossnagel (2006)	Canada	Phytases	ns	2.5	-3.2
Thacker et al. (2006)	Canada	Phytases	ns	5.2	3.3
Varley et al. (2010), Exp. 1	Ireland	Phytases	ns	4.2	1.6
Varley et al. (2010), Exp. 2	Ireland	Phytases	ns	-3.0	0.0
Kerr et al. (2013)	USA	Phytases	ns	-3.8	-6.6
		Phytases ^a	ns	-3.3	0.3
Langbein et al. (2013)	USA	Phytases ^b	ns	-2.3	-0.3
		Phytases ^c	ns	-2.3	-0.3
			ns	1.6	0.0
Patience (2015)	USA	Phytases ⁴	ns	0.0	0.0
			ns	1.6	0.0
		Phytases ^a	ns	0.0	6.9
Perez Alvarado et al. (2015)	Mex1co	Phytases ^b	ns	-3.0	2.3
Lindemann (2016)	USA	Phytases ⁴		7.5	2.9
× /		J			

			ADG ² ,	8.8	5.0
			G:F ^{2,3}	5.5	5.9
			ns	1.5	0.9
Holloway et al. (2019)	USA	Phytases ⁴	ns	0.1	1.2
			ns	1.3	1.2
Dang and Kim (2021)	South Korea	Phytases	ADG, G:F	5.7	3.3
Dang and Kim (2021)	South Korea	Phytases	ADG, $G:F^3$	4.1	2.9
Baas and Thacker (1996)	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	-2.3	2.4
Thacker (2005), Exp. 2	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	-2.9	0.4
Domećinović ot al. (2006)	Croatia	Multi onzumos ⁵	ns	0.7	0.3
		wunn-enzymes	ns	1.6	1.3
Feoli et al. (2008)	USA	Multi-enzymes	ns	-0.3	-2.1
Benz et al. (2009)	USA	Multi-enzymes	ns	0.5	1.9
Thacker (2009)	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	5.7	2.8
Thacker and Haq (2009)	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	-1.2	0.7
Jacela et al. (2010), Exp. 2	USA	Multi-enzymes	ns	-0.1	-0.8
Jacela et al. (2010), Exp. 3	USA	Multi-enzymes ^a	ns	1.7	0.0
		Multi-enzymes ^b	ns	0.1	0.0
Ao et al. (2011)	South Korea	Multi enzymes ⁴	$ADG^2 G \cdot F^2$	6.3	2.8
A0 et al. (2011)		wunn-enzymes		7.6	5.6
Lee et al. (2011)	South Korea	Multi-enzymes	G:F	2.3	9.2
Io et al. (2012). Exp. 1	South Korea	Multi-enzymes ^a	ADG	3.2	3.4
		Multi-enzymes ^b	ADG, G:F	5.0	4.9
Jo et al. (2012), Exp. 2	South Korea	Multi-enzymes	ADG, G:F	2.9	3.6
Kerr et al. (2013)	USA	Multi-enzymes	ns	-1.6	-6.6
			ns	8.3	0.8
Sitanaka et al. (2018)	Brazil	Multi-enzymes	ADG, G:F	24.9	11.2
Situnaka et al. (2010)	DIazii	Whatti-enzymes	ns	0.8	3.8
			ns	7.2	1.3
Lawlor et al. (2019)	Ireland	Multi-enzymes	ADG, G:F	11.3	2.6
Balasubramanian et al. (2020)	South Korea	Multi-enzymes	ADG, G:F	8.5	16.9
Coelho et al. (2020)	Portugal	Multi-enzymes ^a	ns	-6.5	-5.5
		Multi-enzymes ^b	ns	-3.7	-1.5
Jerez-Bogota et al. (2020)	USΔ	Multi-enzymes ⁵	G:F	0.0	30.8
		iviului-chizynnes	ADG	5.6	2.4
Huang et al. (2021)	China	Multi-enzymes	G:F	4.0	2.6

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴Same enzyme of each experiment was used with different inclusion levels. The inclusion level of each comparison increases from top to bottom.

⁵For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable

was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

⁶The top comparison was the result of barrow and the bottom comparison was the results of gilts. ^{a,b,c,d} Enzyme compositions within an experiment with different superscripts differ.

2. Carcass Characteristics - Carbohydrases

Back-fat significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 4.1%) and tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (4.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.22). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (54 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 18 comparisons (average of 4.0%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 29 comparisons (average of 3.7%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (5.6%) and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 0.7%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (52 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 28 comparisons (average of 1.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 20 comparisons (average of 0.8%) compared to control pigs. All studies found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (38 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 20 comparisons (average of 3.3%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 17 comparisons (average of 1.5%) compared to control pigs.
				Difference, % ¹			
Author	Country	Enzyme	Sig. ¹	Yield	BF	percentage lean	LMA/LD
Thesher at al. (1992)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	0.9	n/a	-1.0	n/a
Thacker et al. (1992)	Callada	5	ns	-0.3	n/a	-0.2	n/a
Kim et al. (1998)	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	0.6	-3.1	0.9	n/a
O'Doherty and Forde (1999)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.6	2.7	-0.5	0.1
The alter and Comphell (1990)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	1.7	0.5	0.2	-0.7
Thacker and Campbell (1999)	Callada	5	ns	-0.4	-1.4	0.0	-2.7
Mavromichalis et al. (2000), Exp.1	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	0.1	-2.2	0.2	n/a
Mavromichalis et al. (2000), Exp.2	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.1	-1.2	0.1	n/a
Grandhi (2001)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	0.1	-0.7	n/a	n/a
Pettey et al. (2002)	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	n/a	-4.9	1.9	5.9
Park et al. (2003), Exp.1	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.3	0.4	-0.4	n/a
		Carbobydragog		2.6	-5.1	1.5	n/a
Park et al. (2003), Exp.2	USA	4	ns ²	0.4	-1.6	0.4	n/a
				0.7	-3.5	0.9	n/a
		Carbohydrases 4		-0.5	-1.6	0.2	n/a
Park et al. (2003), Exp.2 Park et al. (2003), Exp.3 Park et al. (2003)	USA		ns^2	-2.9	-4.4	0.6	n/a
				0.0	-2.7	0.6	n/a
			ns	-1.2	2.1	-0.2	n/a
Park et al. (2003)		Carbohydrases	ns	-0.1	-6.9	1.6	n/a
	USA	5	ns	-0.1	-7.6	2.0	n/a
			ns	-0.3	2.8	-0.4	n/a
			ns	-1.2	0.0	0.0	n/a
Flis and Sobotka (2005)	Poland	Carbohydrases	ns	n/a	n/a	-0.1	n/a
Thacker (2005), Exp. 2	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	0.0	-5.3	0.7	-3.1
Thacker and Rossnagel (2005)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	0.9	0.0	-0.3	-3.5
Thacker and Rossnagel (2005)		5	ns	0.9	-1.6	0.3	3.1

 Table A.22. Studies on the effects of enzymes on carcass characteristics.

			ns	-0.1	-2.1	0.0	1.6
			ns	0.5	-1.2	0.0	1.0
Thacker and Rossnagel (2005)	Canada	5	ns	0.1	-5.9	0.8	3.2
			ns	0.9	-1.8	-0.2	-2.8
Świątkiewicz and	Doland	Carbohydrases	ns	8.1	-2.5	0.9	n/a
Hanczakowska (2008)	rolaliu	5	ns	8.3	-1.9	-0.7	n/a
Wang at al. (2000)	Couth Vores	Carbohydrases ^a	ns	n/a	0.8	0.7	6.5
wang et al. (2009)	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns	n/a	2.5	1.1	9.8
				1.0	-0.6	0.8	1.1
Yoon et al. (2010), Exp. 1 ⁴	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns ²	0.2	-2.5	1.8	2.3
				0.3	-1.9	1.2	1.4
Voon et al. (2010) Exp. 2	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns	4.0	16.1	-4.8	-2.6
10011 et al. (2010), Exp. 2		5	ns	1.8	6.7	8.1	12.7
		Carbohydrases	ns	0.8	0.0	0.2	0.0
Barnes et al. (2011)	USA		ns	-1.5	-1.2	-0.4	-3.0
			ns	0.0	0.0	0.8	2.6
	Ireland	Carbohydrases -	ns	-1.8	6.0	-1.0	n/a
Pauly et al. (2011)			percentage lean	5.1	-17.0	5.6	n/a
	Poland	Carbahydraaaa	ns	-0.2	-6.0	-0.4	-0.3
Hanczakowska et al. (2012)		4	ns	-0.3	0.0	-0.7	-0.3
			ns	0.2	0.5	0.6	0.1
Cho and Kim (2013)	South Korea	Carbohydrases ^a	ns	n/a	2.1	n/a	4.1
		Carbohydrases	ns	n/a	3.4	n/a	5.1
O'Shea et al. (2014)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.4	-6.3	1.5	n/a
Lindemann (2016)	USA	Carbohydrases	ns	n/a	0.1	-0.1	-1.1
Villca et al. (2016)	Switzerland	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.1	-0.7	-0.2	-0.9
Nguyen et al. (2018)	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns	n/a	n/a	n/a	0.1
Torres-Pitarch et al. (2018)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	ns	0.0	0.0	0.5	-0.2

Smit et al. (2019)	Canada	Carbohydrases	ns	0.3	0.0	0.2	0.8
Jang et al. (2020)	South Korea	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.2	-5.5	n/a	n/a
Tormes Ditorch at al. (2020)	Inclored	Carbohydrases	ns	-0.5	6.2	-0.5	3.2
Torres-Pitarch et al. (2020)	Ireland	5	ns	0.4	1.7	-0.3	-0.6
Torres Pitarch et al. (2020)	Ireland	Carbohydrases	BF, percentage lean	0.3	1.6	-0.2	-1.2
Tomes-I flaten et al. (2020)		5	BF, percentage lean	0.0	6.6	-1.2	-0.8
Kpogo et al. (2021)	Canada	Carbohydrases	BF^3	0.2	4.8	n/a	-1.0
O'Doherty and Forde (1999)	Ireland	Proteases	ns	0.2	10.8	-2.1	-4.0
Thacker (2005), Exp. 2	Canada	Proteases	ns	0.4	-8.3	1.5	5.4
			ns	n/a	n/a	-1.2	-6.1
Reyna et al. (2006)	Mexico	Proteases ⁴	ns	n/a	n/a	-1.1	-5.6
-			ns	n/a	n/a	-1.9	-6.5
O'Shea et al. (2014)	Ireland	Proteases	ns	-0.4	-4.0	0.4	n/a
Stephenson et al. (2014)	USA	Proteases	Yield	-1.2	0.0	0.0	0.8
Choe et al. (2017)	South Korea	Proteases	Yield ³	0.2	-2.7	-0.2	n/a
Torres-Pitarch et al. (2018)	Ireland	Proteases	ns	-0.7	0.8	-0.3	-2.0
Figueroa et al. (2019)	Mexico	Proteases	ns	n/a	1.9	n/a	-0.7
		Proteases ⁴		n/a	1.1	0.7	n/a
Liu et al. (2019)	South Korea		$BF^{2,3}$	n/a	6.2	2.4	n/a
				n/a	3.7	0.9	n/a
Min et al. (2019)	South Korea	Proteases	ns	-0.4	-5.4	n/a	n/a
Lee et al. (2020)	South Korea	Proteases	ns	-0.1	-4.2	n/a	n/a
Perez-Palencia et al. (2021)	USA	Proteases	ns	n/a	-1.7	0.4	1.1
Helander and Partanen (1997)	Finland	Phytases	ns	-1.7	n/a	n/a	n/a
O'Deherter et el (1000)4	Ireland	Dhrita a s ⁴	ns	1.1	-6.5	1.3	0.9
O Donetty Ct al. (1999)4		riiytases	ns	3.1	0.0	-0.2	3.5
Brady et al. (2002)	Ireland	Phytases	Yield	-1.0	2.0	-0.6	n/a
Thacker et al. (2006)	Canada	Phytases	ns	0.0	-6.7	0.0	-11.6
Thacker and Rossnagel (2006)	Canada	Phytases	ns	-0.1	2.7	-0.8	-11.3
Varley et al. (2010), Exp. 1	Ireland	Phytases	ns	0.7	-0.8	-0.2	n/a
Varley et al. (2010), Exp. 2	Ireland	Phytases	ns	-0.7	1.6	-0.5	n/a

	USA	Phytases ^a	ns	0.5	1.3	0.5	3.3
Langbein et al. (2013)		Phytases ^b	ns	0.3	0.0	0.3	2.1
		Phytases ^c	ns	0.3	1.3	0.1	1.7
Páraz Alvarado et al. (2015)	Movico	Phytases ^a	ns	n/a	-2.6	n/a	-1.8
Felez Alvarado et al. (2013)	MEXICO	Phytases ^b	ns	n/a	-4.4	n/a	-3.0
			$BF^{2,3}$,	n/a	-6.1	1.4	2.3
Lindemann (2016)	USA	Phytases ⁴	percentage	n/a	-13.4	2.9	4.0
			lean ²	n/a	-10.8	2.8	6.4
			ns	0.3	n/a	n/a	n/a
Holloway et al. (2019)	USA	Phytases ⁴	ns	0.0	n/a	n/a	n/a
			ns	-0.4	n/a	n/a	n/a
Dang and Kim (2021)	South Korea	Phytases	BF	n/a	8.3	n/a	0.4
Dang and Kim (2021)	South Korea	Phytases	ns	n/a	1.2	n/a	0.3
Thacker (2005), Exp. 2	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	0.8	-1.0	0.2	-1.4
		Multi	ns	n/a	n/a	1.1	n/a
Domaćinović et al. (2006)	Croatia		percentage	n/a	n/a	4.4	n/a
			lean	11/ a			
Feoli et al. (2008)	USA	Multi-	ns	0.1	-1.6	0.0	-1.1
1 con ct al. (2000)		enzymes			1.0		
Benz et al. (2009)	USA	Multi-	ns	-0.4	-0.5	-0.4	-2.2
		enzymes			0.0		
Thacker (2009)	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	-1.9	-3.9	0.2	-3.2
Thacker and Haq (2009)	Canada	Multi-enzymes	ns	0.1	11.3	-1.3	3.5
Lee et al. (2011)	South Korea	Multi-	ns	0.2	-12.3	n/a	n/a
		enzymes					
Ao et al. (2011)	South Korea	Multi-	ns ²	n/a	1.9	0.7	0.3
		enzymes ⁴		n/a	1.4	1.2	1.7
Balasubramanian et al. (2020)	South Korea	Multi-enzymes	BF	n/a	-10.2	n/a	-6.0
Coelho et al. (2020)	Portugal	Multi-	ns	-0.3	29.4 15.5	n/a n/a	n/a
		enzymes ^a					
		Multi-	ns				
		enzymes ^b	115				11/ U

	Huang et al. (2021)	China	Multi- enzymes	LMA	1.7	3.1	n/a	11.3
--	---------------------	-------	-------------------	-----	-----	-----	-----	------

¹Significant level at $P \le 0.05$. Difference is calculated as [(treatment value – control value) / control value] * 100%.

²Polynomial contrasts were used for statistical analysis.

³Significant level at $0.05 < P \le 0.10$.

⁴Same enzyme of each experiment was used with different inclusion levels. The inclusion level of each comparison increases from top to bottom.

⁵For experiments using factorial treatment structures, if the interaction of factors of either interested variable was observed the effect of the feed additive within each level of the other factor is included within the database.

^{a,b,c} Enzyme compositions within an experiment with different superscripts differ.

3. Growth performance - Proteases

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 5.2%), tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 4 comparisons (average of 3.2%), and significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 7.6%) compared to control pigs (Table A.21). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (14 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 9 comparisons (average of 2.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 3.7%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 7 comparisons (average of 4.9%) and tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 1 comparison (7.6%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P >0.10) in G:F (14 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 2.2%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 2%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that proteases had positive effects on ADG and G:F (70 and 59% of all the comparisons), but the effects were small for ADG. Moreover, in a meta-analysis conducted by Aranda-Aguirre et al. [302], the authors found that proteases had no effects (P > 0.10) on growth performance of finishing pigs. There were not enough data to support whether different basal diets affected the response to proteases for ADG and G:F. The lack of substantial positive effects of exogenous proteases may be due to the high digestibility of dietary protein with the endogenous proteases of the mature grow-finish pig. Even though the digestibility of CP or N was improved ($P \le 0.05$) in some studies [332, 345, 352, 372], the improvements may not be large enough to improve growth performance.

3.1. Carcass Characteristics - Proteases

Back-fat tended to increase $(0.05 < P \le 0.10)$ in 3 comparisons (average of 3.7%) compared to control pigs (Table A.22). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (10 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10)in 3 comparisons (average of 4.5%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 4.4%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean. Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 1.1%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 1.1%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD. Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 2.4%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 4.1%) compared to control pigs.

4. Growth performance - Phytases

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 3 comparisons (average of 6.8%) compared to control pigs (Table A.21). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (21 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 2.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 8 comparisons (average of 3.0%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 2 comparisons (average of 5.7%) and tended to increase ($0.05 < P \le 0.10$) in 1 comparison (2.9%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (21 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 13 comparisons (average of 2.3%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 2.5%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that phytases had positive effects on ADG (63% of all comparisons) and G:F (67% of all comparisons), but most comparisons were not statistically significant (88% of all comparisons). Moreover, in a meta-analysis conducted by Aranda-Aguirre et al. [302], the authors found that phytases had no effects (P > 0.10) on growth performance of finishing pigs. There was not enough data to support whether different phytase inclusion levels and basal diets affected the response to phytases for ADG and G:F in grow-finish pig diets with adequate P levels.

5. Carcass Characteristics - Phytases

Back-fat significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (8.3%) compared to control pigs (Table A.22). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (13 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 1.7%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 4.2%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean. Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 4 comparisons (average of 0.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 0.5%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in 4 comparisons (average of 0.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 0.5%) compared to control pigs. All the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD. Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 7 comparisons (average of 1.7%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 4 comparisons (average of 6.9%) compared to control pigs.

6. Growth performance - Multi-enzymes

Average daily gain significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 10 comparisons (average of 7.9%) compared to control pigs (Table A.21). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in ADG (19 comparisons). Of these, ADG was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 10 comparisons (average of 2.9%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 8 comparisons (average of 2.3%) compared to control pigs. Feed efficiency significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 10 comparisons (average of 9.0%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in G:F (19 comparisons). Of these, G:F was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 12 comparisons (average of 1.8%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 3.3%) compared to control pigs. Overall, the results suggest that multi-enzymes have positive effects on ADG and G:F (69 and 76% of all the comparisons), and multi-enzymes significantly improved ($P \le 0.05$) ADG and G:F in 34% of all the comparisons. Moreover, the combination of multiple enzymes provided greater improvement than adding any single type of enzyme (carbohydrase, protease, and phytase) alone, which suggests that different types of enzymes may have a synergetic effect. However, most comparisons showed little or negative effects in US-based research; therefore, the utilization of multi-enzymes in US-based diets should be evaluated further. There are not enough data to support whether different basal diets affected the response to multi-enzymes for ADG or G:F. Nevertheless, similar to the results with carbohydrases, multi-enzymes improved pig performance when diets were marginal in nutrient concentrations. In summary, there was a low chance of negative effects by feeding multi-enzymes and they can potentially improve growth performance (approximately 3% improvement for ADG and G:F).

7. Carcass Characteristics - Multi-enzymes

Back-fat significantly decreased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (10.2%) compared to control pigs (Table A.22). The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in BF (11 comparisons). Of these, BF was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 10.4%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 3.8%) compared to control pigs. Percentage lean significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (4.4%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in percentage lean (8 comparisons). Of these, percentage lean was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 6 comparisons (average of 0.6%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 2 comparisons (average of 0.9%) compared to control pigs. Loin muscle area/depth significantly increased ($P \le 0.05$) in 1 comparison (11.3%) compared to control pigs. The greatest proportion of the comparisons found no evidence of difference (P > 0.10) in LMA/LD (7 comparisons). Of these, LMA/LD was numerically increased (P > 0.10) in 3 comparisons (average of 1.8%) and numerically decreased (P > 0.10) in 5 comparisons (average of 2.8%) compared to control pigs.

Conclusion

In conclusion, this literature review collected available research on finishing pig feed additives to provide a descriptive analysis of the effects on growth and carcass performance and provides a database that can be further analyzed with advanced statistical methods, such as metaanalysis, in the hope of better understanding the effect of feed additives to improve the efficiency of swine production.

References

- 1. Thacker, P.A.; J.P. Bowland. Influence of Graded Levels of Dietary Propionic Acid on Performance and Carcass Traits of Swine Fed Diets Supplemented with Soybean Meal or Canola Meal. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **1980**, 60(4), 971-978. doi:10.4141/cjas80-115
- Thacker, P.A.; J.P. Bowland. Effects of Vitamin B12 on Performance and Carcass Traits of Pigs Fed Diets Supplemented with Propionic Acid or Calcium Propionate. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 1981, 61(3), 775-782. doi:10.4141/cjas81-094
- 3. Thacker, P.A.; M.O. Salomons; F.X. Aherne; L.P. Milligan; J.P. Bowland. Influence of Propionic Acid on the Cholesterol Metabolism of Pigs Fed Hypercholesterolemic Diets. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **1981**, 61(4), 969-975. doi:10.4141/cjas81-119
- 4. Giesting, D.W.; R.A. Easter. Response of Starter Pigs to Supplementation of Corn-Soybean Meal Diets with Organic Acids. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1985**, 60(5), 1288-1294. doi:10.2527/jas1985.6051288x
- Thacker, P.A.; G.L. Campbell; J. GrootWassink. The Effect of Organic Acids and Enzyme Supplementation on the Performance of Pigs Fed Barley-Based Diets. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 1992, 72(2), 395-402. doi:10.4141/cjas92-047
- 6. Baustad, B. Effects of Formic Acid on Performance in Growing Pigs. *Norw. J. Agric. Sci.* **1993**, 7(1), 61-69.
- Krause, D.O.; P.C. Harrison; R.A. Easter. Characterization of the Nutritional Interactions between Organic Acids and Inorganic Bases in the Pig and Chick. *J. Anim. Sci.* 1994, 72(5), 1257-1262. doi:10.2527/1994.7251257x
- 8. Siljander-Rasi, H.; T. Alaviuhkola; K. Suomi. Carbadox, Formic Acid and Potato Fibre as Feed Additives for Growing Pigs. *J. Anim. Feed Sci.* **1998**, 7(Supp 1), 205-209. doi:10.22358/jafs/69977/1998
- Partanen, K.; H. Siljader-Rasi; T. Alaviuhkola; K. Suomi; M. Fossi. Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed Medium- or High-Fibre Diets Supplemented with Avilamycin, Formic Acid or Formic Acid-Sorbate Blend. *Livest. Prod. Sci.* 2002, 73(2/3), 139-152. doi:10.1016/S0301-6226(01)00255-X
- Canibe, N.; O. Højberg; S. Højsgaard; B.B. Jensen. Feed Physical Form and Formic Acid Addition to the Feed Affect the Gastrointestinal Ecology and Growth Performance of Growing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2005, 83(6), 1287-1302. doi:10.2527/2005.8361287x
- 11. Jansons, I.; J. Nudiens. Acidifiers Additive Projection on Pigs Metabolic Processes and Digestive Tract Microflora. *Res. Rural Dev.* **2005**, 23-25.
- 12. Bühler, K.; C. Wenk; J. Broz; S. Gebert. Influence of Benzoic Acid and Dietary Protein Level on Performance, Nitrogen Metabolism and Urinary Ph in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Arch. Anim. Nutr.* **2006**, 60(5), 382-9. doi:10.1080/17450390600884369

- 13. Campbell, A.J.; G.E. Gardiner; F.C. Leonard; P.B. Lynch; C. Stanton; R.P. Ross; P.G. Lawlor. The Effect of Dietary Supplementation of Finishing Pigs with Organic Acids or Mannan-Oligosaccharide on the Coliform, Lactobacillus and Bifidobacterium Flora on the Intestinal Contents and Faeces. *Pig J.* **2006**, 57, 90-104.
- Partanen, K.; M. Karhapää; H. Siljander-Rasi; E. Virtanen; B. Nilsson. Performance, Carcass Quality, and Gastric Alterations in Fattening Pigs Fed Additives Containing Formic Acid Either Coated with Sorbate or Mixed with Lactic Acid. *Agric. Food Sci.* 2006, 15(3), 324-339. doi:10.2137/145960606779216308
- 15. Eisemann, J.H.; E.v. Heugten. Response of Pigs to Dietary Inclusion of Formic Acid and Ammonium Formate. *J. Anim. Sci.* **2007**, 85(6), 1530-1539. doi:10.2527/jas.2006-464
- 16. Øverland, M.; N.P. Kjos; M. Borg; H. Sørum. Organic Acids in Diets for Entire Male Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* **2007**, 109(1/3), 170-173. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2007.02.002
- 17. Guy, J.H.; H.L. Edge; P.J. Blanchard; S.E. Ilsley; C. Coonan; D. Feuerstein. A Note on the Effect of Supplementation with Microbial Phytase and Organic Acids on Feed Intake and Growth Performance of Growing Pigs. *Irish J. Agric. Food Res.* **2008**, 47(1), 93-97.
- Kijparkorn, S.; U. Jamikorn; S. Wangsoonean; P. Ittitanawong. Antioxidant and Acidifier Properties of Roselle (Hibicus Sabdariffa Linn.) Calyx Powder on Lipid Peroxidation, Nutrient Digestibility and Growth Performance in Fattening Pigs. *Thai. J. Vet. Med* 2009, 39(1), 41-51.
- Thacker, P.A.; I. Haq. Effect of Enzymes, Flavor and Organic Acids on Nutrient Digestibility, Performance and Carcass Traits of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed Diets Containing Dehydrated Lucerne Meal. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2009, 89(1), 101-108. doi:10.1002/jsfa.3415
- 20. Jansons, I.; A. Jemeljanovs; I.H. Konosonoka; V. Sterna; B. Lujane. The Influence of Organic Acid Additive, Phytoadditive and Complex of Organic Acid Additive Phytoadditive on Pig Productivity, Meat Quality. *Agron. Res.* **2011**, 9(Special Issue II), 389-394.
- 21. Upadhaya, S.D.; K.Y. Lee; I.H. Kim. Protected Organic Acid Blends as an Alternative to Antibiotics in Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **2014**, 27(11), 1600-1607. doi:10.5713/ajas.2014.14356
- Cho, J.H.; S.I. Lee; I.H. Kim. Effects of Different Levels of Fibre and Benzoic Acid on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Reduction of Noxious Gases, Serum Metabolites and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. J. Appl. Anim. Res. 2015, 43(3), 336-344. doi:10.1080/09712119.2014.978772
- Giannenas, I.; D. Doukas; A. Karamoutsios; A. Tzora; E. Bonos; I. Skoufos; A. Tsinas; E. Christaki; D. Tontis; P. Florou-Paneri. Effects of Enterococcus Faecium, Mannan Oligosaccharide, Benzoic Acid and Their Mixture on Growth Performance, Intestinal Microbiota, Intestinal Morphology and Blood Lymphocyte Subpopulations of Fattening Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2016, 220, 159-167. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.08.003

- Zhai, H.; W. Ren; S. Wang; J. Wu; P. Guggenbuhl; A.M. Kluenter. Growth Performance of Nursery and Grower-Finisher Pigs Fed Diets Supplemented with Benzoic Acid. *Anim. Nutr.* 2017, 3(3), 232-235. doi:10.1016/j.aninu.2017.05.001
- 25. Lei, X.J.; S.I. Lee; K.Y. Lee; D.H. Nguyen; I.H. Kim. Effects of a Blend of Organic Acids and Medium-Chain Fatty Acids with and without Enterococcus Faecium on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Parameters, and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **2018**, 98(4), 852-859. doi:10.1139/cjas-2017-0126
- 26. Nguyen Thi, T. Probiotic and Organic Acids Improve Growth Performance of Pigs Fed Diets Containing Catfish (Pangasius Hypophthalmus) Protein Hydrolysate. *Livest. Res. Rural. Dev.* **2018**, 30(8), 143.
- Morel, P.C.H.; K.L. Chidgey; C.M.C. Jenkinson; I. Lizarraga; N.M. Schreurs. Effect of Benzoic Acid, Sodium Butyrate and Sodium Butyrate Coated with Benzoic Acid on Growth Performance, Digestibility, Intestinal Morphology and Meat Quality in Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2019, 226, 107-113. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2019.06.009
- 28. Nguyen, D.H.; K.Y. Lee; H.N. Tran; I.H. Kim. Effect of a Protected Blend of Organic Acids and Medium-Chain Fatty Acids on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Profiles, Meat Quality, Faecal Microflora, and Faecal Gas Emission in Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **2019**, 99(3), 448-455. doi:10.1139/cjas-2016-0174
- 29. O' Meara, F.M.; G.E. Gardiner; J.V. O' Doherty; P.G. Lawlor. Effect of Dietary Inclusion of Benzoic Acid (Vevovitall®) on the Microbial Quality of Liquid Feed and the Growth and Carcass Quality of Grow-Finisher Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* **2020**, 237. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104043
- 30. Tran Thi Bich, N.; O. Duong Thi; L. Pineda; S. Ayudhya; N.d. Groot; Y. Han. The Effects of Synergistic Blend of Organic Acid or Antibiotic Growth Promoter on Performance and Antimicrobial Resistance of Bacteria in Grow-Finish Pigs. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* **2020**, 4(4). doi:10.1093/tas/txaa211
- Muniyappan, M.; T. Palanisamy; I.H. Kim. Effect of Microencapsulated Organic Acids on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Profile, Fecal Gas Emission, Fecal Microbial, and Meat-Carcass Grade Quality of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2021, 252. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2021.104658
- 32. Tutida, Y.H.; J.H. Montes; K.K. Borstnez; H.A. Siqueira; M.F. Güths; F. Moreira; V. Peripolli; R. Irgang; N. Morés; I. Bianchi; J.D. Kich. Effects of in Feed Removal of Antimicrobials in Comparison to Other Prophylactic Alternatives in Growing and Finishing Pigs. *Arq. Bras. Med. Vet. Zootec.* **2021**, 73(6), 1381-1390. doi:10.1590/1678-4162-12450
- Onibala, J.S.I.T.; K.D. Gunther; U.t. Meulen. Effects of Essential Oil of Spices as Feed Additives on the Growth and Carcass Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Tropenlandwirt* 2001(No.73), 179-184.
- 34. Yan, L.; J.P. Wang; H.J. Kim; Q.W. Meng; X. Ao; S.M. Hong; I.H. Kim. Influence of Essential Oil Supplementation and Diets with Different Nutrient Densities on Growth

Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Characteristics, Meat Quality and Fecal Noxious Gas Content in Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* **2010**, 128(1/3), 115-122. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2009.11.008

- Simitzis, P.E.; G.K. Symeon; M.A. Charismiadou; J.A. Bizelis; S.G. Deligeorgis. The Effects of Dietary Oregano Oil Supplementation on Pig Meat Characteristics. *Meat Sci.* 2010, 84(4), 670-676. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2009.11.001
- Zhou, Y.; Z. Ruan; X.L. Li; S.M. Mi; M. Jiang; W.H. Liu; H.S. Yang; X. Wu; G.L. Jiang;
 Y.L. Yin. Eucommia Ulmoides Oliver Leaf Polyphenol Supplementation Improves Meat
 Quality and Regulates Myofiber Type in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2016, 94(Suppl. 3), 164-168. doi:10.2527/jas.2015-9551
- Zou, Y.; Q. Xiang; J. Wang; H. Wei; J. Peng. Effects of Oregano Essential Oil or Quercetin Supplementation on Body Weight Loss, Carcass Characteristics, Meat Quality and Antioxidant Status in Finishing Pigs under Transport Stress. *Livest. Sci.* 2016, 192, 33-38. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2016.08.005
- Li, T.S.; W.C. Liu; P.Y. Zhao; I.H. Kim. Evaluation of Essential Oil or/and Emulsifier in Low Energy Density Diets on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Cholesterol and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. *Ital. J. Anim. Sci.* 2017, 16(4), 624-630. doi:10.1080/1828051X.2017.1325718
- Soto, J.; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; J.C. Woodworth; J.M. DeRouchey; R.D. Goodband. Evaluation of Dietary Phytogenics on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Pigs During the Growing-Finishing Phase. *Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports* 2017, 3(7). doi:10.4148/2378-5977.7498
- Zou, Y.; X. Hu; T. Zhang; H. Wei; Y. Zhou; Z. Zhou; J. Peng. Effects of Dietary Oregano Essential Oil and Vitamin E Supplementation on Meat Quality, Stress Response and Intestinal Morphology in Pigs Following Transport Stress. J. Vet. Med. Sci. 2017, 79(2), 328-335. doi:10.1292/jvms.16-0576
- 41. Cheng, C.; M. Xia; X. Zhang; C. Wang; S. Jiang; J. Peng. Supplementing Oregano Essential Oil in a Reduced-Protein Diet Improves Growth Performance and Nutrient Digestibility by Modulating Intestinal Bacteria, Intestinal Morphology, and Antioxidative Capacity of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Animals* **2018**, 8(9), 159. doi:10.3390/ani8090159
- 42. Lan, R.; I. Kim. Effects of Feeding Diets Containing Essential Oils and Betaine to Heat-Stressed Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Arch. Anim. Nutr.* **2018**, 72(5), 368-378. doi:10.1080/1745039x.2018.1492806
- 43. Lowell, J.E.; B.M. Bohrer; K.B. Wilson; M.F. Overholt; B.N. Harsh; H.H. Stein; A.C. Dilger; D.D. Boler. Growth Performance, Carcass Quality, Fresh Belly Characteristics, and Commercial Bacon Slicing Yields of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed a Subtherapeutic Dose of an Antibiotic, a Natural Antimicrobial, or Not Fed an Antibiotic or Antimicrobial. *Meat Sci.* **2018**, 136, 93-103. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.10.011

- Huang, C.; D. Chen; G. Tian; J. He; P. Zheng; J. Yu; X. Mao; Z. Huang; H. Yan; Q. Wang;
 H. Wang; B. Yu. Effects of Dietary Plant Essential Oil Supplementation on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2021. doi:10.1111/jpn.13673
- 45. Cho, J.H.; M.H. Song; I.H. Kim. Effect of Microencapsulated Blends of Organic Acids and Essential Oils Supplementation on Growth Performance and Nutrient Digestibility in Finishing Pigs. *Rev. Colomb. Cienc. Pecu.* **2014**, 27(4), 264-272.
- Walia, K.; H. Argüello; H. Lynch; J. Grant; G. Duffy. Effect of Strategic Administration of an Encapsulated Blend of Formic Acid, Citric Acid, and Essential Oils on Salmonella Carriage, Seroprevalence, and Growth of Finishing Pigs. *Prev. Vet. Med.* 2017, 137, 28-35. doi:10.1016/j.prevetmed.2016.12.007
- Oh, H.J.; I.H. Kim; M.H. Song; W.G. Kwak; W. Yun; J.H. Lee; C.H. Lee; S.Y. Oh; S. Liu; J.S. An; H.B. Kim; J.H. Cho. Effects of Microencapsulated Complex of Organic Acids and Essential Oils on Growth Performance, Nutrient Retention, Blood Profiles, Fecal Microflora, and Lean Meat Percentage in Weaning to Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 99(1), 41-49. doi:10.1139/cjas-2018-0006
- 48. Resende, M.; R.F. Chaves; R.M. Garcia; J.A. Barbosa; A.S. Marques; L.R. Rezende; A.P. Peconick; C.A.P. Garbossa; D. Mesa; C.C. Silva; V.B. Fascina; F.T.F. Dias; V.d.S. Cantarelli. Benzoic Acid and Essential Oils Modify the Cecum Microbiota Composition in Weaned Piglets and Improve Growth Performance in Finishing Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2020, 242. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104311
- Hutchens, W.M.; M.D. Tokach; J.C. Woodworth; J.M. Derouchey; R.D. Goodband; J.T. Gebhardt; H.I. Calderon; K. Keppy; P. Maynard; E. Grilli. Evaluation of Microencapsulated Organic Acids and Botanicals on Growth Performance of Nursery and Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2021, 5(4). doi:10.1093/tas/txab205
- Zimmermann, J.A.; M.L. Fusari; E. Rossler; J.E. Blajman; A. Romero-Scharpen; D.M. Astesana; C.R. Olivero; A.P. Berisvil; M.L. Signorini; M.V. Zbrun; L.S. Frizzo; L.P. Soto. Effects of Probiotics in Swines Growth Performance: A Meta-Analysis of Randomised Controlled Trials. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2016, 219, 280-293. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.06.021
- Pollmann, D.S.; D.M. Danielson; E.R. Peo, Jr. Effects of Microbial Feed Additives on Performance of Starter and Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1980, 51(3), 577-581. doi:10.2527/jas1980.513577x
- Harper, A.F.; E.T. Kornegay; K.L. Bryant; H.R. Thomas. Efficacy of Virginiamycin and a Commercially-Available Lactobacillus Probiotic in Swine Diets. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 1983, 8(1), 69-76. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(83)90044-5
- 53. Kim, I.H.; J.D. Hancock; R.H. Hines; C.S. Kim. Effects of Cellulase Enzymes and Bacterial Feed Additives on the Nutritional Value of Sorghum Grain for Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **1998**, 11(5), 538-544. doi:10.5713/ajas.1998.538

- Kyriakis, S.C.; I. Georgoulakis; A. Spais; C. Alexopoulos; C.C. Miliotis; S.K. Kritas. Evaluation of Toyocerin, a Probiotic Containing Bacillus Toyoi Spores, on Health Status and Productivity of Weaned, Growing and Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2003, 16(9), 1326-1331. doi:10.5713/ajas.2003.1326
- 55. Alexopoulos, C.; I.E. Georgoulakis; A. Tzivara; C.S. Kyriakis; A. Govaris; S.C. Kyriakis. Field Evaluation of the Effect of a Probiotic-Containing Bacillus Licheniformis and Bacillus Subtilis Spores on the Health Status, Performance, and Carcass Quality of Grower and Finisher Pigs. J. Vet. Med. 2004, 51(6), 306-312. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0442.2004.00637.x
- 56. Rekiel, A.; J. Więcek; M. Dziuba. Effect of Feed Additives on the Results of Fattening and Selected Slaughter and Quality Traits of Pork Meat of Pigs with Different Genotypes. *Czech J. Anim. Sci.* **2005**, 50(12), 561-567. doi:10.17221/4262-CJAS
- 57. Jukna, Č.; V. Jukna; A. Šimkus. The Effect of Probiotics and Phytobiotics on Meat Properties and Quality of Pigs. *Vet. ir Zootech.* **2005**, 29(51), 80-84.
- Shon, K.S.; J.W. Hong; O.S. Kwon; B.J. Min; W.B. Lee; I.H. Kim; Y.H. Park; I.S. Lee. Effects of Lactobacillus Reuteri-Based Direct-Fed Microbial Supplementation for Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2005, 18(3), 370-374. doi:10.5713/ajas.2005.370
- Chen, Y.J.; B.J. Min; J.H. Cho; O.S. Kwon; K.S. Son; H.J. Kim; I.H. Kim. Effects of Dietary Bacillus-Based Probiotic on Growth Performance, Nutrients Digestibility, Blood Characteristics and Fecal Noxious Gas Content in Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2006, 19(4), 587-592. doi:10.5713/ajas.2006.587
- Chen, Y.J.; B.J. Min; J.H. Cho; O.S. Kwon; K.S. Son; I.H. Kim; S.J. Kim. Effects of Dietary Enterococcus Faecium Sf68 on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Characteristics and Faecal Noxious Gas Content in Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2006, 19(3), 406-411. doi:10.5713/ajas.2006.406
- Davis, M.E.; T. Parrott; D.C. Brown; B.Z.d. Rodas; Z.B. Johnson; C.V. Maxwell; T. Rehberger. Effect of a Bacillus-Based Direct-Fed Microbial Feed Supplement on Growth Performance and Pen Cleaning Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2008, 86(6), 1459-1467. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0603
- Ko, S.Y.; I.H. Bae; S.T. Yee; S.S. Lee; D. Uuganbayar; J.I. Oh; C.J. Yang. Comparison of the Effect of Green Tea by-Product and Green Tea Probiotics on the Growth Performance, Meat Quality, and Immune Response of Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2008, 21(10), 1486-1494. doi:10.5713/ajas.2008.70604
- 63. Ko, S.Y.; C.J. Yang. Effect of Green Tea Probiotics on the Growth Performance, Meat Quality and Immune Response in Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **2008**, 21(9), 1339-1347. doi:10.5713/ajas.2008.70597
- 64. Černauskienė, J.; Z. Bartkevičiūtė; J. Hammerer; K. Kozłowski; H. Jeroch. The Effect of "Bonvital", a Probiotic Product Containing Enterococcus Faecium on the Fattening

Performance, Carcass Characteristics and Meat Quality of Pigs under Production Conditions. *Vet. ir Zootech.* **2010**, 54(76), 20-25.

- Meng, Q.W.; L. Yan; X. Ao; T.X. Zhou; J.P. Wang; J.H. Lee; I.H. Kim. Influence of Probiotics in Different Energy and Nutrient Density Diets on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Meat Quality, and Blood Characteristics in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2010, 88(10), 3320-3326. doi:10.2527/jas.2009-2308
- 66. Giang, H.H.; T.Q. Viet; B. Ogle; J.E. Lindberg. Effects of Supplementation of Probiotics on the Performance, Nutrient Digestibility and Faecal Microflora in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **2011**, 24(5), 655-661. doi:10.5713/ajas.2011.10238
- 67. Nitikanchana, S.; M.D. Tokach; J.M. DeRouchey; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen; S.S. Dritz, *The Effect of Bacillus Probiotic on Growth Performance and Fecal Consistency of Growing-Finishing Pigs*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 2011, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 240-246.
- Hossain, M.E.; S.Y. Ko; K.W. Park; J.D. Firman; C.J. Yang. Evaluation of Green Tea by-Product and Green Tea Plus Probiotics on the Growth Performance, Meat Quality and Immunity of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 2012, 52(9), 857-866. doi:10.1071/AN11141
- Cui, C.; C.J. Shen; G. Jia; K.N. Wang. Effect of Dietary Bacillus Subtilis on Proportion of Bacteroidetes and Firmicutes in Swine Intestine and Lipid Metabolism. *Genet. Mol. Res.* 2013, 12(2), 1766-1776. doi:10.4238/2013.May.23.1
- Kerr, B.J.; T.E. Weber; G.C. Shurson. Evaluation of Commercially Available Enzymes, Probiotics, or Yeast on Apparent Total-Tract Nutrient Digestion and Growth in Nursery and Finishing Pigs Fed Diets Containing Corn Dried Distillers Grains with Solubles. *Prof. Anim. Sci.* 2013, 29(5), 508-517. doi:10.15232/S1080-7446(15)30272-2
- Liu, T.; B. Su; J. Wang; C. Zhang; A. Shan. Effects of Probiotics on Growth, Pork Quality and Serum Metabolites in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Northeast Agric. Univ. 2013, 20(4), 57-63. doi:10.1016/S1006-8104(14)60048-9
- Balasubramanian, B.; T. Li; I.H. Kim. Effects of Supplementing Growing-Finishing Pig Diets with Bacillus Spp. Probiotic on Growth Performance and Meat-Carcass Grade Quality Traits. *Rev. Bras. Zootec.* 2016, 45(3), 93-100. doi:10.1590/S1806-92902016000300002
- Dowarah, R.; A.K. Verma; A. Neeta; S. Putan. Effect of Swine-Based Probiotic on Growth Performance, Nutrient Utilization and Immune Status of Early-Weaned Grower-Finisher Crossbred Pigs. *Anim. Nutr. Feed Technol.* 2016, 16(3), 451-461. doi:10.5958/0974-181X.2016.00042.1
- Jørgensen, J.N.; J.S. Laguna; C. Millán; O. Casabuena; M.I. Gracia. Effects of a Bacillus-Based Probiotic and Dietary Energy Content on the Performance and Nutrient Digestibility of Wean to Finish Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2016, 221, 54-61. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.08.008

- Sarker, M.S.K.; A.B.M.R. Bostami; G.M. Kim; H. Ji; C. Yang. Potential of Bamboo Vinegar with Liquid Probiotics on Growth Performance, Fecal Microbiology and Fecal Odorous Gas Emissions from Finishing Pigs. *Afr. J. Microbiol. Res.* 2016, 10(11), 363-369. doi:10.5897/AJMR2016.7936
- 76. Nguyen, D.H.; K.Y. Lee; H.N. Tran; S.D. Upadhaya; Y.J. Jeong; I.H. Kim. Influence of Enterococcus Faecium and Endo-1,4-B-Xylanase Supplementation on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Fecal Microflora, Fecal Gas Emission, and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs Fed with Diets Based on Corn–Soybean Meal. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2017, 98(1), 126-134. doi:10.1139/cjas-2016-0197
- Tufarelli, V.; A.M. Crovace; G. Rossi; V. Laudadio. Effect of a Dietary Probiotic Blend on Performance, Blood Characteristics, Meat Quality and Faecal Microbial Shedding in Growing-Finishing Pigs. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 2017, 47(6), 875-882. doi:10.4314/sajas.v47i6.15
- Balasubramanian, B.; S.I. Lee; I.H. Kim. Inclusion of Dietary Multi-Species Probiotic on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Meat Quality Traits, Faecal Microbiota and Diarrhoea Score in Growing–Finishing Pigs. *Ital. J. Anim. Sci.* 2018, 17(1), 100-106. doi:10.1080/1828051X.2017.1340097
- 79. Bučko, O.; A. Lehotayová; I. Imrich; I. Bahelka. Carcass Characteristics and Meat Quality of Pigs Fed Diets Containing Probiotic Preparation Based on Lactobacillus Plantarum. *Res. Pig Breed.* **2018**, 12(1), 1-4.
- Samolińska, W.; E. Kowalczuk-Vasilev; E.R. Grela. Comparative Effect of Different Dietary Inulin Sources and Probiotics on Growth Performance and Blood Characteristics in Growing–Finishing Pigs. Arch. Anim. Nutr. 2018, 72(5), 379-395. doi:10.1080/1745039X.2018.1505147
- Shi, D.; J. Zhou; L. Zhao; X. Rong; Y. Fan; H. Hamid; W. Li; C. Ji; Q. Ma. Alleviation of Mycotoxin Biodegradation Agent on Zearalenone and Deoxynivalenol Toxicosis in Immature Gilts. *J. Anim. Sci. Biotechnol.* 2018, 9, 42. doi:10.1186/s40104-018-0255-z
- Lan, R.; I. Kim. Effects of Bacillus Licheniformis and Bacillus Subtilis Complex on Growth Performance and Faecal Noxious Gas Emissions in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2019, 99(4), 1554-1560. doi:10.1002/jsfa.9333
- 83. Wang, H.; I. Kim. Influence of the Efficacy of a Probiotic Complex Containing Bacillus Subtilis and Pichia Farinosa on the Growth Performance and Fecal Microbiota of Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **2019**, 99(4), 966-970. doi:10.1139/cjas-2018-0226
- 84. Peet-Schwering, C.M.C.v.d.; R. Verheijen; L. Jørgensen; L. Raff. Effects of a Mixture of Bacillus Amyloliquefaciens and Bacillus Subtilis on the Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* **2020**, 261. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114409
- 85. Reszka, P.; A. Dunislawska; A. Slawinska; M. Siwek; W. Kapelański; J. Bogucka. Influence of the Effective Microorganisms (Em) on Performance, Intestinal Morphology

and Gene Expression in the Jejunal Mucosa of Pigs Fed Different Diets. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) **2020**, 104(5), 1444-1453. doi:10.1111/jpn.13404

- Rybarczyk, A.; E. Boguslawska-Was; A. Lupkowska. Effect of Em® Probiotic on Gut Microbiota, Growth Performance, Carcass and Meat Quality of Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2020, 241. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104206
- Frimpong, Y.O.; M. Boateng; K.O. Amoah; P.Y. Atuahene; S.O. Okungbowa; J. Baah;
 D.B. Okai. Response of Large White Gilts to Diets Containing Differing Probiotic
 Products. *Sci. Afr.* 2021, 13(4). doi:10.1016/j.sciaf.2021.e00878
- 88. Grela, E.R.; M. Świątkiewicz; M. Florek; M. Bąkowski; G. Skiba. Effect of Inulin Source and a Probiotic Supplement in Pig Diets on Carcass Traits, Meat Quality and Fatty Acid Composition in Finishing Pigs. *Animals* **2021**, 11(8). doi:10.3390/ani11082438
- Kwak, M.J.; P.L. Tan; J.K. Oh; K.S. Chae; J. Kim; S.H. Kim; J.S. Eun; S.W. Chee; D.K. Kang; S.H. Kim; K.Y. Whang. The Effects of Multispecies Probiotic Formulations on Growth Performance, Hepatic Metabolism, Intestinal Integrity and Fecal Microbiota in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2021, 274. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2021.114833
- Pomorska-Mól, M.; H. Turlewicz-Podbielska; J. Wojciechowski. Effects of the Microencapsulated Feed Additive of Lactic Acid Bacteria on Production Parameters and Post-Vaccinal Immune Response in Pigs. *Pol. J. Vet. Sci.* 2021, 24(3), 335-343. doi:10.24425/pjvs.2021.137670
- Rybarczyk, A.; E. Bogusławska-Wąs; A. Dłubała. Effect of Bioplus Yc Probiotic Supplementation on Gut Microbiota, Production Performance, Carcass and Meat Quality of Pigs. *Animals* 2021, 11(6). doi:10.3390/ani11061581
- 92. Shen, W.; Y. Liu; X. Zhang; X. Zhang; X. Rong; L. Zhao; C. Ji; Y. Lei; Q. Ma; J. Chen; F. Li. Comparison of Ameliorative Effects between Probiotic and Biodegradable Bacillus Subtilis on Zearalenone Toxicosis in Gilts. *Toxins* 2021, 13(12). doi:10.3390/toxins13120882
- Runjun, D.; A.K. Verma; A. Neeta; S. Putan. Efficacy of Species-Specific Probiotic Pediococcus Acidilactici Ft28 on Blood Biochemical Profile, Carcass Traits and Physicochemical Properties of Meat in Fattening Pigs. *Res. Vet. Sci.* 2018, 117, 60-64. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.11.011
- 94. Reszka, P.; D. Cygan-Szczegielniak; H. Jankowiak; A. Cebulska; B. Mikołajczak; J. Bogucka. Effects of Effective Microorganisms on Meat Quality, Microstructure of the Longissimus Lumborum Muscle, and Electrophoretic Protein Separation in Pigs Fed on Different Diets. *Animals* 2020, 10(10). doi:10.3390/ani10101755
- 95. Tian, Z.; Y. Cui; H. Lu; G. Wang; X. Ma. Effect of Long-Term Dietary Probiotic Lactobacillus Reuteri 1 or Antibiotics on Meat Quality, Muscular Amino Acids and Fatty Acids in Pigs. *Meat Sci.* **2021**, 171. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2020.108234

- 96. Barber, R.S.; R. Braude; K.G. Mitchell; A.W. Myres. The Value of Hydrocarbon-Grownyeast S a Source of Protein for Growing Pigs. *Br. J. Nutr.* **1971**, 25(2), 285-94. doi:10.1079/bjn19710089
- 97. Bowman, G.L.; T.L. Veum. Saccharomyces Cerevisiae Yeast Culture in Growing-Finishing Swine Diets. J. Anim. Sci. **1973**, 37(1), 72-74.
- Burnett, G.S.; E.L. Neil. A Note on the Effect of Probioticum Feed Additive on the Live-Weight Gain, Feed Conversion and Carcass Quality of Bacon Pigs. *Anim. Prod.* 1977, 25(1), 95-98. doi:10.1017/S0003356100039088
- Bae, K.H.; T.G. Ko; J.H. Kim; W.T. Cho; Y.K. Han; I.K. Han. Use of Metabolically Active Substances to Substitute for Antibiotics in Finishing Pigs. *Korean J. Anim. Sci.* 1999, 41(1), 23-30.
- 100. Davis, M.E.; C.V. Maxwell; D.C. Brown; B.Z.d. Rodas; Z.B. Johnson; E.B. Kegley; D.H. Hellwig; R.A. Dvorak. Effect of Dietary Mannan Oligosaccharides and(or) Pharmacological Additions of Copper Sulfate on Growth Performance and Immunocompetence of Weanling and Growing/Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2002, 80(11), 2887-2894. doi:10.2527/2002.80112887x
- 101. Reynoso-González, E.; M. Cervantes-Ramírez; J.L. Figueroa-Velasco; A. Morales-Trejo; A. Araiza-Piña; J. Yáñez-Hernández. Levels of Protein, Fiber, and Yeast Saccharomyces Cerevisiae in Wheat-Based Diets for Pigs. *Agrociencia* 2010, 44(7), 753-762.
- 102. Ha, S.; B. Park; S. Son; D. Ha; C.Y. Lee. Effects of the Low-Crude Protein and Lysine (Low Cp/Lys) Diet and a Yeast Culture Supplemented to the Low Cp/Lys Diet on Growth and Carcass Characteristics in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 2012, 54(6), 427-433. doi:10.5187/JAST.2012.54.6.427
- 103. Wenner, B.A.; H.N. Zerby; D.D. Boler; W.A. Gebreyes; S.J. Moeller. Effect of Mannan Oligosaccharides (Bio-Mos) and Outdoor Access Housing on Pig Growth, Feed Efficiency and Carcass Composition. J. Anim. Sci. 2013, 91(10), 4936-4944. doi:10.2527/jas.2013-6582
- 104. Edwards, M.V.; A.C. Edwards; P. Millard; A. Kocher. Mannose Rich Fraction of Saccharomyces Cerevisiae Promotes Growth and Enhances Carcass Yield in Commercially Housed Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* **2014**, 197, 227-232. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2014.08.004
- 105. Lei, Y.; I.H. Kim. Effect of Phaffia Rhodozyma on Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Characteristics, and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2014, 92(1), 171-176. doi:10.2527/jas.2013-6749
- 106. Szakacs, A.R.; S. Matei; L. Ştefănuţ; Z. Moni; A. Macri. Effects of Pre and Probiotic on Growth Performance and Haematological Parameters in Pigs. *Bull. Univ. Agric. Sci. Vet. Med. Cluj. Napoca.* 2016, 73(2), 295-300. doi:10.15835/buasvmcn-vm:12166

- 107. Gong, Y.L.; J.B. Liang; M.F. Jahromi; Y.B. Wu; A.G. Wright; X.D. Liao. Mode of Action of Saccharomyces Cerevisiae in Enteric Methane Mitigation in Pigs. *Animal* 2018, 12(2), 239-245. doi:10.1017/S1751731117001732
- 108. Zhang, J.; J. Park; I. Kim. Effect of Supplementation with Brewer's Yeast Hydrolysate on Growth Performance, Nutrients Digestibility, Blood Profiles and Meat Quality in Growing to Finishing Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2019, 32(10), 1565-1572. doi:10.5713/ajas.18.0837
- 109. Bo, H.X.; H.T. Anh; P.X. Hao; P.T. Tuoi; D.D. Luc. Effects of Replacement of Fish Meal and Soybean Meal by Brewers' Yeast Extract on Growth and Feed Conversion of Landrace X Yorkshire Pigs. *Livest. Res. Rural. Dev.* **2020**, 32(6), 1-7.
- 110. Dávila-Ramírez, J.L.; M.R. Carvajal-Nolazco; M.J. López-Millanes; H. González-Ríos; H. Celaya-Michel; J. Sosa-Castañeda; S.M. Barrales-Heredia; S.F. Moreno-Salazar; M.A. Barrera-Silva. Effect of Yeast Culture (Saccharomyces Cerevisiae) Supplementation on Growth Performance, Blood Metabolites, Carcass Traits, Quality, and Sensorial Traits of Meat from Pigs under Heat Stress. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* **2020**, 267. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2020.114573
- 111. He, W.; Y. Gao; Z. Guo; Z. Yang; X. Wang; H. Liu; H. Sun; B. Shi. Effects of Fermented Wheat Bran and Yeast Culture on Growth Performance, Immunity, and Intestinal Microflora in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2021, 99(11). doi:10.1093/jas/skab308
- 112. Mayorga, E.J.; S.K. Kvidera; E.A. Horst; M. Al-Qaisi; C.S. McCarthy; M.A. Abeyta; S. Lei; T.H. Elsasser; S. Kahl; T.G. Kiros; L.H. Baumgard. Effects of Dietary Live Yeast Supplementation on Growth Performance and Biomarkers of Metabolism and Inflammation in Heat-Stressed and Nutrient-Restricted Pigs. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2021, 5(2). doi:10.1093/tas/txab072
- 113. Namted, S.; K. Poungpong; W. Loongyai; C. Rakangthong; C. Bunchasak. Improving Growth Performance and Blood Profile by Feeding Autolyzed Yeast to Improve Pork Carcass and Meat Quality. *Anim. Sci. J.* **2021**, 92(1). doi:10.1111/asj.13666
- 114. Lucas, I.A.M.; A.F.C. Calder. Antibiotics and a High Level of Copper Sulphate in Rations for Growing Bacon Pigs. J. Agric. Sci. 1957, 49, 184-199. doi:10.1017/S0021859600036170
- 115. King, J.O.L. The Effect of Environmental Temperature on the Response of Growing Pigs to Dietary Supplements of an Antibiotic and Copper Sulphate. *Vet. Rec.* **1960**, 72, 304-306.
- 116. Wallace, H.D.; J.T. McCall; B. Bass; G.E. Combs. High Level Copper for Growing-Finishing Swine. J. Anim. Sci. **1960**, 19, 1153-1163. doi:10.2527/jas1960.1941153x
- 117. Bellis, D.B. Supplementation of Bacon Pig Rations by Aureomycin and Two Levels of Copper Sulphate. *Anim. Prod.* **1961**, 3(1), 89-95. doi:10.1017/S0003356100033808

- 118. Lucas, I.A.M.; R.M. Livingstone; I. McDonald. Copper Sulphate as a Growth Stimulant for Pigs: Effect of Level and Purity. *Anim. Prod.* **1961**, 3(2), 111-119. doi:10.1017/S0003356100033869
- 119. Barber, R.S.; R. Braude; K.G. Mitchell. Copper Sulphate and Molasses Distillers Dried Solubles as Dietary Supplements for Growing Pigs. *Anim. Prod.* **1962**, 4(2), 233-238. doi:10.1017/S0003356100034243
- Braude, R.; M.J. Townsend; G. Harrington; J.G. Rowell. Effects of Oxytetracycline and Copper Sulphate, Separately and Together, in the Rations of Growing Pigs. J. Agric. Sci. 1962, 58, 251-256. doi:10.1017/S0021859600010212
- 121. Lucas, I.A.M.; R.M. Livingstone; A.W. Boyne. Copper Sulphate as a Growth Stimulant for Pigs: Effect of Composition of Diet and Level of Protein. *Anim. Prod.* **1962**, 4(2), 177-183. doi:10.1017/S0003356100034176
- 122. Gipp, W.F.; W.G. Pond; S.E. Smith. Effects of Level of Dietary Copper, Molybdenum, Sulfate and Zinc on Bodyweight Gain, Hemoglobin and Liver Copper Storage of Growing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. **1967**, 26(4), 727-30. doi:10.2527/jas1967.264727x
- 123. Barber, R.S.; R. Braude; K.G. Mitchell; J.D. Harding; G. Lewis; R.M. Loosmore. The Effects of Feeding Toxic Groundnut Meal to Growing Pigs and Its Interaction with High-Copper Diets. *Br. J. Nutr.* **1968**, 22(4), 535-54. doi:10.1079/bjn19680064
- 124. Hanrahan, T.J.; J.F. O'Grady. Copper Supplementation of Pig Diets. The Effect of Protein Level and Zinc Supplementation on the Response to Added Copper. *Anim. Prod.* 1968, 10(4), 423-432. doi:10.1017/S0003356100026441
- 125. Boyazoglu, P.A.; E.L. Barrett. Effects of High Level Copper Supplementation on Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. S. Afr. Vet. Med. Assoc. **1970**, 41(3), 201-204.
- 126. Barber, R.S.; R. Braude; K.G. Mitchell. Arsanilic Acid, Sodium Salicylate and Bromide Salts as Potential Growth Stimulants for Pigs Receiving Diets with and without Copper Sulphate. *Br. J. Nutr.* **1971**, 25(3), 381-9. doi:10.1079/bjn19710103
- 127. DeGoey, L.W.; R.C. Wahlstrom; R.J. Emerick. Studies of High Level Copper Supplementation to Rations for Growing Swine. J. Anim. Sci. 1971, 33(1), 52-57. doi:10.2527/jas1971.33152x
- 128. Kline, R.D.; V.W. Hays; G.L. Cromwell. Effects of Copper, Molybdenum and Sulfate on Performance, Hematology and Copper Stores of Pigs and Lambs. J. Anim. Sci. 1971, 33(4), 771-779. doi:10.2527/jas1971.334771x
- 129. Kline, R.D.; V.W. Hays; G.L. Cromwell. Related Effects of Copper, Zinc and Iron on Performance, Hematology and Copper Stores of Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1972, 34(3), 393-6. doi:10.2527/jas1972.343393x
- 130. Braude, R.; K. Ryder. Copper Levels in Diets for Growing Pigs. J. Agric. Sci. **1973**, 80(3), 489-493. doi:10.1017/S0021859600058135

- 131. Elliot, J.I.; M.A. Amer. Influence of Level of Copper Supplement and Removal of Supplemental Copper from the Diet on the Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs and Accumulation of Copper in the Liver. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **1973**, 53(1), 133-138. doi:10.4141/cjas73-020
- 132. Gipp, W.F.; W.G. Pond; E.F. Walker, Jr. Influence of Diet Composition and Mode of Copper Administration on the Response of Growing-Finishing Swine to Supplemental Copper. J. Anim. Sci. 1973, 36(1), 91-99. doi:10.2527/jas1973.36191x
- 133. Kline, R.D.; M.A. Corzo; V.W. Hays; G.L. Cromwell. Related Effects of Copper, Molybdenum and Sulfide on Performance, Hematology and Copper Stores of Growing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1973, 37(4), 936-941. doi:10.2527/jas1973.374936x
- 134. NCR-42 Committee on Swine Nutrition. Cooperative Regional Studies with Growing Swine: Effects of Vitamin E and Levels of Supplementary Copper During the Growing-Finishing Period on Gain, Feed Conversion and Tissue Copper Storage in Swine. J. Anim. Sci. 1974, 39(3), 512-20. doi:10.2527/jas1974.393512x
- 135. Bellis, D.B. A Note on Copper Supplementation of Bacon Pig Diets Based on Fishmeal or on Extracted Soyabean Meal. *Rhod. J. Agric. Res.* **1975**, 13(1), 9-13.
- 136. Castell, A.G.; R.D. Allen; R.M. Beames; J.M. Bell; R. Belzile; J.P. Bowland; J.I. Elliot; M. Ihnat; E. Larmond; T.M. Mallard; D.T. Spurr; S.C. Stothers; S.B. Wilton; L.G. Young. Copper Supplementation of Canadian Diets for Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 1975, 55(1), 113-134. doi:10.4141/cjas75-014
- 137. Hansen, V.; S. Bresson. Copper Sulphate as a Feed Additive to Bacon Pigs. *Acta Agric. Scand.* **1975**, 25(1), 30-32.
- Omole, T.A.; J.O. Ilori; A.O. Leigh. Effects of Dietary Copper and Zinc on Performance Carcass Characteristics and Tissue Copper Stores of Market Pigs. *Malays. Agric. Res.* 1976, 5(1), 67-73.
- 139. Barber, R.S.; R. Braude; K.G. Mitchell; R.J. Pittman. The Value of Virginiamycin (Eskalin) as a Feed Additive for Growing Pigs in Diets with or without a High Copper Supplement. Anim. Prod. 1978, 26(2), 151-155. doi:10.1017/S0003356100039568
- Cromwell, G.L.; V.W. Hays; T.L. Clark. Effects of Copper Sulfate, Copper Sulfide and Sodium Sulfide on Performance and Copper Stores of Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1978, 46(3), 692-698. doi:10.2527/jas1978.463692x
- 141. Pond, W.G.; E.F. Walker Jr; D. Kirtland; T. Rounsaville. Effect of Dietary Ca, Cu and Zn Level on Body Weight Gain and Tissue Mineral Concentrations of Growing Pigs and Rats. *J. Anim. Sci.* 1978, 47(5), 1128-1134. doi:10.2527/jas1978.4751128x
- Eisemann, J.H.; W.G. Pond; M.L. Thonney. Effect of Dietary Zinc and Copper on Performance and Tissue Mineral and Cholesterol Concentrations in Swine. J. Anim. Sci. 1979, 48(5), 1123-1128. doi:10.2527/jas1979.4851123x

- 143. Prince, T.J.; V.W. Hays; G.L. Cromwell. Effects of Copper Sulfate and Ferrous Sulfide on Performance and Liver Copper and Iron Stores of Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1979, 49(2), 507-513. doi:10.2527/jas1979.492507x
- 144. Barber, R.S.; R. Braude; K.G. Mitchell. Copper Supplementation of Isonitrogenous Diets for Growing Pigs Containing White-Fish Meal or Soya Bean Meal as the Protein Supplement. Anim. Prod. 1981, 33(1), 81-86. doi:10.1017/S000335610002523X
- 145. Ribeiro de Lima, F.; T.S. Stahly; G.L. Cromwell. Effects of Copper, with and without Ferrous Sulfide, and Antibiotics on the Performance of Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1981, 52(2), 241-7. doi:10.2527/jas1981.522241x
- 146. Braude, R.; Z.D. Hosking. Copper in Diets for Growing Pigs. J. Agric. Sci. **1982**, 99(2), 365-371. doi:10.1017/S002185960003015X
- 147. Bradley, B.D.; G. Graber; R.J. Condon; L.T. Frobish. Effects of Graded Levels of Dietary Copper on Copper and Iron Concentrations in Swine Tissues. J. Anim. Sci. 1983, 56(3), 625-30. doi:10.2527/jas1983.563625x
- 148. Prince, T.J.; V.W. Hays; G.L. Cromwell. Interactive Effects of Dietary Calcium, Phosphorus and Copper on Performance and Liver Stores of Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1984, 58(2), 356-61. doi:10.2527/jas1984.582356x
- Southern, L.L.; T.B. Stewart. Performance and Tissue Copper Concentrations of Control and Ascaris Suum-Infected Pigs Fed Excess Dietary Copper. J. Parasitol. 1984, 70(5), 668-670. doi:10.2307/3281747
- 150. Rowan, T.G.; T.L.J. Lawrence. Growth, Tissue Deposition and Metabolism Studies in Growing Pigs Given Low Glucosinolate Rapeseed Meal Diets Containing Different Amounts of Copper and Polyethylene Glycol. J. Agric. Sci. 1986, 107(3), 505-513. doi:10.1017/S0021859600069653
- 151. Astrup, H.N.; T. Matre. Feed Conversion, Pork Fat Softening and Liver Malondialdehyde Reactivity in Pigs Supplemented with Copper. *Norw. J. Agric. Sci.* **1987**, 1(2), 81-86.
- 152. Lüdke, H.; F. Schöne. Copper and Iodine in Pig Diets with High Glucosinolate Rapeseed Meal. I. Performance and Thyroid Hormone Status of Growing Pigs Fed on a Diet with Rapeseed Meal Treated with Copper Sulphate Solution or Untreated and Supplements of Iodine, Copper or a Quinoxaline Derivative. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* **1988**, 22(1-2), 33-43. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(88)90072-7
- 153. Schöne, F.; H. Lüdke; A. Hennig; G. Jahreis. Copper and Iodine in Pig Diets with High Glucosinolate Rapeseed Meal. Ii. Influence of Iodine Supplements for Rations with Rapeseed Meal Untreated or Treated with Copper Ions on Performance and Thyroid Hormone Status of Growing Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* **1988**, 22(1-2), 45-59. doi:10.1016/0377-8401(88)90073-9

- 154. Ward, T.L.; K.L. Watkins; L.L. Southern; P.G. Hoyt; D.D. French. Interactive Effects of Sodium Zeolite-a and Copper in Growing Swine: Growth, and Bone and Tissue Mineral Concentrations. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1991**, 69(2), 726-733. doi:10.2527/1991.692726x
- 155. Myer, R.O.; J.W. Lamkey; W.R. Walker; J.H. Brendemuhl; G.E. Combs. Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Swine When Fed Diets Containing Canola Oil and Added Copper to Alter the Unsaturated:Saturated Ratio of Pork Fat. J. Anim. Sci. 1992, 70(5), 1417-1423. doi:10.2527/1992.7051417x
- 156. Southern, L.L.; K.L. Watkins; D.D. French. Effect of Dietary Sodium Bicarbonate on Growth, Liver Copper Concentration and Incidence of Gastric Ulceration in Pigs Fed Excess Dietary Copper. *Int. J. Vitam. Nutr. Res.* **1993**, 63(1), 45-47.
- 157. Apgar, G.A.; E.T. Kornegay. Mineral Balance of Finishing Pigs Fed Copper Sulfate or a Copper-Lysine Complex at Growth-Stimulating Levels. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1996**, 74(7), 1594-1600. doi:10.2527/1996.7471594x.
- 158. Lauridsen, C.; S. Højsgaard; M.T. Sørensen. Influence of Dietary Rapeseed Oil, Vitamin E, and Copper on the Performance and the Antioxidative and Oxidative Status of Pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1999**, 77(4), 906-16. doi:10.2527/1999.774906x
- 159. Hernández, A.; J.R. Pluske; D.N. D'Souza; B.P. Mullan. Minimum Levels of Inclusion of Copper and Zinc Proteinate Amino Acid Chelates in Growing and Finishing Pig Diets. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 2009, 49(4), 340-349. doi:10.1071/EA08237
- 160. Coble, K.F.; J.M. DeRouchey; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; B.V. Lawrence; J. Escobar; J.C. Woodworth; R.D. Goodband; N. Boettger, *Effects of Copper Sources (Copper Sulfate and Mintrex Cu) on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Barn Cleaning, and Economics in Finishing Pigs*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 2014, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 155-163.
- 161. Feldpausch, J.A.; R.G. Amachawadi; M.D. Tokach; H.M. Scott; T.G. Nagaraja; S.S. Dritz; R.D. Goodband; J.C. Woodworth; J.M. DeRouchey. Effects of Dietary Copper, Zinc, and Ractopamine Hydrochloride on Finishing Pig Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, and Antimicrobial Susceptibility of Enteric Bacteria. J. Anim. Sci. 2016, 94(8), 3278-3293. doi:10.2527/jas.2016-0340
- 162. Coble, K.F.; J.M. DeRouchey; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; R.D. Goodband; J.C. Woodworth; J.L. Usry. The Effects of Copper Source and Concentration on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, and Pen Cleanliness in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2017, 95(9), 4052-4059. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1624
- 163. Coble, K.F.; D.D. Burnett; J.M. Derouchey; M.D. Tokach; J.M. Gonzalez; F. Wu; S.S. Dritz; R.D. Goodband; J.C. Woodworth; J.R. Pluske. Effect of Diet Type and Added Copper on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Energy Digestibility, Gut Morphology, and Mucosal Mrna Expression of Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2018, 96(8), 3288-3301. doi:10.1093/jas/sky196

- 164. Coble, K.F.; F. Wu; J.M. DeRouchey; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; R.D. Goodband; J.C. Woodworth; J.L. Usry. Effect of Standardized Ileal Digestible Lysine and Added Copper on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, and Fat Quality of Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2018, 96(8), 3249-3263. doi:10.1093/jas/sky184
- 165. Carpenter, C.B.; J.C. Woodworth; J.M. Derouchey; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; S.S. Dritz; F. Wu; Z.J. Rambo. Effects of Increasing Copper from Either Copper Sulfate or Combinations of Copper Sulfate and a Copper-Amino Acid Complex on Finishing Pig Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 3(4), 1263-1269. doi:10.1093/tas/txz112
- 166. Seidu, A.; H. Meng; D. Che; H. Jiang; R. Han; B. Zhao; D. Kofi; G. Qin. Effect of Dietary Copper Levels on the Growth Performance and Nutrient Utilization in Fattening Pigs. *Indian J. Anim. Res* 2020, 54(5), 573-577. doi:10.18805/ijar.B-956
- 167. Blavi, L.; D. Solà; A. Monteiro; J.F. Pérez; H.H. Stein. Inclusion of Dicopper Oxide Instead of Copper Sulfate in Diets for Growing-Finishing Pigs Results in Greater Final Body Weight and Bone Mineralization, but Reduced Accumulation of Copper in the Liver. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2021, 99(6). doi:10.1093/jas/skab127
- 168. Wedekind, K.J.; A.J. Lewis; M.A. Giesemann; P.S. Miller. Bioavailability of Zinc from Inorganic and Organic Sources for Pigs Fed Corn-Soybean Meal Diets. J. Anim. Sci. 1994, 72(10), 2681-9. doi:10.2527/1994.72102681x
- 169. Rupić, V.; L. Ivandija; S. Luterotti; M. Dominis-Kramarić. Influence of Inorganic and Organic Dietary Zinc on Its Concentration in Blood Serum, Bones and Hair and on Catalytical Activity of Some Serum Enzymes in Pigs. Acta Vet. Brno 1997, 66(2), 75-85. doi:10.2754/avb199766020075
- 170. Paulk, C.B.; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; J.M. Gonzalez; J.M. Derouchey; R.D. Goodband, Effects of Added Zinc During the Grower and/or Finisher Phase on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Finishing Pigs Fed Diets with or without Ractopamine Hcl., in Kansas State University Swine Day. 2014, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 164-171.
- 171. Holen, J.P.; Z. Rambo; A.M. Hilbrands; L.J. Johnston. Effects of Dietary Zinc Source and Concentration on Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs Reared with Reduced Floor Space. *Prof. Anim. Sci.* 2018, 34(2), 133-143. doi:10.15232/pas.2017-01684
- 172. Cemin, H.S.; C.B. Carpenter; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; J.M. DeRouchey; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Usry. Effects of Zinc Source and Level on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Finishing Pigs. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* **2019**, 3(2), 742-748. doi:10.1093/tas/txz071
- 173. Cemin, H.S.; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; J.M. DeRouchey; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Usry. Effects of Increasing Dietary Zinc on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Pigs Raised under Commercial Conditions. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 3(2), 731-736. doi:10.1093/tas/txz054

- 174. Villagómez-Estrada, S.; J.F. Pérez; S. van Kuijk; D. Melo-Durán; R. Karimirad; D. Solà-Oriol. Effects of Two Zinc Supplementation Levels and Two Zinc and Copper Sources with Different Solubility Characteristics on the Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics and Digestibility of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2021, 105(1), 59-71. doi:10.1111/jpn.13447
- 175. Natalello, A.; H. Khelil-Arfa; G. Luciano; M. Zoon; R. Menci; M. Scerra; A. Blanchard; F. Mangano; L. Biondi; A. Priolo. Effect of Different Levels of Organic Zinc Supplementation on Pork Quality. *Meat Sci.* 2022, 186. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2021.108731
- 176. Siljander-Rasi, H.; S. Peuranen; K. Tiihonen; E. Virtanen; H. Kettunen; T. Alaviuhkola; P.H. Simmins. Effect of Equi-Molar Dietary Betaine and Choline Addition on Performance, Carcass Quality and Physiological Parameters of Pigs. *Anim. Sci.* 2003, 76(1), 55-62. doi:10.1017/s1357729800053315
- Dunshea, F.R.; D.J. Cadogan; G.G. Partridge. Dietary Betaine and Ractopamine Combine to Increase Lean Tissue Deposition in Finisher Pigs, Particularly Gilts. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 2009, 49(1), 65-70. doi:10.1071/EA08014
- 178. Smith, J.W.; J.L. Nelssen; R.D. Goodband; M.D. Tokach; B.T. Richert; K.Q. Owen; J.R. Bergstrom; S.A. Blum, *The Effects of Supplementing Growing-Finishing Swine Diets with Betaine and (or) Choline on Growth and Carcass Characteristics*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 1994, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 162-164.
- 179. Smith, J.W.; K.Q. Owen; K.G. Friesen; J.L. Nelssen; R.D. Goodband; M.D. Tokach; T.T. Lohrmann; S.A. Blum, *The Effects of Supplemental Dietary Carnitine, Betaine, and Chromium Nicotinate on Growth and Carcass Characteristics in Growing-Finishing Swine*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 1994, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 158-161.
- 180. Matthews, J.O.; L.L. Southern; J.E. Pontif; A.D. Higbie; T.D. Bidner. Interactive Effects of Betaine, Crude Protein, and Net Energy in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1998, 76(9), 2444-2455. doi:10.2527/1998.7692444x
- 181. Øverland, M.; K.A. Rørvik; A. Skrede. Effect of Trimethylamine Oxide and Betaine in Swine Diets on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Nutrient Digestibility, and Sensory Quality of Pork. J. Anim. Sci. 1999, 77(8), 2143-2153. doi:10.2527/1999.7782143x
- 182. Matthews, J.O.; L.L. Southern; T.D. Bidner; M.A. Persica. Effects of Betaine, Pen Space, and Slaughter Handling Method on Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, and Pork Quality of Finishing Barrows. *J. Anim. Sci.* **2001**, 79(4), 967-974. doi:10.2527/2001.794967x
- 183. Matthews, J.O.; L.L. Southern; A.D. Higbie; M.A. Persica; T.D. Bidner. Effects of Betaine on Growth, Carcass Characteristics, Pork Quality, and Plasma Metabolites of Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 79(3), 722-728. doi:10.2527/2001.793722x

- 184. Young, M.G.; S.S. Dritz; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen, *The Influence of Dietary Energy Level on the Response to Betaine*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 2001, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 101-104.
- 185. Lawrence, B.V.; A.P. Schinckel; O. Adeola; K. Cera. Impact of Betaine on Pig Finishing Performance and Carcass Composition. J. Anim. Sci. 2002, 80(2), 475-482. doi:10.2527/2002.802475x
- 186. Feng, J.; X. Liu; Y.Z. Wang; Z.R. Xu. Effects of Betaine on Performence, Carcass Characteristics and Hepatic Betaine-Homocysteine Methyltransferase Activity in Finishing Barrows. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2006, 19(3), 402-405. doi:10.5713/ajas.2006.402
- 187. Huang, Q.C.; X.Y. Han; Z.R. Xu; X.Y. Yang; T. Chen; X.T. Zheng. Betaine Suppresses Carnitine Palmitoyltransferase I in Skeletal Muscle but Not in Liver of Finishing Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2009, 126(1-3), 130-135. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2009.06.015
- 188. Nakev, J.; T. Popova; V. Vasileva. Influence of Dietary Betaine Supplementation on the Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics in Male and Female Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Bulg. J. Agric. Sci.* **2009**, 15(3), 263-268.
- 189. Yang, H.S.; J.I. Lee; S.T. Joo; G.B. Park. Effects of Dietary Glycine Betaine on Growth and Pork Quality of Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **2009**, 22(5), 706-711. doi:10.5713/ajas.2009.80645
- 190. Van Heugten, E., Improving Production Efficiency and Carcass Weight of Finishing Pigs Housed under Heat Stress Conditions by Heat Abatement with Dietary Betaine. 2014, North Carolina State University.
- 191. Madeira, M.S.; C.M. Alfaia; P. Costa; P.A. Lopes; S.V. Martins; J.P. Lemos; O. Moreira; J. Santos-Silva; R.J. Bessa; J.A. Prates. Effect of Betaine and Arginine in Lysine-Deficient Diets on Growth, Carcass Traits, and Pork Quality. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2015, 93(10), 4721-33. doi:10.2527/jas.2015-9117
- 192. Wang, L.S.; Z. Shi; R. Gao; B.C. Su; H. Wang; B.M. Shi; A.S. Shan. Effects of Conjugated Linoleic Acid or Betaine on the Growth Performance and Fatty Acid Composition in Backfat and Belly Fat of Finishing Pigs Fed Dried Distillers Grains with Solubles. *Animal* 2015, 9(4), 569-575. doi:10.1017/S1751731114002699
- 193. Lothong, M.; K. Tachampa; P. Assavacheep; K. Angkanaporn. Effects of Dietary Betaine Supplementation on Back Fat Thickness and Serum Igf-1 in Late Finishing Pigs. *Thai. J. Vet. Med* **2016**, 46(3), 427-434.
- 194. Mendoza, S.M.; R.D. Boyd; C.E. Zier-Rush; P.R. Ferket; K.D. Haydon; E.v. Heugten. Effect of Natural Betaine and Ractopamine Hcl on Whole-Body and Carcass Growth in Pigs Housed under High Ambient Temperatures. J. Anim. Sci. 2017, 95(7), 3047-3056. doi:10.2527/jas.2017.1622
- 195. Groesbeck, C.N.; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; S.S. Dritz; J.L. Nelssen; K.R. Lawrence; F. Valdez. Influence of Chromium Source on Plasma Non-Esterified Fatty Acid

Concentrations in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Kansas State University Swine Day* **2004**, 154-157.

- 196. Lindemann, M.D.; C.M. Wood; A.F. Harper; E.T. Kornegay; R.A. Anderson. Dietary Chromium Picolinate Additions Improve Gain:Feed and Carcass Characteristics in Growing-Finishing Pigs and Increase Litter Size in Reproducing Sows. J. Anim. Sci. 1995, 73(2), 457-465. doi:10.2527/1995.732457x
- 197. O'Quinn, P.R.; J.W. Smith, II; J.L. Nelssen; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; K.Q. Owen; S.A. Blum, *Effects of Source and Level of Added Chromium on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 1998, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 166-171.
- 198. Page, T.G.; L.L. Southern; T.L. Ward; D.L. Thompson Jr. Effect of Chromium Picolinate on Growth and Serum and Carcass Traits of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1993, 71(3), 656-662. doi:10.2527/1993.713656x
- 199. Shelton, J.L.; R.L. Payne; S.L. Johnston; T.D. Bidner; L.L. Southern; R.L. Odgaard; T.G. Page. Effect of Chromium Propionate on Growth, Carcass Traits, Pork Quality, and Plasma Metabolites in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2003, 81(10), 2515-2524. doi:10.2527/2003.81102515x.
- 200. Tian, Y.; L. Gong; J. Xue; J. Cao; L. Zhang. Effects of Graded Levels of Chromium Methionine on Performance, Carcass Traits, Meat Quality, Fatty Acid Profiles of Fat, Tissue Chromium Concentrations, and Antioxidant Status in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 2015, 168(1), 110-121. doi:10.1007/s12011-015-0352-1
- Lindemann, M.D.; G.L. Cromwell; H.J. Monegue; K.W. Purser. Effect of Chromium Source on Tissue Concentration of Chromium in Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2008, 86(11), 2971-2978. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-0888
- 202. Sales, J.; F. Jančík. Effects of Dietary Chromium Supplementation on Performance, Carcass Characteristics, and Meat Quality of Growing-Finishing Swine: A Meta-Analysis. J. Anim. Sci. 2011, 89(12), 4054-4067. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3495
- 203. Boleman, S.L.; S.J. Boleman; T.D. Bidner; L.L. Southern; T.L. Ward; J.E. Pontif; M.M. Pike. Effect of Chromium Picolinate on Growth, Body Composition, and Tissue Accretion in Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1995, 73(7), 2033-2042. doi:10.2527/1995.7372033x
- 204. Mooney, K.W.; G.L. Cromwell. Effects of Dietary Chromium Picolinate Supplementation on Growth, Carcass Characteristics, and Accretion Rates of Carcass Tissues in Growing-Finishing Swine. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1995**, 73(11), 3351-3357. doi:10.2527/1995.73113351x
- 205. Smith, J.W., II; J.L. Nelssen; R.D. Goodband; M.D. Tokach; B.T. Richert; K.Q. Owen; J.R. Bergstrom; W.B. Nessmith, Jr.; S.A. Blum, *The Effects of Supplementing Growing-Finishing Pig Diets with Carnitine and(or) Chromium on Growth and Carcass Characteristics*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 1996, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 111-115.

- 206. Kornegay, E.T.; Z. Wang; C.M. Wood; M.D. Lindemann. Supplemental Chromium Picolinate Influences Nitrogen Balance, Dry Matter Digestibility, and Carcass Traits in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1997, 75(5), 1319-1323. doi:10.2527/1997.7551319x
- 207. Min, J.K.; W.Y. Kim; B.J. Chae; I.B. Chung; I.S. Shin; Y.J. Choi; I.K. Han. Effects of Chromium Picolinate (Crp) on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics and Serum Traits in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **1997**, 10(1), 8-14. doi:10.5713/ajas.1997.8
- 208. Mooney, K.W.; G.L. Cromwell. Efficacy of Chromium Picolinate and Chromium Chloride as Potential Carcass Modifiers in Swine. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1997**, 75(10), 2661-2671. doi:10.2527/1997.75102661x.
- 209. Ward, T.L.; L.L. Southern; T.D. Bidner. Interactive Effects of Dietary Chromium Tripicolinate and Crude Protein Level in Growing-Finishing Pigs Provided Inadequate and Adequate Pen Space. J. Anim. Sci. 1997, 75(4), 1001-1008. doi:10.2527/1997.7541001x
- 210. Lien, T.; C. Wu; B. Lin; B. Wang; J. Lu; T. Shiao. Effect of Different Protein and Limiting Amino Acid Levels Coupled with a Supplement of Chromium Picolinate on Lipid Metabolism and Carcass Characteristics of Pigs. *Anim. Sci.* **1998**, 67(3), 601-607. doi:10.1017/S135772980003304X
- 211. Lemme, A.; G. Wenk; M. Lindemann; G. Bee. Chromium Yeast Affects Growth Performance but Not Whole Carcass Composition of Growing-Finishing Pigs. Ann. Zootech. 1999, 48(6), 457-468. doi:10.1051/animres:19990605
- 212. Mooney, K.W.; G.L. Cromwell. Efficacy of Chromium Picolinate on Performance and Tissue Accretion in Pigs with Different Lean Gain Potential. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1999**, 77(5), 1188-1198. doi:10.2527/1999.7751188x
- 213. O'Quinn, P.R.; A.T. Waylan; R.D. Goodband; J.A. Unruh; J.L. Nelssen; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach; K.Q. Owen, *Effects of Modified Tall Oil, Chromium Nicotinate, and L-Carnitine on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Gilts*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 1999, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 123-128.
- 214. Hanczakowska, E.; J. Urbańczyk; M. Świątkiewicz. The Efficiency of Betaine and Organic Compounds of Chromium in Fattening of Pigs with Ad Libitum or Restricted Feeding. *Rocz. Nauk. Zootech.* **1999**, 26(4), 263-274.
- 215. Matthews, J.O.; L.L. Southern; J.M. Fernandez; J.E. Pontif; T.D. Bidner; R.L. Odgaard. Effect of Chromium Picolinate and Chromium Propionate on Glucose and Insulin Kinetics of Growing Barrows and on Growth and Carcass Traits of Growing-Finishing Barrows. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 79(8), 2172-2178. doi:10.2527/2001.7982172x.
- 216. Xi, G.; Z. Xu; S. Wu; S. Chen. Effect of Chromium Picolinate on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Serum Metabolites and Metabolism of Lipid in Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 14(2), 258-262. doi:10.5713/ajas.2001.258

- 217. Matthews, J.O.; A.D. Higbie; L.L. Southern; D.F. Coombs; T.D. Bidner; R.L. Odgaard. Effect of Chromium Propionate and Metabolizable Energy on Growth, Carcass Traits, and Pork Quality of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2003, 81(1), 191-196. doi:10.2527/2003.811191x.
- 218. Waylan, A.T.; P.R. O'Quinn; R.D. Goodband; J.A. Unruh; J.L. Nelssen; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach. Effects of Dietary Additions of Modified Tall Oil, Chromium Nicotinate, and L-Carnitine on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, and Bacon Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* **2003**, 83(3), 459-467. doi:10.4141/A02-036
- 219. Wang, M.Q.; Z.R. Xu. Effect of Chromium Nanoparticle on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Pork Quality and Tissue Chromium in Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2004, 17(8), 1118-1122. doi:10.5713/ajas.2004.1118
- 220. Matthews, J.O.; A.C. Guzik; F.M. LeMieux; L.L. Southern; T.D. Bidner. Effects of Chromium Propionate on Growth, Carcass Traits, and Pork Quality of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2005, 83(4), 858-862. doi:10.2527/2005.834858x.
- 221. Amoikon, K.E.; T.L. Ward; L.L. Southern. Effects of Dietary Chromium Tripicolinate and Lysine on Growth Performance, Carcass Traits and Plasma Metabolite Levels in Pigs. *Agron. Afr.* 2006, 18(1), 75-83. doi:10.4314/aga.v18i1.1681
- 222. Khajarern, J.; S. Khajarern; H.D. Ashmead; S.D. Ashmead. The Effect of Chromium Bisglycinate-Nicotinamide Chelate Supplementation on Growth and Carcass Quality in Growing and Finishing Pigs. *Int. J. Appl. Res. Vet. Med.* **2006**, 4(3), 193-199.
- 223. Bergstrom, J.R.; M.D. Tokach; S.S. Dritz; J.L. Nelssen; J.M. DeRouchey; R.D. Goodband. Effects of 200 Ppb Added Chromium from Chromium Propionate on the Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Finishing Pigs. *Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports* 2008, 226-230. doi:10.4148/2378-5977.7061
- 224. Wang, M.Q.; Y.D. He; Z.R. Xu; W.F. Li. Effects of Chromium Picolinate Supplementation on Growth Hormone Secretion and Pituitary Mrna Expression in Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2008, 21(7), 1033-1037. doi:10.5713/ajas.2008.70692
- 225. Jackson, A.R.; S. Powell; S.L. Johnston; J.O. Matthews; T.D. Bidner; F.R. Valdez; L.L. Southern. The Effect of Chromium as Chromium Propionate on Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, Meat Quality, and the Fatty Acid Profile of Fat from Pigs Fed No Supplemented Dietary Fat, Choice White Grease, or Tallow. J. Anim. Sci. 2009, 87(12), 4032-4041. doi:10.2527/jas.2009-2168
- 226. Park, J.K.; J.Y. Lee; B.J. Chae; S.J. Ohh. Effects of Different Sources of Dietary Chromium on Growth, Blood Profiles and Carcass Traits in Growing-Finishing Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2009, 22(11), 1547-1554. doi:10.5713/ajas.2009.80633
- 227. Wang, M.Q.; Y.D. He; M.D. Lindemann; Z.G. Jiang. Efficacy of Cr (Iii) Supplementation on Growth, Carcass Composition, Blood Metabolites, and Endocrine Parameters in

Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* **2009**, 22(10), 1414-1419. doi:10.5713/ajas.2009.90111

- 228. Wang, M.Q.; Z.R. Xu; W.F. Li; Z.G. Jiang. Effect of Chromium Nanocomposite Supplementation on Growth Hormone Pulsatile Secretion and Mrna Expression in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2009, 93(4), 520-525. doi:10.1111/j.1439-0396.2008.00836.x
- 229. Li, Y.S.; N.H. Zhu; P.P. Niu; F.X. Shi; C.L. Hughes; G.X. Tian; R.H. Huang. Effects of Dietary Chromium Methionine on Growth Performance, Carcass Composition, Meat Colour and Expression of the Colour-Related Gene Myoglobin of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2013, 26(7), 1021-1029. doi:10.5713/ajas.2013.13012.
- 230. Panaite, T.; A. Untea; R.D. Criste; C. Papuc; M. Ropota; N.C. Predescu. Effect of the Dietary Chrome Picolinate Supplements Given to Fattening Pigs on the Quality Parameters of the Pig Leg. *Lucrări Științifice Universitatea de Științe Agricole și Medicină Veterinară, Seria Zootehnie* **2013**, 59, 66-71.
- 231. Hung, T.; B.J. Leury; M.A. Sabin; C.L. Collins; F.R. Dunshea. Dietary Nano-Chromium Tripicolinate Increases Feed Intake and Decreases Plasma Cortisol in Finisher Gilts During Summer. *Trop. Anim. Health Prod.* 2014, 46(8), 1483-1489. doi:10.1007/s11250-014-0673-7
- 232. Peres, L.M.; A.M. Bridi; C.A.d. Silva; N. Andreo; C.C.P. Barata; J.G.N. Dário. Effect of Supplementing Finishing Pigs with Different Sources of Chromium on Performance and Meat Quality. *Rev. Bras. Zootec.* 2014, 43(7), 369-375. doi:10.1590/S1516-35982014000700005
- 233. Wang, M.Q.; C. Wang; Y.J. Du; H. Li; W.J. Tao; S.S. Ye; Y.D. He; S.Y. Chen. Effects of Chromium-Loaded Chitosan Nanoparticles on Growth, Carcass Characteristics, Pork Quality, and Lipid Metabolism in Finishing Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2014, 161, 123-129. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2013.12.029
- 234. Li, T.Y.; C.M. Fu; T.F. Lien. Effects of Nanoparticle Chromium on Chromium Absorbability, Growth Performance, Blood Parameters and Carcass Traits of Pigs. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* 2017, 57(6), 1193-1200. doi:10.1071/AN15142
- 235. Marcolla, C.S.; D.M. Holanda; S.V. Ferreira; G.C. Rocha; N.V.L. Serão; M.S. Duarte; M.L.T. Abreu; A. Saraiva. Chromium, Cla, and Ractopamine for Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2017, 95(10), 4472-4480. doi:10.2527/jas2017.1753
- 236. Xu, X.; L. Liu; S. Long; X. Piao; T.L. Ward; F. Ji. Effects of Chromium Methionine Supplementation with Different Sources of Zinc on Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, Meat Quality, Serum Metabolites, Endocrine Parameters, and the Antioxidant Status in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Biol. Trace Elem. Res.* 2017, 179(1), 70-78. doi:10.1007/s12011-017-0935-0
- 237. Jin, C.; Q. Wang; Z. Zhang; Y. Xu; H. Yan; H. Li; C. Gao; X. Wang. Dietary Supplementation with Pioglitazone Hydrochloride and Chromium Methionine Improves

Growth Performance, Meat Quality, and Antioxidant Ability in Finishing Pigs. J. Agric. Food. Chem. **2018**, 66(17), 4345-4351. doi:10.1021/acs.jafc.8b01176

- 238. Gebhardt, J.T.; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach; J.M. Derouchey; R.D. Goodband; J.A. Loughmiller; A.L.P. De Souza; M.J. Rincker; S.S. Dritz. Determining the Influence of Chromium Propionate and Yucca Schidigera on Growth Performance and Carcass Composition of Pigs Housed in a Commercial Environment. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 3(4), 1275-1285. doi:10.1093/tas/txz117
- 239. Gebhardt, J.T.; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach; J.M. DeRouchey; R.D. Goodband; J.A. Loughmiller; A.L.P.d. Souza; S.S. Dritz. Influence of Chromium Propionate Dose and Feeding Regimen on Growth Performance and Carcass Composition of Pigs Housed in a Commercial Environment. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 3(1), 384-392. doi:10.1093/tas/txy104
- 240. Lien, T.F.; Y.S. Lan. Effects of Nanoparticle Chromium Mixed with Γ-Polyglutamic Acid on the Chromium Bioavailability, Growth Performance, Serum Parameters and Carcass Traits of Pigs. *Anim. Prod. Sci.* **2019**, 59(12), 2222-2229. doi:10.1071/AN18441
- 241. Mayorga, E.J.; S.K. Kvidera; J.T. Seibert; E.A. Horst; M. Abuajamieh; M. Al-Qaisi; S. Lei; J.W. Ross; C.D. Johnson; B. Kremer; L. Ochoa; R.P. Rhoads; L.H. Baumgard. Effects of Dietary Chromium Propionate on Growth Performance, Metabolism, and Immune Biomarkers in Heat-Stressed Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2019, 97(3), 1185-1197. doi:10.1093/jas/sky484
- 242. da Silva, J.L.; A.P. Dos Santos; T.V.A. Farias; C. Kiefer; K.M.R. de Souza Nascimento; A. Corassa; S.A. da Silva Alencar; G.P. Rodrigues. Chromium and Energy Restriction as Substitutes for Ractopamine in Finishing Gilts Diet. *Cienc. Rural* 2021, 52(2). doi:10.1590/0103-8478cr20200736
- 243. Santos, A.P.; M.D. Tokach; C. Kiefer; R.D. Goodband; J.C. Woodworth; J.M. Derouchey; S.S. Dritz; J.T. Gebhardt. Effects of Dietary Chromium Propionate and Space Allowance on Performance and Carcass Responses of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2021, 5(3). doi:10.1093/tas/txab112
- 244. Alencar, S.A.D.S.; D.S. Lima; A.P. Dos Santos; C. Kiefer; K.M.R.S. Nascimento; A. Corassa; J.L. da Silva; T.V.A. Farias. Yeast Chromium and Digestible Lysine Levels in Finishing Pigs Subjected to High Ambient Temperatures. *Cienc. Rural* 2022, 52(3). doi:10.1590/0103-8478cr20200753
- 245. Wang, L.; Y. Huang; Y. Wang; T. Shan. Effects of Polyunsaturated Fatty Acids Supplementation on the Meat Quality of Pigs: A Meta-Analysis. *Front. Nutr.* 2021, 8, 746765. doi:10.3389/fnut.2021.746765
- 246. Dugan, M.E.R.; J.L. Aalhus; A.L. Schaefer; J.K.G. Kramer. The Effect of Conjugated Linoleic Acid on Fat to Lean Repartitioning and Feed Conversion in Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 1997, 77(4), 723-725. doi:10.4141/A97-084

- 247. Ostrowska, E.; M. Muralitharan; R.F. Cross; D.E. Bauman; F.R. Dunshea. Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acids Increase Lean Tissue and Decrease Fat Deposition in Growing Pigs. J. Nutr. **1999**, 129(11), 2037-2042. doi:10.1093/jn/129.11.2037
- 248. O'Quinn, P.R.; J.L. Nelssen; R.D. Goodband; J.A. Unruh; J.C. Woodworth; J.S. Smith; M.D. Tokach. Effects of Modified Tall Oil Versus a Commercial Source of Conjugated Linoleic Acid and Increasing Levels of Modified Tall Oil on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2000, 78(9), 2359-2368. doi:10.2527/2000.7892359x.
- 249. Bee, G. Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acids Affect Tissue Lipid Composition but Not De Novo Lipogenesis in Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Res.* 2001, 50(5), 383-399. doi:10.1051/animres:2001114
- 250. Eggert, J.M.; M.A. Belury; A. Kempa-Steczko; S.E. Mills; A.P. Schinckel. Effects of Conjugated Linoleic Acid on the Belly Firmness and Fatty Acid Composition of Genetically Lean Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 79(11), 2866-2872. doi:10.2527/2001.79112866x
- 251. Dugan, M.E.R.; J.L. Aalhus; K.A. Lien; A.L. Schaefer; J.K.G. Kramer. Effects of Feeding Different Levels of Conjugated Linoleic Acid and Total Oil to Pigs on Live Animal Performance and Carcass Composition. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2001, 81(4), 505-510. doi:10.4141/A00-101
- 252. Thiel-Cooper, R.L.; F.C. Parrish Jr; J.C. Sparks; B.R. Wiegand; R.C. Ewan. Conjugated Linoleic Acid Changes Swine Performance and Carcass Composition. *J. Anim. Sci.* **2001**, 79(7), 1821-1828. doi:10.2527/2001.7971821x
- 253. Wiegand, B.R.; F.C. Parrishx Jr; J.E. Swan; S.T. Larsen; T.J. Baas. Conjugated Linoleic Acid Improves Feed Efficiency, Decreases Subcutaneous Fat, and Improves Certain Aspects of Meat Quality in Stress-Genotype Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 79(8), 2187-2195. doi:10.2527/2001.7982187x
- 254. Barowicz, T.; M. Pieszka; M. Pietras; W. Migdał; W. Kędzior. Conjugated Linoleic Acid Utilization for Improvement of Chemical Composition and Dietetic Value of Pork Meat. *Ann. Anim. Sci.* **2002**, 2(2), 123-130.
- 255. Dunshea, F.R.; E. Ostrowska; B. Luxford; R.J. Smits; R.G. Campbell; D.N. D'Souza; B.P. Mullan. Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid Can Decrease Backfat in Pigs Housed under Commercial Conditions. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2002, 15(7), 1011-1017. doi:10.5713/ajas.2002.1011
- 256. Tischendorf, F.; F. Schöne; U. Kirchheim; G. Jahreis. Influence of a Conjugated Linoleic Acid Mixture on Growth, Organ Weights, Carcass Traits and Meat Quality in Growing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2002, 86(3/4), 117-128. doi:10.1046/j.1439-0396.2002.00366.x
- 257. Wiegand, B.R.; J.C. Sparks; F.C. Parrish Jr; D.R. Zimmerman. Duration of Feeding Conjugated Linoleic Acid Influences Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, and Meat

Quality of Finishing Barrows. J. Anim. Sci. 2002, 80(3), 637-643. doi:10.2527/2002.803637x

- 258. Ostrowska, E.; D. Suster; M. Muralitharan; R.F. Cross; B.J. Leury; D.E. Bauman; F.R. Dunshea. Conjugated Linoleic Acid Decreases Fat Accretion in Pigs: Evaluation by Dual-Energy X-Ray Absorptiometry. *Br. J. Nutr.* 2003, 89(2), 219-229. doi:10.1079/BJN2002765
- 259. Sun, D.; X. Zhu; S. Qiao; S. Fan; D. Li. Effects of Conjugated Linoleic Acid Levels and Feeding Intervals on Performance, Carcass Traits and Fatty Acid Composition of Finishing Barrows. *Arch. Anim. Nutr.* **2004**, 58(4), 277-286. doi:10.1080/00039420412331273286
- 260. Barowicz, T.; M. Pieszka; M.P. Pietras; W. Migdal. Influence of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid on Lipid Metabolism and Serum Leptin Concentrations in Finishing Pigs. *Biotechnol. Anim. Husb.* 2005, 21(5/6), 119-122. doi:10.2298/BAH0502119B
- 261. Lauridsen, C.; H. Mu; P. Henckel. Influence of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid (Cla) and Age at Slaughtering on Performance, Slaughter- and Meat Quality, Lipoproteins, and Tissue Deposition of Cla in Barrows. *Meat Sci.* 2005, 69(3), 393-399. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2004.08.009
- Weber, T.E.; B.T. Richert; M.A. Belury; Y. Gu; K. Enright; A.P. Schinckel. Evaluation of the Effects of Dietary Fat, Conjugated Linoleic Acid, and Ractopamine on Growth Performance, Pork Quality, and Fatty Acid Profiles in Genetically Lean Gilts. *J. Anim. Sci.* 2006, 84(3), 720-732. doi:10.2527/2006.843720x.
- 263. Bee, G.; S. Jacot; G. Guex; C. Biolley. Effects of Two Supplementation Levels of Linseed Combined with Cla or Tallow on Meat Quality Traits and Fatty Acid Profile of Adipose and Different Muscle Tissues in Slaughter Pigs. *Animal* 2008, 2(5), 800-811. doi:10.1017/S175173110800181X
- 264. Corino, C.; M. Musella; G. Pastorelli; R. Rossi; K. Paolone; L. Costanza; A. Manchisi; G. Maiorano. Influences of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid (Cla) and Total Lysine Content on Growth, Carcass Characteristics and Meat Quality of Heavy Pigs. *Meat Sci.* 2008, 79(2), 307-316. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2007.10.001
- 265. Martin, D.; E. Muriel; E. Gonzalez; J. Viguera; J. Ruiz. Effect of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid and Monounsaturated Fatty Acids on Productive, Carcass and Meat Quality Traits of Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* **2008**, 117(2/3), 155-164. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2007.12.005
- 266. White, H.M.; B.T. Richert; J.S. Radcliffe; A.P. Schinckel; J.R. Burgess; S.L. Koser; S.S. Donkin; M.A. Latour. Feeding Conjugated Linoleic Acid Partially Recovers Carcass Quality in Pigs Fed Dried Corn Distillers Grains with Solubles. J. Anim. Sci. 2009, 87(1), 157-166. doi:10.2527/jas.2007-0734
- 267. Jiang, Z.Y.; W.J. Zhong; C.T. Zheng; Y.C. Lin; L. Yang; S.Q. Jiang. Conjugated Linoleic Acid Differentially Regulates Fat Deposition in Backfat and Longissimus Muscle of Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2010, 88(5), 1694-1705. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-1551

- 268. Han, X.F.; F.J. Feng; J.P. Yu; S.X. Tang; M.A. Bamikole; Z.L. Tan; B. Zeng; C.S. Zhou; M. Wang. Effects of Conjugated Linoleic Acid Supplementation on Growth, Carcass Characteristics and Fatty Acid Profiles of Muscle and Fat in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 2011, 20(2), 171-185. doi:10.22358/jafs/66169/2011
- 269. Lee, J.; K. Cha; B. Chae; S. Ohh. Supplementation of Either Conjugated Linoleic Acid or Γ-Linolenic Acid with or without Carnitine to Pig Diet Affect Flavor of Pork and Neutrophil Phagocytosis. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 2011, 53(3), 237-252. doi:10.5187/JAST.2011.53.3.237
- 270. Barnes, K.M.; N.R. Winslow; A.G. Shelton; K.C. Hlusko; M.J. Azain. Effect of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid on Marbling and Intramuscular Adipocytes in Pork. J. Anim. Sci. 2012, 90(4), 1142-1149. doi:10.2527/jas.2011-4642
- 271. Go, G.W.; G.Y. Wu; D.T. Silvey; S.H. Choi; X.L. Li; S.B. Smith. Lipid Metabolism in Pigs Fed Supplemental Conjugated Linoleic Acid and/or Dietary Arginine. *Amino Acids* 2012, 43(4), 1713-1726. doi:10.1007/s00726-012-1255-5
- 272. Martinez-Aispuro, M.; J.L. Figueroa-Velasco; V. Zamora-Zamora; M.T. Sanchez-Torres; M.E. Ortega-Cerrilla; J.L. Cordero-Mora; A. Ruiz-Flores; S.S. Gonzalez-Muñoz. Effect of Fatty Acids Source on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Plasma Urea Nitrogen Concentration, and Fatty Acid Profile in Meat of Pigs Fed Standard- or Low-Protein Diets. *Span. J. Agric. Res* **2012**, 10(4), 993-1004. doi:10.5424/sjar/2012104-323-11
- 273. Rickard, J.W.; B.R. Wiegand; D. Pompeu; R.B. Hinson; G.D. Gerlemann; R. Disselhorst; M.E. Briscoe; H.L. Evans; G.L. Allee. The Effect of Corn Distiller's Dried Grains with Solubles, Ractopamine, and Conjugated Linoleic Acid on the Carcass Performance, Meat Quality, and Shelf-Life Characteristics of Fresh Pork Following Three Different Storage Methods. *Meat Sci.* 2012, 90(3), 643-652. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2011.10.007
- 274. Pompeu, D.; B.R. Wiegand; H.L. Evans; J.W. Rickard; G.D. Gerlemann; R.B. Hinson; S.N. Carr; M.J. Ritter; R.D. Boyd; G.L. Allee. Effect of Corn Dried Distillers Grains with Solubles, Conjugated Linoleic Acid, and Racto-Pamine (Paylean) on Growth Performance and Fat Characteristics of Late Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2013, 91(2), 793-803. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-5257
- 275. Tous, N.; R. Lizardo; B. Vilà; M. Gispert; M. Font-i-Furnols; E. Esteve-Garcia. Effect of a High Dose of Cla in Finishing Pig Diets on Fat Deposition and Fatty Acid Composition in Intramuscular Fat and Other Fat Depots. *Meat Sci.* 2013, 93(3), 517-524. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2012.10.005
- 276. Martínez-Aispuro, M.; J.L. Figueroa-Velasco; V. Zamora-Zamora; J.L. Cordero-Mora; C. Narciso-Gaytán; M.T. Sánchez-Torres; S. Carrillo-Domínguez; R.M. Castillo-Domínguez. Effect of Cla Supplementation to Low-Protein Diets on the Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, Plasma Urea Nitrogen Concentration, and Fatty Acid Profile in the Meat of Pigs. *Braz. Arch. Biol. Technol.* 2014, 57(5). doi:10.1590/S1516-8913201401407
- 277. Upadhaya, S.D.; H. Yun; S. Huang; I. Kim. Efficacy of Dietary Supplementation of Fatty Acid Compound on Performance and Production in Finishing Pigs. *Trop. Anim. Health Prod.* 2017, 49(6), 1281-1288. doi:10.1007/s11250-017-1326-4
- 278. Panisson, J.C.; A. Maiorka; S.G. Oliveira; A. Saraiva; M.S. Duarte; K.F. Silva; E.V. Santos; R.L.S. Tolentino; I.M.G. Lopes; L.L.M. Guedes; B.A.N. Silva. Effect of Ractopamine and Conjugated Linoleic Acid on Performance of Late Finishing Pigs. *Animal* 2020, 14(2), 277-284. doi:10.1017/S1751731119001708
- 279. Averette Gatlin, L.; M.T. See; D.K. Larick; X. Lin; J. Odle. Conjugated Linoleic Acid in Combination with Supplemental Dietary Fat Alters Pork Fat Quality. J. Nutr. 2002, 132(10), 3105-3112. doi:10.1093/jn/131.10.3105
- 280. Corino, C.; S. Magni; G. Pastorelli; R. Rossi; J. Mourot. Effect of Conjugated Linoleic Acid on Meat Quality, Lipid Metabolism, and Sensory Characteristics of Dry-Cured Hams from Heavy Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2003, 81(9), 2219-2229. doi:10.2527/2003.8192219x.
- 281. Corino, C.; A. Di Giancamillo; R. Rossi; C. Domeneghini. Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid Affects Morphofunctional and Chemical Aspects of Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue in Heavy Pigs. J. Nutr. 2005, 135(6), 1444-50. doi:10.1093/jn/135.6.1444
- 282. Ostrowska, E.; R.F. Cross; R.D. Warner; M. Muralitharan; D.E. Bauman; F.R. Dunshea. Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid Improves Carcass Leanness without Altering Meat Quality in the Growing Pig. *Aust. J. Exp. Agric.* 2005, 45(6), 691-697. doi:10.1071/EA04144
- 283. Rossi, R.; G. Pastorelli; M. Musella; C. Corino. Influence of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid (Cla) and L-Lysine on Heavy Pigs Performances and Meat Quality. *Ital. J. Anim. Sci.* 2005, 4(Supplement 2), 464-466. doi:10.4081/ijas.2005.2s.464
- Cechova, M.; Z. Hadas; R. Beckova; L. Sladek; M. Rychetska. Changes in the Fattening Capacity and Carcass Value of Pigs Receiving the Cla Preparation. *Res. Pig Breed.* 2009, 3.
- 285. Larsen, S.T.; B.R. Wiegand; F.C. Parrish Jr; J.E. Swan; J.C. Sparks. Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid Changes Belly and Bacon Quality from Pigs Fed Varied Lipid Sources. J. Anim. Sci. 2009, 87(1), 285-295. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-1213
- 286. Cechova, M.; R. Beckova; Z. Hadas; E. Vaclavkova; M. Rychetska. Effect of Cla and Sunflower Oil in Pig Diet on Carcass Value Traits and Meat Quality. *Res. Pig Breed.* 2010, 4(1).
- 287. Cordero, G.; B. Isabel; D. Menoyo; A. Daza; J. Morales; C. Piñeiro; C.J. Lopez-Bote. Dietary Cla Supplementation and Gender Modify Fatty Acid Composition of Subcutaneous and Intramuscular Fat in Iberian × Duroc Finishing Heavy Pigs. *Span. J. Agric. Res* 2010, 8(4), 962-970. doi:10.5424/sjar/2010084-1244
- 288. Cordero, G.; B. Isabel; D. Menoyo; A. Daza; J. Morales; C. Piñeiro; C.J. López-Bote. Dietary Cla Alters Intramuscular Fat and Fatty Acid Composition of Pig Skeletal Muscle

and Subcutaneous Adipose Tissue. *Meat Sci.* **2010**, 85(2), 235-239. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2010.01.004

- 289. Bothma, C.; A. Hugo; G. Osthoff; C.C. Joubert; J.C. Swarts; H.L.d. Kock. Effect of Dietary Conjugated Linoleic Acid Supplementation on the Technological Quality of Backfat of Pigs. *Meat Sci.* 2014, 97(2), 277-286. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2014.02.002
- 290. James, B.W.; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen; S.S. Dritz; K.Q. Owen; J.C. Woodworth; R.C. Sulabo. Interactive Effects of Dietary Ractopamine Hcl and L-Carnitine on Finishing Pigs: I. Growth Performance. J. Anim. Sci. 2013, 91(7), 3265-3271. doi:10.2527/jas.2011-4286
- 291. Meng, Q.; S. Sun; Y. Sun; J. Li; D. Wu; A. Shan; B. Shi; B. Cheng. Effects of Dietary Lecithin and L-Carnitine on Fatty Acid Composition and Lipid-Metabolic Genes Expression in Subcutaneous Fat and Longissimus Thoracis of Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Meat Sci.* 2018, 136, 68-78. doi:10.1016/j.meatsci.2017.10.012
- 292. Ying, W.; M.D. Tokach; J.M. DeRouchey; T.E. Houser; S.S. Dritz; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen. Effects of Dietary L-Carnitine and Dried Distillers Grains with Solubles on Growth, Carcass Characteristics, and Loin and Fat Quality of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2013, 91(7), 3211-3219. doi:10.2527/jas.2012-5606
- 293. Ringseis, R.; J. Keller; K. Eder. Basic Mechanisms of the Regulation of L-Carnitine Status in Monogastrics and Efficacy of L-Carnitine as a Feed Additive in Pigs and Poultry. *J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.)* **2018**, 102(6), 1686-1719. doi:10.1111/jpn.12959
- 294. Owen, K.Q.; H. Jit; C.V. Maxwell; J.L. Nelssen; R.D. Goodband; M.D. Tokach; G.C. Tremblay; S.I. Koo. Dietary L-Carnitine Suppresses Mitochondrial Branched-Chain Keto Acid Dehydrogenase Activity and Enhances Protein Accretion and Carcass Characteristics of Swine. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 79(12), 3104-12. doi:10.2527/2001.79123104x
- 295. Owen, K.Q.; J.L. Nelssen; R.D. Goodband; M.D. Tokach; K.G. Friesen. Effect of Dietary L-Carnitine on Growth Performance and Body Composition in Nursery and Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2001, 79(6), 1509-1515. doi:10.2527/2001.7961509x
- 296. Bertol, T.M.; M. Ellis; D.N. Hamilton; M.J. Ritter. Effects of Dietary Supplementation with L-Carnitine and Fat on Blood Acid-Base Responses to Handling in Slaughter Weight Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2005, 83(1), 75-81. doi:10.2527/2005.83175x
- 297. Han, Y.K.; P.A. Thacker. Effects of L-Carnitine, Selenium-Enriched Teast, Jujube Fruit and Hwangto (Red Clay) Supplementation on Performance and Carcass Measurements of Finishing Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2006, 19(2), 217-223. doi:10.5713/ajas.2006.217
- Chen, Y.J.; I.H. Kim; J.H. Cho; J.S. Yoo; Q. Wang; Y. Wang; Y. Huang. Evaluation of Dietary L-Carnitine or Garlic Powder on Growth Performance, Dry Matter and Nitrogen Digestibilities, Blood Profiles and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2008, 141(1/2), 141-152. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2007.05.025

- 299. Pietruszka, A.; E. Jacyno; A. Kolodziej; M. Kawçcka; C. Elzanowski; B. Matysiak. Effects of L-Carnitine and Iron Diet Supplementations on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics and Blood Metabolites in Fattening Pigs. *Agric. Food Sci.* 2009, 18(1), 27-34. doi:10.2137/145960609788066816
- 300. James, B.W.; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen; S.S. Dritz; K.Q. Owen; J.C. Woodworth; R.C. Sulabo. Effects of Dietary L-Carnitine and Ractopamine Hcl on the Metabolic Response to Handling in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2013, 91(9), 4426-4439. doi:10.2527/jas.2011-4411
- 301. James, B.W.; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen; S.S. Dritz; K.Q. Owen; J.C. Woodworth; R.C. Sulabo. Interactive Effects of Dietary Ractopamine Hcl and L-Carnitine on Finishing Pigs: Ii. Carcass Characteristics and Meat Quality. J. Anim. Sci. 2013, 91(7), 3272-3282. doi:10.2527/jas.2011-4287
- 302. Aranda-Aguirre, E.; L.E. Robles-Jimenez; J. Osorio-Avalos; E. Vargas-Bello-Pérez; M. Gonzalez-Ronquillo. A Systematic-Review on the Role of Exogenous Enzymes on the Productive Performance at Weaning, Growing and Finishing in Pigs. *Vet. Anim. Sci.* 2021, 14, 100195. doi:10.1016/j.vas.2021.100195
- 303. Kiarie, E.G.; S. Steelman; M. Martinez; K. Livingston. Significance of Single B-Mannanase Supplementation on Performance and Energy Utilization in Broiler Chickens, Laying Hens, Turkeys, Sows, and Nursery-Finish Pigs: A Meta-Analysis and Systematic Review. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2021, 5(4), txab160. doi:10.1093/tas/txab160
- 304. Thacker, P.A.; G.L. Campbell; J.W.D. GrootWassink. The Effect of Beta-Glucanase Supplementation on the Performance of Pigs Fed Hulless Barley. *Nutr. Rep. Int.* 1988, 38(1), 91-99.
- 305. Baas, T.C.; P.A. Thacker. Impact of Gastric Ph on Dietary Enzyme Activity and Survivability in Swine Fed B-Glucanase Supplemented Diets. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 1996, 76(2), 245-252. doi:10.4141/cjas96-03
- 306. Flis, M.; W. Sobotka; Z. Zduńczyk. Replacement of Soyabean Meal by White Lupin Cv. Bardo Seeds and the Effectiveness of B-Glucanase and Xylanase in Growing-Finishing Pig Diets. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 1998, 7(3), 301-312. doi:10.22358/jafs/69305/1998
- 307. O'Doherty, J.V.; S. Forde. The Effect of Protease and A-Galactosidase Supplementation on the Nutritive Value of Peas for Growing and Finishing Pigs. *Irish J. Agric. Food Res.* 1999, 38(2), 217-226.
- Thacker, P.A.; G.L. Campbell. Performance of Growing/Finishing Pigs Fed Untreated or Micronized Hulless Barley-Based Diets with or without B-Glucanase. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 1999, 8(2), 157-170. doi:10.22358/jafs/68833/1999
- 309. Mavromichalis, I.; J.D. Hancock; B.W. Senne; T.L. Gugle; G.A. Kennedy; R.H. Hines; C.L. Wyatt. Enzyme Supplementation and Particle Size of Wheat in Diets for Nursery and Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2000, 78(12), 3086-3095. doi:10.2527/2000.78123086x.

- 310. Grandhi, R.R. Effect of Dietary Ideal Amino Acid Ratios, and Supplemental Carbohydrase in Hulless-Barley-Based Diets on Pig Performance and Nitrogen Excretion in Manure. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2001, 81(1), 125-132. doi:10.4141/A00-064
- 311. Pettey, L.A.; S.D. Carter; B.W. Senne; J.A. Shriver. Effects of Beta-Mannanase Addition to Corn-Soybean Meal Diets on Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, and Nutrient Digestibility of Weanling and Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2002, 80(4), 1012-9. doi:10.2527/2002.8041012x
- 312. Park, J.S.; I.H. Kim; J.D. Hancock; R.H. Hines; C. Cobb; H. Cao; J.W. Hong; O.S. Kwon. Effects of Amylase and Cellulase Supplementation in Sorghum-Based Diets for Finishing Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2003, 16(1), 70-76. doi:10.5713/ajas.2003.70
- 313. Park, J.S.; I.H. Kim; J.D. Hancock; C.L. Wyatt; K.C. Behnke; G.A. Kennedy. Effects of Expander Processing and Enzyme Supplementation of Wheat-Based Diets for Finishing Pigs. Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci. 2003, 16(2), 248-256. doi:10.5713/ajas.2003.248
- 314. Flis, M.; W. Sobotka. Fine Particle Size and Enzyme Supplementation as Factors Improving Utilization of Protein from Diets with Lowered Protein Contents by Pigs. J. Anim. Feed Sci. 2005, 14(Suppl.1), 341-344. doi:10.22358/jafs/70574/2005
- 315. Thacker, P.A. Effect of Xylanase and Protease on the Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed Corn-Based Diets. *J. Appl. Anim. Res.* **2005**, 28(1), 17-23. doi:10.1080/09712119.2005.9706781
- 316. Thacker, P.A.; B.G. Rossnagel. Effect of Enzyme Supplementation on the Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed Diets Containing Normal or High Fat Oats. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 2005, 4(4), 484-490. doi:javaa.2005.484.490
- 317. Thacker, P.A.; B.G. Rossnagel. Performance of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed Diets Containing Normal or Low Lignin-High Fat Oat Supplemented or Unsupplemented with Enzyme. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 2005, 4(7), 681-687. doi:javaa.2005.681.687
- 318. Kim, S.W.; J.H. Zhang; K.T. Soltwedel; D.A. Knabe. Use of Carbohydrases in Corn-Soybean Meal Based Grower-Finisher Pig Diets. *Anim. Res.* 2006, 55(6), 563-578. doi:10.1051/animres:2006039
- Roşu, M.; C. Falcă. The Effect of Swine Intake Supplementation with Biozyme X 1000 Upon Some Sanguine and Bioproductive Parameters. *Bulletin of University of Agricultural Sciences and Veterinary Medicine Cluj-Napoca. Veterinary Medicine* 2007, 64(1/2), 283-286.
- 320. Świątkiewicz, M.; E. Hanczakowska. Effect of Herbs Mixture and Enzymes Supplementation of a Grass Silage Diet for Pigs on Performance and Meat Quality. *Med. Weter.* 2008, 64(6), 782-785.
- 321. Wang, J.P.; S.M. Hong; L. Yan; J.S. Yoo; J.H. Lee; H.D. Jang; H.J. Kim; I.H. Kim. Effects of Single or Carbohydrases Cocktail in Low-Nutrient-Density Diets on Growth

Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Characteristics, and Carcass Traits in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* **2009**, 126(1/3), 215-220. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2009.07.003

- 322. Widyaratne, G.P.; J.F. Patience; R.T. Zijlstra. Effect of Xylanase Supplementation of Diets Containing Wheat Distiller's Dried Grains with Solubles on Energy, Amino Acid and Phosphorus Digestibility and Growth Performance of Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2009, 89(1), 91-95. doi:10.4141/CJAS08103
- 323. Jacela, J.Y.; S.S. Dritz; J.M. DeRouchey; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; J.L. Nelssen. Effects of Supplemental Enzymes in Diets Containing Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles on Finishing Pig Growth Performance. *Prof. Anim. Sci.* 2010, 26(4), 412-424. doi:10.15232/S1080-7446(15)30623-9
- 324. Yoon, S.Y.; Y.X. Yang; P.L. Shinde; J.Y. Choi; J.S. Kim; Y.W. Kim; K. Yun; J.K. Jo; J.H. Lee; S.J. Ohh; I.K. Kwon; B.J. Chae. Effects of Mannanase and Distillers Dried Grain with Solubles on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, and Carcass Characteristics of Grower-Finisher Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2010, 88(1), 181-191. doi:10.2527/jas.2008-1741
- 325. Barnes, J.A.; J.M. DeRouchey; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; S.S. Dritz; J.L. Nelssen. Effects of Xylanase in Growing-Finishing Diets Varying in Dietary Energy and Fiber on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics, and Nutrient Digestibility. *Kansas* Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports 2011, 0(10), 227-239. doi:10.4148/2378-5977.7124
- 326. Hanczakowska, E.; M. Świątkiewicz; I. Kühn. Efficiency and Dose Response of Xylanase in Diets for Fattening Pigs. Ann. Anim. Sci. 2012, 12(4), 539-548. doi:10.2478/v10220-012-0045-z
- 327. Jo, J.K.; S.L. Ingale; J.S. Kim; Y.W. Kim; K.H. Kim; J.D. Lohakare; J.H. Lee; B.J. Chae. Effects of Exogenous Enzyme Supplementation to Corn- and Soybean Meal-Based or Complex Diets on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, and Blood Metabolites in Growing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 2012, 90(9), 3041-3048. doi:10.2527/jas.2010-3430
- 328. McAlpine, P.O.; C.J. O'Shea; P.F. Varley; J.V. O'Doherty. The Effect of Protease and Xylanase Enzymes on Growth Performance and Nutrient Digestibility in Finisher Pigs. J. *Anim. Sci.* **2012**, 90(Suppl. 4), 375-377. doi:10.2527/jas.53979
- 329. Cho, J.H.; I.H. Kim. Effects of Beta Mannanase and Xylanase Supplementation in Low Energy Density Diets on Performances, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Profiles and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs. Asian J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 2013, 8(4), 622-630. doi:10.3923/ajava.2013.622.630
- Kim, K.; J. Cho; I. Kim. Effects of Dietary Carbohydrases on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility and Blood Characteristics in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 2013, 55(4), 289-293. doi:10.5187/JAST.2013.55.4.289
- 331. Lipiński, K.; H. Skórko-Sajko; C. Purwin; Z. Antoszkiewicz; M. Werpachowski. Effect of Xylanase Supplementation to Cereal-Based Diets on Apparent Fecal Digestibility and

Growth Performance of Pigs. Ann. Anim. Sci. 2013, 13(2), 303-311. doi:10.2478/aoas-2013-0011

- 332. O'Shea, C.J.; P.O. Mc Alpine; P. Solan; T. Curran; P.F. Varley; A.M. Walsh; J.V.O. Doherty. The Effect of Protease and Xylanase Enzymes on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, and Manure Odour in Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2014, 189, 88-97. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2013.11.012
- 333. Villca, B.; R. Lizardo; J. Broz; J. Brufau; D. Torrallardona. Effect of a Carbohydrase Enzyme Complex on the Nutrient Apparent Total Tract Digestibility of Rye-Based Diets Fed to Growing-Finishing Pigs under Liquid Feeding. J. Anim. Sci. 2016, 94(7), 230-233. doi:10.2527/jas2015-9747
- 334. Lindemann, M., *An Integrated Evaluation of the Nutrient Uplift Provided by Xylanase in Finishing*. 2016, University of Kentucky.
- 335. Nguyen, D.H.; K.Y. Lee; H.N. Tran; S.D. Upadhaya; Y.J. Jeong; I.H. Kim. Influence of Enterococcus Faecium and Endo-1,4-B-Xylanase Supplementation on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Fecal Microflora, Fecal Gas Emission, and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs Fed with Diets Based on Corn-Soybean Meal. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2018, 98(1), 126-134. doi:10.1139/cjas-2016-0197
- 336. Torres-Pitarch, A.; U.M. McCormack; V.E. Beattie; E. Magowan; G.E. Gardiner; A.M. Pérez-Vendrell; D. Torrallardona; J.V. O'Doherty; P.G. Lawlor. Effect of Phytase, Carbohydrase, and Protease Addition to a Wheat Distillers Dried Grains with Solubles and Rapeseed Based Diet on in Vitro Ileal Digestibility, Growth, and Bone Mineral Density of Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Livest. Sci.* 2018, 216, 94-99. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2018.07.003
- 337. Smit, M.N.; X. Zhou; J.L. Landero; M.G. Young; E. Beltranena. Increasing Hybrid Rye Level Substituting Wheat Grain with or without Enzyme on Growth Performance and Carcass Traits of Growing-Finishing Barrows and Gilts. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2019, 3(4), 1561-1574. doi:10.1093/tas/txz141
- 338. Jang, J.C.; D.H. Kim; J.S. Hong; Y.D. Jang; Y.Y. Kim. Effects of Copra Meal Inclusion Level in Growing- Finishing Pig Diets Containing B-Mannanase on Growth Performance, Apparent Total Tract Digestibility, Blood Urea Nitrogen Concentrations and Pork Quality. *Animals* 2020, 10(10), 1-12. doi:10.3390/ani10101840
- 339. Jang, J.C.; K.H. Kim; D.H. Kim; S.K. Jang; J.S. Hong; P.S. Heo; Y.Y. Kim. Effects of Increasing Levels of Palm Kernel Meal Containing B-Mannanase to Growing-Finishing Pig Diets on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, and Pork Quality. *Livest. Sci.* 2020, 238. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2020.104041
- 340. Torres-Pitarch, A.; G.E. Gardiner; P. Cormican; M. Rea; F. Crispie; J.V. O'Doherty; P. Cozannet; T. Ryan; J. Cullen; P.G. Lawlor. Effect of Cereal Fermentation and Carbohydrase Supplementation on Growth, Nutrient Digestibility and Intestinal Microbiota in Liquid-Fed Grow-Finishing Pigs. *Sci. Rep.* 2020, 10(1), 13716. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-70443-x

- 341. Torres-Pitarch, A.; G.E. Gardiner; P. Cormican; M. Rea; F. Crispie; J.V. O'Doherty; P. Cozannet; T. Ryan; P.G. Lawlor. Effect of Cereal Soaking and Carbohydrase Supplementation on Growth, Nutrient Digestibility and Intestinal Microbiota in Liquid-Fed Grow-Finishing Pigs. *Sci Rep* 2020, 10(1), 1023. doi:10.1038/s41598-020-57668-6
- 342. Kpogo, A.L.; J. Jose; J.C. Panisson; A.K. Agyekum; B.Z. Predicala; A.C. Alvarado; J.M. Agnew; C.J. Sprenger; A.D. Beaulieu. Greenhouse Gases and Performance of Growing Pigs Fed Wheat-Based Diets Containing Wheat Millrun and a Multi-Carbohydrase Enzyme. J. Anim. Sci. 2021, 99(10). doi:10.1093/jas/skab213
- 343. Reyna, L.; J.L. Figueroa; V. Zamora; J.L. Cordero; M.T. Sánchez-Torres; M. Cuca. Addition of Protease to Standard Diet or Low Protein, Amino Acid Supplemented, Sorghum-Soyabean Meal Diets for Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 2006, 5(12), 1202-1208. doi:javaa.2006.1202.1208
- 344. Stephenson, E.W.; J.M. DeRouchey; J. Escobar; J.C. Woodworth; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; S.S. Dritz, *Effects of a Novel Protease Enzyme (Cibenza Dp100) on Finishing Pig Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics*, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 2014, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 69-76.
- 345. Upadhaya, S.D.; H.M. Yun; I.H. Kim. Influence of Low or High Density Corn and Soybean Meal-Based Diets and Protease Supplementation on Growth Performance, Apparent Digestibility, Blood Characteristics and Noxious Gas Emission of Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Feed Sci. Technol.* 2016, 216, 281-287. doi:10.1016/j.anifeedsci.2016.04.003
- 346. Choe, J.; K.S. Kim; H.B. Kim; S. Park; J. Kim; S. Kim; B. Kim; S.H. Cho; J.Y. Cho; I.H. Park; J.H. Cho; M. Song. Effects of Protease on Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs. S. Afr. J. Anim. Sci. 2017, 47(5), 697-703. doi:10.4314/sajas.v47i5.13
- 347. Lei, X.; J. Cheong; J. Park; I. Kim. Supplementation of Protease, Alone and in Combination with Fructooligosaccharide to Low Protein Diet for Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Sci.* J. 2017, 88(12), 1987-1993. doi:10.1111/asj.12849
- 348. Nguyen, D.H.; S.I. Lee; J.Y. Cheong; I.H. Kim. Influence of Low-Protein Diets and Protease and Bromelain Supplementation on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Urine Nitrogen, Creatinine, and Faecal Noxious Gas in Growing–Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2018, 98(3), 488-497. doi:10.1139/cjas-2016-0116
- 349. Figueroa, J.L.; J.A. Martinez; M.T. Sanchez-Torres; J.L. Cordero; M. Martinez; V.M. Valdez; A. Ruiz. Evaluation of Reduced Amino Acids Diets Added with Protected Protease on Productive Performance in 25-100 Kg Barrows. *Austral J. Vet. Sci.* 2019, 51(2), 53-60. doi:10.4067/S0719-81322019000200053
- 350. Liu, X.; J. Yin; I. Kim. Effect of Protease Derived from Pseudoalteromonas Arctica Supplementation on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Meat Quality, Noxious Gas Emission and Blood Profiles in Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2019, 103(6), 1926-1933. doi:10.1111/jpn.13202

- 351. Min, Y.; Y. Choi; Y. Kim; Y. Jeong; D. Kim; J. Kim; H. Jung; M. Song. Effects of Protease Supplementation on Growth Performance, Blood Constituents, and Carcass Characteristics of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 2019, 61(4), 234-238. doi:10.5187/jast.2019.61.4.234
- 352. Lee, J.; J. Choe; J. Kang; J. Cho; S. Park; R. Perez-Maldonado; J. Cho; I. Park; H. Kim; M. Song. Dietary Protease Improves Growth Rate and Protein Digestibility of Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 2020, 62(3), 313-320. doi:10.5187/jast.2020.62.3.313
- 353. Kim, Y.J.; J.H. Lee; T.H. Kim; M.H. Song; W. Yun; H.J. Oh; J.S. Lee; H.B. Kim; J.H. Cho. Effect of Low Protein Diets Added with Protease on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility of Weaned Piglets and Growingfinishing Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. Technol. 2021, 63(3), 491-500. doi:10.5187/jast.2021.e49
- 354. Perez-Palencia, J.Y.; R.S. Samuel; C.L. Levesque. Supplementation of Protease to Low Amino Acid Diets Containing Superdose Level of Phytase for Wean-to-Finish Pigs: Effects on Performance, Postweaning Intestinal Health and Carcass Characteristics. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* **2021**, 5(2). doi:10.1093/tas/txab088
- 355. Cromwell, G.L.; T.S. Stahly; R.D. Coffey; H.J. Monegue; J.H. Randolph. Efficacy of Phytase in Improving the Bioavailability of Phosphorus in Soybean Meal and Corn-Soybean Meal Diets for Pigs. *J. Anim. Sci.* **1993**, 71(7), 1831-1840. doi:10.2527/1993.7171831x
- 356. Cromwell, G.L.; R.D. Coffey; H.J. Monegue; J.H. Randolph. Efficacy of Low-Activity, Microbial Phytase in Improving the Bioavailability of Phosphorus in Corn-Soybean Meal Diets for Pigs. J. Anim. Sci. 1995, 73(2), 449-456. doi:10.2527/1995.732449x
- 357. Helander, E.; K. Partanen. Effects of Phosphorus Level and Microbial Phytase Supplementation on the Performance and Bone Mineralization in Pigs. *Acta Agric. Scand.* 1997, 47(3), 159-167. doi:10.1080/09064709709362382
- 358. O'Doherty, J.V.; S. Forde; J.J. Callan. The Use of Microbial Phytase in Grower and Finisher Pig Diets. *Irish J. Agric. Food Res.* **1999**, 38(2), 227-239.
- 359. Gebert, S.; G. Bee; H.P. Pfirter; C. Wenk. Growth Performance and Nutrient Utilisation as Influenced in Pigs by Microbial Phytase and Vitamin E Supplementation to a Diet of High Oxidative Capacity. *Ann. Zootech.* **1999**, 48(2), 105-115. doi:10.1051/animres:19990203
- 360. Gagné, F.; J.J. Matte; G. Barnett; C. Pomar. The Effect of Microbial Phytase and Feed Restriction on Protein, Fat and Ash Deposition in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2002, 82(4), 551-558. doi:10.4141/A01-076
- 361. Brady, S.M.; J.J. Callan; D. Cowan; M. McGrane; J.V. O'Doherty. Effect of Phytase Inclusion and Calcium/Phosphorus Ratio on the Performance and Nutrient Retention of Grower-Finisher Pigs Fed Barley/Wheat/Soya Bean Meal-Based Diets. J. Sci. Food Agric. 2002, 82(15), 1780-1790. doi:10.1002/jsfa.1262

- 362. Thacker, P.A.; B.G. Rossnagel. Performance and Carcass Traits of Finishing Pigs Fed Low Phosphorus Containing Diets Based on Normal Hulled or Hulless Barley of a Low-Phytate Hulless Barley with and without Phytase. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. 2006, 5(5), 401-407. doi:javaa.2006.401.407
- 363. Thacker, P.A.; B.G. Rossnagel; V. Raboy. The Effects of Phytase Supplementation on Nutrient Digestibility, Plasma Parameters, Performance and Carcass Traits of Pigs Fed Diets Based on Low-Phytate Barley without Inorganic Phosphorus. *Can. J. Anim. Sci.* 2006, 86(2), 245-254.
- 364. Varley, P.F.; J.J. Callan; J.V. O'Doherty. Effect of Phosphorus Level and Phytase Inclusion on the Performance, Bone Mineral Concentration, Apparent Nutrient Digestibility, and on Mineral and Nitrogen Utilization in Finisher Pigs. *Irish J. Agric. Food Res.* 2010, 49(2), 141-152. doi:10.2307/41219179
- 365. Langbein, K.B.; J.C. Woodworth; R.D. Goodband; M.D. Tokach; J.L. Nelssen; S.S. Dritz; J.M. DeRouchey. Effects of Super-Dosing Phytase in Diets with Adequate Phosphorus on Finishing Pig Growth Performance and Carcass Characteristics. *Kansas Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports* 2013, 0(10), 128-131. doi:10.4148/2378-5977.7044
- 366. Patience, J., Improving Nutrient Utilization and Biological and Financial Performance through the Use of Super-Dosing of Phytase in Grow-Finish Diets. 2015, Iowa State University.
- 367. Pérez Alvarado, M.A.; D.A. Calderón Montañez; D. Braña Varela; J.A. Cuarón Ibargüengoytia. A Study of the Strategies of Amino Acid Value Assignment to Phytases. *Rev. Mex. Cienc. Pecu.* 2015, 6(3), 305-314.
- 368. Holloway, C.L.; R. Dean Boyd; D. Koehler; S.A. Gould; Q. Li; J.F. Patience. The Impact of "Super-Dosing" Phytase in Pig Diets on Growth Performance During the Nursery and Grow-out Periods. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* **2019**, 3(1), 419-428. doi:10.1093/tas/txy148
- 369. Dang, D.X.; I.H. Kim. Effects of Adding High-Dosing Aspergillus Oryzae Phytase to Corn–Wheat–Soybean Meal-Based Basal Diet on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Faecal Gas Emission, Carcass Traits and Meat Quality in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2021, 105(6), 1056-1062. doi:10.1111/jpn.13537
- 370. Dang, d.X.; I.H. Kim. Effects of Supplementation of High-Dosing Trichoderma Reesei Phytase in the Corn-Wheat-Soybean Meal-Based Diets on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Carcass Traits, Faecal Gas Emission, and Meat Quality in Growing-Finishing Pigs. J. Anim. Physiol. Anim. Nutr. (Berl.) 2021, 105(3), 485-492. doi:10.1111/jpn.13499
- 371. Domaćinović, M.; Z. Steiner; Đ. Senčić; Z. Antunovic; P. Mijić. Individual and Combined Usage of Enzyme Preparation and Heat-Treated Cereals in Pig Fattening. *Czech J. Anim. Sci.* 2006, 51(4). doi:10.17221/3923-CJAS
- 372. Feoli, C.; J.D. Hancock; T.L. Gugle; S.D. Carter; N.A. Cole, *Effects of Adding Enzymes to Diets with Corn- and Sorghum-Based Dried Distillers Grains with Solubles on Growth*

Performance and Nutrient Digestibility in Nursery and Finishing Pigs, in *Kansas State University Swine Day*. 2008, Kansas State University: Kansas. p. 104-110.

- 373. Benz, J.M.; J.L. Nelssen; J.M. DeRouchey; M.D. Tokach; R.D. Goodband; S.S. Dritz. Effects of an Enzyme Blend (Livestock Answer) in Diets Containing Dried Distillers Grains with Solubles on Growth Performance of Nursery and Finishing Pigs. *Kansas* Agricultural Experiment Station Research Reports 2009, 0(10), 213-219. doi:10.4148/2378-5977.6795
- 374. Thacker, P.A. Effects of Supplementary Threonine, Canola Oil or Enzyme on Nutrient Digestibility, Performance and Carcass Traits of Growing-Finishing Pigs Fed Diets Containing Wheat Distillers Grains with Solubles. *Asian Australas. J. Anim. Sci.* 2009, 22(12), 1676-1685. doi:10.5713/ajas.2009.90295
- 375. Ao, X.; T.X. Zhou; Q.W. Meng; J.H. Lee; H.D. Jang; J.H. Cho; I.H. Kim. Effects of a Carbohydrase Cocktail Supplementation on the Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Blood Profiles and Meat Quality in Finishing Pigs Fed Palm Kernel Meal. *Livest. Sci.* 2011, 137(1-3), 238-243. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2010.11.014
- 376. Lee, S.; H. Jung; K. Cho; J. Park; I. Kim; P. Seong; Y. Song. Effects of Corn Dried Distiller's Grains with Solubles and Enzyme Premix Supplements on Growth Performance, Carcass Characteristics and Meat Quality Parameters in Finishing Pigs. *Anim. Sci. J.* 2011, 82(3), 461-467. doi:10.1111/j.1740-0929.2010.00848.x
- 377. Sitanaka, N.Y.; F.E.L. Budiño; S.R. De Oliveira; A.D.C.V. Boas; J.E. De Moraes. Enzyme Complex Supplementation on the Performance of Swine in Growth and Finishing Phases. *Rev. Caatinga* 2018, 31(3), 748-758. doi:10.1590/1983-21252018v31n325rc
- 378. Lawlor, P.G.; P. Cozannet; W.F. Ryan; P.B. Lynch. Effect of a Combination Phytase and Carbohydrolase Enzyme Supplement on Growth Performance and Bone Mineralization of Pigs from Six Weeks to Slaughter at 105 Kg. *Livest. Sci.* 2019, 223, 144-150. doi:10.1016/j.livsci.2019.01.028
- 379. Balasubramanian, B.; J.H. Park; S. Shanmugam; I.H. Kim. Influences of Enzyme Blend Supplementation on Growth Performance, Nutrient Digestibility, Fecal Microbiota and Meat-Quality in Grower-Finisher Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10(3), 386. doi:10.3390/ani10030386
- 380. Coelho, D.; J. Pestana; J.M. Almeida; C.M. Alfaia; C.M.G.A. Fontes; O. Moreira; J.A.M. Prates. A High Dietary Incorporation Level of Chlorella Vulgaris Improves the Nutritional Value of Pork Fat without Impairing the Performance of Finishing Pigs. *Animals* 2020, 10(12), 1-18. doi:10.3390/ani10122384
- 381. Jerez-Bogota, K.; C. Sánchez; J. Ibagon; M. Jlali; P. Cozannet; A. Preynat; T.A. Woyengo. Growth Performance and Nutrient Digestibility of Growing and Finishing Pigs Fed Multienzyme-Supplemented Low-Energy and -Amino Acid Diets. *Transl. Anim. Sci.* 2020, 4(2), 602-615. doi:10.1093/tas/txa040

- 382. Huang, Y.K.; L. Zhao; H. Sun; X.M. Xu; J. Maamer; A. Preynat; L.H. Sun; D.S. Qi. A Multicarbohydrase and Phytase Complex Is Able to Compensate a Nutrient-Deficiency in Growing-Finishing Pigs. *Animals* 2021, 11(4). doi:10.3390/ani11041129
- 383. Pettey, L.A.; S.D. Carter; B.W. Senne; J.A. Shriver. Effects of Beta-Mannanase Addition to Corn-Soybean Meal Diets on Growth Performance, Carcass Traits, and Nutrient Digestibility of Weanling and Growing-Finishing Pigs. J Anim Sci 2002, 80(4), 1012-9. doi:10.2527/2002.8041012x
- 384. Pauly, C.; P. Spring; D. Gahan; J.V. Odoherty. The Effect of Cereal Type and Enzyme Supplementation on Carcass Characteristics, Volatile Fatty Acids and Intestinal Microflora and Boar Taint in Entire Male Pigs. *Animal* 2011, 5(3), 378-386. doi:10.1017/S1751731110001849